Corporate Director (Law and Governance) and

CA

Monitoring Officer, T W Mortimer LLB Solicitor

CABINET
Notice of a Meeting, to be held as a Virtual Meeting on Microsoft Teams in accordance
with Regulation 5 of The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales)
Regulations 2020 on Thursday, 26th November, 2020 at 6.00 pm. (PLEASE NOTE
EARLIER STARTING TIME)

The Members of the Cabinet are:Councillor Clarkson – Leader of the Council
Councillor Bartlett – Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Legal and Democracy
Councillor Barrett – Portfolio Holder for Housing
Councillor Bell – Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT
Councillor Buchanan – Portfolio Holder for Environment and Land Management
Councillor Clokie – Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Corporate Property
Councillor Feacey – Portfolio Holder for Community Safety and Wellbeing
Councillor Forest – Portfolio Holder for Culture, Leisure and Tourism
Councillor Pickering – Portfolio Holder for Human Resources and Customer Services
Councillor Shorter – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development
IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS VIRTUAL MEETING:Please note the public cannot physically “attend” a Virtual Meeting. However any member
of the press and public may listen-in to proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink
which will be publicised on the Council’s website at www.ashford.gov.uk at least 24 hours
before the meeting. Members of the press and public may tweet, blog etc. during the live
broadcast as they would be able to during a regular Cabinet meeting at the Civic Centre.
It is important, however, that Councillors can discuss and take decisions without
disruption, so the only participants in this Virtual Meeting will be the Councillors
concerned, the Officers advising the Cabinet, and the Officers designated to address the
Cabinet on behalf of any members of the public who have registered in advance to
‘speak’ on the items to be considered. This will take the place of the usual procedure for
public speaking at the Cabinet’s regular meetings at the Civic Centre. In order to register
for this, written notice must be given on the Council’s website at
https://www.ashford.gov.uk/councillors-meetingsandelections/councillorsandmeetings/public-participation/application-to-speak-at-apublicmeeting/ or by email to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk by 10am on the
Wednesday before the meeting.
Summary of the Scheme of Public Participation for Virtual Meetings (referred to as
“VMs”)
The public cannot physically “attend” a VM.
H.M. Government has recently changed the public’s legal right to attend meetings into a
right to hear, by means of technology, the Councillors attending the VM remotely.

Written notice of a wish to speak (by means of the procedure below) at a VM must
be given, either to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk or on the Council’s website
at https://www.ashford.gov.uk/councillors-meetingsandelections/councillorsandmeetings/public-participation/application-to-speak-atapublic-meeting/ by 10:00 hours on the Wednesday before the VM – i.e. 10:00 a.m.
on Wednesday, 25th November, 2020.
Those registered to speak must submit to membersservices@ashford.gov.uk by 10:00
hours on the day of the VM, a copy of their speech in written, legible English. It should be
no longer than 400 words, on a single side of A4 paper, printed in 12-point non-italic
sansserif font (e.g. Arial). Any text above 400 words will not be read out.
Speeches received as above will be read to the VM by a competent Officer for and on
behalf of the speakers, at the normal times and in the normal order during the VM
(subject to the Chairman’s normal discretion).
IMPORTANT:
An Officer reading any speech on behalf of any speaker shall have discretion to omit/edit
out any inappropriate language, information or statements.
If any defamation, insult, personal or confidential information, etc. is contained in any
speech received from any speaker, and/or is read to the VM by an Officer, each speaker
accepts by submitting their speech to be fully responsible for all consequences thereof
and to indemnify the Officer and the Council accordingly.
Agenda
Page Nos..
1.

Apologies

2.

Declarations of Interest

1-2

To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as
explained on the attached document:
a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
b) Other Significant Interests (OSI)
c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests
See Agenda Item 2 for further details
3.

Minutes

3 - 10

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 24th
September 2020.
4.

To Receive any Petitions

5.

Leader's Announcements

6.

Motion Referred to the Cabinet by Council - The Council's
Approach to Equalities, Inclusion and Diversity

11 - 18

7.

Report of Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Report from Digital
Transformation Task Group

19 - 46

8.

Corporate Performance Report

47 - 68

9.

Medium Term Financial Plan

69 - 80

10.

Council Tax Base 2021/22

81 - 90

11.

Financial Monitoring - Quarterly Report

91 - 116

12.

Taxi Licensing Policy Review

117 - 160

13.

Town Centre Reset

161 - 186

14.

Personnel Policies - (Flexible Working, Remote Working, Flexible
Retirement and Virtual Meetings)

187 - 252

15.

Personnel Policies - (Sickness Policy Review, New Attendance
Support and Management Policy, and New Probation Policy)

253 - 320

16.

Ashford Borough Council Enforcement at Sevington Border
Control Post (BCP)

321 - 330

17.

Joint Transportation Board - Minutes of 15th September 2020

331 - 338

18.

Trading and Enterprise Board - Minutes of 22nd September 2020

339 - 342

19.

Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group - Notes of 24th
September 2020

343 - 350

20.

Ashford Strategic Delivery Board - Notes of 16th October 2020

351 - 356

21.

Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board - Notes of 14th October
2020

357 - 362

22.

Compliance and Enforcement Board - Notes of 27th October 2020

363 - 366

23.

Schedule of Key Decisions

367 - 376

24.

Items for Future Meetings

19 November 2020
Queries concerning this agenda? Please contact Member Services
Telephone (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: https://moderngov.ashford.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members” below)
(a)

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to items on
this agenda. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and
the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated.
A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting for that
item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).

(b)

Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct relating to items on this
agenda. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the
agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated.
A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the meeting before
the debate and vote on that item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).
However, prior to leaving, the Member may address the Committee in the same way that a
member of the public may do so.

(c)

Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed under (a) and
(b), i.e. announcements made for transparency alone, such as:
 Membership of amenity societies, Town/Community/Parish Councils, residents’ groups or
other outside bodies that have expressed views or made representations, but the Member
was not involved in compiling or making those views/representations, or
 Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close association with
that person, or
 Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate,
employer, etc. but not his/her financial position.
[Note: Where an item would be likely to affect the financial position of a Member, relative,
close associate, employer, etc.; OR where an item is an application made by a Member,
relative, close associate, employer, etc., there is likely to be an OSI or in some cases a DPI.
ALSO, holding a committee position/office within an amenity society or other outside body, or
having any involvement in compiling/making views/representations by such a body, may give
rise to a perception of bias and require the Member to take no part in any motion or vote.]

Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:
(a)

Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf

(b)

The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012,
and a copy can be found in the Constitution alongside the Council’s Good Practice Protocol
for Councillors dealing with Planning Matters. See https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/2098/z-word5democratic-services-constitution-2019-constitution-of-abc-may-2019-part-5.pdf

(c)

Where a Member declares a committee position or office within, or membership of, an outside
body that has expressed views or made representations, this will be taken as a statement
that the Member was not involved in compiling or making them and has retained an open
mind on the item(s) in question. If this is not the case, the situation must be explained.

If any Member has any doubt about any interest which he/she may have in any item on this
agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of Law and Governance and Monitoring
Officer, or from other Solicitors in Legal and
Democracy
as early as possible, and in advance
Page
1
of the Meeting.

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3
CA
Published
September 2020
Decisions effective from the 7th October 2020 unless they are called in or are
recommended to the Council for approval
29th

Cabinet
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Cabinet held on Microsoft Teams on the 24th
September 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Clarkson (Chairman);
Cllr. Bartlett (Vice-Chairman);
Cllrs. Barrett, Bell, Buchanan, Clokie, Pickering.
Apologies:
Cllrs. Feacey, Forest, Hayward, Shorter.
Also Present:
Cllrs. Anckorn, Mrs Bell, Burgess, Chilton, Harman, Knowles, Krause, Mulholland,
Ovenden, Spain, Sparks, C Suddards, L Suddards, Walder, Wright.
In attendance:
Chief Executive, Director of Law and Governance, Director of Finance and Economy,
Head of Corporate Policy, Economic Development and Communications, Head of
Personnel and Development, Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing, Head of
Environment and Land Management, Head of Culture, Head of Housing, Head of
Corporate Property and Projects, Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager,
Accountancy Manager, Community Safety and Resilience Team Leader, Parking,
Highways and Transportation Team Leader, Community Safety Officer, Web and
Communications Assistant, Member Services Manager (Operational).

68

Declarations of Interest

Councillor

Interest

Bartlett

Made a Voluntary Announcement as he lived
adjacent to the Mojo Site, Sevington.

69

Minute No.
70

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Cabinet held on the 30th July 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

Page
113 3

CA
240920

70

Petitions

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.1 Mrs Arthur, representing the Village Alliance,
presented a petition to the Cabinet calling for the protection of Mersham and
Sevington.
Mrs Arthur advised that as residents in the Ashford Borough, they wished to see the
land to the East of Highfield Lane, Mersham, remain as a green buffer zone - a
“Strategic Gap in Perpetuity” as referred to in Policy SP7 of the Local Plan 2030,
protecting an ancient settlement and countryside from encroachment, as defined in
the National Planning Policy Framework. This land was the last green field between
Mersham and the customs clearance and lorry holding area. It deserved designation
as a green space in perpetuity. She thanked Councillors for allowing her to speak
and to present their Petition. Mersham and Sevington residents and the Village
Alliance had worked for many years to save the last field protecting their villages.
This petition was launched in the face of the encroaching contingency lorry park and
the HMRC customs clearance site, now known as the Sevington Inland Border
Centre. They had been both humbled and buoyed by the support from their villages,
their neighbouring villages, and the residents of the Ashford Borough, with many
signatures in just six weeks. In fact 1666 valid signatures had been received, and a
total of over 2500 when including those from outside the Borough. They were
heartened to have the support of Parish Councils around the Borough, of the
Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE), of Borough Councillors, and Councillor
Clarkson, Leader of the Council. They wished to work together with the Council, the
Kent County Council and the Department for Transport, to provide a community
benefit on this land. A flagship for Policy SP7, Separation of Settlements, to provide
a green buffer, a green space and to protect the integrity of an ancient village for
residents in the Borough to enjoy in perpetuity.
The Leader said that he readily accepted the petition and it would now be dealt with
appropriately in accordance with the provisions set out in the Council’s Constitution.
He said that he, along with Ashford’s MP Damian Green and his Deputy Leader Cllr
Bartlett, has made it very clear to Government that whilst they would work with them
on this Inland Border Facility, it was absolutely vital that there was a buffer zone to
protect the Borough’s beautiful rural areas. He considered that the petition was
therefore “pushing at an open door”, but the issue would be properly debated at the
Council meeting on the 15th October.

71

Leader’s Announcements

The Leader said that he wanted to voice his appreciation for all of the hard work
Officers had put in to making a bid to the Forestry Commission for a significant
allocation of trees to create a new woodland for Ashford. In fact he was delighted to
report that 10 days ago it had been confirmed that Ashford had been successful and
would be awarded some 6666 trees to be planted over the coming months at
Discovery Park. This was a great accolade for Ashford and would be of great benefit
to the ecology of the Borough and the Garden of England as a whole.

Page
114 4

CA
240920

72

Financial Monitoring

The Portfolio Holder presented a shortened (bi-monthly) budget monitoring report
covering the two month period to 31st July 2020 (as agreed by the Cabinet on 25th
June 2020 in response to financial uncertainty as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic).
The report examined movements in the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account,
Collection Fund and provided an update on the Government Fees and Charges
Support Scheme.
The Portfolio Holder said that the report presented a slightly improved position in the
forecast deficit, but there would clearly be a lot more detail presented to the next
meeting of the Cabinet in October in the Medium Term Financial Plan report.
In response to questions from a Member, the Leader advised that there had not yet
been a composite reply from Government on requests for extra support for Kent
Authorities to deal with the effects of Covid-19. The Council, along with others, had
lobbied for that and a response was awaited. With regard to the fee for pavement
licensing and the potential for a waiver to assist businesses, the Head of Community
Safety and Wellbeing advised that there had been minimal take-up on this and as
the Winter approached it was unlikely that there would be any more. She said she
would supply the Member with an update on actual figures. The Leader said that
they would keep an open mind in dealing with this issue.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)

73

the forecast outturn position for the General Fund and the
Housing Revenue Account be noted.
the forecasts for Council Tax and Business Rates (the Collection
Fund) be noted.

Corporate Property Performance – Annual Report
2019/20

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which provided a summary of how the
Council’s main commercial assets were performing and the work the Council was
undertaking to improve or maintain such performance. He advised that the report
reflected on the effects of Covid-19 and that these would need to continue to be
managed going forward.
A Member asked about the Sustainable Energy Project, which had a fantastic return
on investment of 49.3%, and wondered if the Council should be making more of this
and looking to roll it out into other areas. He also pointed to the return on assets in
areas like Bockhanger and Stanhope which were much higher than those in Elwick
Place and asked if thought should be given to dispersing investments more widely.
The Head of Corporate Property and Projects advised that the Sustainable Energy
Project related to solar energy and the Council’s decision to take advantage of a
generous feed-in tariff at the time, to install PV panels on a number of Council owned

Page
115 5

CA
240920
properties including the Civic Centre. This had provided a significant return and
future opportunities would continue to be pursued. The Deputy Leader advised that
KCC were currently undertaking some PV work, offering assistance to people who
may want to install PV panels on their homes but could not easily afford the up-front
capital costs, through bulk purchasing to obtain discounts and taking the
administrative burden away from individuals. He encouraged Members to publicise
that scheme in their Wards. It was agreed to also publicise this in the Ashford For
You magazine.
With regard to location of investments, the Leader said there was somewhat of a
dichotomy as some of the investments in the Town Centre had been more about
supporting and revitalising, rather than making significant profits. He advised that
even in these tough times, there were new tenants interested in coming on board for
Elwick Place and whilst that was commercially sensitive at the moment, details
would emerge in the near future. The Head of Corporate Property and Projects
conformed that all but one of the units in Elwick Place were currently ‘under offer’.
There was discussion on Council owned office space and whether there was a
danger that post Covid-19, with working dynamics inevitably changing, this would
leave a surplus of such space, placing a pressure on the Council’s financial position.
The Leader said that he was pleased to report that, even before the current
pandemic, the Council had been very circumspect and had turned down offers to
purchase further office space in and around the town, because they had been aware
of the already changing nature of workplaces. The Council was very cognisant of this
issue and how it could potentially relate to the Civic Centre and International House
in the future.
Resolved:
That (i)

the revenue performance of the Council’s Corporate Property
portfolio during the financial year 2019/20, as provided for in the
Corporate Property Income Schedule at Appendix 1 to the report,
be noted.

(ii)

the risk assessment in relation to the Council’s future income
from its commercial assets, particularly in light of the impacts of
the coronavirus pandemic, be noted.

(iii)

the clarification added to the Property Acquisition, Investment
and Disposal Strategy, as provided in Appendix 2 to the report, be
approved.

74

Introduction of a Tree Policy for Ashford Borough
Council

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which advised that the Council did not
currently have a policy relating to how tree stock was inspected and managed for the
purposes of public safety. Currently, there was no formal policy that influenced how

Page
116 6

CA
240920
Council owned trees were managed in respect of enquiries and complaints from
members of the public, and the report proposed a policy for this area.
Recommended:
That the Tree Policy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report be adopted.

75

Introduction of Tree Planting Schemes

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which proposed the implementation of a
tree planting scheme and associated policy. This would enhance the amenity value
of areas that had capacity for additional trees and generate environmental benefits
such as removal of carbon, reduction of flooding, enhanced air quality and provision
of shade.
In response to a question it was confirmed that anyone, including Parish Councils
and businesses, as well as individuals, could apply to this scheme.
The Deputy Leader advised that KCC’s Five Year Plan included a scheme to plant
one tree for every person in Kent (1.6 million), so there was funding available and he
considered all Authorities were like minded and would work together to deliver this
for the county.
Recommended:
That the Tree Planting Scheme and Policy as laid out in Appendix 1 to the
report be adopted.

76

Memorial Benches and Seating

The Portfolio Holder introduced the report which advised that the Council
occasionally received requests from members of the public who wished to have a
bench dedicated to a loved one in various open spaces and cemeteries owned by
the Council. He advised that arrangements for managing benches and dedications
were currently ad hoc and this policy would introduce a formal management process
and policy for installation and removal.
Recommended:
That the Memorial Benches Policy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report be
adopted.

77

Removal of Cash Transactions

The report proposed the phased removal of cash from Council business in response
to the wider changes being seen in society as a result of digitalisation of services
and the Covid-19 pandemic. It was reiterated that the majority of the public had
adapted to the behavioural changes and had already embraced technology and
cashless payment options. With regard to parking machines in particular, it was

Page
117 7

CA
240920
noted that the removal of cash would be a phased and sensitive process with cash
usage being monitored and reviewed for demand. If cash demand continued to be
high, cash would be retained in relevant car parks.
A Member stressed the benefits of the Ring Go parking payment facility, and whilst it
may take some a few attempts to get used to, it made paying for parking so much
easier, quicker and more efficient. It also meant that there was no need to ‘keep an
eye on the clock’ for your allotted times as they could be topped up.
The Leader stressed that Ashford was a caring Authority and would not leave
anyone behind. Cash and card payments for parking would continue whilst needed,
alongside the Ring Go App and there would be clear information and marketing
distributed across the Borough in all formats to help users. There was also a
discussion about communicating this message to the Nepalese community, many of
whom did not have English as their first language. The Council’s good links with this
community were emphasised and whilst additional signage was not favoured, there
would be opportunities to support those groups. It was also agreed to publicise the
changes in the Ashford For You magazine.
Resolved:
That (i)

78

the immediate removal of cash payment machines from the Civic
Centre reception be agreed.

(ii)

a phased removal of coin payment from the Council’s on-street
and off-street parking machines be agreed.

(iii)

a phased removal of built in credit card and contactless readers
from the Council’s on-street and off-street parking machines be
agreed.

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement

The report presented a Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for
approval by the Council. The statement set out steps that Ashford Borough Council
must undertake to ensure a collaborative approach on these issues across
organisations. The requirement for a statement was not a statutory requirement, but
it was seen as best practice and certainly something this Council wanted to do to
protect the public from the negative impacts of modern slavery and human
trafficking.
Members welcomed the statement and the work the Council had been doing on this
issue. It was recognised that the key responsibility for this was with other agencies,
but by working closely with other strategic partners this demonstrated the Council’s
commitment to being part of the ongoing solution. There were some questions
around empowering workers and making them aware of their rights if they were
being exploited and identifying how to support the hidden victims. The Leader
encouraged any Members with more detailed and specific questions on these
important issues to raise them off-line with the relevant Officers as they could make
sure they were responded to properly. The Community Safety and Resilience Team

Page
118 8

CA
240920
Leader confirmed that the Council did have a dedicated Lead Officer for Modern
Slavery and they were part of the Council’s Safeguarding Leads Officer Group.
A Member thanked Officers for the annual training conference that have been put on
about this issue in March. She had attended and it had been excellent and a real
eye-opener. This was a problem that was “hiding in plain sight” so she agreed that
anything that could be done to raise public awareness on this issue should be
pursued. She also hoped that some similar training could be put on again in the
future to raise awareness amongst more Councillors. This was agreed.
It was agreed to publicise the reporting mechanisms in the Ashford For You
magazine and via a Leader’s Briefing Note for Councillors and all Community, Town
and Parish Councils and to make the policy easily accessible on the Council’s
website.
Recommended:
That the Ashford Borough Council Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement be approved.

79

Ashford Strategic Delivery Board – Notes of 24th July
2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Ashford Strategic Delivery Board held on
the 24th July 2020 be received and noted.

80

Economic Regeneration and Investment Board - Notes
of 11th August 2020

A Member asked about the Jasmin Vardimon Dance Company, whose new facility
was referred to in these notes. Whilst it was great to have such a cultural offer in the
town, could any reassurance be given that the Company would put on community
events that would benefit the residents of the Borough at large? The Leader said that
he had also had those concerns and had asked the exact same question and had
been reassured that there would be a Service Level Agreement which would provide
for two or three publically available events every year.
Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Economic Regeneration and Investment
Board held on the 11th August 2020 be received and noted.

Page
119 9

CA
240920

81

Member Training Panel – Annual Report and Notes of
5th August 2020

Resolved:
That the Annual Report and the Notes of the Meeting of the Member Training
Panel held on the 5th August 2020 be received and noted.

82

IT and Digital Transformation Advisory Committee –
Notes of 11th August 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the IT and Digital Transformation Advisory
Committee held on the 11th August 2020 be received and noted.

83

Local Plan and Planning Policy Task Group – Notes of
29th July 2020

Resolved:
That the Notes of the Meeting of the Local Plan and Planning Policy Task
Group held on the 29th July 2020 be received and noted.

84

Schedule of Key Decisions to be Taken

Resolved:
That the latest Schedule of Key Decisions as set out within the report be
received and noted.

85

Joint Transportation Board – Nomination of
Membership

Resolved:
That the following Members be appointed to the Joint Transportation Board:
Councillors Burgess, Cornish, Feacey, B Heyes (VCh), T Heyes, Krause and
Spain.

________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: (01233) 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page
12010

Agenda Item 6
Agenda Item No:

6

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

Notice of Motion on the council’s approach to equalities,
inclusion and diversity

Report Author &
Job Title:

Charlotte Hammersley, Data Protection and Compliance
Manager

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Clarkson
Portfolio Holder for:

Summary:

A Notice of Motion was put to Full Council at its meeting on
15 October relating to Ashford’s approach to equalities. The
Council referred the motion to the Cabinet for a more
detailed report on how the proposals set out in the Motion
could be taken forward.

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

All.

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:I.
II.

Note the council’s current approach to the points
raised in the Notice of Motion
Note that a draft Equalities, Diversity Inclusion
(EDI) Policy is in development which will set out
the council’s approach for the future.

Policy Overview:

The Council’s Recovery Plan was adopted by the Cabinet in
July 2020 and ratified by Full Council in October 2020. The
Recovery Plan sets out the council’s equalities objectives
which were formally reviewed as part of the development of
the Plan. The council’s Policy Statement on equalities,
diversity and inclusion is due for review and a draft is in
development.

Financial
Implications:

The recommendation within the Notice of Motion that the
council should ‘appoint a designated officer to actively and
regularly engage with representatives of the BAME
community, providing regular progress reports’ would require
additional resources to be found.

Legal Implications:

The council is governed by the Equality Act 2010 and Public
Sector Equality Duty which will be reflected in the emerging
policy.

Page 11

Equalities Impact
Assessment:

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:

Not Required because an impact assessment will be carried
on a draft equality, diversity and inclusion policy which will be
brought to a future meeting of the Cabinet.

Not required.

Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

Having recently set its equalities objectives, the council is
compliant with its responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010
and Public Sector Equality Duty. The adoption of a policy in
due course will assist the council in ensuring it maintains a
low tolerance to the risks associated with this important
compliance matter.

Sustainability
Implications:

NA

Other Material
Implications:

N/A

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Background
Papers:

Ashford Borough Council’s Recovery Plan, July 2020
charlotte.hammersley@ashford.gov.uk

Contact:

Page 12

Agenda Item No. 6

Report Title: Notice of Motion on Ashford’s approach to
Equalities, Inclusion and Diversity
Introduction and Background
1.

A notice of motion was put to the Full Council at its meeting on 15 October
2020 as follows:
‘'That this Council notes that October marks Black History Month, the annual
recognition and celebration of the history, achievements and contribution of
African Caribbean people to this country. We welcome the links forged with
the Ashford BAME community evidenced by the recent and upcoming
Mayoral engagements celebrating Black History Month.
That this Council also notes that there is no room for complacency in the face
of inequality and social injustice – the Government’s pioneering Ethnicity
Facts and Figures website sets out in clear detail enduring ethnic and racial
inequalities in housing, employment and the justice system.
That this Council recognises that it is not enough to be, ’not racist’. That is
too low a bar to set. Ashford is a caring, innovative Borough and we should
aim high, striving to be actively anti-racist and anti-discriminatory and do all
we can to champion and celebrate diversity and inclusiveness in our Borough.
That this Council acknowledges and recognises the valuable contribution that
the BAME community has made to the NHS and the disproportionally high
impact of Covid-19, both in the community and among healthcare staff in our
community, as evidenced in the Public Health England review of June 2020.
The stated aims of the Recovery Plan are to improve our understanding of our
diverse communities in all that we do: to reach out to further develop ways of
engaging individuals and communities to ensure their voice is heard and to
develop a community action plan. I thank our officers for their contribution
and urge the Council to:
Appoint a designated officer to actively and regularly engage with
representatives of the BAME community, providing regular progress reports
To build on the excellent equalities and diversity training already delivered to
officers and Councillors and to consider the inclusion of unconscious bias
training
To support the work of community groups including the Ashford BME group
and to actively support BAME businesses
To work towards the establishment of a cultural centre or centres to celebrate
the contribution of our diverse Ashford communities

Page 13

To consider BAME history and culture as a source for street names on future
developments.’
2.

Within the Notice of Motion are specific points which the council’s
Management Team have considered. In order to aid debate at this meeting,
some information is provided on each of the points to explain Ashford’s
current approach and future plans within the overall context of a developing
Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Policy.

Proposal
3.

The council has a duty under the Equalities Act 2010 to review its equalities
objectives at least every four years. In accordance with this duty, the council
has recently set new objectives which are set out in its Recovery Plan which
was adopted by the Full Council at its meeting on 15 October 2020. These
objectives are:
Objective 1: Improve our understanding of our diverse communities in all
that we do
Objective 2: Encourage all residents to have a say in the decisions that
affect them and get involved in their local communities
Objective 3: Deliver services and customer care to meet the needs of all
our residents
Objective 4: Deliver organisational change to enable a more inclusive and
diverse workforce

4.

The Recovery Plan also sets out how the council plans to broadly deliver
these objectives.

5.

Following the adoption of the objectives, officers have started to develop an
EDI Policy which will set out the council’s responsibilities under the Equalities
Act 2010 and Public Sector Equalities Duty and the practical steps it will take
to meet these responsibilities along with the specific objectives. As part of
development of the policy, relevant groups (I.e. those that promote and
represent protected characteristics as defined by the Act) and council
employees will be consulted to help shape the steps that the council sets out.

6.

It is proposed that rather than consider the potential to implement each
specific point raised in the Notice of Motion now that the Policy is shaped by
the views garnered through the consultation process.

7.

In the meantime, the table below also sets out some information in response
to each of the proposals made in the Notice of Motion:

Page 14

No.

Notice of Motion
proposal
Appoint a designated
officer to actively and
regularly engage with
representatives of the
BAME community,
providing regular
progress reports

Current positon

2

To build on the
excellent equalities
and diversity training
already delivered to
officers and
Councillors and to
consider the inclusion
of unconscious bias
training

Equalities and diversity training is provided to
councillors and is mandatory for all council employees.
As well as online training, all staff are required to
complete face-to-face training which has recently taken
place. The delivered training covered unconscious bias
and we can ensure that it is also included in the course
content of future training. All management and
leadership training ensures equalities are at the heart of
the process and, as such, addresses unconscious bias
e.g. training on managing sickness and recruitment and
selection

3

To support the work of
community groups
including the Ashford
BME group and to
actively support BAME
businesses

Services across the council support the work of
community groups and businesses including BAME
groups and businesses. The emerging EDI Policy will
set out the support we will continue to provide and ways
for community groups to access this support. Some
examples of how we support groups and communities
is provided at Appendix 1.

4

To work towards the
establishment of a
cultural centre or
centres to celebrate
the contribution of our
diverse Ashford
communities

Whilst a dedicated centre may not be the most effective
approach, the EDI policy will seek to:

1

5

To consider BAME
history and culture as
a source for street
names on future
developments

The developing EDI Policy will set out a proposal for a
Senior Officer Equalities Champion. Whilst we do not
have a dedicated post, there are two officers who have
recently been supported to achieve a high level
qualification relating to the leadership and management
of equalities, inclusion and diversity with the intention
that they will oversee the development and monitoring
of the policy.



Ensure that current and future facilities are
inclusive and reflective of our communities with a
broad programme of events.
 Promote existing facilities to BAME groups and
communities.
The council is responsible for street names but it is for
the developers to suggest names via an application
process for new developments. The naming of streets
is decided by officers under delegated powers other
than decisions taken by the Cabinet when the proposed
street name is after someone.
Any suggestion will be considered and there are no
specific criteria for inclusion or exclusion. However,
technical guidance is provided in the street name and
numbering policy for example, streets names should be
easy to read and not similar to others’ located nearby.

Page 15

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
8.

A draft EDI policy is currently in development. The views of groups that
represent people with protected characteristics will be sought as part of the
consultation process on the policy before it is submitted to the Cabinet for
approval.

Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended
9.

Work to develop an equality, diversity and inclusion policy is already
underway and points raised in the notice of motion will be considered as part
of its development.

Next Steps in Process
10.

A draft EDI policy will be developed and brought to the Cabinet for approval
over the coming months. The policy is in the drafting stage and a consultation
period will follow. It is anticipated that the draft policy will be brought to the
Cabinet by April 2021.

Conclusion
11.

The council has recently adopted its equalities objectives which will last for
the duration of its Recovery Plan. The next step in the process is to introduce
a new policy which will articulate these objectives. The detail of the policy is
currently being developed and will be consulted upon to help ensure it reflects
the needs of our local residents and communities.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
12.

I oppose discrimination of any kind and believe in supporting all of our
communities in the borough. This report accurately reflects what we have
done, what we are doing, and what our plans are for the future. It is good that
a review of the policy is already underway and I intend for Ashford to continue
to lead the way in supporting our diverse communities as we have been
recognised for doing so with our Syrian Refugee Programme. Our recent
award demonstrates that Ashford is indeed an extremely caring borough.

Contact and Email
13.

Charlotte Hammersley, charlotte.hammersley@ashford.gov.uk

Page 16

Appendix 1
Support for BAME Groups: case studies

Case Study 1: Grants and support to BAME Groups
Cultural Services have worked closely with a number of groups often to help them
become established by supporting grant applications. For example, support was
provided to the Chair of the Ashford BME Association from its inception assisting
with a successful grant application for £7,000 towards start-up costs and grant
support has continued since then with further awards in 2018 and 2019.
These grants were to help support a number of projects the Association were
delivering including volunteer training, a health, social and cultural inclusion project
and workshops to build confidence in women.
Other groups that have received direct assistance have included the Ashford Asian
Society, Ashford international Chinese Society (now disbanded) and the Ashford
Muslim Society.

Case Study 2: Ashford’s Syrian Resettlement Programme
On 28 October 2020, the council won the Diversity and Inclusion award from the
Local Government Chronicle for its contribution to the Syrian Resettlement
Programme.

Since December 2015 we have welcomed 34 families to Ashford totalling 145
people. A further 14 babies have been born to families since arrival in the UK.
We have had no arrivals since November 2019. Those families due to arrive in
February/March 2020 were put on hold due to Covid-19 and nationally there have
been no resettlement arrivals since.
Families are helped to integrate into their new communities. We work with a host of
providers and community groups to help them to do this including Ashford Volunteer
Centre, Concept Training, Adult Education, Ashford College, Ashford Vinyard,
schools and community groups. Most of the families are now living independently
quite successfully and may have at least one member in full time employment.
Approximately ten families still require much more intensive support and this has
been exacerbated by Covid-19.
Children have done well in school with some excellent results and this good
evidence of effective integration along with the employment rates.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
Agenda Item No:

7

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

Thursday 26th November 2020

Report Title:

The Final Report of the Digital Transformation Task Group

Report Author &
Job Title:

Abi Moffatt
Policy & Scrutiny Officer

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. A Pickering
Portfolio Holder for: HR & Customer Services

Summary:

During budget scrutiny at the beginning of 2020, it was
recommended that a task group was formed to review the
digital transformation programme embarked by Ashford
Borough Council.
This report concludes the findings of the Overview and
Scrutiny Task Group from its review into Digital
Transformation; and makes 8 recommendations to Cabinet.

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

ALL

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:I.

Note the implementation of the digital strategy to date
and endorse the emerging digital programme to be
delivered up until 2025.

II.

That a digital survey regarding homeworking and
virtual meetings is conducted for Members, to find out
what lessons have been learnt since new
arrangements were introduced in March 2020 as a
result of Covid-19 and what can be improved for the
future.

III.

To continue to support homeworking, virtual meetings
and hybrid meetings as valid ways of running council
services and meetings in the future and ensure that
there are adequate IT systems in place to deliver
these efficiently.

IV.

Create a Corporate Etiquette protocol for Microsoft
Teams that covers making calls, leaving messages
and showing availability.

Page 19

V.

That the online calendar function on Mod.gov is
updated regularly to inform Members of future
meetings for at least the next six months.

VI.

Proceed with creating an online central database for
local and national data that residents are able to
access and view statistics regarding Ashford Borough.

VII.

That a fact sheet is produced for all Members and
staff with advice on broadband and how to check your
connectivity whilst working remotely.

VIII.

Prioritise completion of an IT asset register to ensure
that all council owned equipment is logged and
returned to the Civic Centre when appropriate.

Policy Overview:

The digital transformation scrutiny review has formed part of
the O&S work programme for 2020/2021. The work
programme is set at the beginning of each year and is
reviewed regularly by the Committee. This topic was initially
recommended by the Budget Scrutiny Task Group in early
2020.

Financial
Implications:

None

Legal Implications:

Not applicable

Equalities Impact
Assessment:

Not required because equalities impact assessment would
be carried out at the point of the implementation for each of
the recommendations as necessary.
Not applicable

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:
Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

The recommendations from the Task Group are within the
council’s risk appetite.
Some of the recommendations have been designed to
reduce potential risks to the council in areas including
homeworking and IT equipment security.

Sustainability
Implications:

Other Material
Implications:

The recommendations endorse the digital programme which
looks to reduce paper consumption and the need for travel.
Recommendations also look to improve homeworking
arrangements which contributes towards the council’s aim to
achieve carbon neutrality.
Not applicable

Page 20

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Background
Papers:

Digital Transformation Strategy, 2017 to 2020.

Contact:

Abi.moffatt@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330394

Page 21

Agenda Item No. 7

Report Title: The Final Report of the Digital
Transformation Task Group
Foreword from the Task Group Chairman
1.

The Overview and Scrutiny Task Group has reviewed how far digital
transformation has progressed across the council’s services. In an
increasingly digital and online society, the digitisation of council processes
has become essential to delivering services.

2.

The review has highlighted that substantial progress has been made towards
Ashford Borough Council’s digital journey. The Digital Transformation
Strategy adopted in 2017 has been implemented and its action plan has few
outstanding actions. Furthermore, the review has looked at how data has
been used by the council for digital transformation and the importance of
having access to accurate data has been noted by the Task Group.

3.

Considering the Covid-19 crisis, the need for digital transformation for
effective remote working and virtual council meetings has been significant
during the review and has shaped some of the recommendations made by the
Task Group.

Introduction and Background
4.

During scrutiny of the Budget for 2020/21, the Task Group recommended to
the full Overview and Scrutiny Committee that digital transformation should be
included as a scrutiny review on the work programme. At the time, concerns
were raised regarding the resourcing of the digital programme. An in-depth
review has been conducted to ascertain how far digital transformation has
progressed during recent years and what the challenges and success have
been throughout this process.

5.

The Task Group felt that investigating the progress of digital transformation
would benefit all staff and Members by assessing ways of improving the
digital aspects to remote working and virtual meetings. Also, the group saw
the benefit of reviewing the digital programme prior to Full Council’s adoption
of the Recovery Plan in October 2020.

Scope of the Review
6.

The Task Group assembled 4 Members; Cllr Ovenden (Chair), Cllr. Iliffe, Cllr.
Ledger and Cllr. Spain to examine the progression of the digital
transformation so far and, if required, make some recommendations to the full
Committee.

7.

The group met initially to scope the review and establish where scrutiny could
be beneficial. A scoping document was agreed which listed five key questions

Page 22

the Task Group wanted to address during the review.
What progress has been made so far with digital transformation and what are
the challenges facing this process?
a. To consider how the digital progress made during Covid-19 can be built
upon and further aid the council’s recovery.
b. What is the council hoping to achieve with digital transformation in the
next 5 years and what is the overall goal?
c. What is the roadmap setting out how the council plans to achieve its
digital goals in consideration of the recovery plan, and are the goals
resourced appropriately?
d. To look at best practice from other local authorities (through desktop
research).
8.

The group discussed the ways they could capture the progress of digital
transformation. It was agreed that there would be a focus on the three-year
digital transformation strategy 2017 –2020, which was coming to an end.

9.

During the preparation stage of the review, the council was still responding to
the Covid-19 crisis. The Task Group noted that the demands of Covid-19
would impact Officer’s capacity to assist in this review, nevertheless Members
felt it was important to undertake the review imminently. As the government
guidelines encouraged remote working and council meetings were being
conducted virtually, it was felt that a major digital shift was taking place across
the council and that this had potential to kick-start future transformation. The
Task Group believed that a scrutiny review could positively contribute towards
the next stages of this transformation.

10.

The Task Group agreed that details of the individual projects would be
excluded from the review and that this topic needed to be looked at from a
wider perspective. Although the group would receive information regarding the
projects that have been undertaken as part of digital transformation to-date,
these would not be looked at in detail so that the review was timely.

11.

The subject of broadband is a part of ongoing digital transformation that the
Task Group felt would not benefit from further scrutiny at this time. Also, the
wider Committee received an update in March 2020 on broadband and
promotion of fibre to the premises and so felt that looking at this again may
duplicate work of the wider Committee.

12.

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group in conducting this review is
therefore twofold – first, to review Ashford Borough Council’s journey with
implementing Digital Transformation to establish what the successes are and
what lessons have been learnt through implementing the Digital Strategy and
those resulting from our COVID-19 response. Secondly, to provide
recommendations that will be of benefit for future transformation of council
processes.

Page 23

Task Group process
13.

Following an initial meeting to discuss the scope of the review, the Task
Group conducted several evidence sessions. The purpose of these meetings
was to gather information about the council’s digital transformation journey
and establish what plans had been considered for the future of digital. The
following documentation was considered as evidence:
a. A report detailing Ashford Borough’s digital transformation journey to
date.
b. A report to inform how the council has used data to further the digital
transformation agenda.
c. A summary/debrief of the IT departments role in the Covid-19 response

14.

Key officers involved with developing digital attended the meetings to provide
evidence to the review. The Task Group met to discuss findings and
recommendations during a final meeting of the Task Group. The Task Group
would like to thank all Officers and Members who gave up their time to
participate in this review.

Review findings
15.

The Task Group looked at written evidence over three sessions that included
detail of the council’s journey with digital transformation.

16.

Overall, it was clear to the Task Group that the implementation of the Digital
Transformation Strategy had been successful. A report was presented to the
group that summarised the four key strands of digital transformation:
•
•
•
•

Website and Accessibility
Technology
Staff culture
Digital inclusion

The digital action plan highlighted to the group what actions had been
completed and what was left outstanding. The Task Group noted that there
were few outstanding actions, and this was continuing to being monitored by
the IT & Digital Transformation Advisory Committee.
17.

The Task Group were informed of the challenges that came with digitising
manual processes that services were providing. There is still more work to be
done to progress the staff culture strand of transformation and the
encouragement of staff to embrace change. Members were pleased with the
adoption of Abavus, a Digital Customer Platform, and how many manual
processes had already been digitised to create more efficient services.

Page 24

18.

The Task Group reviewed the emerging digital programme that was expected
to be delivered up until the end of 2025. A few of the projects that were noted
a priority were:
a. The implementation of a new planning support system.
b. The garden waste project which looks to reengineer and simplify the
current process.
c. Lifeline procurement to convert the platform from analogue to digital.
d. Progress with Automatic Parking Payments (ANPR) and starting with
Elwick Place.
e. The Garage Commercialisation Strategy that looks at all garage sites
to improve the way we get rent in and streamline the process.
f. Review and implement the New Corporate Website by working with
Visarc to review the content and the structure to deliver a new site.
Note the implementation of the digital strategy to date and endorse the
emerging digital programme to be delivered up until 2025.
(Recommendation 1)

19.

The group were advised that Covid-19 had created a situation where
technology and software quickly became fundamental to delivering council
services and Member meetings successfully. Evidence reported to the task
group included the results of a survey sent to all ABC staff regarding remote
working and showed that a large proportion of staff had a positive experience
with this and would like to continue with a home working arrangement post
Covid-19. The Task Group felt that a similar survey aimed at Members would
help find out what lessons have been learnt from digital working during Covid19, from a Member point of view. These findings could then be used to
establish what was needed going forward for Councillors as well as Officers.
That a digital survey regarding homeworking and virtual meetings is
conducted for Members, to find out what lessons have been learnt since
new arrangements were introduced in March 2020 as a result of Covid19 and what can be improved for the future. (Recommendation 2)

20.

Members acknowledged that during the main transition to remote working, the
council’s IT systems had coped successfully so far. Measures were
introduced quickly by the council’s IT Team to ensure remote working could
be carried out easily. For example, new servers were purchased to support
the large number of officers and Members working remotely and
arrangements were made for IT equipment to be sent home where necessary.
Overall, it was felt that the continuation of flexible working arrangements and
virtual meetings would benefit the council’s digital transformation goals.
However, Members felt that some work was required to ensure that the IT
systems we have in place can sustain the delivery of council services and
meetings.

Page 25

To continue to support homeworking, virtual meetings and hybrid
meetings as valid ways of running council services and meetings in the
future and ensure that there are adequate IT systems in place to deliver
these efficiently. (Recommendation 3)
21.

The Task Group discussed how using Microsoft Teams had been central to
communication with Members and Officers throughout the Covid-19 crisis.
However, it was highlighted in the evidence report that there were multiple
ways of displaying your availability, for example, through the Microsoft
Outlook Calendar, Skype For Business and Microsoft Teams. Members felt
that it would be useful to have some clear guidance over what is expected of
Members and Officers regarding the display of their online/offline status. This
would provide clarity about when people were working and could be
contacted.
Create a Corporate Etiquette protocol for Microsoft Teams that covers
making calls, leaving messages and showing availability.
(Recommendation 4)

22.

Members of the Task Group agreed that the online calendar function on
mod.gov could be improved as a digital tool for Members. Issues were raised
with the contents of the calendar as some future meeting dates were not
being displayed.
That the online calendar function on Mod.gov is updated regularly to
inform Members of future meetings for at least the next six months.
(Recommendation 5)

23.

Part of the review looked at how Ashford Borough Council has used data for
digital transformation. The group were advised how having access to accurate
data was key to identifying vulnerable residents in the Borough during the
Covid-19 crisis. Our current system, ACORN, was used to identify groups of
residents who were likely to match indicators for vulnerability to Covid-19. The
Task Group discussed the use of ACORN data in the future and were advised
that using the system to map out groups of residents is something that the
council is currently exploring to help provide a targeted approach to delivering
services.

24.

The data evidence session also informed the group of the work undertaken by
other local authorities to create an online public portal to display data about
their local area and population. Members felt that it would be beneficial to
have a central data source that drew on national and local data and delivered
statistics about Ashford Borough. This could also act as an online portal that
could provide access to the results of local surveys and consultations.

25.

An example of a council which has successfully used data to better
understand its residents to inform service delivery is Hull City Council. They
have published their data and statistics about their residents online via an
online ‘Data Observatory’. A range of data is provided regarding housing,
health and wellbeing, economy and employment and the environment. This
also acts as an engagement centre which provides access to results of local
surveys and consultations.

Page 26

Proceed with creating an online central database for local and national
data that residents are able to access and view statistics regarding
Ashford Borough. (Recommendation 6)
26.

During the final meeting of the Task Group, the group discussed the response
of the IT department during the Covid-19 pandemic and specifically what
lessons could be learnt. Members were presented with a summary of what did
and didn’t work well for the service during Covid-19 and some
recommendations to resolve the issues that were identified. Members
suggested that some more information could be provided to Members and
Officers that included broadband and connectivity advice, for example, how to
set up broadband at home effectively.
That a fact sheet is produced for all Members and staff with advice on
broadband and how to check your connectivity whilst working remotely.
(Recommendation 7)

27.

The Task Group queried the number of council IT assets that were taken from
the Civic Centre when staff were initially instructed to work from home. The
group were informed that managers and team leaders had been asked to
record what equipment was taken by staff in their own teams, and this had
been successful so far. Members were concerned that an asset register was
still being compiled and it was felt that this should be a priority to ensure all
council owned equipment could be returned in the future.
Prioritise completion of an IT asset register to ensure that all council
owned equipment is logged and returned to the Civic Centre when
appropriate. (Recommendation 8)

Recommendations
The Task Group would like to endorse the following recommendations to the full
committee:
Recommendation 1: Note the implementation of the digital strategy to date and
endorse the emerging digital programme to be delivered up until 2025.
Recommendation 2: That a digital survey regarding homeworking and virtual
meetings is conducted for Members, to find out what lessons have been learnt since
new arrangements were introduced in March 2020 as a result of Covid-19 and what
can be improved for the future.
Recommendation 3: To continue to support homeworking, virtual meetings and
hybrid meetings as valid ways of running council services and meetings in the future
and ensure that there are adequate IT systems in place to deliver these efficiently.
Recommendation 4: Create a Corporate Etiquette protocol for Microsoft Teams that
covers making calls, leaving messages and showing availability.
Recommendation 5: That the online calendar function on Mod.gov is updated
regularly to inform Members of future meetings for at least the next six months.

Page 27

Recommendation 6: Proceed with creating an online central database for local and
national data that residents are able to access and view statistics regarding Ashford
Borough.
Recommendation 7: That a fact sheet is produced for all Members and staff with
advice on broadband and how to check your connectivity whilst working remotely.
Recommendation 8: Prioritise completion of an IT asset register to ensure that all
council owned equipment is logged and returned to the Civic Centre when
appropriate.

Consultation
28.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee were consulted on the
recommendations and support. The Council MT were also supportive of
recommendations and their advice to cabinet is set out at Appendix 3.
Council’s Management Team support all recommendations.

Conclusion
29.

The Task Group have examined how far digital transformation has evolved at
Ashford Borough Council as related to the scope of the review. The
recommendations made will assist further digital transformation of services
and enhance the digital experience for Customers, Members and Officers,
and the Overview & Scrutiny Committee commend them to the Cabinet.

Contact and Email
30.

Abi Moffatt, Policy and Scrutiny Officer
Abi.moffatt@ashford.gov.uk
01233 330394

Page 28

Priority 1 :

Website

Draft website transformation plan 2017- 2020
What we will do

July 2020

Who

Budget
required

When

Update

We will redesign our website (ashford.gov.uk):
• ensuring we follow the best practice guidance
issued by GDS on digitally inclusive language
• ensure the content is written in plain English
• introduce options for web-chat, skype and other
digital assistance tools
• building on the success of the Benefits video
and, where possible produce video content to
help people with low literacy skills
• regularly ensuring the website meets required
accessibility standards using tools such as site
improve etc
• refresh content regularly
• seek feedback from user testing at all stages of
the process
• hold service workshops to disseminate and
interpret feedback and analytics.
• ensure that our pages are mobile enabled.

Web team/
IT/
Communications
/
Customer
Services

Y

July 2017 December
2018

Website went
live 3rd August
2020

Customer accounts:
• Enhance the MyAshford functionality.
• Better use of email address data to
communicate with our customers.

Web team/
IT/
Communications
/
Customer
Services

December
2019

My Ashford being
redeveloped,
plugins and
widgets being
tested.
Issues around
authentication of
users

Website

Page 29

Some
additional
resource
may be
required, to
assist on
this project
further
details to
follow with a
project plan

Analytics We will use analytics and feedback to improve and
inform our service design, whether those services
are digital or face-to-face.

Web team/
services

Ongoing
from April
2018

Ongoing

Page 30

Priority 2: Technology

July 2020

Draft technology transformation plan 2017- 2020
Update

Who

Budget
required
Y
Circa £100k,
level to be
confirmed
on
conclusion
of
procurement
process

When

Update

August
2017 –
August
2019

Live and being
used significantly

IT/Customer
Services/Digital
team

Develop a priority list of services / process
to be delivered in a Phase1 development of
the DCP. Priority will be given to any
service being run from a similar solution as
part of any trials depending on final
decision.

Digital team and
ITDT Committee

August
2017 –
December
2017

‘Tag teams’
established and
allocated to
services.
List developed
and with ITDT
end of March
2018

IT/Digital team

Ongoing

Microsoft
products being
used

Page 31

Digital Customer Procurement of a “Digital Customer
Service Platform Platform” (DCP) to help integrate new ways
of working digitally and process
improvements with back office systems.

We will implement a digital group that will
help shape the priority list for approval from
the newly formed IT and Digital
Transformation (ITDT) Advisory Committee.
Collaboration

We will explore online collaboration tools
that will improve cross service working.

(SharePoint) by
Digital team.
Other options
being explored.
Communications Complete rollout of Skype for Business
(SfB) Unified communications platform
across the authority and communicate the
functionality and benefits to the organisation

IT/
Communications

Y
£10k for
replacement
handsets
from
existing
hardware
budgets
Y
From
existing
software
revenue
budgets

April 2018

Complete –
Microsoft O365
including teams
has now been
rolled out across
whole authority

March
2018

O365 Installed

Develop a “Cloud Strategy” to formalise our
strategy for making decisions around what
services and solutions will be provisioned in
“the Cloud”.

IT

Mobile and
Flexible

We will ensure that mobile friendly is the
starting point of all system developments
and new software.

IT

Ongoing

GovRoam.
Phase II
anticipated
testing will be by
ABC. Date to be
determined.

IT/Digital team

Ongoing

Will be
considered at

Page 32

Cloud

We will ensure ABC buildings (e.g. Civic
Centre, Sheltered Schemes) have
public/guest Wi-Fi connectivity where
appropriate using the Govroam service.
We develop a programme to rollout
hardware upgrades to mobile workers that
will support flexible working.
Social media

We maintain a review of the functionality
presented by social media accounts to

simplify customer log-ins to help remove
barriers to use of digital channels.

appropriate
opportunities.

Page 33

Priority 3: Inclusion

July 2020

Draft Digital Inclusion action plan 2017- 2020
What we will do

Who

ABC will adopt a new planning policy within the local plan for
Economic
all new developments to install fibre to the premises to Development/Planning
ensure inhabitants are able to access superfast broadband
within these developments in the future.

Page 34

ABC will work with Kent County Council to maximise the
impact of the roll out of the BDUK project and other grant
schemes to bring superfast broadband to existing residents
and businesses through the delivery of fibre to the cabinet in
existing residential and business areas.
In addition, ABC will work with other telecoms providers to
maximise private investment in telecommunications
networks within the borough.

Budget
required

When
Linked to
Local Plan
approvals

Update
1.

We have
been
consulting with
central
government
and are
currently in the
process of
commissioning
a consultant to
compile an
evidence base
to justify the
policy at
Examination in
Public in May.
We will work
with them to
put forward a
compelling
argument but
Ashford is the
first authority
in the country
to do this.
2. We have
been working

Page 35
We will explore the feasibility of creating a database of WiFi hotspots across the borough so that people with
connectivity barriers have options for getting on-line (e.g.
pubs, cafes, shops, community centres etc.)

Communications
and Digital team

We will publicise where local access points are available
through Gateways/libraries etc. so that people without the

Communications

with KCC on
the progress
of BDUK and
are currently
looking to put
together a
project to
apply for the
LFFN (Local
Full Fibre
Networks)
scheme.
3. We have
been working
and meeting
with telecoms
providers to
stimulate a
range of
provision in
Ashford. We
are currently
working with a
supplier on
extending their
infrastructure
in the area.
2019 post
This action
completion removed by IT
of phase II advisory board
of website due to access
to this
information

equipment to go online know where they can get access to
equipment.

from external
sources
IT

We will allow a public Wi-Fi access point in ABC buildings
(e.g. Civic Centre, Sheltered Schemes) using the Govroam
service.

Page 36

We will redesign our website (ashford.gov.uk):
• ensuring we follow the best practice guidance issued
by GDS on digitally inclusive language
• ensure the content is written in plain English
• introduce options for web-chat, skype and other digital
assistance tools
• building on the success of the Benefits video and,
where possible produce video content to help people
with low literacy skills
• regularly ensuring the website meets required
accessibility standards using tools such as Site
Improve

Web team
IT
Communications
Customer service

Late
2018/19

We will review the conditions applied to the community
grants scheme to ensure that the conditions for funding for
digital projects are simple for the voluntary and community
sector to navigate and access.

Cultural Services

Post web
project

ABC will investigate developing a volunteer programme to
help individuals gain digital confidence; the intention will be
that the volunteers can take these skills into their
communities beyond any organised events.

Digital team

Partner organisations could be schools, the local college,
community & voluntary sector partners and local branches
of private sector organisations who are signed up to the

Website live
August 3rd 2020

Completed Partnered with
Barclays and
One you to
deliver a
digital surgery
to residents
that have
difficulty using
IT

UK’s Digital Inclusion Charter (e.g. Argos, Asda, Barclays,
BT, EE, Lloyds Banking Group, Remploy, Three).
Social media
and internet
comms
undertaken and
will be ongoing

Page 37

We will signpost and publicise services and information that
help with Digital skills (e.g. The tech partnership, Age UK,
Housing Associations, etc.,)

Communications
and Digital teams

We will:
• will remind people of the benefits of using ABC’s digital
services
• remind our customers of the assistance that is
available from ABC (assisted self-help customer
services model)
• signpost customers to economic and social reasons for
accessing online services (e.g. genealogy, staying in
contact with distance family, money comparison sites
for saving money, accessing online weight loss or
healthy option services)
• link into national campaigns that support digital
inclusion such as Get Online Week (2 – 8 October
2017)

Communications

Ongoing

Social media
and internet
comms
undertaken
and will be
ongoing

We will:
• signpost and highlight how to spot secure sites and
how not be to be caught out by fraud
• Use our website to notify the public of any scams we
are made aware of (in conjunction with Kent Police and
the wider community safety partnership)
• We will use a range of tools including social
media/text/website to assure our customers that
communication from the council is genuine

Communications,
IT and digital team

Ongoing

Social media
and internet
comms
undertaken
and will be
ongoing

Priority 4: Culture

July 2020

Draft Digital Staff Culture plan 2017- 2020
What we will do
Skills

Skills Audit:
We will conduct a skills audit of all staff to
ascertain whether there are basic skills
gaps that need addressing and also to
identify more capable staff to share their
knowledge with others.

Page 38

Introduce digital champions:
Having highlighted the more digitally
skilled staff we will approach this group to
become service digital champions that:
• provide support to less digitally
capable people (internally and
externally),
• contribute to digital projects
• contribute to drop-in sessions
designed to help build confidence
with technology as well as social
media and other on-line tools
• help to develop how to guides and
videos.
Introduce digital member champions:
These members will lead the way and
support how new technologies and

Who

HR

HR/Digital Team

Budget
required
Possible
training budget
requirement
TBD

When

Update

Nov 17

Audit
Completed,
needs being
identified and
built into the
18/19 training
plan

Jan
18

Plan developed
and comms out
asking for
volunteers

TBD,
following
Modern

systems will be rolled out and used by
members.

Page 39

Recruitment:
To attract and test digital capabilities of
potential new recruits we will introduce
greater use of digital tools in recruitment
and selection, for example:
• Use of social media such as
Twitter/Facebook/Glass Door
• Use of on-line testing and better
assessment of digital skills during
recruitment.
• Update competency based
questions database to include
digital competence questions
Appraisals:
We will include digital objectives in annual
appraisals; these will be to develop either
a digital capability or skill, to support
someone else in becoming proficient, or to
take part in a digital project.
Service Plan:
Services will be required to include at least
one digital objective/project in their annual
service plan.
Leadership

Digital channels to communicate key
corporate messages:
The Chief Executive and other senior
managers will consider the use of video

Member
Services/Digital
Team/IT

Gov test
launch

Social media
being used for
recruitment.

HR
Q4
2017/18
April 2019
Q1
2018/19

All managers

Q4
2017/18

Policy team

2017/18
Service
planning

Communications

Q1
2018/19

Mandatory field
in appraisal
system now
asks for digital
objectives to be
identified.
Included in
service plans

CX using video
in her internal
comms

messages and Blogs to complement faceto-face communication methods.
Corporate Twitter accounts for leaders:
We will consider how we can support
senior leaders in communicating externally
though social medial channels.

Page 40

Digital skills:
It is important that the leadership of digital
transformation is seen as authentic and
managers will be encouraged to undertake
training to use digital tools in-order to:
• be able to role model
• understand the potential benefits
• gain insight into how easy it is to
overcome challenges
A range of digital tools are available
managers will be required to:
• consistently apply good practice
principles of using tools such as
Skype, email and other online tools
• use and promote the use of
technology as a tool for efficient
working
Promote a customer centric approach to
problem solving as well as collaborative
working (using SPACE) to review services
and processes.

Q1
2018/19

Communications
/Digital Team

HR
During
2017 and
2018

All Manager/Digital
Team/ IT

Digital Team

During
2017 and
2018

Budget
required for
training TBD

Q1
2018/19

@AshfordDigital,
a closed Twitter
account for staff
set up
Training
highlighted such
as Google
Analytics and
specific digital
products has
taken place over
past two years

All MT using
surface pros and
Modern.gov for
committee
agendas

‘Tag Teams’
established
which include a
Customer
Services officer
to ensure
customer is at

the centre of
process
redesigns.
Change
Agile working methods:
management Agile working enables problem solving to
be achieved in a swift and iterative way,
this is important in IT development projects
where low-level prototyping and testing are
often easier in a live environment. We will
provide staff with training on how to use
agile working techniques to problem
solving.

Page 41

Customer centric service design:
• We will develop a range of
persona’s that can be referred to
when reviewing a service or
process to encourage services to
focus on the service from a
customer perspective rather than
the council’s perspective.
• We will provide training on how user
based service design.

We will include a field on the PID template
where digital transformation and
implications can be highlighted.
Corporate values:

Digital Team/HR

Digital Team/HR/
Communications

Policy team

Budget
required for
training TBD

Q2
2018/19

Budget
required for
training TBD

Q1
2018/19

Workshop
attended by 4 of
the ‘Tag Team’
on Agile,
process
mapping and
Lean
methodologies

Personas
currently being
developed

Q3
2017/18

PID updated

Q3
2017/18

Values launched
and comms to

Newly articulated corporate values to be
launched as part of the communications
we will ensure that the link with digital
services is explicit.
Include standard digital operational
competency in all new JDs as a tangible
indicator to all existing and potential staff
that digital services are intrinsic to our way
of working.

Page 42

We will carry out workshops with services
to establish staff ideas on service
improvements on the top areas of focus for
digital transformation (build into 2019/20
service plans).
Digital project communications through
Root & Branch:
We will ensure that the progress,
successes, and learning from failures of
digital projects are regularly shared
through the council’s on-line staff
magazine.

Communications:
We have a range of electronic
communication methods including the
intranet; we will review these to ensure
they remain relevant, responsive, up to
date and easy to use.

HR/
Communications

help embed
underway

JD updated
HR

Digital team/HR

Communications
/Digital Team

Communications
/HR

Q4
2017/18

Spring/
Summer
2018

From
Autumn
2017

Ongoing
from
Q4
2017/18

Workshops
taken place to
inform way
forward with
Digital
Ongoing
Examples
include comms
on Modern.Gov,
Digital Skills,
Lean workshop.

Ongoing
Branding for
digital project
established.
Blogs being
shared.
@AshfordDigital

The staff benefit platform My Ashford
Rewards has capability to become an
internal communications hub that supports
blogs, video content, online polling,
recognition schemes and discussions we
will review this capability with a view to
launching an enhanced offer.

a closed Twitter
page for ABC
staff established.

Page 43

Social media:
There is an expectation that we will use
social media channels to communicate
with our customers. We will ensure that
we include social media in all
communications plans and on literature
and publicity where possible include social
media logos and QR codes that direct
customers to the appropriate URL.
We will also work with services to support
them in developing their own social media
feeds and campaigns as a communication
channel.
Annual Staff awards:
A new category that reflects the priority of
digital transformation will be created to
recognise and celebrate good work and
outcomes.

HR/
Communications

2018
Awards

New category
included in last
two year awards

The Future Digital Programme – Priority Projects
Project Name
Lifeline Procurement to
convert the platform
from analogue to digital.
Automatic parking
payments (ANPR)

Project Background
Procurement to convert the platform
from analogue to digital.

Expected Finish Date
April 2020

Starting with Elwick Place

September 2020

Virtual parking permit
'Permit SMARTI' to allow
customer to create an
account and pay online.
No permit is displayed.
Lifeline online
application process

Digital tickets

September 2020

Digital applications

November 2020

Review and implement
New Corporate Website

To work with Visarc to review the
content and the structure to deliver a
new site

November 2020

Planning System

Current system support is coming to
an end so a new system is required

April 2021

Contract Management
Tool Kit

Digitalize the ABC Procurement and
Contract Management Toolkit; and
Single Source supplier process

April 2021

Procurement led project

April 2021

Look at all processes between CS
and services to make improvements
for our residents to access services

May 2021

Garden Waste

To revisit the Garden waste process
looking to reengineer and simplify
current process

June 2021

Garage
Commercialisation
Strategy
Corporate Web page
update

Looking at all garage sites ,
improving the way we get rent in,
streamlining
Estate agent look and feel of
promoting our Commercial Property
Portfolio “ on the Council website

March 2022

Update systems for
procurement categories
to help with contract
management
Improving CS by
reducing demand by
service

Page 44

O&S Review of Digital Transformation – Management Team Advice for the Cabinet

Page 45

No.

Recommendation

Resource Implications

Management Team Advice

1

Note the implementation of the digital strategy to date
and endorse the emerging digital programme to be
delivered up until 2025.

Within existing resources
and delivery has
commenced.

2

That a digital survey regarding homeworking and virtual
meetings is conducted for Members, to find out what
lessons have been learnt since measures were introduced
in March 2020 and what can be improved.

Within existing resources

3

To continue to support the digital concepts of
homeworking, virtual meetings and hybrid meetings to be
valid ways of running council services and meetings in
the future and ensure that there are adequate IT systems
in place to deliver these efficiently.

Potential to generate
savings

Note: Significant progress has been
made of the delivery of the Digital
Strategy. The progress is shown in
full at Appendix 1. A future
programme to deliver further
transformation has been developed
and is set out at Appendix 2.
Accept:
HR will conduct a survey that will help
establish what Members are finding
challenging with remote working and
virtual meetings. Solutions to these
problems can be suggested once the
main issues are identified and
therefore will encourage use of
digital.
Accept: the use of technology whilst
working remotely has enabled
services to continue to run smoothly,
has scope to generate financial
savings and help the council deliver
its pledge to become carbon neutral.

4

Create a Corporate Etiquette protocol for Microsoft Teams
that covers making calls, leaving messages and showing
availability.

Within existing resources

5

That the online calendar function on Mod.gov is updated
regularly to inform Members of future meetings for at least
the next six months.

Within existing resources

Accept: Creating a protocol around
online etiquette will enable better
communication between staff and
Members if everyone is following the
same guidance whilst working
remotely.
Accept: Keeping the online calendar
function updated will enable user
experience with mod.gov and

O&S Review of Digital Transformation – Management Team Advice for the Cabinet
encourage using the technology
rather than paper copies.

Page 46

6

Proceed with creating an online central database for local
and national data that residents are able to access and
view statistics regarding Ashford Borough.

Within existing resources

Accept: Members and the public will
be able to access an online hub for
all available statistics about Ashford
Borough. This would pull internal and
external data sources together and
store them in a central place.

7

That a fact sheet is produced for all Members and staff with
advice on broadband and how to check your connectivity
whilst working remotely.

Within existing resources

Accept: the production of some
guidance by the council’s IT team will
help to ensure Members and officers
can access council systems online.

8

Prioritise completion of an IT asset register to ensure that
all council owned equipment is logged and returned to the
Civic Centre when appropriate.

Within existing resources

Accept:
The IT service will prioritise
completing a register of all equipment
taken for remote working purposes

Agenda Item 8
Agenda Item No:

Report To:

Overview and Scrutiny
Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

Overview and Scrutiny: Tuesday 10th November
Cabinet: Thursday 26th November

Report Title:

Performance Report, Quarter 2 2020/21

Report Author &
Job Title:

Tom Swain
Governance and Data Protection Officer

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. N Bell
Portfolio Holder for: Finance and IT
Summary:

Following the presentation to Cabinet in July of the Recovery
Plan 2020 which had the aim of setting out the council’s
approach to making a timely and successful recovery from
the impact of the coronavirus, this periodic report
summarises performance against the performance indicators
introduced in that Recovery Plan.

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

None

Recommendations:

Directors
Cabinet
Overview and Scrutiny, is asked to:I.

Policy Overview:

Consider the performance data for quarter 2
2020/21

The Recovery Plan as the key strategic documents in the
near future set out how we can embrace the ‘new normal’ to
build: a stronger local economy, increased community
resilience and public participation.
The Plan covers a 2 year period reflecting economic
forecasting for the return of economic stability during the
period.
Given the many uncertainties faced at present on varying
restrictions and as more is learnt about the pandemic, and
what may need to be done to supress further peaks in

Page 47

infection, The Plan will need to be flexible and responsive.
This quarterly Performance Report acts as an opportunity to
monitor the Recovery Plans performance and any changes
that have been needed.
Financial
Implications:

None

Legal Implications:

None

Equalities Impact
Assessment:

Not required as the report presents information on past
council performance and does not recommend any change
to council policy or new action

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:

N/A

Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

N/A

Sustainability
Implications:

N/A

Other Material
Implications:

N/A

Exempt from
Publication:

No

Background
Papers:

The Recovery Plan 2020

Contact:

Tom.Swain@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330432

Page 48

Report Title: Performance Report, Quarter 2 2020/21
Introduction and Background
Introduction

1. This report seeks to provide an overview of performance against the council’s key
performance indicators for Quarter 2 2020/21. The council’s performance
framework captures key performance data from across council services as it
relates to the themes of the Recovery Plan 2020, that of Economic Recovery,
Community Recovery, Place Making, Regeneration, and Infrastructure and
Organisational Change and Workforce Development.

Background

2. The Recovery Plan 2020 was developed to put in place a framework to enable a
timely and structured recovery from the economic and social impact of the
coronavirus pandemic. The plan sets out to deliver a number of actions that will
allow the council to re-configure how it works and can most effectively deliver
services to residents and how, in collaboration with others, help mitigate the
negative impacts of the pandemic on the local economy, communities and
residents.

3. This quarterly performance report monitors the key performance measures set
out in the Recovery Plan and by doing so forms part of a comprehensive and
regular review of the plan ensuring our recovery remains focused and on track to
deliver a timely recovery that is inclusive and ensures those hardest hit by the
coronavirus pandemic are not disadvantaged.

Quarter 2 Performance

4. Commentary on individual performance indicators is included under the
corresponding performance measure. As would be expected, the impact of the
coronavirus pandemic can be seen on a number of performance indicators over
the period as lockdowns, economic activity and our ways of life have altered.

Page 49

Page 50

1

Recovery Plan, Quarterly Performance Indicators
Economic Recovery
Code & Short
Name

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

RPKPI30

Parking usage in 269,625
Ashford and
Parking usage Tenterden Car
Parks.

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

44,422

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

169,865

Parking income for Ashford and
Tenterden car parks for Sept was
£122,368, this compares to £204,250
for Sept 2019.

Page 51

Parking income is a significant income stream to the Council with budgeted income of just under £2.4m for 2020/21. Given the restrictions on movement in April, May and June, car parking
income saw a significant decline but it is expected to recover slowly over the next 6 months. Overall, it is anticipated that car parking income could be down by £1.2m in 2020/21.
Removal of cash transactions (Car Parks) report available from Sept 2020 Cabinet, which introduced the phased removal of cash from Council business in response to the wider changes we
are seeing in society as a result of digitisation of services and COVID19. This will result in reduced costs including future replacement of machines as they reach end of life.

RPKPI51

Vacancy rates (in
our corporate
Vacancy rates property)
(in our
corporate
property)

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

25.1%

Major sites that we acquired for commercial/investment purposes included. Please note Park Mall and the Commercial Quarter are not included as these were purchased for development and
regeneration purposes.
Corporate Property Performance Annual Report 2019/20 and update to the Property Acquisition, Investment and Disposal Strategy available from Sept 2020 Cabinet. This report provided a
summary of how our main commercial assets are performing and the work the Council is undertaking to improve or maintain such performance. Whilst this report looks back to the financial year
2019-2020, due to the unparalleled events over the past 18 months such as the changes in the retail shopping market, the impact and uncertainty caused by Brexit and the coronavirus
pandemic, the report also considers what impacts these events may have on the council’s property portfolio in the short term.

2

Code & Short
Name
RPKPI80

Description

Value

Page 52

Business
survival,
Current
measure based
vacancy rates upon our
business rates
Business
records
survival
comparing the
total number of
rated premises in
the borough
against those
which have an
empty property
exemption or
relief applied to
their accounts
indicating
vacancy.
RPKPI81

Percentage
business
survival of
those who have
received
support during
the pandemic

Q4 2019/20

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

8.64%

Status

Value
8.4%

Latest Note
Target

Status
Sept 2020, 5059 rated properties in
the borough with 256 exemptions /
169 empty reliefs

Percentage business survival of those who have received support during the pandemic - Following the final tranche of Covid-19 related support, a report will be produced
summarising the support provided and to which businesses, these businesses will subsequently be surveyed at a future date to identify their survival.

Covid support administered to 2492 businesses with £27,775,000 directed through the small business rates grant scheme, and £1,351,000 through the discretionary grant scheme.
More information on the prosperity of our local businesses is available within the Kent and Medway COVID-19 Economic Recovery Dashboard. The Economic Recovery Dashboard (XLSX, 1.3
MB) has been developed to help support the economic recovery from COVID-19 in Kent and Medway. It draws from a range of economic indicators and uses modelled data to help identify the
possible impact on local economies and those areas which may be more economically vulnerable.

3

Code & Short
Name

Description

RPKPI82

Unemployment
figures taken
Unemployment monthly from
figures
Kent County
Councils
Economy and
employment
data.

Q4 2019/20
Value
2.9%

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

6%

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

6.4%

Latest available figures up to the end
of August 2020 and indicate 4990
unemployed. Latest figures likely to
be revised.

COVID-19 continues to have a significant impact on the number of claimants of unemployment benefits. The claimant rate in Kent is currently 6.3% (Aug figures), an increase from previous
month. While Kent has seen a higher percentage increase over the previous month than was seen in the UK as a whole, the claimant rate is below the national average of 6.5%. More
information available within Kent County Councils Economy and employment data.
RPKPI83

5.4%

12.1%

12%

Page 53

Unemployment
18-24yr olds
Unemployment taken monthly
18-24yr olds from the Kent
County Council
economy and
employment
data.

Latest available figures up to the end
of August 2020 and indicate 1055
unemployed aged between 18-24.
Latest figures likely to be revised.

Youth unemployment (18-24) in Kent is higher than the national average: 10.2% in Kent, 9.4% UK and Ashford at 12% is currently above both of these. More information available within Kent
County Councils Economy and employment data.

4

Community Recovery
Code & Short
Name
RPKPI01
Rent arrears

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Snapshot figure
of total rent
arrears.

RPKPI04

No. of
homelessness
Homelessness presentations
Presentations

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

469

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

£531,232.00

£558,949.55

Trend being monitored to understand
if this alters as the economic
hardships of Covid measures work
through.

367

408

Trend being monitored to understand
if this alters as the economic
hardships of Covid measures work
through.

Page 54

The latest data tables on local government housing including Ashford Borough Council, covering social housing sales, homelessness, and affordable housing supply are available at the
following links: Social housing sales Homelessness Housing statistics Affordable housing supply
The stay on possession proceedings expired on 20 September 2020 and landlords will then be able to progress their possession claim through the courts. Courts will carefully prioritise the most
egregious cases, such as those involving anti-social behaviour and other crimes. Possible increase in homelessness presentations once private landlords are once again permitted to progress
with possession proceedings.
A report provides the current position on homelessness following the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act in April 2018 and the impact of Covid 19 in 2020/21 was taken to the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in October.

RPKPI05

No. of
households
Homelessness where
Preventions homelessness
(still in
was prevented
accommodatio
n)
RPKPI06

41

No. of complaints 3
regarding poor
Number of new conditions and/or
complaints
ASB in the
cases opened private rented

28

30

Numbers remaining steady. Trend
being monitored to understand if this
alters as the economic hardships of
Covid appear.

1

3

Two varied notices types were issued
during this period for anti-social
behaviour. We are seeing a small
increase in this type of complaint
currently due to tenants remaining at

5

Code & Short
Name

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

sector resolved
with formal
action

RPKPI07
Gas Safety
Certificates

Status
home for longer periods.
Additionally Continued informal action
is still underway working with
contractors and landlords.

% of ABC
99.93%
properties with
up to date gas
safety certificates

100%

96.29%

100%

98.37%

100%

Page 55

Compliancy is still moving in the right
direction and this reflects the efforts
made by the heating service provider,
the heating consultant and the council
officers involved in the process. It is
also an indication of how residents
are reacting to the current status quo
within the borough, which remains
positive as they settle into the new
normal. However, should there be an
increase in infections in the borough,
which could bring localised
restrictions, residents could become
unsettled once again and this would
affect compliancy negatively.

The downturn in the landlord gas safety record compliancy in Q1 was due to the CV-19 situation with residents shielding and reluctant to provide access. Our compliance consultant, heating
service provider and Council staff in housing are all still being pro-active to mitigate the non-compliance and work with the residents to ensure access where possible.
RPKPI08
Disabled
Facilities
Grants
Completed

No. of disabled
facilities grants
administered by
the council

22

6

6

6

Slightly down on last year's figure,
with contractors only recently started
to pick up work after Covid lockdown

Code & Short
Name

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

RPKPI24

Estimated total
Estimated total no. of people
no. of people supported
supported
monthly at
monthly at
foodbanks who
foodbanks
received
assistance
through the
Voluntary
Emergency
Response
Appeal

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

Baseline figure collected Aug 2020
936
New performance indicator not
previously recorded

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Numbers of VCS organisations
funded from ABC Coronavirus
Emergency Fund – Project 16,
Support 34 TOTAL 50

Page 56

• Completion

Date: 1st
February 2021

Shortly after the lockdown Ashford Borough Council launched the Voluntary Emergency Response Appeal (VERA).
Seventy donations were made to the fund, with contributions from residents, councillors, ABC staff and local companies such as Givaudan and Countryside Properties. Over the last few months
many local voluntary organisations have helped supply food and essentials to those most in need during the height of the crisis.
The council is pleased to announce that three key organisations that are continuing to deliver across the borough and serve those that need support will receive funding from VERA - Ashford
Vineyard Foodbank, Bright City Church Foodbank and Repton People’s Pantry.
The funding will specifically support Ashford Vineyard in their aspiration to move from a foodbank system to a ‘social supermarket’ referral system which as well as supporting food poverty, will
take a longer term approach to supporting local people with money management, cooking and personal development.
Bright City will continue doing the good work they have been doing for years from their Bank Street venue while Repton People’s Pantry will extend their community led food bank providing
food, hygiene items and cleaning products to residents across the borough that are in need.
We will continue to look at ways to strengthen the voluntary sector such as networking valuable groups so they can help each other and share resources in the future. Officers will also continue
to look out for, and secure, further funding support for these three strategic community organisations, as well as other borough wide groups and projects who are helping those that are
struggling with the most basic of necessities.

7

Code & Short
Name
RPKPI26A

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

• Numbers of

organisations
MEMBER
funded from
GRANTS –
Member Grants
Covid Related for Covid related
work

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

RPKPI31

% of businesses 99%
in the borough
Food Hygiene with a food
Rating
hygiene rating
above 3*

98.5%

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

99.1%

98.5%

Value

Latest Note
Target

14

99.3%

Status
Funding totals £17,994.53

98.5%

Page 57

The team are back conducting food
hygiene inspections but are having to
carefully risk assess and consider
Covid-19 implications of physical
inspections, which has led to a delay
in re-starting.

Please note. All inspections were suspended in March 2020 due to the Coronavirus pandemic which has led to a backlog of inspections in the order of 500. This figure therefore is statistically
correct, but it includes ratings from inspections that are now overdue.
RPKPI62

Average time
2.29
taken to process
Benefit Change a benefit change
of
of circumstance
Circumstance in no. days
Processing

10

1.94

10

2.02

10

On target

The latest data tables on local government finance including Ashford Borough Council, covering borrowing and investment, capital payments and receipts, local Council Tax support, quarterly
revenue outturn and receipts of Council Taxes and national non-domestic rates is available from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.
RPKPI63
Benefit New
Claim
Processing
Time

Average time
22.97
taken to process
a new benefit
payment claim in
no. days

28

26.83

28

25.39

8

28

On target

Code & Short
Name
RPKPI64
Universal
Credit new
claims

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Universal Credit
Monthly new
starts.

Q1 2020/21
Target

961 complete quarter

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

5,338 complete quarter

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

371 information currently only
available for July.

Source DWP Stat Xplore
Most recent figure likely to be revised.
This looks at the number of starts to Universal Credit. The starts figures show the number of claims which have gone through the application process and been awarded Universal Credit. This
data is available to Jobcentre Plus areas. The Jobcentre Plus office at which a claimant is recorded at is based upon the postcode of where the claimant lives. There are thirteen Jobcentre Plus
areas in Kent and Medway and this figure is associated to the Ashford office.
RPKPI67

Page 58

Welfare
intervention
new cases

Welfare
462
intervention new
cases

406

434

133 cases referred from Council Tax,
78 cases referred from Revs and
Bens
46 cases referred from Housing
9 cases referred from shielding/Covid
help.

Test and Trace payments have been picked up by the welfare intervention team.
RPKPI84

Number of
45
positive Covid 19
Number of
cases, source
positive Covid https://coronavi
19 cases
rus.data.gov.uk/

1,217

148

Number of people with at least one lab-confirmed positive COVID-19 PCR test result.
COVID-19 cases are identified by taking specimens from people and sending these specimens to laboratories around the UK for PCR swab testing. If the test is positive, this is referred to as a
lab-confirmed case. If a person has had more than one positive test they are only counted as one case. Cases are allocated to the person's area of residence.
RPKPI85
Website visits
to Covid 19
pages

Website visits to 15,400
Covid 19 pages

56,835

22,292

9

Unique page hits for Sept: 10,203
Top 5 page hits: Regional Testing
News article (6,163), Advice for
shops and supermarkets (1,248),
Covid homepage (1,242), Advice
for businesses (148), Statement on
cases in Ashford News article
(117).

Code & Short
Name
RPKPI86
Number of
referrals to
voluntary
sector

Description

Q4 2019/20
Value

Number of
referrals to
voluntary sector

0

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

345

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

117

Number of Covid related calls where
it was felt support could be provided
from a voluntary organisation and a
referral was made.

Page 59
10

Place Making, Regeneration and Infrastructure
Code &
Description
Short Name
RPKPI02
Council
Affordable
Housing New Build

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

No. of additional
4
new build affordable
homes delivered by
council housing

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

0

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

2

Status
Two chalet bungalows have been
delivered in The Weavers, Biddenden

Ashford Borough Council is set to complete a deal with developers Dukelease this autumn to buy the New Quarter – with an east and west wing adjacent to the Panorama building in the heart
of Ashford town centre – comprising 109 units of one and two bedroomed flats.

Page 60

RPKPI03

Council
Affordable
Housing On-Street
Purchases
RPKPI10

Planning
Application
Approvals

No. of additional on- 24
street purchase
affordable homes
delivered by council
housing

% of planning
applications
approved

91%

12

90%

90%

12

90%

90%

We are continuing to assess the
number of purchases that we will
acquire going forward to make sure
we are mindful of market conditions,
the price of homes and making the
best use of the resources available to
us from the right-to-buy receipts.
90%

Stodmarsh European Designated Sites, the council is committed to development only taking place if it is sustainable development that respects the relevant environmental protections. Part of
the consideration of this is whether there would be a detrimental impact on any European Designated Nature Conservation Sites whether these are within the Borough or not. Advice has been
given by Natural England on Nutrient Neutrality for new developments in the Stour catchment which may impact our ability to approve planning applications without mitigation. More information
is available on the planning pages of our website.

11

Code &
Description
Short Name

Q4 2019/20
Value

RPKPI11

Q1 2020/21
Target

% of major planning 71%
applications
Speed of determined within 13
Major
weeks (or within
Planning such extended
Application period as agreed in
Decisions writing between the
applicant and the
local authority)

60%

RPKPI11A

60%

Value

Target

94%

65%

Status

Latest Note

Value

Target

100%

65%

Status

Target increased from 60-to-65%
64%

60%

67%

60%

Page 61

% of major planning 58%
applications
% of major determined within 13
planning weeks amended to
applications reflect the 24 rolling
determined month
within 13
weeks
amended to
reflect 24
rolling
month

Status

Q2 2020/21

MHCLG threshold for designation is
<60%. The current monitored
designation period is from October
2018 - September 2020.

The latest data tables on local government Planning including Ashford Borough Council, covering the speed and quality of planning decisions are available at the following link: Live tables on
planning application statistics
RPKPI12

% of minor and other 88%
planning
Speed of applications
Non-Major determined within 8
Planning weeks (or within
Application such extended
Decisions period as has been
agreed in writing
between the
applicant and the
council).

70%

93%

75%

95%

75%

Target changed 70 -75%

12

Code &
Description
Short Name
RPKPI12A

% of non majors
determined within 8
% of Non- weeks amended to
Majors
reflect 24 rolling
determined month
within 8
weeks
amended to
reflect 24
rolling
month

Q4 2019/20

Q1 2020/21

Value

Target

78%

70%

Status

Q2 2020/21

Value

Target

80%

70%

Status

Latest Note

Value

Target

82%

70%

Status

MHCLG threshold for designation is
<70%. The current monitored
designation period is from October
2018 - September 2020.

The latest data tables on local government Planning including Ashford Borough Council, covering the speed and quality of planning decisions are available at the following link: Live tables on
planning application statistics

Page 62

RPKPI14

Number of
live
planning
applications
reducing
backlog
RPKPI21
% of
working
population
cycling to
work (at
least once
per week)

Number of live
planning
applications with a
capacity set at 550
open cases

% of working
population cycling to
work
.

613

550

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

619

550

643

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

550

Latest data for Ashford (Local
Authority area from 2019 (published
in August 2020) shows the
following:
3.5% traveling by bike once a month
2.4% traveling once a week
1.6% traveling 3 times a week
1.6% traveling 5 times a week

13

Planning service continues to operate
above ideal capacity level.

Based on the national walking and
cycling data statistics, data is from
the National Travel Survey and Active
Lives Survey

Code &
Description
Short Name

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

RPKPI22

Number of
organisations
Number of committed to travel
organisation plans
s committed cycling/walking
to active
travel plans
cycling/walk
ing
RPKPI40
Recycling
Rate

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

% of borough waste 49.33%
recycled or
composted

50%

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

53.67%

50%

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Annual target that increases in each
year based on our plans to fund the
production of travel plans. In year 1
we’re looking at a pilot of working with
10 organisations and are hoping that
once we see more people returning to
offices that this will become more of a
priority

Page 63

49%

50%

The percentage reported is distorted
due to the month having three refuse
weeks and two recycle weeks.
Currently the average for current full
year up to July is 52%.

99.97%

99.97%

Target consistently met

Waste data from UK local authorities is reported to WasteDataFlow with statistics available at the following links.
WasteDataFlow
Waste and recycling statistics
RPKPI41

Refuse
Collection
Success
Rate

% of successful
refuse collections
per 100,000 refuse
collections made.

99.97%

99.97%

99.96%

99.97%

A fire at the neighbouring premises to our refuse collection contractor Biffa resulted in their warehouse being significantly damaged, this has resulted in some minor disruption.

14

Organisational Change and Workforce Development
Code &
Description
Short Name
RPKPI50

Contribution to
budget from
Percentage commercial
of
investments utilising
commercial the budgeted figures
revenue
provided as part of
received the council’s budget
against
books.
projected Measure to start
from Sept 20

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Value

Latest Note
Target

74%

Status
Figure based on Ellingham, Carlton
Road, Elwick Place, International
House, Matalan and Wilkos.

Corporate Property Performance Annual Report 2019/20 and update to the Property Acquisition, Investment and Disposal Strategy Cabinet 24th Sept 2020

Page 64

RPKPI60

Business
Rates
Collection

% of national non99.1%
domestic rates
collected by the
council - cumulative
figure per month

99%

27.18%

24.75%

51.61%

49.5%

Government finance including Ashford Borough Council, covering borrowing and investment, capital payments and receipts, local Council Tax support, quarterly revenue outturn and receipts of
Council Taxes and national non-domestic rates are available from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.
RPKPI61

98.1%

98.25%

29.77%

24.57

57.6%

49.14

Council Tax
Collection
Rate

The Financial Monitoring report taken to Sept Cabinet in response to financial uncertainty as a result of the Covid19 Pandemic looks at the movements in the General Fund, Housing Revenue
Account (HRA), Collection Fund and provides an update on the Government Fees and Charges Support Scheme. – 1 June 2020 to 31 July 2020 Cabinet 24th Sept 2020

15

Code &
Description
Short Name
RPKPI70
Number of
days
sickness per
full time
equivalent

Based on the total
FTE.

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

9.1 annualised days

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

10.42 annualised days

Status
Based on the total FTE as at 31st
July average absence due to
sickness has increased to 10.42
days (annualised).

Separate coronavirus absence types were set up in early April to allow specific reporting on this absence type (without impacting on contractual sickness entitlement). The Coronavirus absence
types are symptomatic, no alternative duties and self-isolating. Upon review of the data it appears that managers have used the ‘no alternative duties’ and the ‘self isolating’ reason codes
interchangeably; days lost due to these two periods are actual working days lost (not time spent working from home whilst self-isolating). A total of 912 days were lost due to coronavirus
absences in the four months of April, May, June and July.
If Coronavirus Absence Types are removed from the figures the average absence due to sickness is reduced to 3.99 days (annualised).

Page 65

RPKPI90

Number of
ongoing
litigation/
court
proceedings
(volume
measure)

number of ongoing
litigation/court
proceedings (volume
measure)

And

These are new performance indicators with data being collected from 01 October 2020, data and further comment will be included in the Quarter 3
performance report.

RPKPI90A
Litigation
number of
cases in
which costs
have been
awarded
against ABC

number of cases in
which costs have
been awarded
against ABC
(effectiveness
measure)

16

Code &
Description
Short Name

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Latest Note
Target

Status

RPKPI91
Number of number of new 106
new 106
files opened
files opened
RPKPI91A
Number of number of draft 106
draft 106 agreements sent out These are new performance indicators with data being collected from 01 October 2020, data and further comment will be included in the Quarter 3
agreements
performance report.
sent out
And

Page 66

RPKPI91B

Number of number of 106
106 cases cases completed
completed

RPKPICOM1 Increased income
attributable to
Income
commercialisation
Generation projects - income
and Savings and cashable
efficiency savings
Income Target
£400,000 20/21

73,162.5
New performance indicator not
previously recorded

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

75,000

Quarter 1 - commercialisation project
had not commenced and therefore no
target set.
The Quarter 2 income comes from
Garden Waste Development project
and the additional customers and bin
orders. Aims to increase customer
base through new online payment
systems and ability to sign up for
annual contract at any time of year
are proving successful. Further
marketing and route analysis is
planned for next quarter to further
increase customers.

Other projects that will contribute to overall target require a longer lead in time before financial returns found, e.g. efficiency savings anticipated through the Category Management project which
aims to streamline council contracts.

17

Code &
Description
Short Name

Q4 2019/20
Value

Q1 2020/21
Target

Status

Value

Q2 2020/21
Target

Status

Latest Note

Value

Target

28%

26%

Status

Q4 total amended to £300k as only 3 quarters available (20/21) since project inception.

RPKPICOM2 Projects completed
target
Project
Projects complete
Completion 80% planned 20/21
tasks.

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

8%
New performance indicator not
previously recorded

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

Page 67

RPKPICOM3 This indicator
measures the % of
Improved officers who have
Commercial completed the online
Acumen
commercial thinking
– module 1 training.

New performance indicator not
previously recorded

All projects in commercialisation
programme have a detailed project
task plan, the % of complete tasks
across all projects are combined to
create this % score.

As the commercialisation project
develops, this measure will
encapsulate a broader range of
measures including measuring the
increase in staff awareness of
commercialisation and the response
towards it with the aspiration of:
50% staff feeling confident and
positive towards commercial
approach.
50% of staff trained in commercial
approach
30 projects coming forward (pro rata
20/21 – so 15)

18

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Agenda Item No:

9

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

The Medium Term Financial Plan 2021 to 2026

Report Author &
Job Title:

Maria Stevens
Head of Finance & IT

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Neil Bell
Portfolio Holder for: Finance & IT

Summary:

This report presents the Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTPF), a budget forecast including underlying assumptions,
covering a five year period from 2021 to 2026 for the General
Fund.
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is reported separately
in the HRA Business Plan, which will be report to Cabinet in
December 2020.
The Draft Budget is built using the assumptions in the MTFP
and the Draft Budget will be reported to Cabinet in
December.
The MTFP highlights the pressure coming through from the
recession as a result of the COVID19 pandemic and
measures in reduce Council spending over the next 5 years.
The MTFP is based on the Council’s current activities and
resources. New priorities and projects will need to be fully
planned and the impact on the budget understood before
approval.

Key Decision:

YES

Significantly
Affected Wards:

All

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:I.
II.

III.

Note the forecast and accept the underlying
assumptions
Note that 2021/22 funding is based on current
funding with spending reviews, fair funding and
Business Rate changes now to be implemented
from 2022/23
Endorse the Reserves Strategy (Paragraphs 33 to
43)

Page 69

IV.

Delegate authority to the Director of Finance and
Economy in consultation with the Leader and
Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT to agree the
Council’s continued participation in the Kent
Business Rates pool

Policy Overview:

This report is in line with the Council Policy to prepare and
approve an annual budget and update and review the
Council’s finances with a five year plan.

Financial
Implications:

The Medium Term Financial Plan is built using the Council’s
Recovery Plan, future assumptions and an agreed saving
plan to be presented as part of the Draft Budget.
The Plan does include a number of risks and these are
explored further in the risk section of the report.

Legal Implications:

NA

Equalities Impact
Assessment:

The assessment is done as part of the Final Draft Budget
Report, reported to February 2021 Cabinet. This report
forms part of the Budget Setting process.

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:

No personal data used to build the plan.

Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

Risks are explored in this report in the section below. The
are many risks including, Government funding and the
uncertainty within the economy. The Medium Term Financial
Plan is used to assess these risks and the impact they could
have on the viability of the Council over the next five years.

Sustainability
Implications:

NA

Other Material
Implications:

None

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Contact:

Maria.stevens@ashford.gov.uk

Page 70

Agenda Item No. 9

Report Title: The Medium Term Financial Plan 2021-2026
Introduction
1.

This report presents the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP/the Plan) that
has been built based on current service activities, current understanding of
future levels of government funding and key assumptions based on the
current COVID19 pandemic and possible resulting recession. The Plan also
includes saving measures of around £3m per annum that have been identified
by Heads of Service and reviewed and approved by Portfolio Holders and the
Leader of the Council.

2.

The Council has also been asked to approve an additional borrowing facility to
the Property Company of £50m and has developed a Commercial Strategy.
Both of these measures should increase income to the Council with an overall
target of £1m per annum in later years of the Plan.

3.

This report covers the General Fund Budget, the Council also has the
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and this has its own 30 year Business Plan
and is covered in a detailed Cabinet report. This report will be presented to
Members at the Cabinet meeting held in December 2020.

4.

The Draft Budget is built in conjunction with the MTFP and will be presented
to Members at the December Cabinet.

Background & Context
The Economy
5.

The impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with its exit from the
European Union and future trading arrangements will remain a major
influence on the economy over the life of the MTFP.

6.

UK CPI (Consumer Price Inflation) for September 2020 was 0.5%, up from
0.2% in the previous month; the MTFP assumes this will rise to 1% by March
2021 before returning to the BoE (Bank of England) target of 2% by March
2023/24.

7.

The most recent labour market data for the three months to August 2020
showed the unemployment rate rose to 4.5%; this is expected to increase
further due to the ongoing impact of Covid19 on the jobs market, particularly
when the various government job retention schemes start to be unwound in
2021.

8.

With the BoE forecasting unemployment will peak at 7.75% in Q2 2021, this
could increase pressure on the Council’s Revenues and Benefits Team, and
Housing Services. Some of these job losses will come from business failure
and in turn will put pressure on business rates income.

9.

The BoE voted unanimously to maintain the Bank Rate at 0.10% in November
2020 with no mention of negative interest rates, this is as anticipated in the
MTFP.

Page 71

Government Agenda
10.

Currently Ashford Borough Council is part of the Kent Pool for Business Rates
that offers a number of benefits to the Council including benefiting from the
business rate growth within the district. A review is currently underway
throughout Kent to ensure in the current climate a Pool should still exist and
that Ashford should be part of such Pool.

11.

Government’s focus has been the COVD19 pandemic this year dealing with
containment of the virus whilst balancing this against the pressures within the
economy. The result of this is likely to see the reforms on various Local
Government funding streams being delayed including the fair funding review,
business rate retention scheme and the comprehensive spending review
(multi year settlement).

12.

These reviews could fundamentally affect the funding position of Local
Government. There is a strong policy driver to divert funding to Social Care,
which has a potential to transfer resources away from District/Borough
Councils to County Councils. This needs to be balanced against the impact
on District/Borough Councils and the need to maintain key service priorities.

13.

The New Homes Bonus Scheme is ending however, there has been no
indication of a replacement scheme to incentivise local residential
development. The MTFP assumes a one off allocation for 2021/22 with on
legacy payments.

14.

The EU Exit is also high on the agenda and work is underway to secure a
deal with Europe before 31 December 2020.

Local impact of Government Policy
15.

The Covid19 crisis has created a vacuum in terms of the local impact of many
policy developments as they are paused whilst we wrestle with the crisis.

16.

The Spending review will be restricted to a single year and we expect a
settlement based on current year allocations with the methodology for
distribution set to be retained for another year until the fair funding review is
completed.

17.

Perhaps the biggest areas where we are seeing the impact of government
policy locally is within the area of the End of the Transitional Period and the
development of the Boarder Control Facility as Sevington. In addition to this
the Government has been very proactive in tackling Homelessness and
recent figures show that we have a single rough sleeper in the borough.

Key Assumptions
18.

The Medium Term Financial Plan is based on a number of assumptions, this
section explores the more significant ones and Appendix A lists others such
as interest rate forecasts.

19.

Due to the COVID19 pandemic the MTFP includes a resulting recession. This
recession is forecast to last two years with a slow recovery over the following
three years. .

20.

Inflation is a factor that needs to be managed carefully within any financial
planning regime. CPI has reduced sharply this year, recovery is expected
over the next couple of years and this is reflected in the MTFP. Arlingclose

Page 72

(Treasury Management Advisors) estimates based on Government forecasts
sees CPI will return to the 2% target by 2023/24.
21.

Interest rates have been forecast in line with the Arlingclose estimates. As a
short term borrower the Council is more open to interest rate risk. This
strategy is in accordance with the Treasury Management Policy and is
monitored by Officers alongside Arlingclose treasury advisors.

22.

Cost of living pay increase is forecast to be zero in 2021/22 and again in
2023/24. In other years of the Plan a cost of living increase of 1% is
estimated. The increment salary increases are contractual and are included
in the all years of the plan at 0.7% of the total salary bill.

23.

Assumptions for new properties have been based on information from the
planning and visiting officer teams, looking at the number of properties under
construction and taking a view on the delivery of sites with planning
permission and allocated sites. It should be noted that the figures may differ
from those in the emerging local plan but a lower figure is taken as history
shows a lower level are usually completed than. These assumptions drive
figures for growth in tax base which ultimately impacts upon Council Tax
Yield, and new homes bonus receipts.

24.

Last year Government capped the level that council tax could be increased by
without a local referendum at 2% or £5 whichever is the greater. For planning
purposes the MTFP has assumed the maximum increase available to the
Council in each year of the Plan which would result in a £5.00 increase for
2021/22.

25.

Council Tax base is estimated to be lower than current levels, this has been
calculated based on a small increase in non-collection of 1.5% and an
increase in Council Tax Reduction claims of 40% (16% already realised).
This calculation is based on current information, furlough schemes ending in
April resulting in unemployment continuing to rise throughout 2021/22.

26.

Due to the delays in the reforms to local government finance we expect to see
a one year settlement being agreed based on last year’s settlement. Although
funding levels have not been formally reported to the Council as yet the
following assumption have been made:
a. New Homes Bonus will continue for one year however we do not
expect to receive any legacy payments resulting from the allocation.
Historically there have been three years of legacy payments at the
same value.
b. The Business Rate retention scheme has been under review and a
number of government consultations have happen over the last couple
of years. Due to current priorities we have made the assumption the
business rate scheme will continue in its current form with the reform
implementation date now being in 2022/23.

Developing Future Income Streams
27.

The Commercial Investment Strategy, comprises of three elements, Real
Estate Investment, Loans to the Property Company and Strategic Investment.

28.

The Medium Term Financial Plan includes income from projects that have
been confirmed, such as investment in the Property Company, £100m (soon

Page 73

to be £150m) included within the plan with significant drawdowns in 2021/22
and 2022/23. Future projects that have not yet been approved or started have
not been included.
MTFP Forecast
29.

The forecast detailed in the table below takes into account the items
discussed above. The forecast, which is not cumulative, shows that there are
pressures coming forward from 2021/22 with the budget coming back inline
nearer the end of the plan as returns from the commercial strategy are
realised.

30.

The 2021/22 budget has a pressure of £920,000 will be managed through use
of reserves that have been set aside to manage this pressure. This position
will be closely managed throughout the year with Services realising savings
through vacancies and only approving essential spend.

31.

The additional pressure coming through in 2023/24 is the estimated impact of
the retendering of the waste contract which has been informed by current
market intelligence. The Head of Environment and Land Management will
explore various models of delivery to understand if this pressure can be
reduced.

32.

It should be noted that there could be significant changes to government
funding that has not been reflected in the later years of this programme but
could include a reduction in Business Rate income.
Table 1 – Medium Term Financial Plan projections

Government Grant

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

2025/26

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(83)

(83)

(83)

(83)

(83)

Retained Business Rates
New Homes Bonus (50% allocated to support
base budget)

(4,084)

(3,574)

(4,088)

(4,636)

(5,934)

(1,680)

(730)

0

0

0

Government Funding

(5,847)

(4,387)

(4,171)

(4,719)

(6,017)

Council Tax
Total Income Receipts (Including Specific
Grants)

(7,794)

(8,161)

(8,667)

(9,079)

(9,526)

(47,542)

(46,669)

(45,885)

(45,658)

(45,419)

Base Budget Gross Expenditure

64,799

63,659

62,972

63,807

64,682

Budget Increases

(2,696)

(3,401)

(2,444)

(3,058)

(3,746)

920

1,041

1,805

1,293

(26)

BUDGET GAP

Page 74

Reserves Strategy
33.

The Council holds a number of reserves to ensure it has enough money to
cover future risks such as maintenance of property, Business Rate changes
and interest rate movements.

34.

The Cabinet review these reserve levels based on a recommended strategy
that considers the Council’s Net Revenue Budget, risks present and the
growing asset base.

35.

The table shows the current reserves and the current forecast allocations:

General Fund Revenue Reserves

Balance at
31st March
2021
£'000

Unearmarked General fund reserves

3,179

Earmarked Reserves
Corporate Recovery Delivery Plan
Project Reserves

533
0

Economic Resiliance Reserve

5,000

Fund future expenditure (Risks)

5,585

Provide for maintenance of assets

2,500

Required by statute reserves

143

Developer Section 106 contributions
Earmarked Reserves

4,846
18,607

Total Reserves Position

21,786

36.

The Council’s reserves policy is to hold a minimum 15% of Net Budget
Requirement as the unearmarked General Fund Balance; this is around
£2.5m.

37.

The Council has a MTFP pressure of £5m over the next five years, to ensure
there is funding to offset the forecast pressure a balance of £5m will be held in
the Economic Resilience Reserve should this be required.

38.

The Council has a General Fund (property & land) asset base of around
£120m, and at the start of this year asset management reserves held £1.3m.
It is felt that this balance should be increase to around 2% of the asset
balance and the reserve has been set at £2.5m. It should also be noted that
the Base Budget includes transfers to the Repairs & Renewals Reserve of
£500,000 per annum and this will be reviewed regularly to ensure it is
appropriate.

39.

Consideration will need to be given as to whether reserves need to be grown
to fund future projects, this will create a further pressure in the MTFP but
currently any replacement for New Homes Bonus will be used for this
purpose.

Page 75

40.

The Recovery Plan reserve is expected to be fully utilised by end of 2021/22
as the projects covered by the plan are delivered.

41.

Future projects and priorities will be assessed for funding before they are
approved. The following should be considered:
a. Capital reserves will be utilised if available for capital projects, these
reserves are expected to increase based on asset rationalisation.
b. Projects that generate a regular income above financing costs could
attract borrowing for funding; a full business case would be required to
access borrowing.
c. Projects outside of (a) and (b) would need to be consider alongside
available reserves and staff resources. Grants and other external
funding should also be considered to reduce the call on reserves.
Grants should only be applied for to deliver approved projects,
reducing g Council liabilities.

42.

The current capital reserves are as follows:

General Fund Capital Reserves

Capital Reserves
43.

Balance at
31st March
2021
£'000

130

There is an asset rationalisation review in progress and it is expected that a
number of assets will be sold a part of this. It is these reserves that could be
used for future projects and regeneration of the Borough.

Page 76

Balancing the Budget Gap
44.

There has been a great deal of press coverage over the financial viability of
Local Authorities, with the London Borough of Croydon issuing a Section 114
notice which restricts the Council’s expenditure to only statutory services.
There have been a number of reports through to cabinet examining the
financial impact of the COVID crisis on Ashford Borough Council’s budget.
Emergency Government funding and in year budget savings through reduced
activity has enabled us to close the 2020/21 budget gap and reduce the
demand on reserves.

45.

Looking forward the Council faces an environment of weaker and reduced
income streams and increased service demands as a result of the economic
effect of the pandemic. This is coupled with the existing MTFP pressures that
were highlighted resulting from service spending demands to maintain service
levels and the need to re-tender some significant contracts.

46.

Doing nothing is not an option, and Members and Management Team
understand there is a budget gap and over the summer started to develop
savings proposals of approximately £3m that will be brought forward as part of
the draft budget in December.

47.

These savings proposals allow us to present the MTFP in this form and
means that the remaining budget gap can be managed through the sufficient
reserves that have been set aside to fund this gap. If these savings are not
delivered the reserves will be consumed at an unsustainable rate and a S114
would need to be written, therefore the priority needs to be delivering these
savings.

48.

In the opinion of the Section 151 officer this strategy means that the Council
remains viable and can plan towards the medium term. However whilst the
future presents opportunities, some of which are mentioned above, these will
be balanced against weaker income streams and reduced level of reserves
will require continued caution and prudence when planning for the future.

49.

The council will need to develop further measures to manage any pressures
coming through to ensure the gap does not widen. This will be achieved
through:
a. Cost Awareness – Controlling our costs
b. Income generation – Exploiting opportunities
c. Working smarter – Empowering staff

50.

Digital transformation will aspire to manage growth in demand within
resources through smarter working. A new Planning system is to be
implemented during 2021/22.

51.

The Investment Strategy and generating future income to support the
underlying budget is being continuously reviewed.

Risks
52.

There are a number of risks to the MTPF and an assessment of those risks
are explored in this section below.

Page 77

53.

The MTFP assumes that there will be a recession as we enter 2021, affecting
the whole plan with recovery starting as we enter 2023. If the recession is
prolonged or deeper than our forecast, this could have a negative impact on
the Plan.

54.

The MTFP includes savings of around £3m per annum from 2021/22. Should
these savings not be achieved there will be further calls on reserves
throughout the MTFP period. This brings into focus the capacity of the
Council to deliver its plans. There must to be a focus on delivering savings
whilst continuing to deliver services as well as the recovery plan. The
consequence of this focus may be a reduced capacity to do more than these
stated objectives.

55.

The Council is currently in the process of working with the Government in the
formation of a Border Control Post and Ashford has a statutory duty to
delivery this service. The Council is working closely with DEFRA with the
expectation that the overall outcome will have no detrimental impact on the
Ashford Tax Payer.

56.

The current reserve position is sufficient however the recent Pandemic has
demonstrated the need for the Council to hold reserves for emergencies and
a pause in business for any reason can have a severe impact on the
Authority. The Council has prepared the reserves strategy above to ensure
reserves are in a stable position moving forward but at some stage the
Council may decide to replenish reserves to provide for the future.

57.

It should be noted that the MTFP includes approved projects in the Recovery
Plan Strategy and current Service priorities, should these be updated or
changed this will add pressures to the MTFP and on current staff resource of
the Authority.

58.

The key assumptions are built on the information available to us at this time.
How these assumptions ‘play out’ will affect the overall MTFP position. These
movements will be monitored through the Financial Monitoring process and
regularly reported through to Cabinet.

59.

The Stodmarsh position has been considered when looking at building within
the Ashford area however if this is prolonged there could be a pause in
development affecting planning income and future development grants and
also will affect the tax base growth assumed within the plan.

60.

Government funding review outcomes are still uncertain and could
fundamentally affect the MTFP position. Government has stated that whilst
the country is managing the pandemic, this is not the time to set long term
fiscal policy. Whilst this view is supported, a key lobbying point is that Local
Government needs certainty on funding from government so that it can plan
for the challenges ahead, until that it achieved it is very difficult to plan for the
medium term.

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
61.

The Draft Budget will be presented to the December 2020 Cabinet meeting
requesting approval to be passed for budget consultation through the
Overview & Scrutiny Task Group and externally (residents and businesses).

Page 78

62.

This consultation period will run for the remaining part of December and
throughout January.

63.

The Savings proposals are currently being reviewed with a view to identifying
whether any further, wider consultation process will be needed for specific
proposals and this will be reported as a when required.

Next Steps in Process
64.

The Draft Budget is prepared on the basis of the Medium Term Financial Plan
and this is presented to members at the December Cabinet meeting on 17th
December. The recommendation will ask Cabinet to send the Draft Budget to
consultation to the Overview & Scrutiny Task Group and the public including
residents and businesses within the Borough.

65.

The Final Budget will incorporate any agreed changes following the
consultation period and any significant changes understood since the Draft
Budget and will be reported and presented to Cabinet in February 2021 and
this will then be recommended for approval to Council on 4 March 2021.

Conclusion
66.

Members are asked to consider and note this report along with assumptions
made, endorse the Inflation Strategy and the Reserves Strategy and delegate
authority to the Director of Finance and Economy in consultation with the
Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT to agree the Council’s
continued participation in the Kent Business Rates pool

Portfolio Holder’s Views
67.

I am pleased to see that the Financial position of this Council has been fully
reviewed this year and Management Team have identified £3m of savings to
ensure this Council can continue to provide priority services.

68.

I note that there is an overall pressure in the Medium Term Financial Plan of
£5m and I endorse the proposal to set aside £5m into the Economic
Resilience Reserve to fund this pressure should it be needed and I will
support officers to keep this position reviewed over the coming year.

69.

This has been a challenging year and it will continue to be so with the
pandemic crisis entering its second wave and the EU Exit approaching quickly
but I know officers will monitor the financial position closely and report through
to Cabinet regularly through the Financial Monitoring Process.

Contact and Email
70.

Maria Stevens

71.

maria.stevens@ashford.gov.uk

Page 79

Appendix A
Key Assumptions
2021/22
Inflation
Pay
Contract
Income
CPI (consumer Price Index)
RPI (Retail Price Index)
Utilities
Benefits
CT increase
Pension
Bank of England Rate
ST Borrowing
LT Borrowing
ST Investment
LT Investment
Company lending

2022/23

0.70%
2.00%
2.00%
1.00%
2.00%
2.00%
1.00%
2.98%
4%
0.10%
0.20%
1.75%
0.05%
2.74%
3.05%

1.70%
2.50%
2.50%
1.50%
2.50%
2.50%
1.00%
2.90%
4%
0.10%
0.20%
1.75%
0.05%
2.80%
3.05%

Page 80

2023/24
0.70%
3.00%
3.00%
2.00%
3.00%
3.00%
1.00%
2.80%
4%
0.25%
0.35%
2.00%
0.05%
3.11%
3.30%

2024/25
1.70%
3.00%
3.00%
2.00%
3.00%
3.00%
1.00%
2.70%
4%
0.25%
0.50%
2.00%
0.15%
3.50%
3.30%

2025/26
1.70%
3.00%
3.00%
2.00%
3.00%
3.00%
1.00%
2.66%
4%
0.50%
0.50%
2.25%
0.25%
3.71%
3.55%

Agenda Item 10
Agenda Item No:

10

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

Council Tax Base 2021/22

Report Author &
Job Title:

Maria Hadfield
Senior Accountant

Portfolio Holder
Cllr Neil Bell
Portfolio Holder for: Finance & IT

Summary:

This Council is required to approve the tax base used to
calculate the level of Council Tax for 2021/22. It is calculated
with regard to the number of domestic properties (including a
forecast of new properties), which are then converted to
Band D equivalents.
The tax base has been calculated at 45,173 band D
properties, a decrease of 2,127 (or 4.5%) on the current
year.

Key Decision:

YES

Significantly
Affected Wards:

All

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:I.

Agree the 2021/22 ‘Net’ tax base of 45,173 Band D
equivalent properties

II.

Note the possibility of further Cabinet and Council
decisions being required, before the end of January,
should any material change in the tax base be
required as a consequence of any further relevant
funding announcements from government.

Policy Overview:

The Council Tax base is required to be set in accordance
with the Local Authorities (Calculations of Tax Base)
Regulations 2012

Financial
Implications:

The tax base will be used to calculate the level of Council
Tax requirement that will be recommended to the Council on
4 March 2021.

Page 81

Legal Implications

The Council is required to set a Council Tax Base.

Equalities Impact
Assessment

A full assessment is part of the final budget reported to
Cabinet in February.

Other Material
Implications:

None

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Contact:

Maria.hadfield@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330545

Page 82

Report Title:

Council Tax Base 2021/22

Introduction and Background
1.

The Council Tax Base for 2021/22 and its distribution across parished and unparished areas needs to be agreed.

2.

By 31 January 2021 the Council as the ‘billing authority’ is required to notify its
major precepting bodies (Kent County Council, Kent Police Authority and Kent
and Medway Fire and Rescue Authority) and the parishes of the relevant
council tax base for the 2021/22 financial year.

3.

As a result of the Council’s planned and prudent approach to recovery from
the COVID 19 pandemic a number of actions have been taken to ensure that
the budget is built on firm foundations.

Parish Grants
4.

As part of the draft budget it is proposed to remove the Parish Council grants
this year, the Concurrent Functions Grant and the Council Tax Support Grant.
This is subject to consultation which will be conducted as part of the draft
budget consultation 2021/22. Parish Council’s have received notification of
these reductions and will be notified when the consultation period starts.

The Tax Base (adjusted for various allowances)
5.

The Council has already submitted a tax base return to central government,
this figure is 50,768 (2020/21 51,200), it is based on the number of properties
on the valuation list as at 7 October 2020 and excludes provisions for new
properties, Council Tax Reduction discounts, and allowances for noncollection.

6.

The tax base calculation made in this report allows for new properties
anticipated to be coming on to the Valuation List. It is forecast that 400
properties will be added to the valuation list in line with the assumption in the
Medium Term Financial Plan.

7.

In calculating the tax base the authority must also have regard to discounts,
exemptions, non-collection and appeals. For the purposes of this calculation
1.5% has been estimated for losses on collections and appeals. This has
been increased from the previous year when the provision was 1%. This is to
reflect the anticipated drop in collection levels due to the economic effects of
the pandemic, an analysis of what is happening this year and is consistent
with other Kent Authorities.

8.

For 2021/22 the tax base has been calculated at 45,173 (2020/21 was
47,300) as detailed at Appendices A, B & C.

Page 83

Implications and Risk Assessment
9.

The Council Tax base is an important element of the budget setting process,
estimating the number of properties upon which council tax will be levied.

Next Steps in Process
10.

Once agreed by the Council the tax base will be notified to the County
Council, Kent Police, Kent and Medway Fire Authority and the Parish
Councils.

Conclusion
11.

The 2021/22 tax base is in line with the assumptions in the Financial Strategy
and the Recovery Plan, the calculation results in a tax base of 45,173 band D
equivalent properties. This will be used in the detailed budget and council tax
setting calculations.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
12.

This year due to uncertainty within the economy, the Council Tax Base has
seen a reduction of 4.5%. This reflects a realistic approach to the non
collection of Council Tax and increased Council Tax Reduction Scheme
claimants based on information available at this time.

13.

I recommend the tax base be set at 45,173 Band D equivalent properties.

Contact and Email
14.

Maria Hadfield

15.

Maria.hadfield@ashford.gov.uk.

Page 84

Appendix A

Page 85

BAND
PARISH
Aldington and Bonnington
Appledore
Bethersden
Biddenden
Bilsington
Boughton Aluph and Eastwell
Brabourne
Brook
Challock
Charing
Chilham
Crundale (PM)
Egerton
Godmersham
Great Chart with Singleton
Hastingleigh
High Halden
Hothfield
Kennington
Kenardington
Kingsnorth
Little Chart
Mersham
Molash
Newenden
Orlestone
Pluckley
Rolvenden
Ruckinge
Sevington
Shadoxhurst
Smarden
Smeeth
Sth Willesborough and Newtown
Stanhope
Stone

TAX BASE 2020/21
BAND D EQUIVALENTS
A
B
C
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

18
3
25
87
6
9
6
1
8
64
11
1
8
1
86
3
50
2
82
3
11
3
7
1
1
2
6
8
23
1
18
13
6
59
117
3

23
9
44
27
5
59
18
1
6
89
31
3
21
4
348
2
61
53
563
1
274
2
36
3
1
16
12
13
4
30
17
25
9
589
526
4

104
42
50
178
11
99
47
3
19
170
96
7
30
16
622
5
145
68
952
21
766
14
59
9
12
184
57
135
19
118
65
51
71
301
110
31

D
82
78
100
98
20
230
123
19
69
184
141
10
82
30
759
23
58
27
786
7
1,033
24
81
18
14
121
67
100
25
177
63
69
59
198
3
28

E
83
52
141
174
24
264
170
58
86
224
183
15
102
52
370
12
101
26
518
20
1,086
19
127
18
16
65
63
123
93
110
158
80
90
55
4
30

F
159
68
124
201
39
270
137
37
148
275
121
18
137
30
188
30
166
25
620
19
1,068
18
160
21
24
163
95
119
106
137
176
121
62
3
0
35

G
156
89
227
331
46
123
92
35
148
286
140
36
133
33
96
33
181
52
60
34
110
53
120
34
30
42
167
173
75
16
69
255
58
0
0
75

H
3
2
12
19
0
8
10
0
9
12
20
1
4
4
6
4
6
1
4
3
2
6
7
4
2
4
3
29
2
0
0
22
4
0
2
4

TOTAL
628
343
723
1,115
151
1,062
603
154
493
1,304
743
91
517
170
2,475
112
768
257
3,585
108
4,350
139
597
108
100
597
470
700
347
589
566
636
359
1,205
762
210

Tenterden (TC)
Warehorne
Westwell
Wittersham
Woodchurch
Wye with Hinxhill
Unparished Area

Contributions in Lieu
Less 1.5% Provision

0
0
0
0
1
0
1

20
3
7
13
89
25
706

119
6
11
18
17
65
3,731

518
17
29
88
103
159
3,552

714
28
75
54
137
210
1,819

815
37
150
120
104
164
1,095

789
21
92
92
169
235
926

606
38
128
134
208
158
167

51
2
8
19
6
8
5

3,632
152
500
538
834
1,024
12,002

5

1,616

6,896

9,153

8,043

7,297

7,444

5,047

318

45,819

0
0

0
(24)

0
(103)

0
(137)

42
(122)

0
(109)

0
(112)

0
(76)

0
(5)

42
(688)

5

1,592

6,793

9,016

7,963

7,188

7,332

4,971

313

45,173

Page 86

Page 87

Appendix B
ANALYSIS OF PROPERTIES FOR WHOLE AUTHORITY 2021/22

Total Chargeable Dwellings

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

No.

TOTAL
No.

10

4,066

13,143

12,905

9,319

6,660

5,539

3,262

180

55,084

Full Charge

8

1,785

7,425

8,585

6,705

5,068

4,613

2,715

140

37,045

Class C

0

104

322

175

125

59

46

45

5

881

Discount

1

2,060

5,234

4,001

2,367

1,451

809

430

22

16,375

Discount (Disregard Disc)

1

4

9

8

8

7

14

14

1

66

Discount on 2nd Homes

0

100

121

110

100

70

49

52

12

614

Full Charge on LT Empties

0

3

17

(20)

(17)

(12)

(4)

(1)

(2)

(35)

Premium on LT Empties

0

10

16

46

31

17

12

7

2

139
55,085

Of which:

Page 88

Total number of Properties

10

4,066

13,143

12,905

9,319

6,660

5,539

3,262

180

Total Equivalent Number - CTB1

5

2,263

8,904

10,374

8,548

7,577

7,597

5,128

326

50,722

Adjust for Council Tax Support

0

(678)

(1,980)

(1,315)

(560)

(259)

(123)

(60)

(1)

(4,976)

New Properties

0

90

40

148

122

0

0

0

0

400

Exemptions Factor

0

(62)

(71)

(52)

(69)

(21)

(30)

(19)

(3)

(328)

Adjusted Band D equivalents

5

1,613

6,893

9,155

8,041

7,298

7,444

5,048

322

45,819

Contributions in Lieu

0

0

0

0

42

0

0

0

0

42

Losses In Collection

(0)

(25)

(103)

(137)

(121)

(109)

(112)

(76)

(5)

(688)

5

1,588

6,790

9,017

7,962

7,188

7,332

4,972

317

45,173

Tax base

Page 89

Appendix C
TAX BASE 2021/22
LOCAL TAX BASE (WHOLE/PART AREAS)
LOCAL
TAX
BASE

WHOLE AREA

2020/21

Less discounts
Council Tax
Support

50,435

901

(477)

(3,559)

LOCAL TAX
BASE
2021/22
47,300

696
390
791
1,199
156
1,122
625
159
509
1,424
819
92
542
176
2,670
115
825
333
121
3,991
4,539
135
617
117
108
666
511
765
370
580
605
677
393
1,465
1,031
223
3,959
162
516
592
918
1,116
13,614

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20
0
0
0
0
42
0
0
0
0
8
36
8
8
0
0
0
0
0
0
42
0
8
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
0
0
22
184

(9)
(5)
(11)
(17)
(2)
(16)
(9)
(2)
(7)
(20)
(11)
(1)
(8)
(3)
(37)
(2)
(11)
(4)
(2)
(54)
(65)
(2)
(9)
(2)
(2)
(9)
(7)
(11)
(5)
(9)
(8)
(10)
(5)
(18)
(11)
(3)
(54)
(2)
(7)
(8)
(12)
(15)
(183)

(66)
(48)
(67)
(82)
(6)
(60)
(22)
(4)
(11)
(141)
(77)
(2)
(25)
(6)
(238)
(4)
(59)
(76)
(11)
(414)
(225)
(3)
(28)
(9)
(6)
(68)
(40)
(65)
(23)
(34)
(39)
(48)
(34)
(260)
(268)
(14)
(350)
(10)
(16)
(54)
(85)
(114)
(1,761)

621
337
713
1,100
148
1,046
594
153
491
1,283
731
89
509
167
2,437
109
755
253
108
3,531
4,285
138
588
106
100
589
464
689
342
579
558
627
354
1,187
752
206
3,577
150
493
530
821
1,009
11,854

50,434

400

(688)

(4,973)

45,173

1.5%
NEW
BAND D
EQUIVALENT OCCUPATIONS PROVISION

PARISH
635
350
723
1,136
149
1,061
601
156
501
1,364
751
91
515
175
2,427
115
763
273
113
3,930
4,438
134
543
109
103
621
474
698
349
633
545
659
363
1,463
796
205
3,647
152
508
540
844
1,048
12,599

47,300

Aldington & Bonnington
Appledore
Bethersden
Biddenden
Bilsington
Boughton Aluph and Eastwell
Brabourne
Brook
Challock
Charing
Chilham
Crundale (PM)
Egerton
Godmersham
Great Chart with Singleton
Hastingleigh
High Halden
Hothfield
Kenardington
Kennington
Kingsnorth
Little Chart
Mersham
Molash
Newenden
Orlestone
Pluckley
Rolvenden
Ruckinge
Sevington
Shadoxhurst
Smarden
Smeeth
Sth Willesborough & Newtown
Stanhope
Stone
Tenterden (TC)
Warehorne
Westwell
Wittersham
Woodchurch
Wye with Hinxhill
Unparished Area

Page 90

Agenda Item 11
Agenda Item No:

11

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

Quarter Two Financial Monitoring to 30 September 2020

Report Author &
Job Title:

Lee Foreman
Accountancy Manager

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Neil Bell
Portfolio Holder for: Finance & IT

Summary:

This report presents the quarter two budget monitoring
position for 2020/21 up to 30 September 2020; the previous
report was up to 31 July 2020 (P2) was presented to Cabinet
in September. It should be noted that the detailed monitoring
in this report is up to 30 September 2020, however some
information will reflect changes after this date due to the
uncertain environment we are currently operating in.
Since P2 the forecast deficit for the General Fund has
reduced by £836,000 as further Government Funding and
the Sales Fees and Charges (SFC) support scheme has
been added to the forecast.
The General Fund is now forecasting a year-end deficit of
£491,000 which is within the reserves allocated to manage
pressures arising from the Covid19 Pandemic.
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) has remained fairly
static between budget reports and is forecasting an
overspend against budget of £306,000 for the year.
The Collection Fund, for both Council Tax and Business
Rates is maintaining collection levels below previous years
and currently indicates a loss of £791,000 to the Council
which will impact next year’s budget. This area is constantly
under review and could see further reduction in business
rates as the Covid19 pandemic elongates and Government
support schemes come to an end.
This report also includes updates of the Capital Programme,
Treasury Management activity and movements from
reserves.
Additional reports on a Decarbonisation Scheme and Leisure
Centre support are shown at Appendix C and Exempt
Appendix D respectively.

Key Decision:

Yes

Page 91

Significantly
Affected Wards:

None

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is asked to:I.
II.
III.
IV.
V.
VI.
VII.

VIII.

IX.

X.

XI.

Note the forecast outturn position for the General
Fund and the Housing Revenue Account.
Note the Collection fund Position
Note contribution from reserves
Note the Capital Programme position
Note the Treasury Management position
Note the grant application made for
Decarbonisation Scheme (Appendix C).
Subject to a positive outcome of the Council’s
application, to approve the Head of Corporate
Property and Projects be granted delegations to
expedite the capital expenditure in line with the
conditions set out in the grant conditions.
To expedite the procurement in line with the
requirement to spend the grant funding by the
30th June 2021.
Given the tight timescales for application, that the
Head of Corporate Property and Projects used his
delegated powers to procure the consultancy
services of Leisure Energy to assess and submit
further schemes for Tenterden Leisure Centre and
the Civic Centre through the Single Source
Supplier procurement process for the next bidding
round in January 2021.
To note the use of the Chief Executives Urgency
Powers for the Leisure Services Support Scheme
at Exempt Appendix D.
To note the extended procurement exercise
timetable for Tenterden Leisure Centre and
revised funding arrangement with Tenterden
Leisure Centre Trust (Appendix D)

Policy Overview:

The Budget is a key element supporting the delivery of the
Council’s wider policy objectives.

Financial
Implications:

The General Fund is reporting an overall deficit of £491,000
for 2020/21 with a further £791,000 shortfall in the collection
fund that will need to be repaid in 2021/22 resulting from the
reduction in Business Rates and Council Tax receipts.
The General Fund pressure is significantly less than initially
anticipated and can be contained within the Council’s
reserves which were earmarked at the May Cabinet
Committee meeting to support the Covid19 pressure.
The HRA is forecasting an overspend of £306,000 due to a
reduction in forecast rent.

Page 92

Legal Implications

N/A

Equalities Impact
Assessment

As part of Budget Setting 2020/21 a full assessment was
undertaken.

Exempt from
Publication:

YES (Appendix D)
Not For Publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 - the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

Contact:

Lee.Foreman@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330509

Page 93

Agenda Item No. 11

Report Title: Quarter 2 Financial Monitoring to 30
September 2020
Introduction and Background
1.

This report presents the forecast outturn position for 2020/21 based on
information available as at 30 September 2020. This report is the third
budget monitoring report of the year as additional monitoring was introduced
to report on the impact of the Covid19 Pandemic.

2.

At the start of the Covid19 Pandemic, it was anticipated that an in year
pressure of £4.5m was likely for the General Fund in 2020/21. This was
based on the information available that included minimum support from
Central Government, with the first tranche of Government Support being
£50,680, A full list of Government Grants received to date can be seen at
Appendix A.

3.

As can be seen from Appendix A, Government grants have, been better
than anticipated at just over £2m received to date. In addition to direct grant
funding, the Government has also set up a Sales Fees and Charges (SFC)
() support scheme which will compensate Council’s 75p in the pound for
losses to 31 March 2021, subject to a 5% volatility deduction. Notably
though the SFC scheme does not permit lost rental or investment income
losses to be claimed.

4.

In addition to government funding, significant savings have been made in
year by Services, especially in direct staffing costs which have generated
savings of circa £1m through freezing recruitment into vacant posts. While
this measure would not be sustainable long term, it reflects the work officers
have done in mitigating the pressures as a result of the Covid19 pandemic.

5.

This report does not factor in further reductions for the second lockdown
period, the next budget reporting period will close at the end of December
and will capture any further pressures, which will then be reported to Cabinet
accordingly.

6.

The report considers each of the following areas of the Council in more
detail including the; General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, Council Tax
and Business Rates, Capital, and Treasury Management positions.

7.

The report also has a number of Exempt items for member’s consideration.

Summary of General fund Position
8.

The current General Fund position is forecasting an outturn deficit of
£491,000 for 2020/21 which is a reduction of £836,000 on the previous
forecast. This is largely due to the forecasting of new Government Grant
and the SFC Scheme income. Reductions in Business Rates and Council
Tax income relating to this year (2020/21) and changes in reliefs to business
will impact on the Council’s financial position next year and this deficit is
forecast to be in the region of £791,000. The Council holds a Business Rate
Income reserve to manage these pressures.

9.

As can be seen at Table 1 below, the significant movements since the
previous report are for non-service specific items (grants and SFC income as
previously mentioned) £1.8m, and a pressure of £1.123m in the Directorate
of Place and Space. Included in this total is a pressure of £900,000 reported

Page 94

under Culture and represents the Council’s support to leisure centre
operators during the Covid19 Pandemic, the details of which can be found in
the Exempt Appendix D.
10.

Planning are also reporting a pressure of £278,000 which includes additional
consultancy spend of £167,000 and reduction in planning fee income of
£111,000, despite early resilience to Covid19, fees in this area have now
started to reduce.

11.

There are still significant risks to the forecast including the impact of the
second lockdown on the Council income streams, but more significantly the
economic impact which will likely bring pressures in future years throughout
the Borough. The other emerging risk is from the Natural England report
around Stodmarsh, and the impact this will have on planning fee income and
expenditure if further additional resources are necessary to explore solutions
to the issue.

12.

There is considerable uncertainty as to how the Ashford economy will be
impacted from the risks above and the resulting impact on the Council. The
true extent of the economic damage will not be fully felt until later in the year
once government support schemes come to an end, and the appetite of
consumers to return to previous habits is determined.

13.

Table 1 shows variances at a Directorate level, with further breakdown at
Table 2 to a service level.

Table 1 – General Fund Quarter 2 Outturn Forecast as at 30 September 2020 –
Directorate Level

*

Directorate

a

Chief Executive
Director Of Finance & Economy
Director Of Law & Governance
Director Of Place & Space
Net Service Expenditure
Non service specific items
Budget Requirement
Financing:
Total movement

b
c
d

e

f

Current
Forecast
2020/21 Variance
Budget
Outturn (net)
Variance P2 to Q2
(net)
at 30/09/20
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
1,416
1,454
38
23
2,765
3,961
1,196
(22)
2,026
3,456
1,430
(73)
10,922
12,557
1,636
1,057
17,129
21,428
4,300
984
(1,161)
(4,969)
(3,809)
(1,821)
15,968
16,459
491
(836)
(15,968)
(15,968)
0
0
0
491
491
(836)

Page 95

Table 2 - General Fund Quarter 2 Outturn Forecast as at 30 September 2020 –
Service Level
Current
Budget
(net)
£’000

*

Service

a

Corporate Policy, Economic
Development, Communications and CMO
Corporate Property & Projects
Finance & Ict
Housing Services
Community Safety and Wellbeing
Hr & Customer Services
Legal & Democratic Services
Culture
Environmental & Land Management
Planning
Net Service Expenditure
Capital Charges and net interest
Government Grant (Covid19 related)
Levies, Grants and Precepts
Contribution (from)/to reserves
Budget Requirement
Financing:
Retained Business Rates
Council Tax
New Homes Bonus
Total movement

b
b
b
c
c
c
d
d
d

e
e
e
e

f
f
f

Forecast
2020/21 Variance
Outturn (net)
Variance P2 to Q2
at 30/09/20
£’000
£’000
£’000

1,416

1,454

38

23

(1,753)
3,658
860
428
172
1,426
3,342
5,453
2,127
17,129
(2,587)
0
271
1,155
15,968

(764)
3,498
1,227
2,003
112
1,340
4,378
5,287
2,893
21,428
(3,182)
(3,066)
271
1,008
16,459

989
(160)
367
1,575
(60)
(86)
1,036
(166)
767
4,300
(596)
(3,066)
0
(147)
491

13
(52)
16
(21)
(29)
(23)
900
(120)
278
984
(1)
(1,707)
0
(112)
(836)

(4,992)
(7,923)
(3,053)
0

(4,992)
(7,923)
(3,053)
491

0
0
0
491

0
0
0
(836)

* Cross referencing of Directorate Table to Service table

14.

The following section provides explanations of the material movements
between Period 2 (P2) forecasts (as previously reported) and the forecast
outturn as at 30 September 2020 identified in the table above, reported by
directorate headings.

Director of Finance & Economy
15.

Corporate Property & Projects –Since P2 there has been an overall
reduction in forecast of £78,000 due to an increase in garage rents of
£70,000 and £50,000 for industrial estate rents which are proving more
resilient than anticipated, and salary savings of £120,000.

16.

These savings have supported a £123,000 increase in Business Rates costs
on void properties, and £26,000 of consultancy costs. This budget also has
a pressure of £15,000 for the removal of town centre phone boxes which is
being funded from reserves.

17.

Finance and ICT – Further savings of £52,000 are forecast, £40,000 coming
from further salary savings and £10,000 following a reduction in click
charges and material costs from printers at the Civic Centre.

18.

General Fund Housing Services – Additional costs of £16,000 since P2
are reported for furniture and fitting costs at Christchurch Lodge.

Director of Law & Governance

Page 96

19.

Community Safety and Wellbeing – Salary savings of £42,000 and
£19,000 of savings from the One You shop have contributes to an overall
reduction in forecast of £20,000.

20.

£40,000 of expenditure is also included which is being funded from reserves
and previous years grants for the Ashford Partnership against Crime, and
Violence Reduction Unit funding.

Director of Place & Space
21.

Culture – Cultural services is reporting a pressure of £900,000 of which
£860,000 relates to Leisure Centre support and is covered in the Exempt
Appendix D which is an Exempt item.

22.

The remaining pressure comprises of £24,000 for legal fees for Leisure
Procurement and £23,000 for a new Hammer Cage at the Julie Rose
Stadium which is to be funded from reserves and reflected in the reserves
section.

23.

Environment and Land Management – Further savings of £54,000 have
been forecast at Q2 following a £10,000 reduction in the dog warden
charges, £37,000 increase on bulky waste collection income.

24.

Planning– Planning is adding a forecast pressure of £278,000 at quarter 2.
£68,000 is a forecasted reduction in planning fee income, this income
stream performed better than expected in the early months of the Covid19
pandemic, however income levels are now reducing and the forecast reflects
this position.

25.

The service is also forecasting additional consultancy spend of £92,000 to
support the day job as the new structure is still being recruited to.

26.

Additional specialist consultancy advice of £75,000 has also been added to
help with the issues identified in the Natural England report around
Stodmarsh.

Page 97

Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
27.

The Housing Revenue Account is showing a overspend of £306,000 for the
year. This has marginally reduced since the previous quarter.

28.

Overall the HRA reserves will be £1.5m in surplus due to the slowing of
decent homes work, this is balanced off in the table below and although
there has been a reduction in works this year there could be an increase in
works in following years.

29.

A breakdown of this variance is shown in Table 4 below:

Table 4 – 2020/21 Housing Revenue Account Forecast Outturn Position
Current
Forecast
2020/21 Variance
Budget
Outturn (net)
Variance P2 to Q2
(net)
at 30/09/20
(25,369)
(24,678)
692
0
6,051
5,959
(92)
(10)
3,758
3,702
(56)
(6)
16,190
15,952
(237)
(4)
630
936
306
(20)
4,435
3,118
1,317
187

HRA
Income
Supervision and Management
Repairs and Maintenance
Other
Net Revenue Expenditure
Capital Works - Decent Homes
Financed By:
Contribution To/(From) Major Repairs
Reserve

(4,435)

(3,118)

1,317

(187)

0
630

0
936

0
306

0
(20)

Net Capital Expenditure
Total Net Expenditure

Commentary on HRA Movement
30.

Capital Works (Decent Homes) – There has been an increase in bathroom
and kitchen works since previous forecast, this was due to the lifting of the
first lockdown.

31.

The reduction in the above is reflected in the contribution to/from the major
repairs reserve.

Page 98

Collection fund Monitoring
Business Rates
33.

Collection rates for NNDR are being regularly monitored to gauge the
potential impact of the Covid19 Pandemic within the Borough. Currently
collection rates are 4% lower than in previous years, although this figure has
stabilised, showing a positive position it should be noted that there is
substantial Government financial support which could be building pressure
for the future should the pandemic continue into 2021/22.

34.

The original increase in the bad debts provision of 1% (following the
outbreak) is still considered sufficient, but this will be updated if the collection
rates start to drop further, and any future local restrictions that could impact
on businesses further.

35.

There has been a decrease in the amount billed as the successful appeals
for doctor’s surgeries and automated teller machines are processed. A
provision for these appeals had been created when it was clear rate payers
were looking to appeal and the costs will be written off against this provision.

36.

The reduction in amounts billed is therefore matched by a corresponding
reduction in the appeals line. The deficit remains in the same region as
previously reported at £1.663m, with Ashford’s share of the deficit being
£665,000. It should be noted that the Council has to fund the full deficit
before it can be passed to preceptors in 2021/22 for recovery.

Table 5 – Business Rate Summary
Original Budget
2020/21
£'000
Opening (Surplus)/Deficit

Outturn (net)
2020/21
£'000
168

Surplus paid to Major Preceptors NNDR 1
Estimate
2020/21
Amount of Business Rates to be paid to Major
Preceptors
Amount of Business Rates Billed
Retail/Nursery S31 discounts 2020/21
Other Items Charged to the Collection Fund
Bad Debts/Appeals
In year (Surplus)/Deficit
Overall (Surplus)/Deficit
Ashford Share of the (Surplus)/Deficit

Page 99

1635

52,960

52,960

(54,819)
82
1,777
0

(27,524)
(27,136)
82
1478
1,495

0

1,663
665

Council Tax
37.

The collection rate continues to track 0.75% down against previous years.
The provision for bad debts was previously increased by 1.25% and will be
kept under review and adjusted accordingly if collection rates falls further.
As with business rates the extension of Government support schemes, such
as furlough are potentially delaying pressures for when these support
schemes end.

38.

The Council has received £968,568 in government hardship grants funding.
To date £834,534 has been claimed, the remainder will be distributed to
appropriate council tax payers who are experiencing hardship.

39.

The overall deficit of £1.263m remains in line with the previous forecast, with
Ashford’s share of the deficit being £126,000. Again it should be noted that
the Council has to fund the full deficit before it can be passed to preceptors
in 2021/22 for recovery.

Table 6 Council Tax Summary

Opening Surplus
Surplus distributed to Major Preceptors
2020/21
Amount of Council Tax to be paid to Major
Preceptors
Amount of Council Tax
billed
In Year Write Off's and Bad Debt Provision
increase
In year (Surplus)/Deficit
Overall (Surplus)/Deficit

Outturn
(net) to
31/03/21
(537)
536

87,431
(87,257)
1,091
1,264
1,263

Ashford Share of the (Surplus)/Deficit

Page 100

126

Contributions to and from Reserves
Quarter 2 budget monitoring includes a number of movement from reserves totalling
£112,113 to support the following activities:Table 7 – Breakdown of Reserve Movements
Purpose
Ashford Partnership Against Crime
funding
Violence reduction unit funding
Consultancy cost for Tenterden Leisure
procurement
Reduction in contribution to repairs and
renewals reserve
New Fund Hammer Cage at Julie Rose
Stadium
Removal of Town Centre Phone Boxes
Coach Works Artist in Residence
Total

Reserve

Project fund reserve
Project fund reserve
Project fund Reserve
Repairs and Renewals
Reserve
Stour Centre Reserve
NNDR Reserve
Revenue Grants Reserve

Page 101

Amount
(£)
29,000
25,000
7,300
2,457
22,920
15,436
10,000
112,113

Capital Monitoring
General Fund Capital Monitoring
40.

Vicarage Lane – Various options are being worked through with the
appointed architect and will be presented to the Town Centre Advisory
Committee in due course.

41.

Amenity Lighting – The final surveys are being undertaken and any
remedial work will be carried out in January 2021, before the handover to
Kent County Council of Phase 1 in March 2021. This project is expected to
be within budget at £1,000,000 and will generate an ongoing saving in
electricity and maintenance costs.

42.

Victoria Park Regeneration – This project was originally due for completion
during mid 2023 it has been re-phased to summer 2024 as the pandemic
has delayed progress during 2020. There has been a review of works to
ensure project costs fit within the budget envelop.

HRA Capital Monitoring
43.

The effect of the social distancing measures, a result of the pandemic, have
had an impact on many of the projects within the HRA, both in terms of
contractor’s ability to progress work on site and also Council officers being
directed to other works during the emergency response stage.

44.

Street Properties – There have been a further 27 properties purchased to
date, at a cost of £5,288,500, these properties will reduce costs in the
General Fund as well offering valuable Housing within the HRA.

45.

Poplars - The construction of 31 units is due for completion in October
2021. The structure is now complete and the overall project is still on budget
at a final cost of £6,933,000. Officers are currently applying for Homes
England grant to part fund this project, which is success could reduce the
Council’s costs which could be invested in further Housing projects.

46.

East Stour Court - This project whilst on budget has a 10 week delay
mainly due to difficult ground conditions in February/March 2020, when
excessive wet weather made progress slow. Construction also fell behind
during the lockdown period. The project is aimed at independent living for
older residents and consists of one and two bedroom units. Completion is
now expected in March 2021, and officers have secured Homes England
grant in the region of £45,000 per unit.

47.

Halstow Way - A number of preliminary works are being resolved before
construction can begin on this project and hoardings are being erected in
anticipation and for protection of the site.

48.

Oakleigh House - This project currently has a significant delay in the
consultation process due to the Covid19 pandemic and the effects of the
lockdown. There will be a South East Design Panel Member presentation in
November, with the possibility of a planning application in early December.

49.

Tile Kiln - This project is currently focused on ecology matters on site, in the
form of bats and reptiles, which will need to be addressed. The preapplication design has been completed and planning advice is now being
considered. A mix of houses and bungalows is being considered for the site,
approximately 14 units in total.

Page 102

50.

Piper Joinery - Demolition and clearance of contamination on the site has
been completed. A design is being considered with a mind to mitigate the
Stodmarsh nutrients issue. The site is expected to accommodate 20 units.

Page 103

Treasury Management
51.

The breakdown of the Capital Charges and Net Interest line is shown below
at Table 8. This table shows the borrowing and investment budget,
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and depreciation. The MRP is a
statutory payment the Council has to make to offset the costs of capital
borrowing over the life of the associated asset.

Table 8 – Net Interest Summary
Forecast
Current
2020/21 Variance
Outturn (net) at
Budget (net)
Variance P2 to Q2
30/09/20
Interest payable
Interest receivable
Minimum revenue provision
Depreciation
Total Net Interest

£’000
1,531
(3,188)
1,020
(1,950)
(2,587)

£’000
630
(2,874)
1,011
(1,950)
(3,182)

£’000
(901)
315
(9)
0
(595)

£’000
1
0
0
0
1

52.

Interest payable – Interest rates are settling in the borrowing market and
therefore forecast have remained static since P2. Rates are starting to rise
slightly for periods that extend past year end, this is an annual fluctuation as
the amount of money in the local to local market reduces over this period.

53.

Interest receivable – The impact of Covid is still being felt within the
markets and interest receivable is still in line with previous reductions. As
dividend data builds we will get a clearer picture as to where dividend rates
will settle before they start increasing again as the global economy recovers.

54.

Investment Capital Values – As at 30 September the capital value of the
Council’s strategic investment portfolio was £28.664m.

55.

A graph showing the impact of Covid19 on the Council’s strategic portfolio,
the current overall investment balances, and borrowing portfolio is shown at
Appendix B.

Page 104

Stour Centre – Decarbonisation Grant Scheme application
56.

The Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) provides grants for
public sector bodies to fund energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation
measures.

57.

The £1 billion scheme is part of the Chancellor’s ‘Plan for Jobs 2020’
commitment to support the UK’s economic recovery from COVID-19,
supporting up to 30,000 skilled jobs in the low carbon and energy efficiency
sectors. The scheme also supports the government’s net zero and clean
growth goals. It will reduce non-traded carbon emissions from the public
sector by up to 0.1 MtCO2e/year and up to 0.5 MtCO2e over each of Carbon
Budgets 4 and 5. This is equivalent to taking nearly 45,000 cars off the road.

58.

The Council has made an application to this scheme which is detailed at
Appendix C with a number of recommendations should the application be
successful.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
59.

This is the third budget report of the year and continues to show an
improving picture as Government Grants come forward, including the Sales
Fees and Charges Compensation Scheme, which has significantly support
the Council’s budget pressure reported in the early Financial Monitoring
reports.

60.

However, the Covid19 Pandemic is still very prevalent, and with the second
lockdown and potentially more localised restrictions, this forecast has
significant risks that will need to be monitored and reported throughout the
remainder of the year, and indeed going into the 2021/22 budget cycle.

Contact and Email
61.

Lee Foreman - Lee.Foreman@ashford.gov.uk

62.

Maria Hadfield – maria.hadfield@ashford.gov.uk (Capital and Collection
Fund)

Page 105

Appendix A
Government Grants received and forecast to support pressures arising from
Covid19 Pandemic – As at October 2020

General Grant Received

£

First Tranche of Covid-19 Funding

50,680

Second Tranche of Covid-19 Funding
Third Tranche of Covid-19 Funding

1,308,321
224,470

Fourth Tranche of Covid-19 Funding
Total Covid-19 Additional Funding

482,954
2,066,425

Sales Fees and Charges Forecast

1,000,000

Total General grants to support budget

3,066,425

Specific Grants Received

£

Hardship Fund

969,000

Covid Enforcement Funding
Homelessness Funding
Total Specific Funding

64,000
19,000
1,052,000

Page 106

Appendix B
Treasury Management Positions as at 30 September 2020

Counter Party
Investment Accounts
Goldman Sachs
ICD Portal - Invesco
Payden Global MMF

Deal Date

Various
Various
Various

Total Investment Accounts

Amount
£
50,000
9,481,000
3,000,000

Fair Value
£
52,389
9,481,000
3,005,236

12,531,000 12,538,625

Long Term Investments
Property Investment
A Better Choice of Property Ltd.***
CCLA Local Authority Property Fund
Equity Funds**
CCLA Diversified Income Fund
Investec Diversified Income Fund
Kames Diversified Income Fund
Schroder Income Maximiser
UBS Multi Asset Income Fund
UBS Global Income Equity Fund

Various
Various
Various
28/03/2019
13/05/2019
Various
Various
29/07/2019

Total Long Term Investments

475,001
400,413
11,000,000 11,370,881
3,000,000
2,500,000
5,500,000
3,500,000
3,000,000
1,500,000

2,899,550
2,411,500
4,989,535
2,293,588
2,791,541
1,507,950

30,475,001 28,664,958

Total Investment Portfolio
43,006,001 41,203,583
* Money Market Fund (MMF) are AAA rated deposit facilities which have variable
** Equity funds and the Property fund have variable rates of interest and also have
*** A Better Choice Of Property Ltd. is a solely owned subsidiary of ABC

Page 107

Appendix B

Page 108

Appendix B

Debt Portfolio as at 30 September 2020
Counter Party

Temporary Borrowing
Erewash Borough Council
Crawley Borough Council
West Yorkshire Combined Authority
North West Leicestershire DC
Wandsworth Borough Council
Warwickshire Council
Ribble Valley Borough Council
Doncaster Met Borough Council
South Yorkshire Pensions Authority
PCC for Lancashire
East Suffolk Council
Tendering District Council
South Lakeland DC
Chesterfield Borough Council
Derbyshire Dales District Council
Middlesbrough Council B
Essex Police, Fire & Crime
PCC for Warwickshire
London Borough of Islington
Total Temporary Borrowing
Long Term Borrowing
Public Works Loan Board***

Deal Date

23/06/2020
15/07/2020
20/07/2020
20/07/2020
21/07/2020
05/08/2020
07/08/2020
19/08/2020
20/08/2020
20/08/2020
24/08/2020
24/08/2020
24/08/2020
24/08/2020
26/08/2020
26/08/2020
26/08/2020
28/08/2020
21/09/2020

Rate

Amount

%

£

0.30%
0.30%
0.50%
0.15%
0.50%
0.15%
0.38%
0.15%
0.10%
0.10%
0.10%
0.10%
0.10%
0.10%
0.10%
0.11%
0.10%
0.10%
0.04%

2,000,000
5,000,000
15,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
2,500,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
1,500,000
3,000,000
2,000,000
1,500,000
5,000,000
94,500,000

various

various 108,664,150

Total Long Term Borrowing

108,664,150

Grand Total Borrowing
*** HRA borrowing

203,164,150

Page 109

Appendix B
Detail of PWLB Loans outstanding
All these loans are as a result of the HRA Buyout. This is a breakdown of the
£108.7m referenced above.

Detail of PWLB Loans Outstanding at 30 September 2020
Date of Advance

Loan Ref
Number

Date of Repayment Amount Outstanding
£

28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
28/03/2012
29/03/2011

499501
499500
499516
499514
499507
499503
499505
499496
499509
499497
499510
499498
499511
499499
499512
499506
499513
499515
498502

28/03/2021
28/03/2022
28/03/2022
28/03/2023
28/03/2024
28/03/2025
28/03/2026
28/03/2027
28/03/2028
28/03/2029
28/03/2030
28/03/2031
28/03/2032
28/03/2033
28/03/2034
28/03/2035
28/03/2036
28/02/2037
29/03/2061

Total
* Variable Rate Loan, the others are fixed rate

Page 110

2,000,000
7,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
3,000,000
3,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
8,000,000
9,000,000
10,000,000
11,000,000
12,000,000
9,000,000
16,713,000
5,951,150
108,664,150

Rate
%
2.21%
0.90%
2.40%
2.56%
2.70%
2.82%
2.92%
3.01%
3.08%
3.15%
3.21%
3.26%
3.30%
3.34%
3.37%
3.40%
3.42%
3.44%
5.26%

Appendix B

A Better Choice for Property Loans as at 30 September 2020
Loans

Loan 3
Loan 9
Loan 12
Loan 13
Loan 14
Loan 15
Loan 16
Loan 17*
Loan 18
Loan 19
Loan 20*
Loan 21*
Loan 22
Loan 23*
Loan 24
Loan 25
Loan 26
Loan 27
Loan 28*

Deal Date

12/02/2015
22/07/2017
25/03/2018
04/05/2018
05/06/2018
05/07/2018
25/09/2018
17/10/2018
02/11/2018
09/11/2018
01/02/2019
04/02/2019
22/02/2019
04/03/2019
17/06/2019
01/07/2019
06/09/2019
08/09/2019
16/04/2020

Rate

Amount

%

£

2.83%
3.04%
3.06%
3.13%
3.06%
3.10%
3.19%
3.45%
3.31%
3.29%
3.10%
3.10%
3.03%
3.10%
2.80%
2.81%
2.24%
2.24%
3.57%

Total loans to A Better Choice For Property Ltd

Principal
Repaid
£

Balance
Outstanding
£

400,000
1,445,000
240,000
2,490,000
1,196,311
113,000
823,000
659,000
820,000
6,517,425
93,890
7,103,180
809,240
941,360
160,000
91,776
568,400
3,821,595
1,208,000

59,820
39,453
4,275
43,534
21,297
1,990
10,501
7,797
10,117
80,769
814
61,629
7,165
8,176
1,516
867
3,173
13,265
0

340,180
1,405,547
235,725
2,446,466
1,175,014
111,010
812,499
651,203
809,883
6,436,656
93,076
7,041,551
802,075
933,184
158,484
90,909
565,227
3,808,330
1,208,000

29,501,177

376,158

29,125,019

* These loans have been subsequently loaned to the companies subsidiary A Better Choice for
Property Development Ltd.

Page 111

Appendix C

Stour Centre – Decarbonisation Grant Scheme application
Recommendations
The Cabinet is asked to:
VI.

Note the grant application made for Decarbonisation Scheme.

VII.

Subject to a positive outcome of the Council’s application, to approve
the Head of Corporate Property and Projects be granted delegations to
expedite the capital expenditure in line with the conditions set out in the
grant conditions.

VIII.

To expedite the procurement in line with the requirement to spend the
grant funding by the 30th June 2021

IX.

Given the tight timescales for application, that the Head of Corporate
Property and Projects used his delegated powers to procure the
consultancy services of Leisure Energy to assess and submit further
schemes for Tenterden Leisure Centre and the Civic Centre through the
Single Source Supplier procurement process for the next bidding round
in January 2021.

Overview
1.

The Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) provides grants for
public sector bodies to fund energy efficiency and heat decarbonisation
measures.

2.

The £1 billion scheme is part of the Chancellor’s ‘Plan for Jobs 2020’
commitment to support the UK’s economic recovery from COVID-19,
supporting up to 30,000 skilled jobs in the low carbon and energy efficiency
sectors. The scheme also supports the government’s net zero and clean
growth goals. It will reduce non-traded carbon emissions from the public
sector by up to 0.1 MtCO2e/year and up to 0.5 MtCO2e over each of Carbon
Budgets 4 and 5. This is equivalent to taking nearly 45,000 cars off the road.

ABC grant application
3.

The Council applied for a £1,534,430 grant through Salix Finance who are
managing the Government scheme. Prior to the submission, the Council
had agreed to fund £341,056 of plant replacement/repair works as part of
the Stour Centre refurbishment. This will not be required and the full amount
was going to be returned to ABC. However, there was a £25,000 figure
included in the grant application for a pool cover, which was rejected by
Salix – therefore the £25,000 will be required to undertake this work, leaving
a £316,056 saving to the Council.

4.

Salix finance also rejected the installation of PV battery storage, so the total
application amount now sits at £1,449,513 ex VAT. The announcement of
the grant allocation is expected to be made on the 20th November, it is
proposed to update members at the Cabinet at its meeting on the 26th
of the outcome of the Council’s application.

5.

Projects are to be completed by 31st March 2021 where possible, these
works will run alongside the capital works for the Stour Centre and will be

Page 112

completed by the end of June at the latest. Where this is not possible,
completion must be no later than 30th September 2021.
6.

Below are the details of the scheme:-

Project Line

3x300kW ASHP
165kWe PV Panels
370 New Light fittings + controls
Chiller upgrade into ASHP system
5 Fan motors and controllers
BEMS
Pool Pump motor controls
Metering Heat
Metering Elec
Electrical Upgrades
Sub total

Design

22,545
5,500
12,548
3,073
0
2,250
2,250
500
500
2,250
51,416

Equipment/ Installation/
Delivery to
Material
Labour
site
costs
costs
828,189
134,632
94,107
44,861
23,868
15,752
26,754
3,500
7,000
20,000
1,198,662

60,298
29,551
39,316
13,520
3,125
2,250
8,250
500
500
2,250
159,560

3,125
2,500
1,250
0
0
0
0
0
0
500
7,375

Site
Supervision/
Project
Management
15,000
4,500
10,000
0
1,000
1,000
1,000
0
0
0
32,500

Subtotal

Inc. VAT

929,157
176,683
157,221
61,454
27,992
21,252
38,254
4,500
8,000
25,000
1,449,513

1,114,988
212,019
188,666
73,745
33,591
25,502
45,905
5,400
9,600
30,000
1,739,416

7.

The scheme details have been modelled and calculated by Leisure-Energy,
who are specialist energy management consultants within the leisure sector.
This has been completed as part of their partnership work with Freedom
Leisure, the new operators of the Stour Centre, Julie Rose Stadium and
Spearpoint Pavilion.

8.

The main element of the work is the removal of gas fired heating plant, being
replaced with air to water heat pumps. Air source heat pumps have a coefficiency of performance (COP) of 3.2 to 4.5 – in basic terms for every kw
of energy consumed by the heat pump, 3.2 – 4.5 kw of heating is
produced. A typical gas fired boiler has a COP of 0.93.

9.

As a result of an air source heat pump using the vapour compression cycle
to produce heat into the building (the reverse of air conditioning), the
external side of the system then has a cooled circuit. This will be connected
into the existing central chiller circuit which provides cooling for the air
conditioning units in the gym, and within the air handling systems, further
reducing energy consumption and costs.

10.

As air source heating is electrically powered, the generation of electricity on
site supports this method of heating, which is why a Solar PV installation is
also included in the scheme.

11.

Further efficiencies will be achieved by the installation of more energy
efficient pumps and motors, and upgrades to the building management
system software and controls.

12.

These works will reduce the Centre’s annual carbon emission total by 657
tonnes – (the equivalent to the Co2 emissions from the annual heating of
243 average UK homes), a reduction of 45% with an energy saving of
40%.

13.

The Council applied for the grant in line with its 100% Carbon Neutral
Strategy target for 2030, with an 80% reduction target for 2025.

14.

The decarbonisation scheme is open to applications until 11th January 2021,
and approval to work with Leisure-Energy on further schemes for the Civic
Centre and Tenterden Leisure Centre will be sought in the near future.

Page 113

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
Agenda Item No:

12

Report To:

CABINET

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022 - Amendments

Report Author
Job Title:

& Trevor Ford
Environmental Protection & Licensing Team Leader

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Peter Feacey
Portfolio Holder for: Community Safety and Wellbeing

Summary:

The purpose of this report is to present a number of
amendments to the Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022 as a
result of the issue of the ‘Statutory Taxi and Private Hire
Vehicle Standards’ published by the Department for
Transport.
Each of the amendments is designed to ensure consistency
between licensing authorities, and increase the protections to
members of the public.

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

N/A

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:i.

Policy Overview:

Recommend to council the adoption of the
proposed amendments to the Taxi Licensing
Policy 2017-2022

The determination of taxi and private hire driver, operator,
and vehicle licence applications is a statutory duty and
provides protection to the public ensuring vehicles, operators
and drivers are fit and proper for the purposes of providing
such services.
Our policy with respects to this subject area guides members
of the public, applicants, elected members, and officers on
such matters.

Financial
Implications:

The increased protections, checks and regulation does have
a resource burden. The cost, in generality, is recovered
though the relevant licensing fees as a reasonable cost of
administering this particular licensing regime.

Page 117

Legal Implications

Adjustment to the policy in line with the published statutory
standards is designed to ensure that appropriate decisions
can be made in the interests of protecting public safety. The
adoption of the statutory standards will support the decisions
made, and as such will make our position more legally
robust.

Equalities
Impact See attached
Assessment
Other
Material None
Implications:
Exempt
Publication:
Background
Papers:

from NO

Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022
(available via https://www.ashford.gov.uk/media/5156/taxilicensing-policy.pdf)
Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxiand-private-hire-vehicle-standards

Contact:

Trevor Ford
Environmental Protection and Licensing Team Leader
trevor.ford@ashford.gov.uk
Tel: (01233) 330 397

Page 118

Agenda Item No. 12

Report Title:
Taxi Licensing Policy Amendments
Introduction and Background
1.

The Council adopted the Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022 (as amended) on
12 October 2017

2.

The policy relating to the determination of applications not only guides the
decision-maker but also serves to inform an applicant about what they should
consider in preparing their application. Furthermore the policy sets out the
standards to which the licensing authority will work and provides confidence to
the public that the drivers are fit and proper, and that the vehicles are fit for
purpose.

3.

The purpose of this report is to present proposed amendments for the
purpose of meeting the requirements as set out in the ‘Statutory Taxi and
Private Hire Vehicle Standards’ published by the Department for Transport.

4.

Most of these standards are already in practice within our licensing policy and
processes, however there are some adjustments required in order to be fully
compliant with the statutory guidance.

5.

It should be noted that the Council must have regard to these standards, and
should only deviate from them where there are compelling and evidenced
local reasons for doing so.

6.

Other minor policy amendments are included in this report to ensure that the
remainder of the policy document works with these changes and for the
purposes of further clarifying the policy of the council.

7.

In short, the main changes that are proposed primarily relate to the following
areas, but are explained in detail in the subsequent sections of the report :•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing policy change consultation requirements
Increasing English (written and oral) testing
The training of decision makers
Mandatory safeguarding and county-lines awareness training for
drivers
Increased criminal record checks
Increased self-reporting requirements
Increased record keeping requirements
Updating the scheme of penalty points, and,
A proposal to conduct a separate consultation on mandatory
installation of in-car CCTV systems.

Page 119

Proposal/Current Position
8.

The proposed changes to the policy are listed as follows:Recommendation 1 – Consultee details
The statutory standards propose the use of ‘standard’ consultees used in the
formulation of the Taxi Licensing Policy.
To comply with this standard, it is proposed to insert a section into the policy
introduction to list the standard consultees including; Ashford Taxi Forum, the
public, Ashford Access, Chamber(s) of Commerce, Campaign for Better
Transport, Multi-Agency Safeguarding groups, PubWatch, and, neighbouring
Licensing Authorities.
Note:
•

The policy changes under consideration have been subject to the
above-mentioned consultations as detailed later in this report.

Recommendation 2 – Increased self-reporting requirements
The statutory standards proposed a requirement for licences to self-report
arrest and release, charges, or convictions within 48 hours.
Accordingly, we propose a minor amendment of the private hire drivers
licence standard conditions, and policy document, to meet this standard. The
amended condition is to read :‘The driver must notify the council within 48 hours of any of the

following:
a) Arrest and release.
b) Charge or conviction for any criminal offence, including but not
limited to sexual, dishonesty, violence, or motoring, offences
(including fixed penalty offences).
c) Any grant of bail to the driver (conditional or unconditional) by
any court or police force.
d) Any court cases pending against the driver.
e) Whether the driver has been cautioned or received any official
warning from the Police.’
Note:

•

The existing condition and policy is 14 days,

Recommendation 3 – How to complain
The statutory standards propose that ways to make a complaint to the
licensing authority must be displayed in all licensed vehicles.
To achieve this standard, the annual tariff card (issued in April each year) is to
be amended to include relevant details of how to make a complaint to the
Licensing Authority to increase public reporting of any areas of concern. To
compliment this, the private hire vehicle conditions and policy should be
amended to make it a mandatory requirement to display the tariff card, except

Page 120

in the case of private hire vehicles not utilising a meter which may elect to
alternatively display a window sticker as supplied by the Licensing Authority.
The proposed new private hire vehicle condition is as follows;
‘Private hire vehicles must, at all times, display to the passenger the
tariff card as issued annually by the Licensing Authority. Private hire
vehicles not fitted with a meter may alternatively display a window
sticker available upon request from the Licensing Authority and display
that in lieu of the tariff card. That sticker must be displayed on the
windscreen in a position (such as where a tax disc would have been
located) so as to be readable to passengers’.
Note:
•

It is already a mandatory requirement to display the tariff card in
hackney vehicles.

Recommendation 4 – Taxi licensing training for members
The statutory standards require that all council members that determine
whether a licence is issued should be required to undertake sufficient training.
To achieve this requirement the policy document is to be updated to include a
requirement for Councillors on the relevant committee to be suitably trained.
Note(s):
• A number of members have already undertaken this training.
• This requirement will be included in council constitutional update via
the Selection and Review process.
Recommendation 5 – Decision making
The statutory standards recommends that determination of licensing matters
are made by a panel of elected councillors, drawn from a larger Regulatory
Committee.
In line with the statutory standards guidance, it is proposed that the policy be
updated to make it clear that with the exception of the grant of licences (where
no adverse history or issues arise) and urgent decisions on public safety
grounds that decisions on taxi licensing shall be referred to a Sub-Committee
Hearing
Note(s):
• Current delegations generally place decision making with the relevant
responsible officer
• Constitutional updates are currently in progress to setup a new
Regulatory Committee for this purpose.
Recommendation 6 – Fitness test
The statutory standards recommends a ‘test’ to determine fitness of drivers,
which is an update to the version currently used in the existing policy.

Page 121

It is proposed to include this updated ‘test’ into the policy and decision-making
processes, which reads;
‘Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would
you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to
travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or
night?
Recommendation 7 – DBS update service
The statutory standards recommends that drivers should be required to
evidence continuous registration with the DBS Update Service to allow
criminal checks every 6-months.
It is proposed that in order to meet this requirement;
a) With effect from adoption, all new/renewal driver applications will be
subject to evidence continuous registration with the DBS update
service.
b) Driver licence conditions to be amended to include the above
requirement
The proposed condition is as follows :‘The licensee shall ensure continuous registration with the
Disclosure and Barring Service ‘Update Service’ throughout the
licensed period, and provide the required registration details to
the Licensing Authority as may be required.’
c) Existing licensees given 6-months period to provide evidence of
continuous registration with the DBS update service.
d) 6-monthly enhanced-DBS checks to be conducted, and,
e) The policy document to be updated accordingly.
Note:
•

Current enhanced DBS checks for drivers are three-yearly.

Recommendation 8 – Barred lists
The statutory standards requires that we should not issue a licence to any
person who appears on the barred lists for working with vulnerable children or
adults.
It is already considered that no licence would be granted to such a person;
however, it is proposed to incorporate the wording used in this requirement
into our policy document.
Recommendation 9 – Safeguarding training
It is a recommendation of the statutory standards that drives should undertake
safeguarding and county lines training to raise awareness of potential
exploitation.

Page 122

It is proposed that policy should be amended so that new drivers will need to
submit evidence of this training as an application pre-requisite. It is also
proposed to update policy to reflect the need for existing drivers to be required
to submit evidence of this training within 6-months of the adoption of the
update policy.
Note:
•

•

Some drivers will have completed both of the Safeguarding and
County Lines awareness training provided free as part of prior work
undertaken with colleagues in Kent Police. These drivers will not be
required to retake this training.
It is proposed to accept eLearning certificates for this awareness
training from open source providers where it is considered that the
content of their training is sufficient to meet the requirement of the
statutory standards. Details of accepted providers will be publicised.

Recommendation 10 – Language proficiency
The statutory standards require that the licensing authority’s test of language
proficiency should cover both oral and written English.
As our existing test include both of these elements as well as basic maths, it is
proposed to insert a minor amendment into the policy to recognise the need
for oral/written English, and basic maths
Recommendation 11 – DBS checks for vehicle proprietors
It is recommended by the statutory standards that a basic disclosure from the
DBS is undertaken and submitted annually for vehicle licensees.
To meet the recommendation of the statutory standards, it is proposed;
a) To make it a pre-requisite of an application for the grant, transfer, or
renewal of a licence to submit a basic disclosure.
Note(s):
•
•
•

Currently there are no such checks, only self-disclosure
requirements at the time of application for grant/transfer/renewal of
a licence.
Where a company holds a licence, then each director shall be
required to submit a basic disclosure.
Where the applicant/director is a driver, these requirements are not
applicable due to the enhanced checks performed on drivers.

Recommendation 12 – In car CCTV systems
The statutory standards does not go so far as to state whether in car CCTV
systems should be mandated for all vehicles, but does recommend that the
licensing authority consult on whether there are local circumstances which
would mean that in car CCTV would have a positive or adverse net effect on
the safety of users.

Page 123

Due to the complexities involved in such systems, costs for the trade, and
data-protection, it is proposed to conduct a separate CCTV specific
consultation on this matter in 2021/2022.
Recommendation 13 – DBS checks for private hire operators
It is recommended by the statutory standards that a basic disclosure from the
DBS is undertaken and submitted annually for Private Hire Operators.
To meet the recommendation of the statutory standards, it is proposed;
b) To make it a pre-requisite of an application for the grant or renewal of a
licence to submit a basic disclosure.
c) To amend the existing of policy to require annual submission of basic
disclosure on the annual anniversary of the licence first being issued.
d) To amend the Private Hire Operator conditions to reaffirm the above
requirement
The proposed condition is as follows :‘The licensee(s, or each company director (in the event that a
company holds the licence) shall submit to the Licensing
Authority an annual basis disclosure from the Disclosure and
Barring Service within 30 days of the annual anniversary of
grant of the licence. The basic disclosure certificate must be
dated within one month of submission.
Note: Licensees and directors who hold a private hire licence
with Ashford Borough Council are exempt from this requirement’
e) Amendment of Private Hire Operator conditions to require formal
notification of any changes of any company directorship where a
licence is held by a company, with a Basic Disclosure certificate(s)
being submitted within 14 days of such change.
The proposed condition is as follows :‘Where a licence is held by a company, and there are any
changes of directorship, then the licensing authority must be
notified within 14 days of such change, along with the
submission of a basic disclosure from the Disclosure Barring
Service for any new director(s). The basic disclosure certificate
must be dated within a month of the change of submission.
Note: Directors who hold a private hire licence with
Ashford Borough Council are exempt from this requirement’
Note(s):
•
•
•

Currently there are no such checks, only self-disclosure
requirements at the time of application for grant/renewal of a
licence.
Where a company holds a licence, then each director shall be
required to submit a basic disclosure.
Where the applicant/director is a driver, these requirements are not
applicable due to the enhanced checks performed on drivers.

Page 124

Recommendation 14 – Booking and dispatch staff
The statutory standards introduces a range of new requirements in relation to
booking and dispatch staff used by private hire operators including;
a) That operators should keep a register of all staff that take and dispatch
bookings, including evidencing that they have seen a basic disclosure
for those staff members.
b) That contracts of employment for booking/dispatch staff includes, as
part of that contract, that those staff must notify the employer of any
convictions whilst employed in that role.
c) That when outsourcing booking/dispatch functions that the operator
must retain evidence that comparable protections are applied by the
company to which they outsource that role.
d) Those operators should provide a written policy on the employment of
ex-offenders in booking/dispatch roles.
In order to meet the requirements of the statutory standards it is proposed
that;
a) The PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy are amended to require
that Private Hire Operators maintain a ‘live’ register of all staff that take
bookings or dispatch vehicles. Such records shall include evidence that
they have had sight of a basic disclosure (dated within a month of
viewing) at the time of adding staff members. The proposed condition is
as follows :‘The Private Hire Operator shall maintain a live register of all
staff that take bookings or dispatch private hire vehicles. The
register shall include name, address, and telephone number of
the staff member along with evidence that they have viewed the
staff member’s certificate of basic disclosure from the Disclosure
and Barring Service (dated within a month of viewing). This
would include the date of viewing, the date of the certificate
along with any reference number(s), and a comment as to
whether there were any entries on the certificate.’
b) Amendment of PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to state that
when individuals start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an
operator they should be required, as part of their employment contract,
to advise the operator of any convictions while they are employed in
this role
The proposed condition is as follows :‘The Private Hire Operator shall ensure that any staff employed
for the purposes of taking or dispatching private hire vehicles
shall, as part of their employment contract, be required to notify
the operator of any convictions whilst they are employed in that
role.’

Page 125

c) Amendment PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to make it clear
that where a Private Hire Operator outsources bookings or dispatch
functions, the operator shall be required to evidence comparable
protections are applied by the company to which they outsource work.
The proposed condition is as follows :‘The Private Hire Operator shall, where booking or dispatch
functions are outsourced, be required to retain evidence that
comparable protections are applied to the company to which the
work is outsourced in terms of the register of booking and
dispatch staff and contacts of employment (as described in the
preceding two conditions). This evidence shall be submitted on
request to the Licensing Authority.’
d) PHO applications form to be amended to require a written policy on the
employment of ex-offenders to booking and dispatch roles. This policy
shall be compared with the threshold to obtaining a private hire vehicle
operators’ licence in terms of suitability. This is also proposed to be
duplicated into the private hire conditions. The proposed condition is as
follows :‘The Private Hire Operator shall keep an up to date written
policy on the employment of ex-offenders in booking and
dispatch roles, and apply appropriately. The written policy shall
be submitted to the Licensing Authority on request and at
licence renewal.’
Recommendation 15 – Record Keeping
The statutory standards recommend a minimum list of details, which a private
hire operator should keep with respects to any booking, whether subcontracted or received/serviced directly. Such records should be maintained
for a minimum 6-month period.
It is proposed to include a minor amendment to the Private Hire Operator
licence conditions and policy to ensure that the existing condition and policy
meets the details as listed in the statutory standards. The amended condition
shall read :‘Records
a) The operator shall keep a permanent record of every booking of a
private hire vehicle invited and accepted by them, whether direct
from the hirer or by undertaking the bookings at the request of
another operator. The records shall be made available for
inspection by the Council’s Licensing Officer upon request. The
record entries must be made before the commencement of each
journey and shall include:
• The name and telephone number of the passenger
• The date and time of the booking request
• The date and time of the pickup
• The pick-up point
• The destination

Page 126

•
•
•
•

The name of the driver
The drivers licence number
The vehicle registration number of the vehicle used
The name of any individual that responded to the booking
request
• The name of any individual that dispatched the vehicle.
b) All records kept by the operator pursuant to Condition 3.1 above
shall be preserved for a period of not less than twelve months
following the date of the relevant entry
c) The operator shall keep written records of the particulars of all
private hire vehicles operated by them and shall include a copy of
the licensed drivers private hire licence, details of the proprietors,
registration number and drivers of such vehicles together with any
radio sign used.
d) The Operator will securely retain the licenses of all drivers engages
to work for them and make them available for inspection as
required.’
Recommendation 16 – Driver exhaustion
This recommendation is in addition to the standard proposed by the statutory
guidance.
It is proposed to amend the Private Hire Operator licence conditions and Taxi
Licensing Policy to make it a requirement for the operator to conduct and
maintain an up to date written risk assessment relating to working hours of
drivers, taking account of;
•
•
•
•
•

hours driving,
hours on standby,
rest periods,
rate of pay/income, and,
other work whether or not related to driving.

This requirement compliments other requirements and acts to ensure that the
public are not left at unacceptable risk from exhausted drivers who may be
working multiple jobs, or working for extended periods.
The proposed condition is :‘The licensee shall ensure that they maintain an up to date written risk
assessment in relation to the potential for driver exhaustion, taking into
account factors such as hours driving, hours on standby, rest periods,
rates of pay/income, and other work/employment whether or not
related to driving. Such risk assessment shall be supplied to the
Licensing Authority upon request.’
Recommendation 17 – Operator self-reporting requirements
This recommendation is in addition to the standard proposed by the statutory
guidance.

Page 127

It is proposed to amend the Private Hire Operator licence conditions and Taxi
Licensing Policy to make it a requirement for the operator to report to the
licensing authority within 7 days any; significant data breaches, changes of
dispatch and record keeping systems, and management/system faults. This is
to include incidents such as where a vehicle has been driven without
insurance cover, or where a vehicle has been driven without a valid driver’s
licence being held.
This requirement compliments other self-reporting requirements and ensures
that the licensing authority can fully consider an operator’s performance in
terms of suitability to remain licensed.
The proposed condition is :‘The licensee shall ensure that they notify the Licensing Authority,
within seven days, of;
• Any Information Commissioners Officer reportable data
breaches
• Changes of dispatch and record keeping systems, and,
• Management/system fault, such as where a vehicle has been
driven without insurance cover, or where a vehicle has been
driven without a valid drivers licence being held.’
Recommendation 18 - Joint authorisation
The statutory standards recommends, should the need arise, that licensing
authorities jointly authorise officers so that enforcement can be taken outside
of the borough in which they are licensed.
At this time no identified need has arisen, however with the approval of
Council this option shall be explored via the Kent and Medway Licensing
Steering Group as and when such need arises. It should however be noted
that it is an expectation of this licensing authority that our licensees would be
polite, courteous, and assist enforcement officers in other licensing authority
areas at all times.
Recommendation 19 – Penalty points scheme
As identified by the statutory standards, some licensing authorises operate a
points based system which allows minor breaches to be recorded and
considered in context while referring those with persistent or serious breaches
to the licensing committee.
It is proposed that whilst we operate such a system, the number of points and
periods in which points accrue have not been updated in a number of years.
As such, it is proposed to make the changes within Appendix A in order to
ensure that the points system reflects the seriousness of breaches and also
ensures that it continues to afford suitable protections for the public.
For ease of reference, the changes are highlighted by red text in Appendix A.

Page 128

Recommendation 20 – National Register
As recommended, the Licensing Authority uses the National Register of Taxi
Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3) in order to record refusals and
revocations of taxi licences.
This helps to ensure that data is shared between licensing authorities and
helps to prevent an unfit applicant who has lost their licence, from simply
reapplying to another borough who would otherwise potentially be unaware of
their misdemeanours.
This recommendation seeks to insert a section, outlining the use of this
register in line with the National Register requirements, within our Taxi
Licensing Policy.

Implications and Risk Assessment
9.

Whilst these changes could ultimately be appealed via the Magistrates Court,
the update to this policy is not anticipated to have any significant implications.

10.

The greatest implication perceived is the potential for more applicants to be
refused a license or subject to enforcement based on the greater emphasis on
public safety requirements. As such it is important to ensure that policies must
be justifiable and follows the statutory standards and other associated
guidance.

11.

Judicial review is a risk if the policy strays beyond the requirements of the act,
or restricts legal activities without due and appropriate cause.

12.

On the whole, the adoption of the statutory standards ensures that our
approach remains legally robust.

Equalities Impact Assessment
13.

The policy will affect all persons involved or affected in a relevant licensable
activity in the Borough, irrespective of gender, race, disability, sexuality or
age. Recipients of the policy include holders of licences, members of the
council’s Appeals Committee, authorities e.g. Kent Police, KCC Schools
Transport, Kent Fire & Rescue Service, etc. and all of the Borough’s
businesses, residents of the borough and those who visit and use local taxi
services.

14.

An equalities impact assessment is attached as Appendix B

Consultation Undertaken
15.

In line with the published statutory standards, a consultation was undertaken
with the relevant parties.

16.

This first consisted of an informal presentation of the statutory standards to
the Taxi Forum representatives on the 26th August 2020, via a Microsoft
Teams. These representatives are elected by the trade to their respective

Page 129

positions, and include a representative for independent drivers, executive
drivers, private hire drivers, hackney carriage drivers, and, companies.
17.

Following that meeting a formal consultation survey was sent, on the 26th
August 2020, to the recommended consultees as detailed in this report. The
consultation was also published on www.ashford.gov.uk.

18.

The consultation run between 26th August 2020 and 30th September 2020,
and elicited a single formal response from the Taxi Representative for
hackney vehicles/drivers.

19.

A copy of the consultation document and the sole response is contained at
Appendix C, but the comments are summarised here for ease :In general the representative agreed with the recommendations, except for
the following summarised responses;
Recommendation 3 – How to complain
The respondent noted the print on the fare tariff card being relatively
small, and that this topic is a ‘huge problem’. The respondent felt
larger/clearer ‘how to complain’ signage was needed.
Response – The issue of signage was reviewed when considering this
measure. The requirement must be considered in light of the types of
vehicles on the licensed fleet, and some like standard saloons will not
have specific locations in which to display signage. It was felt that it
was unlikely that signage would be visible to every passenger seat at
all times, and window stickers would fail due to weather and the
mechanical operation of side windows. It is not viable in all vehicles to
display large posters and as such the only two options left were
considered to be the fare tariff card and the space that would have in
the past been occupied by the tax disc. Both would be liable to have
similar size print and require closer inspection to obtain the details.
Whilst the proposed option is not perfect, it is at this time considered to
be sufficient for purpose.
Recommendation 4 – Taxi licensing training for members
The respondent enquired whether there is sufficient time resource
available for member to receive the recommended training.
Response – Although making this training mandatory is an additional
burden on the licensing authority it is not considered grounds to deviate
from the statutory standard as specified.
Recommendation – Safeguarding training
The respondent raised issues with timing of such training, and need to
move towards online training, especially in light of Covid19.
Response – As specified in this report, it is proposed to take advantage
of existing eLearning packages available in order to satisfy this
requirement and avoid the need for face-to-face training sessions,
which would have a significant additional cost burden.

Page 130

Recommendation 11 – DBS checks for vehicle proprietors
The respondent felt that these checks should also be on DBS update
service.
Response – It is our understanding that the basic checks are not
eligible for the update service.
Recommendation 13 – DBS checks for private hire operators
The respondent felt that these too should be on the update service and
that a year between checks is too long
Response – It is our understanding that these basic checks are not
eligible for the update service, and it is not proposed to go beyond the
statutory standards at this time in terms of increasing the frequency of
these checks. Any increased requirements for checks should be
supported by an evidenced need/justification, and at this time such
need is not evidenced.
Recommendation 16 – Driver exhaustion
The respondent felt that this measure was too onerous, but appeared
to believe it was a physical check prior to shifts, rather than a written
risk assessment.
Response – It is felt that this measure should form part of the risk
assessments conducted by such a business under the Health and
Safety at Work Act 1974, and should therefore not be any more
onerous than existing legal requirements.
Recommendation 17 – Operator self-reporting requirements
The respondent enquired whether the trade has been provided with the
Information Commission Officers rules, so as to know whether they
have been breached.
Response – It is highlighted that it is not the responsibility of the
licensing authority to highlight to the trade other legal requirements
associated with running a business. It is incumbent on the business
operator to familiarise themselves with the relevant legal requirements
associated with operating a business.
Recommendation 18 – Joint authorisation
The respondent raised issue surrounding
deregulation, and need for consistent standards.

the

cross-border

Response – The introduction of the statutory standards from the DfT is
the first move towards more consistent standards between authorities.
20.

Informal verbal feedback to the Licensing Officers from a few members of the
trade acknowledged that there was unlikely to be specific local reasons for
deviation of the national statutory standards and therefore whilst there may be
increased burdens upon the trade, there was little argument against the
increased controls to protect public safety.

Page 131

Other Options Considered
21.

It is recognised by the Department for Transport that it is for local authorities
to reach their own decisions on overall policies and on individual licensing
matters, however the publishing of the statutory standards is a first move to
increasing consistency of standards between licensing authorities, and in
ensuring that there are minimum protections for public safety.

22.

There are as always a number of options available to councils with respects to
taxi licensing. These include going above, or below, the statutory standards
where local circumstances dictate.

Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended
23.

It is felt that the options proposed are appropriate to the borough, act to
ensure that public safety is protected, and ensure an efficient and effective
licensing regime.

24.

Overall this approach is recommended to ensure that the policy remains up to
date, and can be effectively applied by the council, officers, applicants, and
the general public.

Next Steps in Process
25.

Once the amendments are adopted by council, the amended policy will be
published and the measures will be implemented as soon as reasonably
possible.

26.

The final policy will be subject to review at the end of the policy period, along
with any periodic review bought about by changes in the Council’s approach,
in guidance, or changes to relevant legislation

Conclusion
27.

The proposed amendments are been made to sections of the policy based on
legislation, guidance, and good practice coupled with the clear need to protect
the public. The amendments will aid an efficient and effective licensing regime
going forwards.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
28.

“As former Chair of the Licensing Health & Safety Committee, I am only too
aware that the formation of the statutory guidance to provide continuity
between Licensing Authorities is a number of years overdue. I therefore
strongly recommend the adoption of these measures for the continued
protection of the public.”
Councillor Peter Feacey - Portfolio Holder for Community Safety & Wellbeing

Contact and Email
29.

Trevor Ford

Page 132

Environmental Protection and Licensing Team Leader
(01233) 330397
trevor.ford@ashford.gov.uk

Appendix A: Updated penalty points tariff
Appendix B: Equalities Impact Assessment
Appendix C: Consultation survey document and response

Page 133

Appendix A
Penalty Points System
1

The penalty points system outlined below identifies a number of breaches of
conditions, byelaws and/or statutory provisions. It then indicates the number
of points to be invoked should the breach be proven. The implementation of
points would take place following investigation of offences or receipt of formal
proceedings elsewhere by another agency e.g. the police.

1.1

Penalty points will only be imposed where the licensee agrees the breach or
offence has taken place. Where the licensee does not agree that the breach
or offence has taken place the only option available to the Council will be to
prosecute, or review their fitness to hold the relevant licence.

2

The details of how the scheme will be operated are as follows:

2.1

Penalty points will be applied by authorised officers of the Council upon
completion of investigation of relevant breaches of the Council’s hackney
carriage and private hire conditions or other relevant statutory provisions
where breaches are identified.

2.2

Penalty points when issued will be confirmed in writing to the licence holder.

2.3

The number of penalty points issued will be in accordance with the tariff,
reproduced below.

2.4

The Council retains the discretion to issue penalty points to drivers,
driver/proprietors and operators for a single contravention if the circumstances
warrant it i.e. the breach is one against all these licences and it is considered
joint responsibility is held.

2.5

The imposition of penalty points against a driver who is an employee will not
necessarily result in additional imposition of points to their employer or
operator.

2.6

Penalty points issued under this scheme will have a “life” of 24 months, and
then will be deemed spent. The system is based upon a rolling 24 month
period.

2.7

There is no financial penalty associated with the system, and the licensee
may continue to work. However, the licensee will be asked to attend a
Committee hearing if more than a certain number of points are imposed on an
individual licence in any one 24 month period. The thresholds are as follows:

Page 134

Penalty Points Tariff
Hackney Carriage Driver

12 Points

Hackney Carriage Proprietor

12 Points

Private Hire Driver

12 Points

Private Hire Proprietor

12 Points

Private Hire Operator

24 Points

3

On appearing before the Licensing Committee the following
recommendations will generally be made by Officers.

3.1

On the accumulation of 12 or more penalty points in a 24 month period a
driver or a vehicle proprietor will be subject to a recommendation to suspend
or revoke the licence.

3.2

On the accumulation of 24 or more penalty points in a 24 month period an
Operator will be subject to a recommendation to suspend or revoke the
licence.

3.3

Drivers, proprietors, or operators who accumulate the necessary total of
points in a rolling period on a second or subsequent occasion, will be asked to
reappear before the Committee. The Committee will take into account
previous cautions, suspensions or prosecutions when considering Officer’s
recommendation for a longer period of suspension, or revocation of the
relevant licence.

3.4

The above recommendations would not fetter the discretion of the Committee
who may always decide to take no further action, to suspend the licence for
any period, or to revoke a licence.

3.5

Once prosecuted or suspended all penalty points will be removed from the
total accrued for that year by drivers, vehicle proprietors, and operators.

3.6

Any driver or vehicle proprietor or operator subject to suspension or
revocation has the right of appeal to the Appeals Committee and to the
Magistrates’ Court against the suspension or revocation. All suspensions will
therefore be subject to a 21-day appeals period prior to implementation to
allow for the formal appeals process.

Page 135

4

Penalty Point Tariff
PH - Private Hire, HC -Hackney Carriage

4.3

Some offences marked (HC) apply only to hackney carriages.

4.4

General Breaches

Operator

Matters identified with “C” are breaches of conditions imposed on the licence.
Matters identified with “B” are breaches of the Byelaws.

Proprietor

4.2

Driver

Matters identified with an asterisk (*) are direct contraventions of the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 or other statutory
requirements.

Contravention

4.1

1.

False declaration on application/renewal
of licence

*

6

4

4

2.

Obstruction of authorised officer

*

3

3

3

3.

Failure to behave in a civil and orderly
manner to customers.

C/B

3

4.

PH/HC Driver failing to notify any; arrest
and release, charge, conviction, caution,
or penalty notice within 48 hours

C

3

5.

PH/HC driver failing to maintain
continuous registration with the DBS
update service.

Page 136

3

6.

Failure to display badge in such position
as to be plainly visible

B/*

4

7.

Failure by HC Proprietor, PH driver or
Operator to notify the Council of change of
address within 7 days

*/C

2

8.

Smoking and/or failing to prevent smoking
in licensed vehicle

Health
Act

3

9.

Failure to display required no smoking
signs

Health
Act

10.

Failure to comply with the Code Of
Conduct and/or the Dress Code

4.5

C

3

2

2

3

3

3

3

Vehicle Breaches

11.

No fire extinguisher in vehicle.

12.

Operator

Proprietor

Driver

Contravention

PH - Private Hire, HC -Hackney Carriage

B/C

3

3

No First Aid kit in vehicle.

C

3

3

13.

Failure to return vehicle licence plate at
request of authorised officer following
expiry, revocation or suspension of licence.

*

2

2

14.

Interfering with a taximeter

*

4

4

Page 137

4

Operator

Proprietor

Driver

Contravention
15.

Failure to display vehicle licence plate in
authorised manner

C

3

3

16.

Proprietor of HC or PH Operator failing to
report accident damage to vehicle within
72 hours.

*

2

2

17.

Failure to produce insurance documents at
request of authorised officer.

*

4

4

18.

Using unlicensed vehicle, or using without
insurance.

*C

12

12

19.

Carrying more passengers than permitted
by vehicle licence.

*B

4

20.

Refusal to carry passengers without
reasonable excuse. (HC)

*

4

22.

Unauthorised advertising on vehicle.

C

3

3

22.

Failure to notify transfer of vehicle licence
interest within 14 days.

*

3

3

23.

Failure to convey or assist with carrying
luggage.

B/C

2

24.

Failure to deliver lost property to police

B/C

2

Page 138

Failure to display tariff card in the vehicle,
or licensing authority complaint information
for an unmetered PH where relevant.

26.

Operator

Proprietor

Driver

Contravention
25.

B/C

3

Defective taxi meter (HC)

B

3

27.

Vehicle not clean, well maintained or
comfortable

C

3

28.

Failure of HC Proprietor to hold a HC
drivers’ licence

*

2

29.

Unattended HC Vehicle on a rank. (HC)

*

30.

Failure to present vehicle for mechanical
inspection.

*

3

3

31.

HC or PHV unfit for use as a Hackney
Carriage or Private Hire vehicle

*

4

4

32.

Use of vehicle without a current
compliance certificate

*

9

9

33.

Plying for hire without a licence

*

9

34.

Overcharging (HC)

*

4

35.

HC Proprietor employing an unlicensed
driver (HC)

*

Page 139

2

2

9

12

Using a vehicle subject to a suspension
order issued by an authorised Officer, or by
the police.

*

37.

Driver not holding a HC and/or PH drivers
licence.

*

6

38.

Unnecessarily prolonging a journey

*

4

39.

PH Driver failing to notify the Council of
serious injury or illness

C

4

4.3

12

Operator

Proprietor

Driver

Contravention
36.

12

Operator Breaches

Operator

Proprietor

Driver

Contravention

PH - Private Hire

40.

Failure to keep proper records of bookings

*

6

41.

Operating a PH Vehicle when the driver is
not licensed

*

12

42.

Operating a vehicle as a PH Vehicle when
the vehicle is not licensed as a PH Vehicle

*

12

Page 140

43.

Failure to submit annual basic disclosure(s)
for licensee

3

44.

Failure to declare change of directorship
and/or basic disclosure within 14 days.

6

45.

Failure to submit written policies or risk
assessments required by condition

8

46.

Failure to keep a ‘live’ register of all staff
that take bookings or dispatch vehicles.

12

47.

Failure to incorporate conviction reporting
in booking/dispatch staff contracts

8

48.

Failure to provide evidence of comparable
booking/dispatch protections applied by
company to whom work is outsourced.

12

49.

Failure to maintain a written policy on the
employment of ex-offenders to booking/
dispatch functions.

8

50.

Failure to report on ICO reportable data
breaches, changes to booking systems,
and management system faults

6

Page 141

Equality Impact Assessment

3. These are known as the three aims of the
general equality duty.

1. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a
document that summarises how the council
has had due regard to the public sector
equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in its
decision-making. Although there is no
legal duty to produce an EIA, the Council
must have due regard to the equality duty
and an EIA is recognised as the best
method of fulfilling that duty. It can assist
the Council in making a judgment as to
whether a policy or other decision will have
unintended negative consequences for
certain people and help maximise the
positive impacts of policy change. An EIA
can lead to one of four consequences:

Protected characteristics

(a) No major change – the policy or other
decision is robust with no potential for
discrimination or adverse impact.
Opportunities to promote equality have
been taken;
(b) Adjust the policy or decision to remove
barriers or better promote equality as
identified in the EIA;

4. The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine
protected characteristics for the purpose of
the equality duty:
•

Age

•

Disability

•

Gender reassignment

•

Marriage and civil partnership*

•

Pregnancy and maternity

•

Race

•

Religion or belief

•

Sex

•

Sexual orientation

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the
first aim of the duty applies in relation to
employment.
Due regard

(c) Continue the policy – if the EIA
identifies potential for adverse impact,
set out compelling justification for
continuing;

5. Having ‘due regard’ is about using good
equality information and analysis at the
right time as part of decision-making
procedures.

(d) Stop and remove the policy where
actual
or
potential
unlawful
discrimination is identified.

6. To ‘have due regard’ means that in making
decisions and in its other day-to-day
activities the council must consciously
consider the need to do the things set out
in the general equality duty: eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity and foster good relations. This
can involve:

Public sector equality duty
2. The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the
council, when exercising public functions,
to have due regard to the need to:
(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment
and victimisation;

•

(b) Advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it;

removing or minimising disadvantages
suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.

•

taking steps to meet the needs of
people
with
certain
protected
characteristics when these are different
from the needs of other people.

•

encouraging people with certain
protected characteristics to participate
in public life or in other activities where
it is disproportionately low.

(c) Foster good relations between persons
who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not
share it (ie tackling prejudice and
promoting understanding between
people from different groups).

7. How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on
the circumstances The greater the

Page 142

potential impact, the higher the regard
required by the duty. Examples of functions
and decisions likely to engage the duty
include: policy decisions, budget decisions,
public appointments, service provision,
statutory
discretion,
decisions
on
individuals,
employing
staff
and
procurement of goods and services.

policy, for example, is being developed and
agreed but also when it is implemented.
•

It is good practice for those exercising
public functions to keep an accurate record
showing that they have actually considered
the general duty and pondered relevant
questions.
Proper
record
keeping
encourages
transparency
and
will
discipline those carrying out the relevant
function
to
undertake
the
duty
conscientiously.

•

A public authority will need to consider
whether it has sufficient information to
assess the effects of the policy, or the way
a function is being carried out, on the aims
set out in the general equality duty.

•

A public authority cannot avoid complying
with the duty by claiming that it does not
have enough resources to do so.

8. In terms of timing:
•

•

•

Having ‘due regard’ should be
considered at the inception of any
decision or proposed policy or service
development or change.
Due regard should be considered
throughout development of a decision.
Notes shall be taken and kept on file as
to how due regard has been had to the
equality duty in research, meetings,
project teams, consultations etc.
The completion of the EIA is a way of
effectively summarising this and it
should inform final decision-making.

Case law principles
9. A number of principles have been
established by the courts in relation to the
equality duty and due regard:
•

Decision-makers in public authorities
must be aware of their duty to have ‘due
regard’ to the equality duty and so EIA’s
must be attached to any relevant
committee reports.

•

Due regard is fulfilled before and at the
time a particular policy is under
consideration as well as at the time a
decision is taken. Due regard involves
a conscious approach and state of
mind.

•

A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by
justifying a decision after it has been taken.

•

The duty must be exercised in substance,
with rigour and with an open mind in such
a way that it influences the final decision.

•

The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty
will always remain the responsibility of the
public authority.

•

The duty is a continuing one so that it
needs to be considered not only when a

Page 143

The Equality and Human Rights
Commission has produced helpful
guidance on “Meeting the Equality
Duty in Policy and Decision-Making”
(October 2014). It is available on the
following link and report authors should
read and follow this when developing
or reporting on proposals for policy or
service development or change and
other decisions likely to engage the
equality duty. Equality Duty in decisionmaking

Equality Impact Assessment
Lead officer:

Trevor Ford

Decision maker:

Cabinet

Decision:
• Policy, project, service,
contract
• Review, change, new, stop

Taxi Licensing Policy amendments

Date of decision:
The date when the final decision
is made. The EIA must be
complete before this point and
inform the final decision.

26 November 2020

Summary of the proposed
decision:
• Aims and objectives
• Key actions
• Expected outcomes
• Who will be affected and
how?
• How many people will be
affected?

The report seeks to recommend to Council a number of
amendments to the Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022. These
revisions include;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Increasing policy change consultation requirements
Increasing English (written and oral) testing
The training of decision makers
Mandatory safeguarding and county-lines awareness
training for drivers
Increased criminal record checks
Increased self-reporting requirements
Increased record keeping requirements
Updating the scheme of penalty points, and,
A proposal to conduct a separate consultation on
mandatory installation of in-car CCTV systems.

The aim of the update this to provide the current policy with
amendments to ensure that it remains up to date, effective,
and protects public safety in line with the recently published
statutory standards.
It is expected that the public may be affected by the policy by
means of access local taxi services, or should they wish to
apply for a licence. Businesses providing such services will
also be affected by ways of needing to comply with
increased public safety measures.
Information and research:
• Outline the information and
research that has informed
the decision.
• Include sources and key
findings.

Consultation:

Research conducted as part of the revision of the policy
includes;
•
•
•

Best practice guidance
General taxi licensing research
Liaison with taxi and private hire drivers and operators
via the Taxi Forum

Page 144

•

•
•

•

Consultation has occurred through the Taxi Forum, and with
standard consultees highlighted by the statutory standards
guidance.

What specific consultation
has occurred on this
decision?
What were the results of the
consultation?
Did the consultation analysis
reveal any difference in views
across the protected
characteristics?
What conclusions can be
drawn from the analysis on
how the decision will affect
people with different
protected characteristics?

The consultation period run throughout September 2020,
and elicited a single response, which on the whole was
agreeable to most of the changes.
No responses arose with respects to the protected
characteristics and equality.

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics
and assess the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics.
When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the
protected characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young
people but low relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral
impact on men.

Protected characteristic

Relevance to Decision
High/Medium/Low/None

Impact of Decision
Positive (Major/Minor)
Negative (Major/Minor)
Neutral

AGE
Elderly

Medium

Neutral

Middle age

Low

Neutral

Young adult

Medium

Neutral

Children

Medium

Neutral

Physical

Low

Neutral

Mental

Low

Neutral

Sensory

Low

Neutral

GENDER REASSIGNMENT

Low

Neutral

MARRIAGE/CIVIL
PARTNERSHIP

Low

Neutral

PREGNANCY/MATERNITY Low

Neutral

RACE

Low

Neutral

RELIGION OR BELIEF

Low

Neutral

DISABILITY

Page 145

SEX

Neutral

Men

Low

Women

Low

Neutral

SEXUAL ORIENTATION

Low

Neutral

Mitigating negative impact:

See conclusion

Where any negative impact
has been identified, outline
the measures taken to
mitigate against it.

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty?
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s Essential Guide, alongside fuller PSED
Technical Guidance.
Aim

Yes/No

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation

Yes

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

Yes

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

Yes

Conclusion:
•

•

•

•

Consider how due regard
has been had to the
equality duty, from start to
finish.
There should be no
unlawful discrimination
arising from the decision
(see guidance above).

The proposed amendments act to protect public safety and
ensure consistency between licensing authorities.
This decision and the specific elements, are not considered to
have specific impacts on any one particular characteristic, and
therefore are not considered to discriminate or have an
disproportionate impact on any such group.

It is however considered that these amendments would have
an overall positive impact on all users in terms of increased
Advise on whether the
protections, and any perceived impacts such as the
proposal meets the aims of requirement for a basic level of written and oral English is
the equality duty or
considered to be outweighed greatly by the overriding interest
whether adjustments have in protecting public safety.
been made or need to be
made or whether any
The policy shall be reviewed at the end of its five-year period,
residual impacts are
and by any changes to guidance, law, or enforcement identified
justified.
within that period. The next review is scheduled for 2022.
How will monitoring of the
policy, procedure or

Page 146

decision and its
implementation be
undertaken and reported?
EIA completion date:

6 October 2020

Page 147

Appendix C
Review of the Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022
The following document summarises the proposed changes to Ashford Borough Council’s Taxi Licensing Policy 2017-2022 as a result of the
publishing of the Department of Transport’s ‘Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards’ in July 2020.
Please note that the council must have regard to the requirements of this guidance and should only deviate from the recommendations where
there is compelling reasons to do so.
Accordingly, we welcome feedback and any supporting evidence, in order that the council may take into account any views expressed.

Page 148

This document can be emailed back via licensing@ashford.gov.uk or posted to Licensing, Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford, Kent, TN23 1PL
prior to the end of the 30 September 2020.
Summary of Statutory Guidance Requirement

Recommendations

Policy consultation

Recommendation 1

Policy changes should be consulted upon with
the trade and groups liable to be the trades’
customers.

Taxi Licensing Policy to be subject to minor amendment to include a section to list
standard consultees including;







Consultee comments on recommendation 1
Agreed

Ashford Access
Chamber(s)of Commerce
Campaign for Better Transport
Multi-agency safeguarding groups
PubWatch
Neighbouring Licensing Authorities

Gathering and Sharing Information

Recommendation 2

Licence holders should be required to notify the
issuing authority within 48 hours of any; arrest
and release, charge, or conviction.

Private hire drivers licence standard conditions, and policy document, to be updated to
include shorter self-reporting periods (currently 14 days) and updated wording (does not
currently include arrest and release).

Consultee comments on recommendation 2;
Agreed

Page 149

Complaints

Recommendation 3

Ways to make complaint to the Licensing
Authority must be displayed in all licensed
vehicles.

Annual tariff card (April 2021 onwards) to be amended to include relevant details of how
to make a complaint.
Private hire vehicle licence standard conditions, and policy document, to be amended to
include mandatory display of the tariff card (this requirement already exists in Hackney
conditions).

Consultee comments on recommendation 3; The current plans to display how to complain and who to complain to, are to be printed
on a very small form. By doing so it is virtually impossible for anyone to see it. A lack of thought has gone into something that is a
huge problem. Arrow taxis has a large quality assurance sticker on the rear window. It would make more sense for a similar sign to
highlight, that ABC is the licensing authority, and that all complaints should be addressed to them

Training of Decision Makers

Recommendation 4

All council members that determine whether a
licence is issued should be required to undertake
sufficient training. Training should be recorded.

Policy document to be updated to reflect the need for councillors to be trained

Consultee comments on recommendation 4;
Can a reasonable time for councillors be made, to allow for them to acquire the knowledge needed to comply?

Page 150

Decision Making

Recommendation 5

It is recommended that councils operate with a
Regulatory Committee or Board that is convened
at periodic intervals to determine licensing
matters, with individual cases being considered
by a panel of elected and suitably trained
councillors drawn from a larger Regulatory
Committee or Board

Policy to be subject to minor amendment to reflect decision-making arrangements to refer
all suspensions, revocations and ‘other’ decision making to Committee, except in serious
cases that require immediate suspension/ revocation, which are delegated to a
responsible officer

Regardless of which approach is adopted, all
licensing authorities should consider
arrangements for dealing with serious matters
that may require the immediate revocation of a
licence. It is recommended that this role is
delegated to a senior officer/manager with
responsibility for the licensing service.

Consultee comments on recommendation 5;

Agreed

Driver Licensing

Recommendation 6

Use of the following test when considering
fitness;

Minor amendment of Taxi Licensing Policy to include the updated fitness test wording
(prior version from J. Button).

Page 151

Fitness Test

Without any prejudice, and based on the
information before you, would you allow a
person for whom you care, regardless of
their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle
driven by this person at any time of day or
night?

Consultee comments on recommendation 6;
Agreed

DBS Update Service

Recommendation 7

All licensed drivers should be required to
evidence continuous registration with the DBS
update service to enable the licensing authority to
routinely check for new information every six
months.

All new/renewal driver applications will be subject to the pre-requisite requirement to sign
up to the DBS update service.
Private Hire Driver Licence conditions to be amended to make and evidence continuous
DBS Update Service registration a mandatory requirement.
Existing drivers will be provided with a 6-month period in which to be signed up to the
DBS Update Service and provide relevant details.
Minimum 6 monthly enhanced-DBS checks to be conducted via the DBS update service.
Taxi Licensing Policy wording to be updated to reflect the above changes.

Consultee comments on recommendation 7;
Agreed

Page 152

Barred Lists

Recommendation 8

In the interests of public safety, licensing
authorities should not, as part of their policies,
issue a licence to any individual that appears on
either barred list.

Minor amendment to Taxi Licensing Policy required to explicitly include wording to this
effect.

Consultee comments on recommendation 8;
Agreed

Safeguarding and County Lines

Recommendation 9

All licensing authorities should provide
safeguarding advice and guidance to the trade
and should require taxi and private hire vehicle
drivers to undertake safeguarding training.
Safeguarding awareness training should include
the ways in which drivers can help to identify
county lines exploitation.

New driver applicants will need to submit evidence of this training as pre-requisite of
application.
Existing drivers who have not already completed both safeguarding and county lines
training (via the free ABC sessions) will be required to submit evidence of such training
through acceptor provider(s) within 6 months of policy implementation.

Consultee comments on recommendation 9;
Because of Covid the timing could be a problem. We need to move more to online. This is not only because of downtime in regards
of time of the rank, but the problem is agreeing to attend and a booking coming up. Drivers are not able, financially to turn
customers away, to attend an unpaid training session. Having looked at the amount of pandemics that China has caused, I
unfortunately fear that we have more to come.

Page 153

Language proficiency

Recommendation 10

A licensing authority’s test of a driver’s proficiency Minor policy amendment at Appendix D paragraph 1.8 to recognise the need of testing to
also cover written English and basic maths (updated test already in use)
should cover both oral and written English
language skills.

Consultee comments on recommendation 10;
Agreed

Vehicle Licensing

Criminality checks for vehicle proprietors

Recommendation 11

Licensing authorities should require a basic
disclosure from the DBS and that a check is
undertaken annually.
Agreed

Application/annual renewal form to be amended to;




Require disclosure of unspent convictions, by applicant (or directors in the case of
a company)
Make it a pre-requisite of licensing to submit a basic disclosure for applicant (or
directors in the case of a company)
Exempt the above two points, if the applicant already holds a drivers licence and is
therefore subject to further checks.

Page 154

To update vehicle conditions to clarify that any change of directorship (if a company holds
the licence) is to be notified within 14 days along with Basic DBS disclosure for any
new/additional directors. Where the new director is a driver the requirement for a Basic
Disclosure is not applicable.
To amend the Taxi Licensing Policy to reflect the above changes

Consultee comments on recommendation 11;
Should be on update service

In-vehicle CCTV

Recommendation 12

All licensing authorities should consult to identify
if there are local circumstances which indicate
that the installation of CCTV in vehicles would
have either a positive or an adverse net effect on
the safety of taxi and private hire vehicle users,
including children or vulnerable adults, and taking
into account potential privacy issues.

A separate consultation will be undertaken in 2021/22.

Consultee comments on recommendation 12;
I will respond to the consultation 2001/22

Private hire vehicle operator licensing

Criminality checks for private hire vehicle
operators
Licensing authorities should request a basic
disclosure from the DBS and that a check is
undertaken annually for individuals or company
directors

Recommendation 13
Amendment of policy to require annual submission of basic disclosure from by the licence
holder (directors in the event of a company). Where the applicant is a driver, this
requirement is not applicable due to the additional checks performed.
Amendment Private Hire Operator conditions to reaffirm the above requirement

Page 155

Amendment of Private Hire Operator conditions to require formal notification of any
changes of any company directorship (if licence is held by a company) with Basic
Disclosure certificate(s) being provided within 14 days of such change. Basic Disclosure
certificates are not required if the new director is also a licensed driver.

Consultee comments on recommendation 13;
Directors should have to be on the same update services as drivers. A year to someone untrustworthy is a long time

Booking and dispatch staff

Recommendation 14

Licensing authorities should, as a condition of
granting an operator licence, require a register of
all staff that will take bookings or dispatch
vehicles is kept, including evidence that they

Amendment PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to require that Private Hire
Operators maintain a ‘live’ register of all staff that take bookings or dispatch vehicles.
Such records shall include evidence that they have had sight of a basic disclosure (dated
within a month of viewing) at the time of adding staff members.

have seen a Basic Disclosure for those staff. This
should tie into their written policy on employing
ex-offenders.
When individuals start taking bookings and
dispatching vehicles for an operator they should
be required, as part of their employment contract,
to advise the operator of any convictions while
they are employed in this role

Amendment PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to make it clear that where a
Private Hire Operator outsources bookings or dispatch functions, the operator shall be
required to evidence comparable protections are applied by the company to which they
outsource work.
PHO applications form to be amended to require a written policy on the employment of
ex-offenders to booking and dispatch roles. This shall be compared with the threshold to
obtaining a private hire vehicle operators’ licence.

Page 156

Operators may outsource booking and dispatch
functions but they cannot pass on the obligation
to protect children and vulnerable adults.
Operators should be required to evidence that
comparable protections are applied by the
company to which they outsource these
functions.

Amendment of PHO conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to state that when individuals
start taking bookings and dispatching vehicles for an operator they should be required, as
part of their employment contract, to advise the operator of any convictions while they are
employed in this role

Licensing authorities should also require
operators or applicants for a licence to provide
their policy on employing ex-offenders in roles
that would be on the register as above.

Consultee comments on recommendation 14; All booking staff to register for a DBS and their names to be forward to the council.
Knowing when someone is on holiday and the house is potentially empty, is a golden opportunity to a thief.

Record Keeping

Recommendation 15

Licensing authorities should as a minimum
require private hire vehicle operators to record

Minor amendment to Taxi Licensing Policy and Private Hire Operator licence conditions to
include updated/increased list of records required to be kept.

the following information for each booking,
retained for a minimum of six months;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the name of the passenger;
the time of the request;
the pick-up point;
the destination;
the name of the driver;
the driver’s licence number;
the vehicle registration number of the
vehicle;
the name of any individual that responded
to the booking request;
the name of any individual that dispatched
the vehicle.

Page 157

Consultee comments on recommendation 15;
Agreed

Driver exhaustion

Recommendation 16

Recommendation additional to statutory guidance
to ensure that the risks of low pay and overworking is taken into account by operators in
dispatching drivers that may otherwise be
exhausted and unfit to drive.

Amendment to Private Hire Operator licence conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to make
it a requirement for the operator to conduct and maintain an up to date risk assessment
relating to working hours of drivers taking account of; hours driving, hours on standby,
rest periods, rate of pay/income, and, other work whether or not related to driving.

Consultee comments on recommendation 16;
This is too difficult to comply with. During busy times the controller, who may well be the owner, does not have the time. Day shift
drivers collect the evening shift driver, who drops them off. This gives no opportunity for a controller to evaluate the visual

tiredness of the driver. It does not allow for questioning over the radio as this is needed to allocate jobs and take details (see 15)
How does the controller know if the driver is telling the truth about any other work? What proof have either got about what was said.
If a driver has paid for fuel or covered mainly account work, they will not go to the office. This can happen for several days. What
about independent drivers? A driver finishing late will drop the car off and post the keys through the letterbox. You are then relying
on another driver to decide if his colleague is over tired at the end of a shift. There is too much information required and it presents
too many problems

Self-reporting

Recommendation 17

Recommendation additional to statutory guidance
to ensure that incidents relating to crime &
disorder or public safety are subject to selfreporting requirements.

Amendment to Private Hire Operator licence conditions and Taxi Licensing Policy to make
it a requirement for the operator to report to the licensing authority within 7 days any; ICOreportable data breaches, changes of dispatch and record keeping systems, and,
management/system faults (such as where a vehicle has been driven without insurance
cover, or where a vehicle has been driven without a valid driver’s licence being held).

Page 158

Consultee comments on recommendation 17;
Has the taxi trade been given a list of the Information Commissioners Office rules? If not, how do we know if we break them?

Enforcing the Licensing Regime

Joint authorisation of enforcement officers

Recommendation 18

Licensing authorities should, where the need
arises, jointly authorises officers from other
authorities so that compliance and enforcement
action can be taken against licensees from
outside their area.

No need has currently arisen, however this option is to be explored with the Kent &
Medway Licensing Steering Group as and where necessary.

Consultee comments on recommendation 18;

All the time you have taxis licenced in one borough and working entirely in another, there are problems. It would be helpful if they
stopped pinching jobs. All hackney officers being covered countrywide on a single licence, makes sense. Applying for permission
and seeking co-operation individually does not

Penalty Points System
Recommendation 19
Some licensing authorities operate a pointsbased system, which allows minor breaches to be
recorded and considered in context while
referring those with persistent or serious
breaches to the licensing committee.

Points based system to be updated to include changes under the provision of the
statutory guidance, and to ensure that the number of points accords to the severity of
such breach.

Consultee comments on recommendation 19;
Agreed

Page 159

Other comments

Consultee comments on overall changes;
The problem is that many people get in a taxi a few times and assume they know it all. Their advice no matter how well meant is often illogical
and creates more problems than it solves. The best way would be to (post covid) get reps from the different groups around the table and
remember to include the taxi trade. All too often a carrot is dangled in front of groups, promising that a certain action will solve their problem. It
does not. Somehow the taxi trade is not there to tell them reality.
Look at the buzzer on the taxi stand, extra disabled vehicles that get around actually ever picking up the disabled. Proposed CCTV that
drivers cannot afford to have installed. Ask user groups and they will think it’s a wonderful idea

Respondent details
Q1 - Name:

Sue Whybrow

Q2 – Company/organisation or capacity in which you are
responding
Q3 - Are you happy to be contacted about your response if
needed?
Q4 - If yes to Q3, please provide contact details

Taxi Rep
Yes
07765250848 or email sue-whybrow@hotmial.co.uk

Page 160

Agenda Item 13
Agenda Item No:

13

Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26/11/2020

Report Title:

Town Centre Reset

Report Author &
Job Title:

Hannah Clayton-Peck, Town Centre Regeneration Manager
and Dan Carter, Team Leader - Spatial Planning Team.

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Gerry Clarkson and Cllr. Paul Clokie
Portfolio Holder for: Leader of the Council and Corporate Property and Projects

Summary:

The Town Centre Reset seeks to consolidate areas of focus
in Ashford town centre. Concentrating on market investment
demonstrated from the International Station in the past 5
years, this report emphasises defining an investment corridor
and area of emphasis along Elwick Road and Bank Street.
Corporate, cross-departmental projects will be established to
identify areas of opportunity with a clear direction for the
future.

Key Decision:

YES/NO (delete as appropriate)

Significantly
Affected Wards:

Victoria Ward

Recommendations:

The Cabinet is recommended to:I.
II.

Policy Overview:

Adopt the Town Centre Reset
Delegate authority to the Ashford Town Centre
Redevelopment Advisory Committee to develop
the action plan and monitor the delivery of this
document.

Financial
Implications:

The Town Centre Reset is part of the Ashford Recovery Plan
2020 under the theme ‘Place Making, Regeneration and
Infrastructure’.
£340,000 has been identified in the recovery plan to support
the delivery of the work streams arising from the TC reset.
Specific project funding requests /future funding bids will be
reported to the Ashford Town Centre Redevelopment
Advisory Committee and Cabinet as appropriate.

Legal Implications:

N/A

Equalities Impact
Assessment:

Not required because this plan doesn’t relate to the delivery
of specific individual programmes of work. Assessment on
the impact on protected characteristics will be undertaken on
each individual project at the appropriate time.

Page 161

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:

Not required because this plan doesn’t relate to the delivery
of specific individual programmes of work. Assessment on
the impact on data protection will be undertaken on each
individual project at the appropriate time.

Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

Not required because this plan doesn’t relate to the delivery
of specific individual programmes of work. Risk assessments
will be undertaken on each individual project at the
appropriate time.

Sustainability
Implications:

Under the Corporate Plan one of the three emerging themes
is ‘Green Pioneer’ citing the Council’s ambition for carbon
neutrality. This theme is referenced as a key objective in the
‘Overarching Approach’. The Town Centre Reset and all of
the projects which flow from it will ensure sustainability is
considered as a priority.

Other Material
Implications:

N/A

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Background
Papers:

Town Centre Reset

Contact:

Hannah.clayton-peck@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233 330421)

Page 162

Agenda Item No. 13

Report Title: Town Centre Reset
Introduction and Background
1.

2.

The Ashford Town Centre Reset (attached as Appendix A of this report) is
part of the Ashford Recovery Plan and takes into consideration the emerging
Corporate Plan and the Ashford Ambition to 2030. Before COVID-19 town
centres were undergoing an evolution, with a clear contraction in retail
following the impact of online shopping and the growth in popularity of out of
town retailing experiences. The report was compiled following a series of
consultations with heads of service and members and created using their
responses. This document has since been considered by the Ashford Town
Centre Redevelopment Advisory Committee, to incorporate views before
bringing this document to Cabinet.
COVID 19 has expedited this contraction and we are currently at a vacancy
rate of 19.9% which is the highest it has been since we began recording 12
years ago. With 40% less footfall than we were seeing last year, we need to
consider the role of the town centre and understand its relevance to the
recovery of Ashford’s economy.

Proposal
3.

The Town Centre Reset seeks to consolidate areas of focus and investment
in Ashford town centre. Focussing on the market investment demonstrated
around the International Station in the past 5 years, this report focusses on
defining an investment corridor stretching from the International station,
through Elwick Road and up to Bank Street. Corporate, cross-departmental
projects will be identified to realise these ambitions. This will identify delivery,
investment and areas of opportunity to show a clear direction of travel for the
future by defining 5 key themes;
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

4.

5.

The influence of the International station
Key destinations
The declining role of retail
The role and type of residential use
The role of community and the cultural offer.

The primary purpose of this study is to consider the role the Council can play
to directly influence any ‘reset’ for the traditional town centre area so that it
can remain relevant within the wider context. It is clear that the traditional
town centre area needs to provide an offer that complements offers
elsewhere, and must adapt to survive.
This has been the case for some time. That is not to say retail and leisure
uses won’t have a role to play, it is more that they need to diversify and create
a place that can meet the everyday needs of the surrounding communities. A
place to live, work, visit and invest. This document takes into account
developments already identified and being taken forward in the town centre

Page 163

and its surrounding areas such as; Newtown Works, Park Mall and Vicarage
Lane.
New Ashford residents will create greater demand for independent shops,
start-up enterprises, cafes and eateries. But the Council must understand
where to intervene, where stimulus can be created, and where partnerships
can be most powerful.
The Council are well-placed to help facilitate this ‘reset’ with the ability to
influence both private and public sector stakeholders.

6.

7.

To deliver the reset as set out in this study, three key questions arise which need to be
addressed as next steps;

8.

What are the key Placemaking aspirations for Bank St and Elwick Rd?
This study provides a useful starting point. However, this narrative needs to be articulated and
further refined. Once a role has been more refined, an SPD can be produced to give some
guidance to the market and a phasing strategy will be produced defining how and when
change in the area will occur.
What are the barriers to delivery?
Barriers to delivery are areas that we must address in order to deliver the mission statement.
Key considerations will be;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The role of KCC as a delivery partner
The movement of people in Bank Street
Maintaining and growing strong relationships with stakeholders and investors
Communication of the investment opportunities in Ashford town centre
Multiple ownership creating vacancy and property dilapidations
Corporate collaboration
Geographical and environmental constraints, including the conservation area.

How do we create the optimum movement framework?
Movement is critical for areas like the traditional town centre. Once there is a better
understanding as to the future role of the areas identified in this study there will be a need to
review existing strategies to ensure they deliver the optimum movement framework to
support any reset. This would include;
• Review of pedestrian and cycle routes as part of the Local Cycling, Walking
and Investment Plan
• The frequency of car journeys alongside our Carbon Neutral Strategy and
Green Pioneer role
• Parking and it’s form and function in the town centre
• Buses and the safety and accessibility of their routes and drop off points.
9.

10.

However, we accept that we can’t do it alone and that the climate is a difficult
one, even pre COVID-19. This significant setback to our economic and social
journey requires great care to be taken, ensuring that we can help address
challenges which our community face.
That said, we now have an opportunity to focus on outcomes and respond in
a way that makes best use of our resources. Creating this study, with a clear

Page 164

emphasis on longer term ambitions, means that by 2022 our resources and
investment can be targeted in the most effective way and much needed
interventions can take place.

Equalities Impact Assessment
11.

Not required because this plan doesn’t relate to the delivery of specific
individual programmes of work. Assessment on the impact on protected
characteristics will be undertaken on each individual project at the appropriate
time.

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
12.

Interviews were undertaken with leading Cabinet Portfolio Holders and
Management Team to identify common areas of agreement in developing this
Ashford Town Centre Reset document. The Ashford Town Centre
Redevelopment Advisory Committee were consulted at their September
meeting to seek wider member and officer views to feed into this draft Town
Centre Reset.

Other Options Considered
13.

14.

The option to not take forwards this piece of work was considered. It was
deemed of critical importance to the recovery of Ashford Town Centre’s
economy and community to ensure that a longer term plan and intervention
was taken forwards. This is in the context of the Council’s unique and
powerful role as landowner, community champion and influencer, planning
authority, key employer, service deliverer and cultural champion.
In consulting with leading members and officers, different options were
considered in terms of the focus for the Town Centre Reset document, but
broad consensus was provided around the Investment Corridor and area of
focus identified in the Strategic Diagram on page 4 of the document.

Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended
15.

16.

17.

18.

The production of a Town Centre Reset document was agreed as a priority
action in the Ashford Recovery Plan. This document will provide an agreed,
focused approach moving forward.
This document provides a deliverable and clear direction of travel that
understands what the council’s role could be in the future but also the fact that
the Council are not able to influence things alone and will therefore need the
support of stakeholders and the market.
There is good consensus amongst Members and Officers around the key
geographical areas within Ashford Town Centre, which this document
articulates.
It is a study that will take time to implement and this is reflected in the
contents and will need to be recognised, however failure to act will result in
a traditional town centre that fails to achieve its potential – vulnerable to
decline.

Page 165

Next Steps in Process
19.

The Ashford Town Centre Reset doesn’t prescribe timeframes, however
pending the decision on Cabinet the next steps will be to co-ordinate the work
already contributing to this Reset. That will involve creating an operational
working group, which it is recommended report progress to the Ashford Town
Centre Redevelopment Advisory Committee.

Conclusion
20.

21.

The Ashford Town Centre Reset provides a focus on interventions in Bank
Street and Elwick Road, in the wider context of an investment corridor which
takes into account other key development sites. Bank Street and Elwick Road
connect these areas creating an area capitalising on both Council and
external investments with maximum benefit.
It is hoped that a coordinated approach with a clear vision will ensure that vital
council resources, in a time when such resources are limited, are targeted in
the most appropriate way for the best solution that responds to the situation.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
22.

Cllr Gerry Clarkson, Leader of Ashford Borough Council; “Ashford Town
Centre Reset is the blueprint to establish the future success of Ashford Town
Centre. However it must be agile and flexible in its use to respond to changing
circumstances and future opportunities.”

23.

Cllr Paul Clokie, Portfolio holder for Regeneration and Corporate Property;
“With the rapid evolution of town centres and the opportunities Ashford town
centre has, this Reset provides a direction and vision to work towards, whilst
maintaining its' flexibility. We must also look forward to the time when our new
residents start to return to normal life, although it is inferred in the this report,
we must take advantage of this reset to regain the wow factor of the original
Ashford High Street.

Contact and Email
24.

Hannah Clayton-Peck hannah.clayton-peck@ashford.gov.uk

Page 166

The Ashford Town Centre

Reset

S e p t e m b e r

2 0 2 0

Page 167

Page 168

3
5
8
14
16
17
19

The Overarching Approach
Introduction
Taking Stock & Moving Forward

Contents

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Establishing the Roles
Phasing & Flexibility
Delivering the Reset
Closing Remarks

02

Ashford Town Centre Reset

The Overarching Approach
This study sits alongside the recent and ongoing visioning work for
the corporate plan and the Council’s recovery plan post COVID-19
and takes into consideration the future of the borough relating to
the Ashford Ambition to 2030 and beyond.
This work has identified the following three themes:

Page 169

Green Pioneer – where businesses, communities and the
public and third sector have come together to become carbon
neutral, respect the local environment and ecology, and
embrace a more sustainable way of living.
Caring Ashford – A caring and supportive place to live, with rich
heritage; great schools; high-quality housing; a plethora of
cultural activities and events; and a strong sense of civic pride.
Targeted Growth – A place where productive, innovative,
responsible urban and rural businesses offer good quality work
to an agile and skilled local workforce who have embraced a
culture of lifelong learning.

The Council will drive a reset of
the traditional Town Centre area
by focusing resources towards the
defined ‘Investment Corridor’.
Bank Street and Elwick Road will
be our main ‘area of focus’. (see
Strategic Diagram). It will become
a quality place that has a clearly
defined new role, meets the
needs of the existing and future
communities and reflects the
trends of the local retail/leisure
market to provide a place which
complements the nearby areas.

This study focusses on the how these themes can be applied in a
spatial way to the traditional town centre area and as such has
identified the following Mission Statement:

03

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Strategic Diagram

Page 170
04

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Introduction

In the past, nothing said more about a town than its centre. It was
always the place synonymous with the feel, character and reputation of
a town and the place which would be compared to others.
This position has changed. Now, many towns have areas or districts that
in themselves have become great places. These now help shape and
define a town’s identity.

Page 171

Ashford is no different. It has many distinctive neighbourhoods and
districts, centred on established and emerging communities.
In combination, these areas create the character which makes Ashford
what it is. These areas include the train station – the central hub of the
town and the place where most people arrive, who come to visit
Ashford. Radiating from the Station are a number of recently developed
areas, distinct in their own right. These key developments include the
McArthur Glen Designer Outlet, Connect 38, Curious Brewery, Ashford
College and Elwick Place. Victoria Park is also planned to undergo
significant investment to enhance its already important recreational
leisure offer in serving town centre residents.
New areas and communities continue to be planned, all within close
proximity to the station, including the exciting, transformative Newtown
Works proposal.

It will bring with it new ‘forward thinking’ and ‘creative’ workers, from
completely new areas and thriving sectors of the market.
The expansion of the McArthur Glen Designer Outlet, will also enhance
this wider place, strengthening the link between this broader district and
the station.
The Victoria Road area, located next to the International Station’s
entrance, is also undergoing significant change, driven by the market.
Here a thriving residential offer is being generated, with excellent links to
Victoria Park, Bank Street and the McArthur Glen Designer Outlet.
It is clear that districts and neighbourhoods within the town have an
important role to play, which will be enhanced over time.
The primary purpose of this study is to consider the role the Council can
play to directly influence any ‘reset’ for the traditional town centre area so
that it can remain relevant within the wider context. It is clear that the
traditional town centre area needs to provide an offer that complements
offers elsewhere, and must adapt to survive.
This has been the case for some time. That is not to say retail and leisure
uses won’t have a role to play, it is more that they need to diversify and
create a place that can meet the everyday needs of the surrounding
communities. A place to live, work, visit and invest.
New Ashford residents will create greater demand for independent
shops, start-up enterprises, cafes and eateries. But the Council must
understand where to intervene, where stimulus can be created, and
where partnerships can be most powerful.

05

Ashford Town Centre Reset

The Council are well-placed to help facilitate this ‘reset’ with the
ability to influence both private and public sector stakeholders
(further referenced in sections below). However, we accept that we
can’t do it alone and that the climate is a difficult one, even pre
COVID-19. We accept that this significant setback to our economic
and social journey requires great care to be taken, ensuring that we
can help address challenges which our community face.

Page 172

That said, we now have an opportunity to focus on outcomes and
respond in a way that makes best use of our resources. Creating
this study, with a clear emphasis on longer term ambitions, means
that by 2022 our resources and investment can be targeted in the
most effective way and needed interventions can take place.

Our Role
Critical to the success of this study is its deliverability. For that to
happen we must understand the Council’s role as a key player to
influence and drive change.

Landowner
We have significant land ownership in the traditional town centre area, as broadly shown by the map above.
Our role has been and remains significant. With the power to have direct impact on the market, we can create the places we want on the ground. We can
also use these opportunities to directly influence and deliver other areas, by creating and generating footfall movements or delivering complementary
development, such as residential development that can support any retail and leisure areas nearby.

06

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Influencer

Planning Authority

Great places need great people
and great people make
community. Ashford will be
welcoming thousands of new
residents over the next few
years. To support the new
community we need to
continue to build resilience and
strengthen our communities,
engaging them to deliver our
outcomes.

We have built strong, diverse
partnerships with the private
sector in the past few years,
with projects such as Elwick
Place, Connect 38 and
Ashford College. This
experience makes us well
placed to create meaningful
projects and draw on market
trends.

We have the opportunity to deliver guidance to the market in the form of
Supplementary Planning Guidance that could set out how our mission
statement will be delivered through new development. This can include
uses which are envisaged, whilst also establishing some key design criteria
such as storey height, scale and density.

Page 173

Community Champion

Key Employer
Ashford Borough Council is a major employer with staff imbued with vast
experience and knowledge of the local area. This wealth of knowledge will
help drive the projects forward.

Service Deliverer
The Council’s own presence, and potential enhanced presence, in the
investment corridor provides us with the potential to directly influence the
delivery of the mission statement in the form of taking up more space and
creating animation.
But we can’t do this alone. Partnerships will be key in our ability to deliver as
we face a more challenging financial position. Before COVID-19 the
traditional town centre was already in decline, this has simply accelerated
the inevitable.
Not responding at all would be the wrong approach. Further decline would
merely continue to happen. So a bold approach is needed as outlined in this
study.

Cultural Champion
We have an opportunity to build on the success of the many cultural and
creative organisations. This study could be powerful in resetting Ashford’s
identity alongside the delivery of Newtown Works.
The defined investment corridor provides underdeveloped land and
therefore opportunities. In the short term, this could be a temporary
solution meeting more immediate demands. This could also help to
understand demand and build a reputation, allowing a longer term, and
perhaps, more permanent offer to be established.

07

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Taking Stock & Moving Forward

Understanding the Themes
The study is a culmination of a range of work areas that have come
together to identify a number of themes that influence the
outcomes of this study as set out below.

The Study Area

Page 174

Successful places with thriving communities interact
seamlessly whilst maintaining a distinct role,
therefore this study deliberately doesn’t provide a
clearly defined area. However, in broad terms, the
study has looked at a number of key districts and
neighbourhoods within the central area of the
town. These include the station, the McArthur Glen
Designer Outlet, Victoria Way, Bank Street and
Elwick Road as well as the remaining areas of the
traditional town centre (see map below).
The work that has underpinned this Study creates a
clear picture of what the key influencing factors are
within this broad area, what roles certain areas
could play moving forward. The key outcomes are
as follows, under identified themes.

08

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Here investment has been almost exclusively limited to the re-use of existing
buildings. The result is a number of what can be termed ‘anchor destinations’.
Alongside the station, these include:

Theme One - The Influence of the Station

Substantial market investment has occurred in the Town in recent years,
radiating directly from the Station with its excellent links to London and
Europe. Such investment includes the McArthur Glen Designer Outlet,
Connect 38, Curious Brewery, Ashford College, Elwick Place and ongoing
construction of significant levels of new flatted development along
Victoria Road.

Page 175

Ashford International train station is the fulcrum of the town centre, a
role that has been enhanced with the delivery of HS1 and has seen the
radiating effect of market delivery. There is no doubt that the station will
continue to play this 'central hub’ role.

Theme Two - The Key Destinations

Places evolve over time and in doing so new purposes are created which
become key destinations in their own right. Often, this can trigger the
need for other areas to evolve and respond, so they complement these
places rather than competing with them.
In Ashford, it is clear where the market focus has been and how new
investment is focused around a core area that radiates from the Station.
Almost all of the new developments coming into the central area of the
Town in recent years have been focussed on these areas rather than the
more traditional high street.

The McArthur Glen Designer Outlet - arguably the town’s most
successful development in recent years attracting over 3.5 million
visitors per year, with an expected increase to 5 million with the new
expansion. The Outlet is a comparison retail attraction that is the
envy of other places and is often cited as an exemplar scheme to be
mirrored elsewhere.
Connect 38 - the biggest office building to be built in Kent for 20
years, this 80,500 sq ft office building developed close to the
international station by Quinn estates has created a hub of business
activity. With many businesses moving from regional Kent offices to
this location for access to the International station, this has also seen
a rise in footfall.
Ashford College - this project has created opportunities locally for
students to better access an educational facility in its new location
opposite the train station. Its state of the art facilities and modern
design is yet to be fully realised, however there are plans to extend
the building to accommodate greater capacity and a more varied
programme. This is an important part of the fabric of the borough
and its future role in supporting the economy in the future.
Elwick Place - the 100,000 sq ft leisure and restaurant development
includes the first ever newly built Picturehouse cinema, nine retail
and restaurant units and a Travelodge hotel. This development has
transformed this area opposite the traditional retail hub of County
Square. With recent tenants Macknade demonstrating that demand
for high quality, local, independent restaurant and retail, the future
prospects of Elwick Place are promising.

09

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Coachworks - the Coachworks is a ‘meanwhile’ development transforming Dover Place in Ashford, by reviving disused industrial buildings in the
area, directly outside the International train station, which includes a new co-working space, a food & drink destination and an outdoor event
space.
New Town Works - this new development aims to put Ashford at the forefront of the digital revolution, by offering state-of-the-art film and TV
production space in the heart of Kent. With quick links to London, Newtown Works in Ashford makes for an ideal location for key players in the
online streaming, film and TV industries. This exciting transformative project has the potential to stimulate the Ashford economy through the
potential longer term economic impacts of COVID-19 and create the Ashford of the future.

Page 176

These areas are now important destinations and attractors in their own right. They are places many people visit and have become part of the urban fabric
of the town. In effect, they now complement the existing and more traditional destinations, such as:

St Mary’s Church - nestled just off Ashford high street St Mary’s Church stands with over 1000 years of history. In 2011 Revelation Ashford was
launched, Ashford’s pop up arts venue hosting international artists and providing ‘up close and personal’ cultural experiences. Since then
Revelation has welcomed renowned artists and developed projects with schools and groups, all the while working with the church community to
bring continued life to the area.
Middle Row area - these medieval buildings and narrow streets were known as the Butchers’ Shambles and are some of the oldest in the town.
This is the original site of Ashford’s market, and if you look closely you’ll see hints of this period, such as the hooks on the wall where
the butchers’ meat was hung. This area has untapped potential with its history and heritage forming the story of Ashford, something crucial to
its identity.
Park Mall - purchased by the Council in 2015, this previously struggling shopping centre has been one of the town centre’s success stories.
Home to one of the town centre’s most successful pop up shops, Made in Ashford, Park Mall is home to more than 30 retailers. This has created
the beginnings of a town centre business community, something which this document seeks to harness through proposing managed
displacement of these businesses to the Bank Street area accelerating the long term vision for residential development on the Park Mall site.

10

Ashford Town Centre Reset

County Square - County Square spurs off the traditional high street with its biggest (currently empty) unit facing the recently developed
Elwick Place. In recent years this centre has seen highs and lows with its historic footfall achievement surpassing 6 million in 2018, to losing
its anchor tenants Marks and Spencer’s and Debenhams in the year that followed. Despite the steady vacancy rate across the rest of the
centre, County Square is facing similar fates to that mirrored across shopping centres and in comparison retail nationally and we need to
work with them to ensure that they contribute to the core retail offer in Ashford town centre.

Theme Three - The Declining Role of Retail

Page 177

Retail (particularly comparison retail) has struggled to survive in many traditional high streets for some time. Competition from online retailers, out of town
retail parks and other retail hubs, such as Bluewater, have become a destination for huge numbers of visitors. Also, many retail operators have responded
to market demand through needing more out-of-centre destinations.
Ashford is no different. It has been successful in delivering high quality, big name, retail stores close to the traditional Town Centre such as Waitrose and
John Lewis. These all positively contribute to the wider retail offer within Ashford and are welcomed. However, in the traditional town centre areas many
large attractors have been lost such as Woolworths, Marks and Spencer’s and recently Debenhams. It is clear that the future role for large scale comparison
destination retail, will mostly be fulfilled by the nearby McArthur Glen Designer Outlet. It is therefore about how the traditional town centre area can
complement this offer and not necessarily try to compete.
The pressure and decline of the traditional high street retail area will not subside, certainly not for the large traditional anchor retail stores demonstrated in
recent losses of Marks and Spencer and Debenhams in County Square. The model for these stores is hugely challenged, with the majority unlikely to want
to change their out of centre location for traditional town centres.
Also, the impact of COVID-19 is yet to be fully realised. However, there are clear signs that the pandemic has negatively impacted on the retail and leisure
sectors, exacerbating the change in consumer habits. Many commentators consider that COVID-19 has accelerated the decline in retail that would have
happened anyway.

11

Ashford Town Centre Reset
That is not to say that retail won’t play a role in more traditional high street areas, including comparison retail. However, it is much more likely that this will
be in the form of independent traders and shops which require small footprints.
This is the type of retail we should be trying to encourage moving forward – an offer which caters for the everyday needs of the residents and workers in
the area. Independent retailers that can be fleet of foot to swift changes in consumer demand, rather than being a destination to come to dwell and spend
significant retail or leisure time. We have seen evidence of this through examples such as Salata, Macknade and Stag coffee, all businesses who have
pivoted rapidly and to positive effect during COVID-19.

Theme Four - The Role and Type of Residential Use

Page 178

Traditional town centres have always been a place where people have
lived. Ashford is no different. These residents are an important part of
the borough’s wider community and their needs and aspirations need to
be understood, met and respected. However, new communities coming
to Ashford will become new residents and their needs and aspirations
are also important.
For the traditional town centre area, this is a particular issue. Many
thousands of dwellings are proposed to be delivered over the next few
years, with many more almost complete. This will lead to a significant
local population increase – all residents calling this area home. They will
be a diverse and mixed new community, with new ideas, needs and
expectations and we have the opportunity to create the places that they
want to use.
The new residents surrounding the Bank Street and Elwick Road areas
will not only create increased footfall potential, but they stimulate need
for more routine services and demand for that central area to serve their
daily needs.

This residential buffer frames the investment corridor and provides an
opportunity to define a central nucleus in Elwick Road and Bank Street, as
they will be areas residents will travel through to access the International
Train station and other nearby destinations.
Creating a defined quality space with an attractive public realm and a
specific purpose along Elwick Road and Bank Street presents an
opportunity for both residents and businesses to thrive. More residential
use will provide greater animation and support local retail and leisure uses.
This influx will provide much needed activity during the day, with many of
these new residents looking to work from home, as well as creating
demand for the night time economy.
The Council can directly influence the residential concentration of the
Vicarage Lane and Park Mall areas, given our role as landowner and
developer. These are areas on the periphery of the investment corridor,
but by extension provide that ‘buffer’ and will generate significant footfal
movements to support our aspirations.

12

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Theme Five - The Role of the Community & Cultural Offer

Successful places have an active community and a thriving cultural offer, helping to give a place clear identity. This is recognised by the Council and we have
already agreed – in liaison with community leaders – to develop an ‘action plan’ for the wider town centre area to identify needs, improve community
resilience and sustain the excellent work of the volunteer sector. This consultation will provide a vehicle to give the new and existing local community a
voice, to increase engagement, participation and collaboration.
Successfully integrating the new community with the existing one will be crucial. This cohesion will be needed, and active work on achieving this community
will be required.

Page 179

In the past couple of years cultural projects and programmes have delivered incredible successes for the traditional town centre. Snowdogs, Illuminites,
Revelation, Create festival and Made in Ashford have all engaged the community and evidenced demand. Ashford is lucky to be surrounded by many
cultural organisations who understand and are engaged with our place development. With this reset we must examine how culture can deliver some of the
outcomes, in a way that aligns to the roles being created at Bank St and Elwick Road.

The Timeframe
Things are already moving forward and this study does not aim to prescribe timeframes. It does however provide a clear direction of travel for the
traditional town centre area, with a renewed focus on the Bank St and Elwick Rd areas. This is our long term vision and future projects will take this study
into account. Delivery in the short term, must not prejudice the ability to achieve these longer term aims.

13

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Establishing the Roles

Bank Street & Elwick Road

Page 180

The key area of change and the focal point of this study,
utilising its accessible position from the Station, the McArthur
Glen Designer Outlet, Victoria Park and the traditional town
centre area. It is the area which will become framed by new,
high quality, residential development.

With Newtown Works on the horizon Elwick Road and Bank Street will
act as the catalyst to inspire potential new residents to make their home
here. Knowing that this is a great place to live, work and connect them
to London and Europe. Not just a dormitory town and a place to work
and commute.
Elwick road will continue to be redeveloped with a mixture of uses,
including residential and potential varied use on the ground floor. It will
act as a clear entrance into the newly transformed Bank Street area and
effectively become the key gateway into the new high street, particularly
from the Station.
Public realm improvements, and key cultural facilities will be delivered
to complement this role and create an attractive thoroughfare. In doing
so, it will increase the likelihood of movements and links between the
McArthur Glen Designer Outlet, Newtown Works and Bank Street.

Bank Street will be transformed to become a focal point for
the community and will be where many now consider the
‘new modern high street’ to be. The main complementary
retail and leisure uses will be focused here. It will mainly look
to cater for people’s everyday needs although County Square
may still continue to meet more comparison based shopping
needs.
The new offer, and quality of place and associated public
realm will act as a key attractor of footfall movements. In
doing so, it will complement Elwick Place, the uses around
the northern part of Bank Street and the uses within County
Square. It will be where people dwell and mingle, with a
variety of independent shops, eateries and cafes. These uses
will support the daytime and evening economies.
This attractive place will provide an offer that will
complement the nearby McArthur Glen Designer Outlet
which will be delivering an enhanced comparison retail role.

14

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Victoria Road

This area will continue to grow and change in response to the market. It
will be a regenerated area that provides a range of secondary retail and
leisure uses, interspersed with key destinations such as the Curious
Brewery. It too will act as a key gateway into a newly transformed Bank
Street area and a newly improved Victoria Park, a key council-owned
green space area that is due to undergo significant enhancements, which
in itself will become a key footfall generator.

Page 181

This area will be home to thousands of new residents, many of whom
will work from home regularly and in doing so provide animation during
the day to the Bank Street area as well as supporting the evening
economy.

Park Mall

There are suggested plans that Park Mall will one day become a new
residential community within the heart of the town. In this instance,
independent businesses will be offered opportunities to move to the
Bank Street area. The residential offer will house a variety of different
people and become key footfall generators in their own right which will,
in turn, will support the transformed Bank Street area and beyond.
At Park Mall, the provision of a new multi storey car park or utilising the
existing one, will be explored as a means of providing more footfall
generation and to help anchor and deliver the aspirations surrounding
the Bank Street area.

15

Ashford Town Centre Reset
Vicarage Lane & Lower High Street

The Lower High Street will continue to evolve, with the market playing a
key role. New residential uses will have been delivered at Vicarage Lane
and this will be complemented by an increased residential offer within
the wider Lower High Street area.

Page 182

This area will continue to offer more secondary uses in terms of retail
and leisure use, but could also have a wider community focus in the form
of everyday facilities being located here and potentially new community
space - although this will be dependent on how the market responds to
this wider area and, as such, is a longer term aspiration.

Phasing & Flexibility
It is recognised that the roles identified in this study will take time to
establish. This presents the opportunity to look at how some
of the areas might be phased as a means of potentially delivering some
‘quick wins’. For example there are currently a number of key
underdeveloped sites along Elwick Road which will remain
underdeveloped for potentially some time.
These are large sites with significant space to utilise, close to the station
and the Bank Street area. This could provide some opportunities for
temporary uses being delivered here in the short term if desirable. Such
uses could focus on promoting an enhanced art and cultural offer

through a variety of events and exhibitions or ‘pop up’ facilities and
attractions. Such an approach will allow the Council to test the demand
for such space, should a permanent use be sought in the longer term,
whilst continuing to strengthen Ashford’s reputation as an arts and
culture hub.
The timeframe for delivering change also means that the Council will
need to keep the study’s outcomes under review and monitored so that
they remain fit for purpose and can react to changes to the market. This
flexibility will be crucial as the market will continue to fluctuate and
adapt. It is therefore vital that the Council continues to ensure that any
interventions made have the maximum benefit so that the Council can
continue to play a lead role in influencing the market and our public
sector partners.

16

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Delivering the Reset

To deliver the reset as set out in this study, three key questions arise
which need to be addressed as next steps.
1. What are the key Placemaking aspirations for Bank
Street and Elwick Road?

Page 183

This study provides a useful starting point. However, this
narrative needs to be articulated and further refined. It is envisaged that
a further round of visioning workshops will be undertaken.
This work needs to feed into the wider visioning work which has
already been completed for the Ashford Ambition to 2030 and beyond. It
also needs to be cognisant of the Council’s Recovery Plan 2020.
Once a role has been more refined, an SPD can be produced to give
some guidance to the market on future uses, storey heights, design
aspirations and public realm improvements to be delivered through
development. Work could also include an investment strategy that
explores opportunities at Bank Street, including whether some of the
independent shops at Park Mall could be relocated.
In addition a phasing strategy will also need to be produced
which will look at how and when change within the investment corridor
will occur and what impact this could have on areas within the
traditional town centre which fall outside the investment corridor.

2. What are the barriers to delivery?
Barriers to delivery are areas that we must address in order to deliver the
mission statement. Many of these issues are established and perennial,
however these are areas which are crucial to the delivery of projects to
tackle and influence the investment corridor and potential future success
for the borough.
The role of KCC will be key, with our district deal and already good working
relationships with the County authority, we must ensure that they are
quickly established as a delivery partner and understand the wider impact
this area could have.
The movement of people will be critical in this area with the increased
residential demands and therefore a strong relationship with KCC as
highways authority is important. What role the buses, and all their
associated infrastructure play, in the future of Bank Street is also a key
consideration. If not Bank Street, then a suitable and accessible location for
buses will need to be established.
Across the authority we have strong relationships with investors, with
planners, AshfordFOR and our economic development team we can work
together to ensure that the opportunity of Ashford is communicated
clearly. However, as with many of the projects coming from the study it will
require collaboration from across the authority.
Multiple ownership of property and ownership of land are other barriers.
Bank Street in particular raises a number of issues, however this needs to
be further explored as to what the short, medium and longer term
opportunities are.

17

Ashford Town Centre Reset
There are also geographical and environmental constraints that also need to be acknowledged. These include; the flood plain, the railway line,
the former ring road and the heritage assets within the traditional town centre area including listed buildings and the conservation area (see
map below).

Page 184

For pedestrian and cycle routes, this relates to ensuring that routes are
created that connect Bank Street, the Station, the McArthur Glen
Designer Outlet and Newtown Works. These routes will need to be direct,
attractive and accessible to encourage as many sustainable modes of
transport as possible. Here, the recently produced Local Cycling, Walking
and Investment Plan will help inform the debate. Also the presence of
the established green corridor within and around the traditional town
centre area will play a key role.
For car traffic, the likely frequency of car based journeys in the future
needs to be factored in, as does whether the traditional town centre area
wants to become more pedestrian focused in the future. This work area
all links to the emerging Council’s Carbon Strategy and our ‘Green
Pioneer’ role in respect of trying to achieve carbon neutrality in the
borough by 2030.

3. How do we create the optimum movement framework?

Movement is critical for areas like the traditional town centre. Once
there is a better understanding as to the future role of the areas
identified in this study there will be a need to review existing
strategies to ensure they deliver the optimum movement framework to
support any reset.

However, technological advances might mean that all cars are solely
electric by this point. In this context, they will still be important
generators of footfall movement into the traditional town centre area
and therefore the placing of future car parks needs careful
consideration.
For buses, these remain important footfall creators and are the favoured
mode of transport for many. Careful consideration will be needed about
alternative drop off points within the traditional town centre area, so that
a solution can be found that allows the aspirations for Bank St to be
delivered, yet provides safe and accessible access to it from a nearby
point.

18

Ashford Town Centre Reset

Closing Remarks

This study is seen as an important policy document in the Council
moving forward and complements the work being done on the
Ashford Ambition to 2030 and beyond and the COVID-19 Recovery
Plan.

Page 185

It is a study with a clear direction of travel, that is deliverable and that
understands what the council’s role could be in the future. It also
acknowledges that we can’t influence change alone and will need the
support and collaboration of partners and the market.
The Town Centre Reset will take time to implement and this
is reflected in its content. This needs to be recognised as failure to act
will result in a traditional town centre that fails to achieve its
potential.
With council resources limited, this approach aims to provide a steer
and a flexibility in delivery to enable continued responsiveness to
changes in the marketplace. The Council accepts that it will need to
monitor and review the aspirations in this study and will need to react
accordingly. It is hoped that a coordinated approach with a clear
vision as expressed in the mission statement will ensure that vital
council resources are targeted to create a fundamental reset in
Ashford Town Centre.

19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14
Agenda Item No:
Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

29th October 2020

Report Title:

HR Policy Review – 2020

Report Author &
Job Title:

Joy Cross – HR Manager
Hannah Ogunbayo – HR Officer

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Pickering – Portfolio Holder for Human Resources and
Portfolio Holder for: Customer Services

Summary:

Cabinet are asked to review and approve four personnel
policies that materially alter the existing policies.
The proposed new policy documents are;
 Flexible Working Policy,
 Remote Working Policy,
 Flexible Retirement Policy,
 Virtual Meeting Addendum - new
The above policies replace the following policy documents in
the current Conditions of Service
 Flexible working guidelines (available on the intranet)
 H2 Homeworking
 F3 Flexible Retirement

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

None specifically

Recommendations:
Policy Overview:





Flexible working guidelines (available on the intranet)
H2 Homeworking
F3 Flexible Retirement

Financial
Implications:

None

Legal Implications

The policy documents form part of the contract of
employment (contained with the Conditions Of Service) and
as such the Conditions of Service is referred to, together with
notable employment legislation and codes of practice


ACAS Code of Practice

Page 187




Employment Rights Act 1996
General Data Protection Regulation 2018

Equalities Impact
Assessment

See Attached

Other Material
Implications:

None

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Background
Papers:

N/A

Contact:

Joy Cross – HR Manager
Joy.cross@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330 400

Page 188

Agenda Item No.

Report Title: HR Policy Review- 2020 – Flexible Working
Policy, Flexible Retirement Policy, Remote Working Policy
and Virtual Meeting Addendum
Introduction and Background
1. This policy review has been undertaken as part of the council’s recovery plan to
promote consistency, transparency and ensure our policies are fit for purpose
during the current climate and beyond. We aim to have policies that are
productive, flexible, practical and effective for all employees to create a positive
organisational culture.
2. The purpose of the policy review is :


To streamline the existing process and provide clear guidance that is effective
and enforceable



To reflect and comply with existing/ new legislation and case law.



To support the organisation’s recovery plan.



To follow the latest developments in effective people management.



To deal with the change in our way of working as a result of the pandemic.



To attract potential candidates and retain employees by keeping up with current
market trends.

3. A meaningful consultation process has been followed as detailed below.
4. The proposed new policy documents are provided to Cabinet for consideration as
featured in Appendices 1-4











Appendix 1
Appendix 1A
Appendix 1B
Appendix 2
Appendix 2A
Appendix 2B
Appendix 3
Appendix 3A
Appendix 3B
Appendix 4

Flexible Working Policy
Flexible Working Policy Flow Chart
Flexible Working Application Form
Remote Working Policy
Remote Working Policy Flow Chart
Remote Working Application Form
Flexible Retirement Policy
Flexible Retirement Policy Flow Chart
Flexible Retirement Policy Application Form
Virtual Meeting Addendum

5. The original policy documents are provided to the Cabinet at Appendices 5-7




Appendix 5
Appendix 6
Appendix 7

Flexible Working Guidelines
H2 Homeworking
F3 Flexible Retirement

Page 189

6. It is not proposed to amend the policy documents that are applicable to the group
of employees at ASPIRE who transferred to Ashford Borough Council from
Commercial Services Ltd in October 2016. Amendments to contractual terms
associated with a TUPE transfer are likely to be unlawful under the Transfer of
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Proposal / Summary of Changes
Flexible Working Policy
7. This policy, once accepted, will replace the current flexible working guidelines, as
the organisation does not have a policy within the Conditions of Service.
8. The 26 weeks continuous service eligibility criteria has been waived giving all
employees the opportunity to apply from the start of their employment and would
be discussed during the recruitment process with prospective candidates.
9. The policy complies with current employment legislation / case law relating to the
application and consideration of flexible working requests.
10. The Flexible Working Application Form replaces the current Flexible Working Part
A and B form, with the acceptance and rejection letters also included in the
revised form. This entire process will be made through a digital workflow, which
will automatically forward completed forms to the next stage of the process,
thereby reducing the amount of time it takes line managers and employees to
scan forms to HR or wait for a variation of contract to be issued.
11. The Flexible Working and Flexible Retirement Applications now have separate
application forms, replacing the current form which serves a dual purpose.
12. A Flexible Working Meeting will only be arranged to discuss complex flexible
working applications, this replaces the current process where a flexible working
meeting must be held for all applications.
13. This policy gives line managers the option to agree a request on a trial basis over
a maximum period of 12 weeks, this option is not included in the current flexible
working guidelines.
14. The appeal process has been streamlined and will be dealt with within the flexible
working process without the need to make reference to the grievance resolution
policy, as previously was the case with the flexible working guidelines.
15. The final approval sits with the Head of Service which forms the final decision on
the application.
16. The Flowchart and Application form are been provided in the appendices to this
policy.

Page 190

Remote Working Policy

17. The Home Working Policy has been brought up to date and renamed as some of
the references were outdated.
18. The revised policy emphasises that to be successful and sustainable for both
employee and organisation, remote working must be appropriate, well managed,
properly supported and correctly implemented.
19. The old policy lent itself to employees working remotely all of the time, rather than
part of the time and these references have been removed to bring the policy up to
date with remote working arrangements post Covid19.
20. The new Remote Working Policy continues to treat remote working arrangements
as non-contractual ,although clearly arranged and documented. Remote Working
Arrangements can be terminated by either party providing 30 days notice.
21. The old policy had a very lengthy application process which has been
streamlined. The revised Application Form for the policy features in its
appendices. This entire process will be made through a digital workflow, which
will automatically forward completed forms to the next stage of the process,
thereby reducing the amount of time it takes line managers and employees to
scan forms to HR.
22. The old policy had no recourse for the employee if the application was rejected,
this has been amended and employees can now revert to the Flexible Working
Policy if necessary (remote working can be a form of flexible working covered by
the Employment Rights Act).
Employees can make a Flexible Working
Application if their Remote Working Application is unsuccessful.
23. Remote Working Applications are available from day one of employment
(flexibility is required from the employee with regard to onboarding periods).
24. The revised policy continues to refer to performance management, health and
safety, data protection, resources, travel arrangements and insurance/tax
although these sections have been brought up to date.
25. The revised policy includes a new section on well-being, childcare, eldercare and
other commitments.
26. The revised policy requires an agreed working pattern when working remotely to
assist with performance management. Heads Of Service have final approval on
remote working applications.
27. A process flowchart is provided in the appendices to the policy.

Page 191

Flexible Retirement Policy
28. This policy has been amended to reflect the introduction of the Flexible Working
Policy and mirror the streamlined process that is followed.
29. This entire process will be made through a digital workflow, which will
automatically forward completed forms to the next stage of the process, thereby
reducing the amount of time it takes line managers and employees to scan forms
to HR or wait for a variation of contract to be issued.
30. A process flowchart is provided in the appendices to the policy.
Virtual Meeting Addendum
31. The Virtual Meetings addendum applies to the whole Conditions of Service and
enables all employment related meetings to be held virtually, without the need to
update each policy in the conditions of service.

Implications and Risk Assessment
32. The main risks and implications of the course of action proposed are around
introducing a policy document that is unlawful and an overall failure to consult
with employees reading proposed changes to their contractual terms of
employment (as detailed within the afore mentioned conditions of service).
33. The HR team have worked to ensure that the policy documents comply with key
legislation in this area and the ACAS Code of Practice is provided at Appendix 5
for information.
34. A meaningful consultation process has been followed with regard to this issue
and is detailed below.

Equalities Impact Assessment
35. Members are referred to the attached Assessment.

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
36. As all four policy documents form part of our Conditions of Services, these
policies are contractual (unless stated) and therefore employees must be
consulted regarding any proposed changes. Additionally as the proposed
changes are significant they must be referred to Cabinet and approved.
37. We have consulted with major stakeholders in IT, Health & Safety, Unison and
JCC staff side.
38. Employees have also had the opportunity to provide their feedback and
comments about remote working and the council’s flexible working approach via
a series of surveys conducted since remote working commenced at the end of
March 2020.

Page 192

39. Feedback from these surveys was collated and used by the HR Manager and HR
Officer in the creation of the first drafts of the policy documents
40. Prior to the completion of a first draft of the Remote Working policy the Head Of
HR and Customer Services and HR Manager held an initial meeting with the
Unison executive who provided specific feedback in this area.
41. First drafts were created of all policies and sent to the Unison executive.
42. Feedback from Unison was discussed with the HR Manager and HR Officer.
43. Feedback from all stakeholders was incorporated into the second policy drafts.
44. The second drafts of the four policy documents were provided to JCC for
consideration on 10th September 2020.
45. JCC commented as follows;


The policies would be effective following approval by the Cabinet at their
meeting in October 2020.



Members of staff had to be aged 55 years or over to apply for flexible
retirement which was a requirement of the local government pension scheme.

Other Options Considered
46. The current policy documents are recognised by employees, managers and
Unison as requiring an update.

Conclusion
47. The proposed policy documents have been produced following thorough
consultation across the organisation and represent a transparent, fair and
consistent set of procedures, supporting employees and the organisation equally.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
48. To be provided.

Contact and Email
49. Joy Cross
01233 330 400
joy.cross@ashford.gov.uk

Page 193

FLEXIBLE WORKING POLICY
May 2020
1. Introduction
1.1

Ashford Borough council recognises the importance of promoting a balance
between work and personal life through flexible working. The option to work
flexibly is a reasonable expectation of current and prospective employees. We
believe that flexible working can increase staff motivation, reduce employee
stress, increase staff retention, and improve performance and productivity.

1.2

This policy aims to explain the provisions that are available for employees at
Ashford Borough Council and the process for making an application. It also
seeks to encourage staff to consider flexible working arrangements as part of
the council’s intentions to support employees in achieving a balance between
work and other priorities, such as physical and mental wellbeing, caring
responsibilities, leisure activities, further learning and other interests.

1.3

Although in law employees must have a minimum of 26 weeks' continuous
service, at Ashford Borough Council all employees are able to make a request
effective from the first day of their employment. Candidates will be encouraged
to have discussions about flexible working as part of the recruitment and
selection process. All employees are entitled to make one flexible working
request in a 12 month period, however, additional requests within a 12 month
period will be considered in exceptional circumstances. There is no automatic
right for an employee to have their request granted. The council will fairly and
reasonably consider all requests and is committed to agreeing any flexible
working arrangements, provided the needs and objectives of both the council
and the employee can be met.

1.4

An application for flexible working must be in writing and submitted to the
appropriate line manager for consideration. Employees should clearly specify
what changes are sought to their current working pattern, the impact this
change will have on colleagues and the service as a whole. Employees are
encouraged to initially informally discuss their intention to make a flexible
request with their line manager

1.5

If accepted, employees need to bear in mind that the change in working pattern
will be permanent except otherwise agreed by the line manager. There may be
circumstances where a trial period of up to 12 weeks may be considered in the
event that the council is unsure that the proposed arrangement will be suitable
for both parties. Trial periods of more than 12 months are not considered
reasonable.

Page 194
1

1.6

Where the council is not able to accommodate the requested working pattern,
the line manager must provide a reason which must be one or more of the lawful
grounds for refusal.









The burden of additional costs
Detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand
Inability to re-organise work among existing staff
Inability to recruit additional staff
Detrimental impact on quality
Detrimental impact on performance
Insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work
Planned structural changes

2. Legislation
2.1

In accordance with The Employment Rights Act 1996, particularly sections 80F
to 80I, an employee who has been continuously employed for a period of at
least 26 weeks is entitled to make a flexible working application and have it
reasonably considered.
At Ashford Borough Council we want all of our
employees to be able to benefit from the right to request Flexible Working and
therefore the right to apply for flexible working is available to all employees,
regardless of length of service.

2.2

In accordance with the legislation and this policy all flexible working applications
must be dealt with in a reasonable manner within three-months starting from
the date on which the application is made to the completion date of the whole
process (including Appeal). We recognise that employees may need a more
immediate response to their request and therefore, wherever possible, we will
deal with flexible working applications in less than three months. Conversely,
the legislation, and this policy, recognises that there may be times where an
extension may be required, subject to agreement between the employer and
employee.

2.3

The employer may consider an application as withdrawn if the employee fails
to attend both first and second meetings arranged to discuss the flexible
working application without a good reason.

2.4

The General Data Protection Act 2018 requires employers to comply with the
principles for processing personal data and protecting against unauthorised
access of personal data.

2.5

The manager must liaise with their Head of Service with regard to any
applications received. The Head of Service will have the ultimate decision on
applications which must take into account the operational needs of the service
as a whole.

Page
195
2

3. Eligibility
3.1
3.2

3.3

All employees can request flexible working. You can make only one application
in a 12-month period, apart from in exceptional circumstances.
The council’s positive approach to flexible working applications will be stated in
all job advertisements and discussions within the recruitment and selection
process regarding flexible working are encouraged.
If an employee is dissatisfied with the way in which their application is being
processed or if they are unclear at any stage throughout the process, they
should contact HR at human.resources@ashford.gov.uk

4. Types of flexible working
4.1

The following flexible working options are considered to be the typical
arrangements that employees will request but the council recognises that there
may be alternatives or a combination of options which are suitable to both the
council and the employee.

4.2

Annual hours - This occurs when an employee's contractual working hours are
calculated as the total number of hours to be worked over the year, allowing
flexible working patterns to be worked throughout the year. Usually the hours
will be divided into rostered hours, which are set, or unallocated hours, when
an employee can be called into work as demand dictates (and to cover
unplanned work and employee absence). Payment will be in 12 equal
instalments. The council has a specific Annualised Hours policy for certain
parts of the organisation which is separate to annual hours as a flexible working
option.

4.3

Compressed hours - This option allows employees to work their usual full time
hours across fewer days meaning that there is no reduction in their pay. For
example, a five-day week is compressed into four days.

4.4

Home-working - This is when an employee regularly carries out all, or part of,
their duties from home rather than the council premises and reduces the length
of their day by eliminating their commute time. The council will consider ad-hoc
home-working request being an occasional agreed day, a mix of home and
office based work each week (in accordance with the Home-Working Policy) or
a complete homeworking arrangement. Please see the Council’s Homeworking
Policy for further information on Flexible Working of this type.

4.5

Job-sharing - Job-sharing involves dividing a full-time post into two part-time
roles. The two job holders then share the overall duties and responsibilities.
Their skills and the hours each employee wishes to work must be compatible,
and meet the needs of the council. Pay and benefits are shared in proportion
to the hours each employee works. Job sharing can be considered where the
creation of a single part-time post is difficult, or where two individuals wish to
work part-time.

Page 196
3

4.6

Part-time working - Covers any arrangement where an employee is contracted
to work anything less than the typical full time hours for the type of work in
question. For example, an employee who only works Monday to Wednesday..

4.7

Term-time working - This is where an employee reduces their hours or takes
unpaid time off during school holidays. Salary can be paid in 12 equal monthly
instalments (although arrangements may be permitted where an employee is
only paid for the time worked and receives no pay during the school holidays
apart from their entitlement to annual leave)

5. The needs of the organisation
5.1

The council is committed to providing a range of appropriate working patterns.
However, employees and management need to be realistic and recognise that
not all flexible working options will be appropriate for all roles.

5.2

Upon receiving a flexible working application, the line manager will carefully
consider the proposed arrangement and the impact on the council’s service
delivery. The council will need to take into account a number of criteria including
(but not limited to) the following:

6
6.1



the costs associated with the proposed arrangement



the effect of the proposed arrangement on other staff



the need for, and effect on, supervision



the existing structure of the department



the availability of staff resources



details of the tasks specific to the role



the workload of the role



whether it is a request for a reasonable adjustment related to a disability



health and safety issues

New Starters
We encourage managers to have meaningful conversations with candidates
about their flexible working requirements noting that decisions must not be
conveyed in this informal discussion. If offered the post the successful
candidate will be advised of the Council’s Flexible Working Policy at verbal offer
stage and invited to submit a flexible working request should they wish to. We
will aim to incorporate flexible working agreements into new starter contractual
paperwork although recognise that this will not always be possible. New
starters with an agreed Flexible Working pattern may need to work outside of
their agreed pattern during their induction period to ensure adequate training.

Page
197
4

7

Submitting a flexible working request

7.1



Employees should carefully consider the flexible working requests that they
wish to make. If the employee wishes to best understand their potential new
salary and annual leave entitlement they should use the following calculations.
Current annual salary / 37 x proposed number of hours = proposed annual
salary
Current annual leave entitlement (hours) / 37 x proposed number of hours =
proposed annual leave entitlement (hours).

7.2

Payroll are not able to calculate potential net pay differences due to the fact
that tax codes can vary.

7.3

Informal discussions about a flexible working request prior to its formal
submission are encouraged. This is an important conversation for the
employee and line manager to have to improve mutual understanding of the
other’s needs and to improve the efficiency with which the application is dealt
with. Managers are not permitted to give or imply decisions in the informal
discussions.

7.4

All requests should be made in writing by completing the Flexible Working
Application Form (Appendix Two – Section A) Employees are entitled to
submit one flexible working request in a twelve month period although
additional applications within the 12 month period will be considered in
exceptional circumstances.

7.5

A flexible working pattern, if approved, can either be a permanent contractual
change or temporary for a short period of time following which the change will
become permanent unless otherwise agreed.

7.6

Employees should give a reasonable amount of time for the entire flexible
working application process to be completed (this will typically take between
one to three months. Within their Application employees should include an
effective date for their proposed new working pattern.

8

Considering your flexible working request

8.1

Upon receipt of your Flexible Working Application Form, the line manager
should confirm receipt via email and invite the employee to a flexible working
meeting to discuss your request. This meeting should be held within 28 days
of receiving your request. The time limit set may be extended subject to a
mutual agreement between the employee and their line manager.

8.2

If your request is very straightforward and it can easily be determined that it
could be accepted in full (due to its simplicity) the manager can speak to HR
about the possibility of approving your request without the need for a formal
meeting. An example of such simplicity could be reducing part time hours a
little further or swapping a non-working day. A requirement for a meeting is not
an indicator that a request will be declined.

Page 198
5

8.3

In most cases the line manager will invite the employee to a flexible working
meeting, giving least 5 working days advance notice of the time, date and
place of the meeting. If the proposed meeting date is unsuitable, then one
further date will be proposed. Meetings can be either face to face or via video
conference.

8.4

Employees have the right to be accompanied at the meeting by a workplace
colleague or a trade union representative. It is the responsibility of the
employee to arrange a companion at the meeting, advising them of the time
and location etc and ensuring they are properly briefed.

8.5

If the employee fails to attend the arranged flexible working meeting and then
fails to attend a rearranged meeting, without good reason, their application will
be deemed to have been withdrawn.

8.6

Prior to the meeting, line managers should :
 Read through the flexible working policy and seek any clarification from HR
 Carefully consider the request and the current business needs
 Discuss the request with a more senior manager if necessary
 Be open to alternative options in the event that the proposed structure isn’t
suitable for the service.

8.7

In preparation for the meeting, employees should consider the following:
 The impact the request would have on service delivery
 The impact on colleagues
 An alternative pattern in the event that the proposals are refused in part/
fully.

8.8

A suggested template for the Flexible Working Application Meeting is detailed
at Appendix Two Section B.

9

Responding to a flexible working request

9.1

Following the flexible working meeting, the line manager will provide the
employee with a copy of the notes taken at the meeting – Section B.

9.2

The line manager will consider the proposed flexible working request, looking
at the potential benefits, and adverse effects, to the employee and to the council
in implementing the proposed changes.

9.3

Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Agreeing to one
request will not set a precedent or create the right for another employee to be
granted a similar change to their working pattern.

9.4

Employees will be informed in writing of the decision as soon as is reasonably
practicable, but no later than 14 days after the meeting.

9.5

Line managers should consult with an HR Officer before refusing a request or
granting the request in part.

Page
199
6

9.6

The request may be granted in full, in part or refused. The line manager may
propose a modified version of the request, the request may be granted on a
temporary basis, or employees may be asked to trial the flexible working
arrangement for a short period of time.

10 Notifying you that your Request has been Agreed
10.1

The manager must liaise with their Head of Service with regard to any
applications received. The Head of Service will have the ultimate decision on
applications which must take into account the operational needs of the service
as a whole.

10.2

The manager must notify the employee of the decision within 14 days of the
meeting.

10.3

The line manager must detail the agreed change to your working pattern and
the effective date of the change by completing SECTION C of the Flexible
Working Application Form.

10.4

SECTION C of the Flexible Working Application Form will constitute the
variation of contract paperwork and must be issued within 28 days of the
original request. The Manager must forward a copy of this to HR and the
employee may wish to keep a copy for their records.

10.5

The line manager will inform Payroll of the variation to the employee’s contract.
The employee’s key terms and conditions of employment, namely salary, cash
alternative, essential user subsidy and annual leave entitlement will be adjusted
within Itrent along with any amended working pattern. Information regarding
these changes are available to the employee on Itrent Self Serve.

10.6

Employees should contact their line manager or a member of the HR team
within 14 days of receiving SECTION C if they wish to discuss the new working
arrangements further, or have any concerns.

11 Contract Variation
11.1

It is important to note that a flexible working request that is accepted will
normally constitute a permanent change to the employee’s contractual terms
and conditions and will continue for the length of their employment contract
except if agreed on a temporary basis for a period of time by the line manager
following which it will become a permanent arrangement.

11.2

The employee has no right to revert back to their previous working pattern and
their original hours cannot be held for them or budgeted for. Flexible Working
Requests can be agreed on a temporary basis for a maximum of 12 months
and cannot be agreed on a rolling 12 monthly basis.

11.3

In the future if the employee wishes to increase their working hours they must
contact their manager to enquire if there is sufficient available work and budget
to accommodate the increase. Such an increase in hours, if available, will be

Page 200
7

awarded following a reasonable and fair selection process and not via a flexible
working request.
12 Trial Period
12.1

Line managers may agree to trialling the proposed working arrangement, where
there is some uncertainty about whether the flexible working arrangement is
practicable for both the employee and the council.

12.2

If a trial period is agreed, the council will allow sufficient time for the employee
and line manager to implement and become used to the new working practices
before taking any decisions on the viability of a new arrangement. A trial period
can last up to a maximum of 12 months. Trial periods in excess of 12 months
are not considered reasonable, although subsequent varied trial periods are
permitted.

13 Notifying if a Request has been refused
13.1

SECTION D of the Flexible Working Application Form will form the refusal
confirmation and must be issued within 28 days of the original request. The
Manager must forward a copy of this to HR and the employee may wish to keep
a copy for their records.

13.2

The line manager must notify the employee of their decision to refuse a flexible
working application within 14 days of the flexible working meeting.

13.3

The refusal confirmation will outline the reason for refusal and the appeal
process.

13.4

Managers can refuse a flexible working request on only a limited number of
valid grounds, which are as follows:









13.5

The burden of additional costs
Detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand
Inability to re-organise work among existing staff
Inability to recruit additional staff
Detrimental impact on quality
Detrimental impact on performance
Insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work
Planned structural changes

In the refusal confirmation, the manager must provide a sufficient explanation
detailing why the business grounds chosen applies in the circumstance.

14 Right to appeal
14.1

Employees with more than 26 weeks service have the right to appeal the
decision to refuse their flexible working request. The appeal will be heard and
reviewed by an objective senior manager within your service area if possible,
or from elsewhere in the council

Page
201
8

14.2

Appeals must be made in writing addressed to the Head of HR & Customer
Services within 21 days after the date the employee receives the refusal
confirmation. The appeal should clearly state the grounds on which the
employee is appealing. It may be that they wish to bring new information to
their line manager’s attention or mainly to challenge the business reason for
refusal.

14.3

Upon receiving the notification of the appeal, an appeal hearing will be
arranged, to be chaired by the senior manager and attended by all parties
involved. Appeal hearings can be face to face or via video conference. The line
manager will be required to submit the refusal confirmation in advance of the
hearing to all parties.

14.4

The appeal hearing should take place within 28 days of receiving the appeal
notification and the employee has the right to be accompanied at the hearing
by a work colleague or trade union representative.

14.5

The employee will be informed of the outcome of your appeal within 14 days of
the appeal hearing. These time limits may be extended with the agreement of
both the employee and the appeal chair.

14.6

If the appeal is upheld, the written decision must include a description of the
new working pattern and state the date from which the new working pattern is
to take effect.

14.7

If the appeal is not upheld, the written decision must outline the grounds for the
decision and provide an explanation as to why the grounds for refusal apply in
the circumstances.

14.8

A written notice of the appeal outcome constitutes the employer’s final decision
and is effectively the end of the formal procedure within the council. The
employee will not be able to make another formal request until 12 months after
the date of your original application.

15 Exceptions to the procedure
15.1

The council will endeavour to process requests for flexible working within three
months from the date the application is received. Nevertheless, there may be
occasions when additional time is required than the procedure allows to reach
a suitable outcome. For instance, in the event that the employee is unable to
attend a meeting, or to account for the absence of a council representative, an
extension may be mutually agreed.

15.2

In the event that an extension of timescales is required, the council will confirm
in writing the reasons for the extension and any agreed revision of the
timescales involved.

Page 202
9

16 Withdrawing an application
16.1

If an employee decides to withdraw their application, this needs to be confirmed
in writing. There are some other circumstances where an application may be
withdrawn.

16.2

An application may be considered as withdrawn, if an employee unreasonably
refuses to provide the information the line manager requires to consider the
flexible working application. The manager should confirm in writing the
withdrawal of the application.

16.3

If an employee fails twice to attend a meeting to discuss the flexible working
request or an appeal hearing without reasonable cause. The manager should
be flexible however if the applicant cannot attend for the foreseeable future, the
manager should confirm the withdrawal of the application in writing.

17 Appeals
17.1

Employees may appeal against the outcome of a Flexible Working Application,
but must do so in writing, within 21 days of the date of the letter confirming the
outcome. Letters of appeal should be sent to the Head of HR and Customer
Services, stating clearly the grounds for appeal. Appellants are advised to
consult with their trade union (if a member) or workplace colleague.

17.2

Employees may choose to raise Appeals on a number of grounds which could
include the perceived unfairness of the decision or the process that was
followed.

17.3

Appeal Hearings will be heard without unreasonable delay and normally within
28 days of receipt of the appeal.

17.4

The employee should receive written confirmation of the arrangements at least
7 days in advance of the Appeal Hearing. Appeals will be chaired by an
independent Head of Service and wherever possible the manager hearing the
Appeal will not have been previously involved in the application.

17.5

At the Hearing the chair will invite both parties to present their case, call any
witnesses and ask and answer any questions related to the disciplinary matter
including information presented by witnesses.

17.6

The chair will adjourn the Hearing to consider the appeal evidence that has
been presented and, with appropriate support from HR, will determine what
action needs to be taken.

17.7

A decision will be communicated to the employee within 14 days of the Appeal.

Page
10 203

APPENDIX ONE Flexible Working Process
Informal discussions
with the line manager
are encouraged

Employee should submit
the Flexible Working
Application (completing
Section A)

KEY

Employee
Action

Employee should consider the
flexible working request they
wish to make

Line Manager should
acknowledge receipt
of application by email

Manager
Action

HR to advise if the
request is very
straightforward

Manager should
complete section C
ACCEPTANCE of the
request and provide
copies to Employee
and HR/payroll

HR action
Employee should
contact manager
within 14 days if they
need to discuss the
arrangements

Within 28 days of receipt

Page 204

Manager should
prepare for the
Flexible Working
Meeting

Line manager should
arrange a Flexible
Working Meeting
ACCEPTANCE

Manager should use
Section B of the
Flexible Working
Application Form as a
guide to the meeting
Manager to provide
the employee with a
copy of the notes from
the meeting
(SECTION B)
Manager to consider
the request and what
was discussed at the
meeting

Employee’s with 26 weeks
service have the right to appeal

Manager to
inform employee
of decision
Manager to
liaise with
HoS

Within 14 days of
the meeting and 28
days of the request

REFUSAL

Within 21 days of receipt of SECTION D

Manager should complete
section D of the Flexible
Working Application Form
and provide copies to the
employee and HR

Employee should make
an appeal in wring
Within 28 days of receipt

HR will arrange the
appeal hearing
Within 14 days of the hearing

Manager to liaise with
HR if a request is
going to be refused or
agreed only in part

HR will arrange for the
decision to be
communicated

FLEXIBLE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION A - Submitting A Flexible Working Request

Name
Department /Service
Have you submitted a flexible working application in the last 12
months? (If yes, please provide application date)
Does your application relate to a disability?
(If yes, please provide details of your disability)
Are you applying to be become a Homeworker?
answered yes, please refer to the Remote Working Policy)

(If

Current working pattern
(days/hours/times worked)

Proposed working pattern (Hours &
Days) NB 30 minutes lunch break
must be added to each working day
that exceeds 6 hours.
State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on the council’s business and your
department.

State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on your colleagues.

State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on your role.

Proposed effective date
Applicant’s Signature

Date

Page 205

FLEXIBLE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION B - Flexible Working Meeting
Name
Manager
Date
Representative
Check that the employee has read the flexible
working policy and understands that:
 Only one application can be made in a 12
months period
 All accepted changes are permanent except
otherwise agreed with line manager
 Right to appeal if request is rejected (this
applies to employees with more than 26 weeks
continuous service)
Review the application form and discuss the
following areas


Current working pattern (days/hours/times
worked)



Proposed working pattern (days/hours/times
worked)



Proposed effective date



Discuss the rationale for the request and what
the employee’s requirements are

Discuss the impact stated on the application form
and on the different categories listed below.


Colleagues



Customers



Finances



Duties of the JD



Objectives set for the team and the individual



Other operational matters – such as ease of
cover

Following the flexible working meeting, the line manager will provide the employee with a copy of the notes taken at
the meeting – Section B.
The line manager will consider the proposed flexible working request, looking at the potential benefits, and adverse
effects, to the employee and to the council in implementing the proposed changes. Each request will be considered
on a case-by-case basis. Agreeing to one request will not set a precedent or create the right for another employee to
be granted a similar change to their working pattern.

EITHER SECTION C or D must be completed with 14 days of the meeting

Page 206

FLEXIBLE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION C – Confirmation of Acceptance
Name
Manager
Date of Issue
Meeting Date

(within 14 days of the meeting date)

Date of original request

(within 28 days of the original request date)

Application Approved in Full or in Part (circle as appropriate)

In Full

In Part

Application Approved in on an permanent or trial basis (circle as appropriate)

Permanent

Trial

Review Date

(if on a trial basis)

State details of the new working pattern:

Effective Date

Line Manager’s name

Signature

Head Of Service name

Signature

The Manager must forward a copy of this to Payroll and HR and the employee. The employee may wish to
keep a copy for their records. The employee’s key terms and conditions of employment, namely salary, cash
alternative, essential user subsidy and annual leave entitlement will be adjusted within Itrent along with any
amended working pattern. Information regarding these changes are available to the employee on Itrent Self
Serve.
Employees should contact their line manager or a member of the HR team within 14 days of receiving
SECTION C if they wish to discuss the new working arrangements further, or have any concerns.
By signing, I confirm my acceptance to this variations to the terms and conditions of my
employment (as dated above)
Employee’s name
Signature

Date

Once completed and signed, please send this form to humanresources@ashford.gov.uk

Page 207

FLEXIBLE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION C – Confirmation of Refusal
Name
Manager
Date of Refusal
Meeting Date

(within 14 days of the meeting date)

Date of original request

(within 28 days of the original request date)

Business grounds for refusal :









The burden of additional costs
Detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand
Inability to re-organise work among existing staff
Inability to recruit additional staff
Detrimental impact on quality
Detrimental impact on performance
Insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work
Planned structural changes

Explanation of the reason for refusal :

Line Manager’s name

Signature

Head Of Service’s name

Signature

Once completed and signed, please send this form to humanresources@ashford.gov.uk

Should you wish to appeal against this decision please note that appeals must be made in writing addressed
to the Head of HR & Customer Services within 21 days of the date you receive Section D. The appeal should
clearly state the grounds on which you are appealing. Please see the Flexible Working Policy for full details.

Page 208

Remote Working Policy
1.

Introduction

1.1

Remote working is encouraged at Ashford Borough Council. Working remotely, at a
location away from the Council’s offices, i.e. at an employee’s home, is advantageous
to both the employee and the organisation.

1.2

By embracing remote working, the Council will be able to hire people from a much
wider geographical area and so boost the available talent for the organisation and
increase diversity. The reduced time and money spent on commuting will take
pressure off our transport infrastructure and boost spending in local communities. The
reduced time spent commuting in vehicles will reduce our carbon footprint and assist
the Council in achieving its sustainability targets.

1.3

Remote working will make work more accessible and sustainable for all, particularly
for people with caring responsibilities and those with mobility or health concerns. For
many people, greater choice over when and where they work will provide a better life
balance and improved mental and physical wellbeing.

1.4

To be successful and sustainable for both employee and organisation remote working
must be appropriate, well managed, properly supported and correctly implemented.

2

Eligibility

2.1

We believe that remote working is more suited to knowledge workers and workers who
do not need to physically attend their work location in order to effectively complete the
objectives of their role or effectively meet the needs of their customer. Manual workers
are less suited to remote working (on a site that is separate to the Council’s premises
or sites of work). Should manual workers require flexibility to their working pattern they
are able to make a Flexible Working request and should refer to the Flexible Working
Policy for full details.

3

Contractual position

3.1

The Council encourages remote working for suitable employees and has an
expectation that all applicable employees will work from home for at least part of every
working week. In light of this overarching approach to Remote Working, an employee
is able to make a successful Remote Working Application without amending their terms
and conditions of employment.

3.2

The main location of work for all employees is the Civic Centre or another Council
premises as stated in the contract of employment.

3.3

All employees are able to make a Remote Working Application regardless of their
length of service.

3.4

Page 209

4

Recruitment

4.1

The Council encourages managers to have meaningful conversations with candidates
about their remote working requirements noting that decisions must not be conveyed
in this informal discussion. If offered the post, the successful candidate will be advised
of the Council’s Remote Working Policy at verbal offer stage and invited to submit a
Remote Working Application should they wish to. New starters with agreed remote
working patterns are required to be flexible with working hours and locations during
their induction period.

5

Informal arrangements

5.1

Informal remote working, such as working the occasional hours, days or weeks at
home to meet particular deadlines or to assist in a return to work situation under the
advice of Occupational Health, may be approved by a Head of Service. The
arrangements for informal homeworking will not be subject to this policy.

6

Flexible Working applications

6.1

Flexible Working applications as covered by The Employment Rights Act 1996,
particularly sections 80F to 80I, including reduced working hours, compressed hours
and formal changes to terms and conditions of employment are not subject to this
policy. Employees are referred to the Flexible Working Policy for further details of this
policy.

7

Performance Management

7.1

The basic principles of performance management will apply when managing
employees who are working remotely.

7.2

Employees working at or from home must clearly record their hours worked on the My
Portal system.

7.3

Employees should not work overtime or excessive amounts to build up flexi time
without the prior approval of their manager.

7.4

Managers are required to key a reasonable eye on time worked in the time recording
portal (as they would for any other employee not working remotely).

7.5

Employees must remain in contact with their line manager or as directed, either through
e-mail or by telephone at regular intervals. Employees must indicate their availability
when working remotely using the status options on any online communications
software i.e. Skype, Teams and Outlook.

7.6

Employees and managers will need to agree how work outputs are measured rather
than relying on an employee being present to indicate that work is being completed.

7.7

At least one face to face team meeting will take place every 8 weeks and these will be
attended by all employees including those who have remote working arrangements.

7.8

Employees who have remote working arrangements will have 1:1 meetings each
month either face to face or online.

7.9

Employees who have remote working arrangements must;

Page 210

7.9.1
7.9.2
7.9.3

Book annual leave in accordance with normal Council procedures;
Report in sick in accordance with normal reporting procedures otherwise the
leave may be treated as unauthorised absence;
Report any accidents, injuries, diseases or dangerous occurrences arising from
and/or relating to the performance of their work that occur whilst working at
home to their manager and complete the normal reporting procedures.

8

Data Protection and Security

8.1

All employees working remotely must keep any Council information (whether in paper
or electronic documents) confidential and secure. Security arrangements should be
adopted to ensure:







Security and confidentiality of Council equipment and information;
No access of family and friends to work documents and Council equipment;
Provision of secure lockable containers if required;
Protection of home computers used for work;
Appropriate use of other communication links (voice) used for work;
Disposal of confidential waste.

8.2

Employees are responsible for ensuring any necessary confidentiality. They must
ensure that all information stored and accessed is secure and cannot be accessed by
unauthorised parties, including family members. Failure to do so will be considered as
a disciplinary offence.

8.3

Employees are responsible for ensuring that they maintain the correct level of security
and confidentiality when talking on the telephone.

8.4

It is the responsibility of each employee to take reasonable care to ensure the safety,
and security of Council equipment and to maintain the working environment to the
agreed health and safety standards. They must report any problems or defects to their
line manager immediately. IT related issues must also be reported to the IT Service
Desk immediately. Repairs/inspections will be arranged by the employee directly with
IT.

8.5

Any equipment supplied by the Council should be used for the Council's work only.
This is particularly important with respect to computer equipment due to the risk of
introducing viruses to the Council’s network.

8.6

Employees who work at home will be covered by all Council policies especially the IT
Security and Email and Internet Acceptable Use Policies.

9

Insurance and tax

9.1

Employer’s Liability Insurance covers Ashford Borough Council for all sums which it
becomes legally liable to pay as damages in respect of injury to an employee arising
out of and in the course of their employment with Ashford Borough Council.

9.2

Public Liability Insurance provides cover for all sums that Ashford Borough Council
becomes legally liable to pay as damages in respect of or in the consequence of,
accidental injury, or accidental damage to third parties or their property.

Page 211

9.3

Compensation is not automatically paid following an incident. To make a successful
claim against Ashford Borough Council it will be necessary to show negligence or some
other basis for legal liability.

9.4

Employees should notify their contents and building insurance companies that they will
be working at or from home. Their premiums should be unaffected.

9.5

It is also advised that employees notify their Mortgage Company (or landlord if renting).
Employees should also consider any potential tax implications of using their home for
business purposes.

9.6

It is the employee’s responsibility to consider any planning permissions and restrictions
on leases/tenancies etc which might prohibit homeworking.

9.7

There will be no change to domestic Council Tax.

9.8

Employees may be able to claim tax relief for some of the bills they have to pay
because they work at home on a regular basis. The employee should contact the Tax
Office directly regarding this matter.

10

Wellbeing

10.1

Remote working can be extremely beneficial to an employee’s well-being; reducing
commuting time and enabling a better life balance as hours can be worked more
flexibly around other commitments. There are many well-being benefits associated
with remote working patterns e.g. such reduced social anxiety, more time to exercise
and eat well. However, it is important to consider the impact of social isolation on
overall well-being. Individuals have differing levels of tolerance to social isolation and
employees should be careful to take their own personal preferences for interaction into
account when submitting a Remote Working Application

11

Childcare, Eldercare and Other Commitments

11.1

When working remotely employees should devote their full energies and focus to their
work as they would do if they were on site.

11.2

Remote working should not be carried out at the same time as providing childcare for
primary school age and under children or dependent adults.

11.3

Remote working can be carried out around care arrangements if an alternative
responsible adult is also providing care.

11.4

Employees are asked to inform family and friends that they are working remotely to
avoid interruptions.

11.5

Caring and other commitments should be discussed between employee and manger
as part of the Remote Working Application.

12

Health and Safety

12.1

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, the Council must, so far
as reasonably practicable, ensure the health, safety and welfare of its employees
wherever they work. The employee also has a legal duty to look after their own health
and safety, and is expected to co-operate with their line manager in ensuring a safe
and healthy working space when working remotely.

Page 212

12.2

Many of the Regulations made under the Act apply, including for example, the
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, Display Screen
Equipment Regulations 1992, and the Provision and use of Work Equipment
Regulations 1992.

12.3

As part of the Remote Working Application Process, the manager and the employee
must review the template Remote Working Risk Assessment (available online). The
employee and manager must discuss and agree the amendments that will be made to
this Risk Assessment to make it bespoke and applicable to the employee’s home /
remote working location. Should an employee have more than one remote working
location they must have a risk assessment for each location.

12.4

Guidance will be provided online to the employee and manager on how to effectively
amend the Risk Assessment to ensure that the following process is carried out for
completing Risk Assessments.






Identify any hazards (i.e. something which may cause harm);
Decide who might be harmed and how;
Assess the risks and take appropriate action to reduce or remove them as far as
possible;
Record the findings;
Reassess the risks on a regular basis and take any further steps if necessary.

12.5

A copy of the bespoke Risk Assessment(s) must be provided to the HR team and also
to Internal Health and Safety.

12.6

The Council is only responsible for any electrical equipment it supplies. Electrical
sockets and other parts of the employee’s domestic/remote electrical system are the
employee’s own responsibility.

12.7

The Council has a duty to ensure that any laptops and display screen equipment is
safe and does not affect the employee’s health. The workstation must be adjusted to
a comfortable position, and located so that lighting will not cause reflections or glare
on the screen. It is important that “users” take breaks from work to reduce the likelihood
of tiredness and change position regularly to reduce strain on the hands, wrists, arms,
shoulders, neck and back.

12.8

Employees, who regularly use Display Screen Equipment are entitled to regular eye
tests. Employees are also entitled to financial assistance with glasses should they be
needed specifically to use the screen and not part of a wider prescription (such as
general short-sightedness).

12.9

Depending on the nature of the work undertaken at home, the employer has a duty to
provide suitable and adequate first aid provisions. If work is low risk, desk based and
in an employee’s own home, specific first aid provision is not required.

12.10 Employees are required to report to their manager, any accidents, injuries, diseases
or dangerous occurrences whilst working, to the Health and Safety Officer. A record
must be kept of these incidents on an accident form and investigations may need to
be made to ensure such incidents do not recur.

Page 213

12.11 Employees should be aware that an HSE Inspector has the right to visit employees
working at remotely at their work location (home) to ensure that risks from work and
working from home are properly managed.
13

Hours of work

13.1

Remote Working Applications must include proposed hours of work. Some flexibility
is available around a proposed pattern but an approximate pattern must be described
in the application and broadly adhered to.

13.2

Core flexi time bandwidth has been removed for the purposes of remote working.
Employees are no longer required to work from 10am to 12 pm and from 2pm to 4pm,
instead, approximately 4 hours must be worked between 8.30am and 5.30pm on week
days, subject to manager discretion. An agreed working pattern should be completed
by the employee taking into operational needs, colleague interaction and customer
demand.

13.3

Employees can work across a 24/7 period rather than just Monday to Friday.

13.4

Employees who wish to work over a weekend should make a Flexible Working Request
rather than a remote working request.

13.5

Flexi time can be accrued outside of 7am-7pm bandwidth, including for committee
meetings. Time worked outside of the 7am-7pm bandwidth should be part of an agreed
pattern of work or agreed with a line manager rather than ad hoc. Regardless of how
much flexi time is accrued employees should note that a maximum of two flexi days
can be taken each month. Please see Flexi-Time policy for further details.

13.6

It is for the manager and employee to agree the pattern/hours of work. Both parties
need to be flexible but conscious of meeting customer demand, responding to peak
periods and ensuring resilience of the service.

14

Travelling arrangements

14.1

If an employee has a remote working arrangement, the cost of journeys made to the
normal working base on any contractual working day will not normally be reimbursed.

14.2

For other journeys where the starting or finishing point is the employee’s home or
remote workplace, the normal arrangements apply. This means that, in most cases,
when an employee travels straight from home to a location that is not his/her normal
working base, the Council will reimburse the cost of either:
 the journey from the normal work base to the first visit; or
 the journey from home to the first visit, whichever is the shorter.

14.3

The same principle applies when an employee’s last visit is not his/her normal work
base.

15

Resources

15.1

The Council will provide all IT equipment required for those who have a remote working
arrangement. The expectation is that easily portable equipment such as laptops,
keyboards, docking stations, mice and mouse mats will be transported by the
employee in between their remote and office based working locations. Additional
screens can be provided for the employees remote working location but printers will
not be provided.

Page 214

15.2

Employees must apply reasonable levels of care to equipment allocated to them and/or
used offsite, this includes using protective cases for mobiles and tablets when
provided. The Council reserves the right to deduct payment from an employee for the
replacement of equipment where it can be shown that reasonable care was not taken
i.e. repeated damage or not using a protective case provided.

15.3

On termination of the remote-working arrangement (or if requested) any equipment
provided by the Council must be returned in a satisfactory condition. Normal everyday
use will be taken into account and the employee will not be charged for damage caused
by general wear and tear.

15.4

Should an employee wish to purchase office equipment such as a desk and chair they
are able to apply to the Council’s Remote-Working Resources Salary Advance
Scheme. Salary advances can be made, up to the value of £300, for office equipment,
repayable directly via payroll over up to 12 months. Furniture purchased in this manner
would be the property of the employee. For further details please see the RemoteWorking Resources Salary Advance Scheme available online.

15.5

The Council will not normally make any payment to the employee in respect of heating,
lighting, rent, broadband, consumables etc. as any agreement to work remotely is on
the basis that the employee is making savings in the time and cost of travel to work
which will balance the additional costs of working remotely.

16

Remote Working Application Process

16.1

All employees should have the opportunity to be considered for remote-working.

16.2

When considering a request for remote-working, line managers will need to take into
account the total number of employees from their department who may work remotely
at any one time and ensure that resilience needs are met together with customer
demand.

16.3

No employee can work remotely / from home without the agreement of their Head Of
Service.

16.4

It is for the manager and ultimately the Head of Service to decide whether the post is
suitable for homeworking and the number of posts in the department which may be
worked from remotely at any one time.

16.5

All Remote Working Applications will be reviewed in a fair and consistent manner
embracing diversity and positively looking at how the organisation can agree to an
employee’s requests.

16.6

The process for making a homeworking request is as follows;

16.7

The employee completes section A of the Remote Working Application Form and
sends to their manager

16.8

The manager arranges an informal discussion about the request and uses section B
of the Remote Working Application Form as a conversation guide and to record what
was discussed

16.9

During the conversation the manager and the employee will discuss

Page 215










Colleagues – such as ease of contact for colleagues under requested pattern
Customers – such as availability of employee during peak customer demand and
peak periods of work
Duties of the JD – such as aspects of the role which must be delivered face to
face
Objectives set for the team and the individual - such as how these will be
achieved under the requested pattern
Other operational matters – such as meetings with line manager and team
members and if there are different requirements across the year
Other practical matters – such as avoidance of interruptions, childcare,
wellbeing/social interaction
The health and safety impact of the request - such as location of work station,
suitability of work station, DSE assessment
The physical property requirements of the request - such as requirement for IT
equipment, suitability of broadband, confidential storage.

16.10 If a line manager intends to decline the Remote Working Application they should alert
the HR Officer or HR Manager so that they may ensure the process has been followed
and also to provide necessary support to both employee and line manager.
16.11 The manager must liaise with their Head of Service with regard to any applications
received. The Head of Service will have the ultimate decision on applications which
must take into account the operational needs of the service as a whole.
16.12 The manager will communicate the outcome to the Remote Working Application to the
employee, sending them a copy of Section C of the form. The line manager will alert
their line manager to this situation for information.
16.13 If accepted Section C of the Remote Working Application will form the employee’s
Remote Working Agreement.
16.14 If accepted the line manager and employee agree a bespoke Remote Working Risk
Assessment for the employee’s remote workplace – using the template Home Working
Risk Assessment as a template (available online)
16.15 If accepted the arrangements remain in place unless either party gives one month’s
written notice of termination of the arrangements.
16.16 If declined the employee can make a formal Flexible Working Application and have the
request considered again.
17

Reversing the arrangement

17.1

Remote working arrangements are not irreversible. Circumstances can change for
both employee and employer and therefore one calendar month’s written notice of the
termination will normally be required on both sides.

17.2

Remote Working arrangements agreed via this policy can expressly not become
contractual over time by customer and practice. Managers are required to review the
remote working arrangements on a regular basis to ensure they continue to remain
viable for both employee and organisation.

Page 216

KEY

APPENDIX ONE Remote Working Application Process
Informal discussions
with the line manager
are encouraged

Employee
Action

Employee should consider the
remote working request they
wish to make

Manager
Action
HR action

Employee should submit
the Remote Working
Application (completing
Section A)
Line Manager should
arrange an informal
discussion

Page 217

Manager should use
Section B of the
Remote Working
Application Form as a
guide to the meeting

REFUSAL

Manager to
liaise with HoS
for decision

Manager to liaise with
HR if a request is
going to be refused or
agreed only in part

Manager to
inform employee
of decision
Employee can make a
Flexible Working request
ACCEPTANCE

Manager to provide
the employee with a
copy of the notes from
the meeting Section B
Manager to consider
the Application and
what was discussed
at the meeting

Manager should complete
section C of the Remote
Working Application Form
and provide copies to
Employee and HR/Internal
H&S

Manager should
complete section C of
the Remote Working
Application Form and
provide copies to
Employee and
HR/Internal H&S

REMOTE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION A - Submitting A Remote Working Request
Name
Department /Service
Does your application relate to a disability?
(If yes, please provide details of your disability)
Are you making a Flexible Working Application?.......................
(If answered yes, please refer to the Flexible Working Policy)
Proposed remote working pattern
(Hours & Days to be specified)
NB 30 minutes lunch break must be
added to each working day that
exceeds 6 hours.
What impact will your request have on
the council’s business and your
department?

What impact will your request have on
your colleagues or team members?

What impact will your request have on
your role?

Proposed effective date
Applicant’s Signature
Date

Page 218

REMOTE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION B – Remote Working Discussion
Name
Manager
Date
Review the application form and discuss the
following areas


Proposed working pattern (days/hours/times
worked)



Proposed effective date

Discuss the impact stated on the application form
and on the different categories listed below.


Colleagues – such as ease of contact for
colleagues under requested pattern



Customers – such as availability of employee
during peak customer demand and peak
periods of work



Duties of the JD – such as aspects of the role
which must be delivered face to face



Objectives set for the team and the individual
- such as how these will be achieved under
the requested pattern



Other operational matters – such as meetings
with line manager and team members and if
there are different requirements across the
year



Other practical matters – such as avoidance
of interruptions, childcare, wellbeing

Discuss the health and safety impact of the
request such as location of work station, suitability
of work station, DSE assessment.
Discuss the physical property requirements of the
request such as requirement for IT equipment,
suitability of broadband, confidential storage.
Following the informal discussion, the line manager will provide the employee with a copy of the notes taken at the
meeting – Section B.
The line manager will consider the remote working request, looking at the operational and resilience requirements.
The line manager will also consider the other remote working applications agreed in the department and ensure that
the request does not adversely impact on customer response, resilience and ability to meet departmental objectives.
Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Agreeing to one request will not set a precedent or create
the right for another employee to be granted a similar change to their working pattern.

SECTION C must be completed promptly after the discussion

Page 219

REMOTE WORKING APPLICATION FORM
SECTION C – Outcome of Remote Working Application
Name
Manager
Date
Remote Working Application Approved or Declined (please circle)

Approved

Declined

Application Approved in on an permanent or trial basis (circle as appropriate)

Permanent

Trial

Review Date

(if on a trial basis)

Declined
If Declined - please state reasons for declined application

Approved
If Approved – Please state details of the remote working pattern:

Effective Date

Manager to forward a copy of this to HR and employee. Employee may wish to keep a copy for their records.
By signing, I confirm my acceptance to the remote working pattern and understand that, once
agreed, one calendar month’s written notice of termination is required on both sides employment
Employee’s name
Signature

Date

Manager’s name
Signature

Date

Head Of Service Name
Signature

Date
Remote Working DSE issued 

Required equipment issued



Once completed and signed, please send this form to the employee named and also to
humanresources@ashford.gov.uk
Page 220

Flexible retirement
1.

Flexible retirement will only be agreed to where it is in the interests of the Council
to do so.

2.

Management Team will consider requests on business grounds in accordance
with the needs of the service based on the business case put forward. If there
is a cost implication flexible retirement will only be with the approval of full
Council.

3.

Any actuarial reduction applied to the pension will not be waived, in whole or in
part other than in exceptional circumstances and only with the approval of full
Council.

4.

Requests for flexible retirement will only be considered where the request is for
a reduction of at least 30% in hours and/or at least one grade.

5.

Requests for flexible retirement will be considered from any employee wishing
to reduce their hours/grade where the reduction relates to the employees’
current position or upon a transfer to any other position within the Council.

6.

Any employee granted flexible retirement will not be entitled to any salary
protection if this would otherwise normally apply.

7.

In order to make a Flexible retirement application an employee must be 55 or
over 55.

8.

When making a Flexible retirement request an employee should complete a
Flexible Retirement Application Form and follow the process outlined below.

9.

The process is similar to the Flexible Working Application Process and therefore
this policy should be read and understood in conjunction with the Flexible
Working Policy.

10. Employees and managers are reminded that full retirement dates can be
discussed should both parties feel comfortable but are subject to change and
ultimately are a decision for the employee. No formal arrangements in relation
to an employee’s retirement should be made until formal notice is given by the
employee.

Page 221

APPENDIX ONE Flexible Retirement Process
Informal discussions
with the line manager
are encouraged

Employee should submit
the Flexible Retirement
Application (completing
Section A)

Page 222

Manager should
prepare for the
Flexible Working
Meeting
Manager should use
Section B of the
Flexible Working
Application Form as a
guide to the meeting
Manager to provide
the employee with a
copy of the notes from
the meeting
(SECTION B)
Manager to consider
the request and what
was discussed at the
meeting

Employee should consider
the flexible retirement request
they wish to make (working
hours or grade)

Line Manager should
immediately contact
HR/Payroll in order for
contact to be made with
Kent Pensions / LGPA

Within 28 days of receipt

KEY

Employee should
contact Kent
Pensions for
pension estimate

Within
8 days

Manager should
complete section C
ACCEPTANCE of the
request and provide
copies to Employee
and HR/payroll

ACCEPTANCE

Contact Kent
Pensions/
LGPA to
obtain cost
estimate

Manager to
inform employee
of decision

Line Manager should
acknowledge receipt of
application by email

Line manager should
arrange a Flexible
Working Meeting

Within 14 days of
the meeting and 28
days of the request*

*Timescales may vary if pension costs
are involved. Cost implications are
subject to the approval of Full Council.

Manager to prepare a
report for MT and
include pension costs
if applicable

Manager
Action
HR action

Employee should contact
manager within 14 days if they
need to discuss the arrangements

Employee’s with 26 weeks
service have the right to appeal
Within 21 days of receipt of
SECTION D

REFUSAL

Manager to prepare a
report for Cabinet and
Council re early
release of pension
costs

Employee
Action

Manager should
complete section D of
the Flexible Working
Application Form and
provide copies to the
employee and HR

Employee should make
an appeal in wring
Within 28 days of receipt

HR will arrange the
appeal hearing

ACCEPTANCE

Within 14 days of the hearing

Management
Team to make a
decision

HR will arrange for the
decision to be
communicated

REFUSAL

FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT APPLICATION FORM
SECTION A - Submitting A Flexible Retirement Request
Name
Department /Service
Have you submitted a flexible working application or flexible retirement
application in the last 12 months? (If yes, please provide application date)
Does your application relate to a disability?
(If yes, please provide details disability)
Are you applying to be become a Homeworker?
(If answered yes, please refer to the Remote Working Policy)
Current working pattern
(days/hours/times worked)

Proposed working pattern (Hours &
Days) NB 30 minutes lunch break
must be added to each working day
that exceeds 6 hours.
Proposed reduction in hours 30% or in
grade (not spinal point) of at least one
State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on the council’s business and your
department.
State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on your colleagues.

State the impacts that you think the
changes you are requesting will have
on your role.

Proposed effective date
Applicant’s Signature

Date

Page 223

FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT APPLICATION FORM
SECTION B - Flexible Retirement Meeting
Name
Manager
Date
Representative
Check that the employee has read the flexible retirement policy/flexible working policy and understands that:
 Only one application can be made in a 12 months period
 Changes must be at least 30% of hours and one grade.
 All accepted changes are permanent
 Agreement is subject to Management Team, Cabinet and Council approval
Right to appeal if request is rejected (this applies to employees with more than 26 weeks continuous service)
Review the application form and discuss the
following areas


Current working pattern (days/hours/times
worked)



Proposed changes of at least 30% of hours
and one grade.



Proposed working pattern (days/hours/times
worked)



Proposed effective date



Discuss the rationale for the request and what
the employee’s requirements are

Discuss the impact stated on the application form
and on the different categories listed below.


Colleagues



Customers



Finances



Duties of the JD



Objectives set for the team and the individual



Other operational matters – such as ease of
cover


Following the flexible retirement meeting, the line manager will provide the employee with a copy of the notes taken
at the meeting – Section B.
The line manager will consider the proposed flexible working request, and provide a report to Management Team. If
approved by Management and if costs are involved, the line manager will produce a report for Cabinet and Council.
Each request will be considered on a case-by-case basis. Agreeing to one request will not set a precedent or create
the right for another employee to be granted a similar change to their working pattern.

EITHER SECTION C or D must be completed

Page 224

FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT APPLICATION FORM
SECTION C – Confirmation of Acceptance
Name
Manager
Date of Issue
Meeting Date

(within 14 days of the meeting date)

Date of original request

(within 28 days of the original request date)

Application Approved in Full or in Part (circle as appropriate)

In Full

In Part

State details of the new working pattern:

Effective Date
Line Manager’s name

Signature

Head Of Service’s name

Signature

The Manager must forward a copy of this to Payroll and HR and the employee. The employee may wish to
keep a copy for their records. The employee’s key terms and conditions of employment, namely salary, cash
alternative, essential user subsidy and annual leave entitlement will be adjusted within Itrent along with any
amended working pattern. Information regarding these changes are available to the employee on Itrent Self
Serve.
Employees should contact their line manager or a member of the HR team within 14 days of receiving
SECTION C if they wish to discuss the new working arrangements further, or have any concerns.
By signing, I confirm my acceptance to this variations to the terms and conditions of my
employment (as dated above)
Employee’s name
Signature

Date

Once completed and signed, please send this form to humanresources@ashford.gov.uk

Page 225

FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT APPLICATION FORM
SECTION C – Confirmation of Refusal
Name
Manager
Date of Refusal
Meeting Date

(within 14 days of the meeting date)

Date of original request

(within 28 days of the original request date)

Business grounds for refusal :









The burden of additional costs
Detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer demand
Inability to re-organise work among existing staff
Inability to recruit additional staff
Detrimental impact on quality
Detrimental impact on performance
Insufficiency of work during the periods the employee proposes to work
Planned structural changes

Explanation of the reason for refusal :

Line Manager’s name

Signature

Head Of Service’s name

Signature

Once completed and signed, please send this form to humanresources@ashford.gov.uk

Should you wish to appeal against this decision please note that appeals must be made in writing addressed
to the Head of HR & Customer Services within 21 days of the date you receive Section D. The appeal should
clearly state the grounds on which you are appealing.
Please see the Flexible Working Policy for full details.
Page 226

Virtual Meeting Addendum
1.

Throughout the Conditions of Service numerous types of face to face meetings
are referred to e.g. informal meetings, informal discussions, team meetings, one
to ones appraisals, investigations, investigation meetings, hearing, disciplinary
hearings, grievance meetings, grievance hearings, consultation meetings,
capability hearings, appeal hearings etc. This list is not exhaustive.

2.

For the avoidance of doubt all above types of face to face meetings can also be
held virtually, over communications platforms such as Skype, Zoom or Teams
etc.

3.

The manager has a responsibility to ensure the employee has access to a
suitable device to enable the virtual communication to take place.

4.

The employee has a responsibility to ensure that their internet connection and
electrical charge on the device is sufficient to enable the virtual communication
to take place.

5.

The employee and the manager are required to turn their cameras on, unless
there is a valid reason for not doing so. A camera feed from all parties improves
communication within a meeting as all parties can experience non-verbal
communication which may be essential to understanding. If an individual is
sensitive to their video feed background they are reminded that they can set a
suitable virtual background.

6.

Virtual meetings can be reasonably reconvened should any party attending the
virtual communication experience technical difficulties.

7.

It is the responsibility of the affected party to resolve their technical difficulties
(with the support from the IT team if applicable) to enable the virtual
communication to take place.

8.

All parties are responsible for ensuring that they can attend the virtual
communication free from interruptions in a sensitive and confidential matter.

9.

If an unavoidable interruption occurs the meeting must be immediately paused
and reconvened when suitable for all parties.

Page 227

FLEXIBLE WORKING - THE RIGHT TO REQUEST
AND THE DUTY TO CONSIDER

GUIDANCE NOTES
________________________________________________________________
Introduction
All employees who have over 26 weeks service have the right to apply to work
flexibly. Although we already have a well established practice of accommodating
requests to work more flexibly wherever possible, this right means that we will
need to follow a formal procedure with defined time limits that have to be
adhered to.
We are strongly committed to supporting our employees in achieving a better
work-life balance. This is reflected in the flexible working patterns that we
already have in place. Additionally, these procedures also apply to employees
who would like to consider flexible retirement. Any staff aged 55 and over can
apply for flexible retirement using these guidelines. Please note however that for
a flexible retirement application to be considered where the request is for a
reduction of at least 30% in hours and/or at least one grade. Applications for
flexible retirement should be made in accordance with the flexible retirement
policy found in the Conditions of Service.
In order to have a uniform approach across the organisation and to comply with
legal requirements, we have drafted two forms which must be used by
employees making the request for Flexible Working and by managers when
replying:
 Form A: Flexible Working Application Form
 Form B: Flexible Working Application Reply Form
Please note that all other decisions, such as extending the time limits for any part
of the process or to withdraw the request must be made in writing.
These notes are intended as guidelines only and you should consult the
Personnel & Development department for further details or advice if you either
wish to make a request, or are replying to an employee’s request.

Page 228

Who can apply?

What kind of
applied for?

changes

can

be

All employees over the age of 55 can Eligible employees will be able to
request a flexible retirement.
request:
According to the legislation regarding 
flexible working, an employee must:

 have worked at ABC continuously
for at least 26 weeks at the date the
application is made


a change to the hours they work
a change to the times they are
required to work
to work from home

 not be an agency worker

(This covers working patterns such as
annualised hours, compressed hours,
 not have made another application flexitime, home-working, job-sharing,
to work flexibly under the right self-rostering, shift-working, staggered
during the past 12 months
hours and term-time working)

The procedure
Making the
application

The employee must make a considered application in writing
to their manager (Form A). Under the right, you can only
make 1 application a year and acceptance of an application
will mean a permanent change to your terms and conditions
of employment (unless otherwise agreed between the
employee and their manager).

Considering the
request

Within 28 days of receiving the request, the manager must
arrange to meet with the employee to discuss their
application. If the proposed work pattern cannot be
accommodated, the manager must ensure that alternative
working patterns are explored with the employee. The
employee can bring a colleague to this meeting if they wish.
There is a template to help structure the discussion for this
meeting.
With regards to flexible retirement, you should note that
acceptance can only be made with full management team
approval. If Ashford Borough Council would incur a cost by
accepting the flexible retirement application then approval of
the application can only be given by Full Council.

Page 229

If you do not have a pensions estimate when making your
application to retire flexibly, please note the Council will have
to contact KCC to do so as this may inform both your and
the Council’s decision as to whether to accept the flexible
retirement application. Please contact Diz Grant for details of
how to obtain an estimate from KCC.
Within 14 days after the date of the meeting (please note it
is likely to take longer than 14 days in cases of flexible
retirement, see ‘Considering the request’ above) the
manager must write to the employee (Form B) to either :
Accepting the
request

-

agree to a new work pattern and a start date
OR

Refusing the
request

-

refuse the request. This must provide clear business
grounds as to why the application cannot be
accepted and the reason why the grounds apply in
the circumstances.

The only valid grounds for refusing a request are:
-

The burden of additional costs
Detrimental effect on the ability to meet customer
demand
Inability to re-organise work among existing staff
Inability to recruit additional staff
Detrimental impact on quality
Detrimental impact on performance
Insufficiency of work during the periods the employee
proposes to work
Planned structural changes

If the employee accepts the decision to either agree or
refuse their request, please return all forms to Personnel &
Development so that this info can be kept on their personal
file and that any changes to their Terms & Conditions can be
made where necessary.
The appeal

Employees have a right to appeal against the decision.
This must be done in writing within 14 days of receiving their
manager’s decision and by following the Council’s internal
grievance procedure.
Please speak to Personnel &

Page 230

Development for further information and advice on how to
proceed with the appeal.
Time limits

All time periods can be extended by mutual agreement
between the employee and the manager. This must be
done in writing to prevent a dispute arising as to whether or
not the employer has complied with the time limit
requirements set out under the new right.
The time limit is automatically extended if the manager who
would ordinarily consider the application is absent - the 28
day period begins on their first day back at work.
Bear in mind that for flexible retirement applications the time
limits are more than likely to be extended considering the
levels of approval that need to be obtained. At all stages,
however, regular information should be communicated to
update on the progress of the application.

Right to be
accompanied

The employee has the right to be accompanied at all
meetings by a fellow employee, or a trade union
representative if they are a member.

Withdrawing an
application

If the employee decides to withdraw their application this
must also be done in writing.

Once the procedure has been completed, all forms/correspondence must
be returned to Personnel & Development so that these can be added to the
employee’s personal file and any necessary changes can be made to their
Terms and Conditions of Employment.

Page 231

H2

Homeworking


















Objectives
Definitions
Arrangements
Hours of work
Travelling arrangements
Health and safety
Resources
Insurance and tax
Security and confidentiality
Performance management
Guidance for line managers
Conditions of service
Employee responsibilities
Reverting to the work base
Appendix A - Homeworking application
Appendix B - Homeworking agreement
Appendix C – Assessment criteria

1.

Ashford Borough Council realises that the world of work is changing. In order
to move forward in today’s modern world it is important to endeavour to link
individual’s needs with the Service needs.

2.

Work life balance is about organisations identifying with their employees how
both can benefit from a more imaginative approach to working practices. Many
organisations already acknowledge the benefits for themselves:




3.

In light of this, Ashford Borough Council is committed to exploring flexible
working and work life balance practices within the workforce both for existing
employees and new recruits.

Back to top

1

improved recruitment, retention and motivation of employees;
reduced stress, sickness and absenteeism;
increased productivity, service delivery and profits.

Back to contents

Objectives

Page 232

1.1

Ashford Borough Council welcomes diversity and wishes to ensure that our
workforce reflects individual needs.

1.2

A flexible approach to working arrangements promotes the recruitment and
retention of employees at all levels, thus enabling individuals to adjust their
working pattern in order to respond to changes in their personal lives.

1.3

This policy and accompanying guidelines have been developed to support
Managers and employees proposing to work at home.

1.4

Working at home or from home as part of a flexible working package can:





Back to top

Reduce unnecessary travel;
Result in more efficient working;
Help employees to balance their work and personal lives more effectively;
Enable employees with disabilities to enter or remain in employment where
this would otherwise be difficult.
Back to contents

2

Definitions

2.1

Homeworking consists of working at home rather than on the employer's
premises and may involve using systems to accomplish tasks and remain in
contact with the manager/supervisor. It could mean working a set number of
hours or days a week, a fortnight or in a month on a formally agreed basis. The
workplace will continue to be the office address. Throughout this policy the
phrase “working at home” refers to this definition.

2.2

Remote working means the taking of services to the customer rather than the
customer having to visit the Council offices to access services. Working from
home involves an employee who spends a high proportion of their working time
away from their work base. Working from home means they start their journeys
from home rather than having to call into the office first. This policy applies to
homeworking only. This policy should be read in conjunction with the Council’s
Code of Practice for Lone Workers.

2.3

Informal homeworking arrangements such as working the occasional hours,
day(s) or week(s) at home such as to meet particular deadlines or to assist in
easing an employee back to work after a period of sickness absence (under the
advice of Occupational Health) may be approved by a Head of Service.

2.4

The arrangements for remote working and informal homeworking will not be
subject to this policy although this will be reviewed.

2.5

Normal work base is the location of the main department (e.g. Civic Centre).

Back to top

3

Back to contents

Arrangements

Page 233

3.1

Homeworking is not covered by any specific legal provision. However parents
with children under 16 or disabled children under 18 and employees with
responsibilities as carers of relatives have the right to request a flexible working
pattern (including homeworking) and this places a duty on employers to
consider their requests in accordance with the prescribed procedure and to
reject a request only on clear business grounds.

3.2

All employees should have the opportunity to be considered for remote and/or
homeworking. However only those whose posts have duties where
homeworking is deemed feasible and who are deemed suitable for this type of
working, by reference to the stated criteria, at appendix C will be eligible to work
remotely or at home.

3.3

When considering a request for homeworking, line managers will need to take
into account the total number of employees from their department who may
work from home at any one time and the costs of furniture and equipment.

3.4

All working at home should be entered into on a voluntary basis between an
employee and their Line Manager. No employee can work at/from home
without the agreement of the Line Manager.

3.5

It is for the manager to decide whether the post and person is suitable for
homeworking and the number of posts in the department which may be worked
from home at any one time.

3.6

All requests/agreements for working at home must be in writing using the
Home-based Working application form, attached as Appendix A.

3.7

Line Managers and employees will agree how work will be monitored and
normally set a period of time after which any arrangements will be reviewed.
After the review, either party can end home-based working arrangements.

Back to top

Back to contents

7

Hours of work

7.1

It is for the manager and employee to agree the pattern of hours of work. Both
parties need to be flexible and take account of the need for the employee to be
contactable and the needs of the department balanced with the domestic
arrangements of the employee. Core time does not need to match core time at
the Civic Centre and flexible hours may be in the evening or weekends.
Consideration could be given to periods of time when the employee is not at
work but contactable. (E.g. when attending a child’s school function, hospital
visit).

7.2

There is always a risk that employees will work longer (or shorter) hours at
home. Each individual will be expected to keep a record of the hours they are
working, so that they and their Line Manager can be sure that they are putting
in a reasonable and safe working week. Employees should also ensure that
they take their daily rest breaks.

Page 234

7.3

The emphasis should be on output of work and meeting of targets rather than
rigid adherence to set times of work.

Back to top

Back to contents

8

Travelling arrangements

8.1

If an employee is working at home, the cost of journeys made to the normal
working base will not normally be reimbursed.

8.2

For other journeys where the starting or finishing point is the employee’s home,
the normal arrangements apply. This means that, in most cases, when an
employee travels straight from home to a location that is not his/her normal
working base, the Council will reimburse the cost of either:



8.3

the journey from the normal work base to the first visit; or
the journey from home to the first visit, whichever is the shorter.

The same principle applies when an employee’s last visit is not his/her normal
work base.

Back to top

Back to contents

9 Health & Safety
9.1

The Council has various duties under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974
and must, so far as reasonably practicable, ensure the health, safety and
welfare of its employees wherever they work. The employee also has a legal
duty to look after their own health and safety, and is expected to co-operate
with their Line Manager in ensuring a safe and healthy working space at home
and for their personal safety when ‘lone working’. Both employees and line
managers should refer to the “Working Alone in Safety” guidance and the “Code
of Practice for Lone Workers” documents that are available on the Intranet.

9.2

Many of the Regulations made under the Act apply, including for example, the
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999, Display Screen
Equipment Regulations 1992, and the Provision and use of Work Equipment
Regulations 1992.

9.3

The Line Manager must contact the Health and Safety Officer who will make
arrangements for a risk assessment to be undertaken at the employee’s home.
The employee (if a Unison member) has the right to invite a UNISON accredited
safety representative to accompany the person undertaking the risk
assessment when inspecting their home. The risk assessment is a five stage
process:




Identify any hazards (i.e. something which may cause harm);
Decide who might be harmed and how;
Assess the risks and take appropriate action to reduce or remove them as
far as possible;

Page 235




Record the findings;
Reassess the risks on a regular basis and take any further steps if
necessary.

9.4

The Council is only responsible for any electrical equipment it supplies.
Electrical sockets and other parts of the employee’s domestic electrical system
are the employee’s own responsibility.

9.5

If the employee is working at home and has been classified as a Display Screen
“user”, then the employer has a duty to ensure that any such equipment is safe
and does not affect the employee’s health. The workstation must be adjusted
to a comfortable position, and located so that lighting will not cause reflections
or glare on the screen. Employees must be able to view the screen at a
comfortable position, and should spectacles be required for VDU work, the
“user” may request an eye examination from the Health & Safety Officer. It is
important that “users” take breaks from work to reduce the likelihood of
tiredness and change position regularly to reduce strain on the hands, wrists,
arms, shoulders, neck and back. Where employees working at home are issued
with a laptop as their main computer, they should be provided with a docking
station.

9.6

Depending on the nature of the work undertaken at home, the employer has a
duty to provide suitable and adequate first aid provisions.

9.7

Employees are required to report to their manager, any accidents, injuries,
diseases or dangerous occurrences whilst working, to the Health and Safety
Officer. A record must be kept of these incidents on an accident form and
investigations may need to be made to ensure such incidents do not recur.

9.8

Employees should be aware that an HSE Inspector has the right to visit
employees working at or from home to ensure that risks from work and working
from home are properly managed.

9.9

Further health and safety advice can be obtained from the Health and Safety
Officer.

Back to top

Back to contents

10 Resources
10.1 Line Managers must decide what resources should be made available, taking
into consideration budget restrictions, the needs of the individual and the needs
of the Service.
10.2 Where the Council provides any equipment, it will remain the property of the
Council and the employee will return the equipment to the Council when they
are no longer working at or from home or when the employee ceases to be
employed by the Council.

Page 236

10.3 The Council will not normally make any payment to the employee in respect of
heating, lighting, rent etc. as any agreement to work from home is on the basis
that the employee is making savings in the time and cost of travel to work which
will balance the additional costs of working at home.
Back to top

Back to contents

11 Insurance and tax
11.1 Employer’s Liability Insurance covers Ashford Borough Council for all sums
which it becomes legally liable to pay as damages in respect of injury to an
employee arising out of and in the course of their employment with Ashford
Borough Council.
11.2 Public Liability Insurance provides cover for all sums that Ashford Borough
Council becomes legally liable to pay as damages in respect of or in the
consequence of, accidental injury, or accidental damage to third parties or their
property.
11.3 There will be no change to domestic Council Tax.
11.4 Compensation is not automatically paid following an incident. To make a
successful claim against Ashford Borough Council it will be necessary to show
negligence or some other basis for legal liability.
11.5 Employees should notify their contents and building insurance companies that
they will be working at or from home. Their premiums should be unaffected.
11.6 It is also advised that employees notify their Mortgage Company (or landlord if
renting). Employees should also consider any potential tax implications of using
their home for business purposes
Back to top

Back to contents

12 Security and confidentiality
1.1

All employees working at or from home must keep any Ashford Borough
Council information (whether in paper or electronic documents) confidential and
secure. Security arrangements (for example, password protection) should be
adopted and clarified in the homeworking agreement (refer to Appendix B) to
ensure:







Security and confidentiality of Council equipment and information;
No access of family and friends to work documents and Council equipment;
Provision of secure lockable containers;
Protection of home computers used for work and their links;
Appropriate use of other communication links used for work;
Disposal of confidential waste.

Page 237

1.2

Employees are responsible for ensuring any necessary confidentiality. They
must ensure that all information stored and accessed is secure and cannot be
accessed by unauthorised parties, including family members. Failure to do so
will be considered as a disciplinary offence.

1.3

Line Managers are responsible for ensuring that employees working at or from
home maintain the correct level of security and confidentiality.

1.4

The right of an employee not to disclose his/her home address, telephone
number and home e-mail address except to immediate colleagues must be
respected.

Back to top

Back to contents

13 Performance management
13.1 The basic principles of performance management will apply when managing
employees who are working at or from home.
13.2 Employees working at or from home must clearly record their hours worked on
the My Portal system.
13.3 Line Managers should remember that new patterns of work must have been
agreed. Employees should not work overtime without the prior approval of their
manager.
13.4 Employees must remain in contact with their line manager or as directed, either
through e-mail or by telephone at regular intervals. This is particularly pertinent
if for example, employees were to start making appointments to visit customers
during the evenings. (See the Code of Practice for Lone Workers in the Health
and Safety policy which is available on the intranet.)
13.5 Ultimately, working at home equals a shift in the Council’s culture and
employees and managers will need to agree how work outputs are measured
rather than relying on an employee being present to indicate that work is being
completed.
Back to top

14

Back to contents

Guidance for line managers

14.1 In considering which jobs or aspects of a job are appropriate for working at
home, Line Managers should take into account the following:





That there will be no detrimental effect on the level and quality of service;
Whether any additional costs will be incurred and whether they will be cost
effective?
That there are clear objectives and measurable outputs (e.g. production of
reports, etc.);
That the nature of the work undertaken is such that face-to-face contact or
direct supervision is not necessary. Working from home should be carried

Page 238





out at times when the employee does not need to be accessible in person
or be available for meetings at short notice.
Where appropriate, arrangements must be made for the supervision of
other employees when the employee is working from home;
There should be no increase in workload for office-based colleagues as a
result of an employee working from home;
Arrangements must be in place to protect confidential information.

14.2 This is only a summary of the criteria to be assessed. Further details are
attached at Appendix C.
14.3 The following issues should be agreed in writing and used as part of the
induction for employees entering into the homeworking scheme:








Clear duties and objectives;
Procedure for assessing/monitoring performance and output;
Contracted hours and how to record hours worked;
Communication and reporting procedures;
Arrangements for regular face to face meetings;
Future training and development to be agreed through personal
development plans;
Ordering, delivery and installation of necessary equipment.

14.4 Arrangements must be in place for effective communication with the workplace
to be maintained. For example:









Circumstances vary but it is recommended that employees working at
home spend at least one day a week/fortnight at the work base to develop
and maintain relationships with the team and the organisation;
Homeworkers will have a meeting with their line manager at least once a
month;
New employees may initially need to spend more time at the work base to
facilitate their induction and this should be discussed with the employee
when the offer of employment is made;
It is very important to consider the impact of homeworking upon other
employees as a result of colleagues being based away from the office
environment. Their views will also be considered as part of the review;
Active attention will need to be given to team building as homeworkers risk
feeling excluded and invisible. They must be involved in communications,
for example review meetings and team meetings;
Trade Unions and staff representatives should have the same opportunities
to communicate with homeworkers as they have with other employees,
including time off to visit them at home if the homeworker agrees and it is
necessary;
Times when the individual can be contacted at home about work need to
be clear. It may be possible for these to be different from the current hours
of availability in the employer's workplace. It is important, however, that
there are clear times when the employee will not normally be contacted.
Home visits will be arranged at hours acceptable to both employer and
employee;

Page 239



Back to top

15

There may be a need for the provision of appropriate main work base
facilities, such as “hot-desking” areas.
Access to the Intranet will be provided where the employee uses a
computer at home for work purposes.
Back to contents

Conditions of service

15.1 It is important that employees do not feel pressurised into working at home.
Consideration must be given to employees who either cannot work at home or
prefer not to. Therefore homeworking agreements will be entered into on a
voluntary basis between an employee and their manager, and can be agreed
for full-time, job share or part-time employees.
15.2 Where it is agreed that an employee may take part in homeworking, his or her
revised terms and conditions will be based on the following principles:





No reduction in grade;
No loss of status;
No loss of career prospects;
No loss of training opportunities.

15.3

Journeys made to the employee's administrative base e.g. to attend meetings,
courses etc. cannot be claimed as travelling expenses. For business journeys
e.g. attending meetings, courses, where the starting and finishing point is the
employee's home, the principles of the travelling expenses and subsistence
allowance will apply (other than where travelling to the administrative base).

15.4

Homeworkers cannot claim reimbursement for any expenses arising as a result
of working at home such as for heating and lighting costs incurred, other than
work-related telephone charges. (The increased costs may be considered as
off-set by the reduction in the costs of travelling to and from the Council offices.)

15.5

On termination of the homeworking arrangement (or if requested) any
equipment provided by the Council must be returned in a satisfactory condition
otherwise the homeworker may be required to reimburse the Council. Normal
everyday use will be taken into account and the employee will not be charged
for damage caused by general wear and tear.

Back to top

16

Back to contents

Employee responsibilities

16.1 It is the responsibility of each employee to take reasonable care to ensure the
safety, and security of Council equipment and to maintain the working
environment to the agreed health and safety standards. They must report any
problems or defects to their line manager immediately. IT related issues must
also be reported to the ICT Service Desk immediately. Repairs/inspections will
be arranged for the employee normally through their line manager. Where

Page 240

necessary the homeworker must ensure that ICT can gain access to their home
during office hours i.e. within core time.
16.2 Any equipment, furniture, etc supplied by the Council should be used for the
Council's work only. This is particularly important with respect to computer
equipment due to the risk of introducing computer viruses.
16.3 Employees who work at home will be covered by all Council policies especially
the ICT Security and Email and Internet Acceptable Use Policies. If the
homeworker is subject to flexible working hours this will continue to apply, if
agreed, and he/she must be available at home during core hours. This is to
ensure managers and colleagues know when they can contact the homeworker
during the day. They should continue to keep a record of the hours worked on
My Portal as per work based employees. The manager will monitor the hours
worked on a monthly basis or more often if required.
16.4 Employees working at home must keep Ashford Borough Council information
(whether in paper or electronic documents) confidential and secure.
16.5 Employees are reminded of the provisions of Paragraph 6 of the code of
Conduct and employees must consult their manager before committing
themselves to any additional employment and to inform the Head of Personnel
and Development in writing. If homeworkers are appointed to additional jobs
with another employer they should notify their line manager who should reevaluate any safety issues, hours of availability and assess any conflict of
interest.
16.6 As there is a need to balance work and home life, employees should inform
their friends and family about their homeworking arrangements to ensure that
there will be minimal interruptions.
16.7 All equipment, furniture, documents, software, etc must be returned by the
homeworker if they cease employment or homeworking or if required to do so
by Ashford Borough Council.
16.8 Homeworkers must:




Book annual leave in accordance with normal Council procedures;
Report in sick in accordance with normal reporting procedures otherwise
the leave may be treated as unauthorised absence;
Report any accidents, injuries, diseases or dangerous occurrences arising
from and/or relating to the performance of their work that occur whilst
working at home to their manager and complete the normal reporting
procedures.

16.9 It is the employee’s responsibility to consider any planning permissions and
restrictions on leases/tenancies etc which might prohibit homeworking.
Back to top

17

Back to contents

Reverting to the work base

Page 241

17.1 It is important that a homeworking agreement is not seen as irreversible (on
both sides), for example due to lack of office space. Feedback may indicate it
has an adverse effect on their work or on the team such that it is better to
increase the amount of time they spend at the work base or end the
homeworking arrangement. It is quite common for employees to enjoy working
at home at the beginning, but subsequently find they are feeling isolated and/or
out of touch and want to return to the work base. A change in personal
circumstances may also make homeworking difficult. One calendar month
written notice of the termination will normally be required on both sides.
Policy Agreed: JCC August 2007

Reviewed January 2014

Page 242

Homeworking - APPENDIX A
APPLICATION TO HOMEWORK –
To be completed by employee

Homeworking - APPENDIX B
HOMEWORKING OPERATIONAL AGREEMENT –
Between the homeworker and line manager
Back to top

Back to contents

Page 243

Homeworking - APPENDIX C
ASSESSMENT CRITERIA FOR HOMEWORKING APPLICATIONS
1.

What posts/tasks are suitable for homeworking?

It would not be possible to provide a definitive list of occupations suitable for
homeworking, however research indicates certain job characteristics which lend
themselves to home based working. It is important that a trial period with agreed
timescales and work outcomes is negotiated prior to the homeworking application
being approved. These characteristics are:
(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)

A high degree of written rather than manual work;
Work performed on an individual basis or with clearly defined areas of individual
work i.e. project work, research and report writing, policy analysis, case work,
administrative tasks;
Work which has clearly defined objectives and is not subject to sudden changes
of priorities;
Work that has performance measurement indicators;
Work which does not require frequent input from other employees and centrally
provided facilities, e.g. central paper based filing systems;
Work which does not require access to the office prior to visiting sites.

The introduction of home based working must not cause an adverse effect on the level
and quality of service, or on the employees involved, or those who could be affected
by colleagues being designated as homeworkers.
2.

Identifying employees for which homeworking would be suitable

The success of homeworking depends on the homeworker holding the right personal
qualities and skills and with appropriate monitoring and support systems being in
place.
The following are some of the characteristics that would be considered in approving
an employee's application to take part in the homeworking scheme:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

Commitment to homeworking;
Self motivation;
Self reliance and discipline to work without direct supervision;
Ability to complete work to scheduled deadlines;
Initiative, flexibility and time management skills;
Ability to cope with reduced social contact and isolation;
Ability to balance work and domestic demands and not easily distracted;
Not a workaholic;
Competent in the use of IT equipment associated with the job.

(The above characteristics should be measurable and the individual application form
completed to establish evidence. This can be used to monitor and review the
continued viability of homeworking.

Page 244

3.

Choosing suitable location at home

Consideration has to be given to the suitability of the proposed location. The work site
has to be adequate for practical working and in terms of health and safety legislation
and permission must also be obtained from the landlord or mortgage provider if
necessary. Ideally the employee should have a separate room or area set aside for
homeworking which will be sufficient in terms of accommodating all the necessary
furniture and equipment. Where a room is used purely for work purposes, there may
be implications for capital gains tax on the sale of the property. Employees should
contact HM Revenue and Customs on the possible tax implications.
Back to top

Back to contents

Page 245

F3

Flexible retirement
1.

Flexible retirement will only be agreed to where it is in the interests of the Council
to do so.

2.

Management Team will consider requests on business grounds in accordance
with the needs of the service based on the business case put forward. If there
is a cost implication flexible retirement will only be with the approval of full
Council.

3.

Any actuarial reduction applied to the pension will not be waived, in whole or in
part other than in exceptional circumstances and only with the approval of full
Council.

4.

Requests for flexible retirement will only be considered where the request is for
a reduction of at least 30% in hours and/or at least one grade.

5.

Requests for flexible retirement will be considered from any employee wishing
to reduce their hours/grade where the reduction relates to the employees’
current position or upon a transfer to any other position within the Council.

6.

Any employee granted flexible retirement will not be entitled to any salary
protection if this would otherwise normally apply.

Back to contents

Reviewed January 2014

Page 246

Equality Impact Assessment

3. These are known as the three aims of the
general equality duty.

1. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a
document that summarises how the council
has had due regard to the public sector
equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in its
decision-making. Although there is no
legal duty to produce an EIA, the Council
must have due regard to the equality duty
and an EIA is recognised as the best
method of fulfilling that duty. It can assist
the Council in making a judgment as to
whether a policy or other decision will have
unintended negative consequences for
certain people and help maximise the
positive impacts of policy change. An EIA
can lead to one of four consequences:

Protected characteristics

(a) No major change – the policy or other
decision is robust with no potential for
discrimination or adverse impact.
Opportunities to promote equality have
been taken;
(b) Adjust the policy or decision to remove
barriers or better promote equality as
identified in the EIA;

4. The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine
protected characteristics for the purpose of
the equality duty:


Age



Disability



Gender reassignment



Marriage and civil partnership*



Pregnancy and maternity



Race



Religion or belief



Sex



Sexual orientation

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the
first aim of the duty applies in relation to
employment.
Due regard

(c) Continue the policy – if the EIA
identifies potential for adverse impact,
set out compelling justification for
continuing;

5. Having ‘due regard’ is about using good
equality information and analysis at the
right time as part of decision-making
procedures.

(d) Stop and remove the policy where
actual
or
potential
unlawful
discrimination is identified.

6. To ‘have due regard’ means that in making
decisions and in its other day-to-day
activities the council must consciously
consider the need to do the things set out
in the general equality duty: eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity and foster good relations. This
can involve:

Public sector equality duty
2. The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the
council, when exercising public functions,
to have due regard to the need to:
(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment
and victimisation;



(b) Advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it;

removing or minimising disadvantages
suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.



taking steps to meet the needs of
people
with
certain
protected
characteristics when these are different
from the needs of other people.



encouraging people with certain
protected characteristics to participate
in public life or in other activities where
it is disproportionately low.

(c) Foster good relations between persons
who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not
share it (ie tackling prejudice and
promoting understanding between
people from different groups).

7. How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on
circumstances The greater the

the
Page 247

potential impact, the higher the regard
required by the duty. Examples of functions
and decisions likely to engage the duty
include: policy decisions, budget decisions,
public appointments, service provision,
statutory
discretion,
decisions
on
individuals,
employing
staff
and
procurement of goods and services.

policy, for example, is being developed and
agreed but also when it is implemented.


It is good practice for those exercising
public functions to keep an accurate record
showing that they have actually considered
the general duty and pondered relevant
questions.
Proper
record
keeping
encourages
transparency
and
will
discipline those carrying out the relevant
function
to
undertake
the
duty
conscientiously.



A public authority will need to consider
whether it has sufficient information to
assess the effects of the policy, or the way
a function is being carried out, on the aims
set out in the general equality duty.



A public authority cannot avoid complying
with the duty by claiming that it does not
have enough resources to do so.

8. In terms of timing:






Having ‘due regard’ should be
considered at the inception of any
decision or proposed policy or service
development or change.
Due regard should be considered
throughout development of a decision.
Notes shall be taken and kept on file as
to how due regard has been had to the
equality duty in research, meetings,
project teams, consultations etc.
The completion of the EIA is a way of
effectively summarising this and it
should inform final decision-making.

Case law principles
9. A number of principles have been
established by the courts in relation to the
equality duty and due regard:


Decision-makers in public authorities
must be aware of their duty to have ‘due
regard’ to the equality duty and so EIA’s
must be attached to any relevant
committee reports.



Due regard is fulfilled before and at the
time a particular policy is under
consideration as well as at the time a
decision is taken. Due regard involves
a conscious approach and state of
mind.



A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by
justifying a decision after it has been taken.



The duty must be exercised in substance,
with rigour and with an open mind in such
a way that it influences the final decision.



The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty
will always remain the responsibility of the
public authority.



The duty is a continuing one so that it
needs to be considered not only when a

Page 248

The Equality and Human Rights
Commission has produced helpful
guidance on “Meeting the Equality
Duty in Policy and Decision-Making”
(October 2014). It is available on the
following link and report authors should
read and follow this when developing
or reporting on proposals for policy or
service development or change and
other decisions likely to engage the
equality duty. Equality Duty in decisionmaking

Lead officer:

Joy Cross – HR Manager

Decision maker:

Cabinet

Decision:
 Policy, project, service,
contract
 Review, change, new, stop

Revised personnel policy documents which form part of the
conditions of service.

Date of decision:
The date when the final decision
is made. The EIA must be
complete before this point and
inform the final decision.

September 2020

Summary of the proposed
decision:
 Aims and objectives
 Key actions
 Expected outcomes
 Who will be affected and
how?
 How many people will be
affected?

The three proposed new policy documents are;
 Flexible Working Policy,
 Remote Working Policy,
 Flexible Retirement Policy
 Virtual Meeting Addendum.

Information and research:
 Outline the information and
research that has informed
the decision.
 Include sources and key
findings.

caselaw research, best practice guidance, consultation
managers and unison and staff side.

Consultation:
 What specific consultation
has occurred on this
decision?
 What were the results of the
consultation?
 Did the consultation analysis
reveal any difference in views
across the protected
characteristics?
 What conclusions can be
drawn from the analysis on
how the decision will affect
people with different
protected characteristics?

The above policies replace the following policy documents in
the current Conditions of Service
 Flexible working guidelines (available on the intranet)
 H2 Homeworking
 F3 Flexible Retirement

Consultation was undertaken as detailed above which
resulted in two drafts of the proposed policies being
produced and discussed.
The policy documents comply with UK employment law

Page 249

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics
and assess the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics.
When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the
protected characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young
people but low relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral
impact on men.

Protected characteristic

AGE

Relevance to Decision
High/Medium/Low/None

Impact of Decision
Positive (Major/Minor)
Negative (Major/Minor)
Neutral

None

Neutral

Middle age

None

Neutral

Young adult

None

Neutral

Children

None

Neutral

DISABILITY

None

Neutral

Mental

None

Neutral

Sensory

None

Neutral

GENDER REASSIGNMENT

None

Neutral

MARRIAGE/CIVIL
PARTNERSHIP

None

Neutral

PREGNANCY/MATERNITY None

Neutral

RACE

None

Neutral

RELIGION OR BELIEF

None

Neutral

SEX

None

Neutral

Women

None

Neutral

SEXUAL ORIENTATION

None

Neutral

Elderly

Physical

Men

Mitigating negative impact:
Where any negative impact
has been identified, outline
the measures taken to
mitigate against it.

n/a

Page 250

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty?
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s Essential Guide, alongside fuller PSED
Technical Guidance.
Aim

Yes / No / N/A

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation

n/a

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

n/a

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

n/a

Conclusion:


Consider how due regard
has been had to the
equality duty, from start to
finish.

Due regard has been paid to equality through the drafting of
documentation by qualified HR professionals trained in equality
issues and review of relevant employment case law.



There should be no
unlawful discrimination
arising from the decision
(see guidance above ).

Via consultation with affected employees.



Advise on whether the
proposal meets the aims of
the equality duty or
whether adjustments have
been made or need to be
made or whether any
residual impacts are
justified.



How will monitoring of the
policy, procedure or
decision and its
implementation be
undertaken and reported?

EIA completion date:

The council’s revised policy register will assist services to meet
this
27.08.20

Page 251

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
Agenda Item No:
Report To:

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:

26th November 2020

Report Title:

Personnel Policies
(Sickness Policy Review, New Attendance Support and
Management Policy, and New Probation Policy)

Report Author &
Job Title:

Joy Cross – HR Manager

Portfolio Holder
Cllr. Pickering – Portfolio Holder for Human Resources and
Portfolio Holder for: Customer Services

Summary:

Cabinet are asked to review and approve three new
personnel policies. Two policies are being introduced and
one policy materially alters the existing policy.
The proposed new policy documents are;
 Probation Policy
 Sickness Policy
 Attendance Management & Support Policy
The above policies replace the following policy documents in
the current Conditions of Service
 S6 Sickness Policy

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

None specifically

Recommendations:
Policy Overview:



Financial
Implications:

None

Legal Implications

The policy documents form part of the contract of
employment (contained with the Conditions Of Service) and
as such the Conditions of Service is referred to, together with
notable employment legislation and codes of practice
 ACAS Code of Practice
 Employment Rights Act 1996
 Employment Relations Act 1999
See Attached

Equalities Impact
Assessment

S6 Sickness Policy

Page 253

Other Material
Implications:

None

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Background
Papers:

N/A

Contact:

Joy Cross – HR Manager
Joy.cross@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330 400

Page 254

Agenda Item No.

Report Title: Personnel Policies
(Sickness Policy Review, New Attendance Support and
Management Policy, and Probation Policy)
Introduction and Background
1. This policy review has been undertaken as part of the council’s recovery plan to
promote consistency, transparency and ensure our policies are fit for purpose
during the current climate and beyond. We aim to have policies that are
productive, flexible, practical and effective for all employees to create a positive
organisational culture.
2. The purpose of the policy review is :


To streamline the existing process and provide clear guidance that is effective
and enforceable



To reflect and comply with existing/ new legislation and case law.



To support the organisation’s recovery plan.



To follow the latest developments in effective people management.



To deal with the change in our way of working as a result of the pandemic.



To attract potential candidates and retain employees by keeping up with current
market trends.

3. A meaningful consultation process has been followed as detailed below.
4. The proposed new policy documents are provided to Cabinet for consideration as
featured in Appendices 1-4






Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3
Appendix 4
Appendix 5

Sickness Policy
Attendance Management & Support Policy
Attendance Management & Support Flow Chart
Probation Policy
Probation Policy Flow Chart

5. The original policy documents are provided to the Cabinet at Appendices 5


Appendix 6

S6 Sickness Policy

6. It is not proposed to amend the policy documents that are applicable to the group
of employees at ASPIRE who transferred to Ashford Borough Council from
Commercial Services Ltd in October 2016. Amendments to contractual terms
associated with a TUPE transfer are likely to be unlawful under the Transfer of
Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Page 255

Summary of Changes – Sickness Policy
General
7. The policy document has been amended significantly and so a like for like
comparison is not possible; the following summary of changes is provided.
8. The current policy combines the process to follow when an employee is off sick
with the process to follow in cases of recurring absence and long term absence.
The revised and new policy documents separate out these two areas in order to
more clearly articulate
a. the support that is provided to employees who are sick
b. the consistent approach to be taken when managing and supporting
attendance.
9. Notification of Sickness Absence has been updated to take into account
employees who do not work standard office hours and also to more thoroughly
explain what the process is when an employee contacts their manager to report
sickness absence. In cases of mental ill health, managers are required to
signpost our employee assistance programme.
10. Managers are required to open the absence on ITrent when the employee first
reports their absence. This is to ensure up to date, live absence reporting, rather
than reporting at the end of an absence period or upon receipt of a fit note.
11. Support from HR should be sought where the sickness absence relates to a
protected characteristic such as mental ill health, pregnancy, IVF, menopause,
gender reassignment, substance abuse, an infectious disease or a serious
disease such as cancer.
12. The revised policy features a section on medical suspension which did not
feature in the old policy.
13. The section on During Sickness Absence has been extended to more clearly
outline the responsibilities of both manager and employee during a period of
sickness absence, including for example the requirement to stay in regular
contact.
14. The Return to Work Section has been significantly extended to fully detail what
should take place in an effective Return to Work meeting. Effective Return to
Work meetings are recognised as the most effective way to prevent future
sickness absence. Phased return plans have also been more clearly explained
and limited to three months.
15. Tailored Adjustment Agreements are included in cases of return to work following
long term absence. These have been piloted recently are have been found to be
effective. Within the Tailored Adjustment Agreement emphasis is placed on
support for employees returning to work following mental ill health.
16. Medical Appointments are referenced back to the Flexible Working Hours policy.
17. Sick Pay entitlements are unchanged in principal but more detail is provided for
clearer explanation

Page 256

18. A new section on time off following Elective Surgery is included.
19. The Confidentiality section has been updated with reference to the General Data
Protection Act 2018.
20. Reference is made to Unauthorised Absence and is linked to the Disciplinary
Policy and Procedure.

Summary of Changes – Managing & Supporting Attendance: Policy
& Procedure
21. The new policy enables managers to support employees in improving their
attendance and sets out the steps that should be taken if an employee’s level of
attendance falls below the standard expected by the Council.
22. Throughout the policy, Bradford Factors are closely referred to (and also feature
in the current policy). The Bradford Factor is a professionally recognised method
to apply a relative weighting for sickness absence. The Bradford Factor supports
the principle that repeat absences have a greater operational impact than long
term sickness. The origins of the Bradford Factor are linked to research carried
out by Bradford University School of Management in the 1980s. The formula for
the Bradford Factor is Spells (or incidents) of Absence x Spells (or incidents) of
Absence x Days of Absence
SxSxD=B
An employee who has one spell of absence lasting ten days will have a
Bradford Factor of 10 (1 x 1 x 10 = 10).
An employee who has ten spells of absence lasting one day each (a total of ten
days off) will have a Bradford Factor of 1000 (10 x 10 x 10 = 1000).
23. Attendance Management is split into two sections; Managing Recurring Absence
and Managing Long Term Absence or Chronic Illness.
24. For short term, recurring absence Bradford Factor scores of above 250 will
trigger the formal attendance management process which is similar to a capability
process in that it has an informal and a formal stage.
25. The purpose of the informal stage and the formal stage is to understand the
reasons for the absence and to support the employee in improving their
attendance levels.
26. Employees may be required to attend an Attendance Management Hearing as
part of the formal stage. A possible outcome of the Attendance Management
Hearing is that a sanction could be issued. Sanctions include a First Warning
and Attendance Improvement Plan, Final Warning and Attendance Improvement
Plan and a Dismissal.
27. Ongoing recurring absence will have a cumulative effect and an employee may
ultimately be dismissed for persistent absence.

Page 257

28. The policy features important sections on the Equality Act, Workplace
Adjustments and Referrals to Occupational Health to ensure that the employee is
properly supported and any sanctions are fair and reasonable.
29. Employees with long term and consistent absences will not be referred to an
Attendance Management Hearing initially, nor to a Disciplinary Hearing as is the
case in the current policy. Instead they will attend a series of Absence Review
Meetings which will take a sympathetic and supportive approach. The process for
Absence Review Meetings follows ACAS guidelines but with some sensitive
adjustments.
30. For details on the process for Recurring Short Term absence and Long Term,
Consistent Absence please see the flow chart at Appendix 3.
31. Occupational Health Advice is sought throughout the process and reasonable
adjustments form an important part of the policy document.
32. In situations were an employee is no longer capable to complete the
requirements of the role, with reasonable adjustments, the process refers to an
Attendance Management Hearing where a possible outcome is dismissal on the
grounds of medical capability, redeployment or ill health retirement

Summary of Changes – Probation Policy
33. A six month probationary period will apply to new employees, fixed term contract
opportunities of more than six months but will not apply to existing employees
that are seconded, moved, promoted, assimilated or redeployed to a new post
within the council.
34. If the new policy is accepted, all Ashford Borough council contracts of
employment will include a clause confirming that their offer of employment is
subject to the successful completion a six months probationary period.
35. The policy outlines the line manager’s responsibility in providing sufficient
assistance, reasonable guidance and relevant training during their initial six
months of a new employee’s employment.
36. Probationary review meetings must be arranged by the line manager in the
second, fourth and sixth months’ of service, with the option to schedule additional
review meetings with the employee if required. One to one meetings will take
place in months, one, three and five. The flow chart at Appendix 5 provides a
visual summary of the process.
37. An online platform will be used to document details of the review meetings, one
to ones and the final outcome of the employee’s probation; making the process
easily accessible by both employee and manager and minimising the amount of
administration time required.
38. During the review period, the line manager will assess the new employee’s
overall performance, conduct and attendance.

Page 258

39. Following the final review meeting, the line manager will confirm the successful
completion of the probationary period for employees who have achieved a
satisfactory level of performance. On the other hand, employees whose
performance have not met the required standard will either have their
probationary period extended or in some cases, may have their employment
terminated .These decisions must be made with appropriate guidance and advice
from Human Resources.
40. Probationary period extensions are limited to a maximum of up to 3 months. An
extension may also apply where reasonable adjustments or training are needed
to enable the employee to adequately perform their role, or where there has been
a long period of sickness or absence for either the employee or their line
manager as a result of a temporary redeployment during a local or national crisis.
41. During the probationary period, a contract of employment maybe terminated by
either party by giving a week’s notice. Continuous service with another authority
will be taken into account when calculating notice periods.
42. Employees have the right to appeal against a decision to terminate their
employment. A straightforward appeal process has been provided and forms the
final decision stage of this policy.
43. Line managers will make the required reasonable adjustments, for disabled
employees, in the workplace with appropriate advice from Human Resources and
Occupational Health. Decisions relating to an unsatisfactory level of performance
for a disabled employee will be carefully considered.
44. Employees do not have the right to be accompanied at a probationary review
meeting as these meetings are informal. However an employee may be allowed
to have a trade union representative or a workplace colleague with them at their
final probation review meeting (6 months) or the line manager might require
additional support from their manager. In these instances, a HR representative
must be present at the meeting.
45. An early termination of employment will not be considered during the six months
period unless there is clear evidence that suggests that the employee is wholly
unsuitable to the post.
46. Any suspected or established case of falsified qualification, experience, or a
deliberate attempt of misrepresented abilities may result in the termination of the
employee’s appointment at any point during the probationary period.
47. The Disciplinary Policy & Procedure, Capability Policy Performance Management
Policy & Procedure and Attendance Management & Support Policy will not apply
to employees in their probationary period.

Implications and Risk Assessment
48. The main risks and implications of the course of action proposed are around
introducing a policy document that is unlawful and an overall failure to consult
with employees reading proposed changes to their contractual terms of
employment (as detailed within the afore mentioned conditions of service).

Page 259

49. The HR team have worked to ensure that the policy documents comply with key
legislation in this area and the ACAS Code of Practice.
50. A meaningful consultation process has been followed with regard to this issue
and is detailed below.

Equalities Impact Assessment
51. Members are referred to the attached Assessment.

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
52. As all four policy documents form part of our Conditions of Services, these
policies are contractual (unless stated) and therefore employees must be
consulted regarding any proposed changes. Additionally as the proposed
changes are significant they must be referred to Cabinet and approved.
53. We have consulted with major stakeholders in IT, Health & Safety, Unison and
JCC staff side.
54. Unison were provided with initial policy drafts. Unison fed back regarding the
following areas in the Sickness Policy and the Attendance Management and
Support Policy;
 Section 2.8
 Section 2.15.
 Overall flexibility for line managers
 Specific tone in some sections
 General suitability for supporting mental ill health.
55. Feedback was incorporated into the policy drafts and the revised Sickness Policy
and Attendance Management and Support Policy was presented to JCC on 8th
October 2020; no further feedback was provided to necessitate further
adjustments.
56. Unison fed back regarding probation periods for Fixed Term Contracts within the
Probation Policy and this section of the policy was amended accordingly.
57. The revised Probation Policy was presented to JCC on 12th November 2020 and
any material comments will be tabled at the November Cabinet meeting.

Other Options Considered
58. The current policy documents are recognised by employees, managers and
Unison as requiring an update.

Conclusion
59. The proposed policy documents have been produced following thorough
consultation across the organisation and represent a transparent, fair and
consistent set of procedures, supporting employees and the organisation equally.

Page 260

Portfolio Holder’s Views
60. To be provided.

Contact and Email
61. Joy Cross
01233 330 400
joy.cross@ashford.gov.uk

Page 261

Sickness Policy & Procedure
1

Introduction

1.1

The Council is committed to protecting the health and welfare of employees
and to the management of absence in a sensitive, fair and consistent way.

1.2

An integral part of the policy is the duty of care we have for our employees and
the need to provide appropriate levels of support in cases of physical and
mental ill health.

1.3

The policy will ensure that absence is managed in a fair and consistent manner.
Managers will be enabled to intervene appropriately to provide support and
address the welfare needs of employees who are absent from work, or who are
returning to work after a period of sickness absence.

1.4

This will contribute to the creation and maintenance of a healthy workforce and
the reduction of sickness absence in the Council.

2

Notification of Sickness Absence

2.1

Employees who are unfit for work should contact their manager by telephone
at the earliest opportunity and at least one hour before their start time. Contact
by text, email or social media is not acceptable.

2.2

Service areas that operate out of normal working hours may put in place
different reporting arrangements so that there is sufficient time for a line
manager to arrange cover. This will be communicated to all employees within
the service areas concerned.

2.3

The employee should discuss with their manager the following:



reason for absence
estimated duration of absence (approximate)
whether they will be seeking medical advice

2.4

Where the absence is in relation to mental ill health, the manager will explain
the services of the Council’s Employee Assistance programme provider and
pass the contact information to the employee.

2.5

The manager and the employee will discuss any work commitments that need
attending to, agree the appropriate frequency of telephone contact and make
arrangements for the next contact.

Page 262

2.6

If the employee is not able to reach their own manager by telephone they
should contact an alternative manager and leave a contact number so that their
line manager can phone them back.

2.7

In exceptional circumstances the employee may ask someone to telephone on
their behalf, for example where they are hospitalised and unfit to make a
telephone call.

2.8

If an employee does not phone their manager as required and the manager is
unable to contact them, contact may be made with the employee’s emergency
contact and/or next of kin. Such contact will be sensitive and not disclose any
details regarding the employee other than the fact that they have not made
contact with their manager and to ask after them.

2.9

Failure to promptly notify their manager of sickness absence may constitute an
unauthorised absence and may result in the employee’s loss of sick pay or
action under the Council’s Disciplinary Policy & Procedure.

Absence recording
2.10 The manager is responsible for opening the absence on iTrent on the day when
the employee reports their absence, ensuring that the reason for absence
is accurate.
Part day absence
2.11 If the employee leaves work due to illness before completing 50% of their
working day this will be recorded as a full day absence.
2.12 If the employee leaves work due to illness after completing at least 50% of their
working day this will be recorded as a half day absence.
Health & Safety
2.13 Where the absence is related to an incident in the workplace the manager
should seek the advice of the Health & Safety team in order to ensure that the
Council adheres to accident/incident reporting requirements.
HR support & advice
2.14 Where the manager believes the absence is related to one of the following
reasons, advice should be sought from Human Resources in order to agree the
support which can be provided to the employee and any other action which is
required.





mental ill health
disability
pregnancy
menopause

Page 263







IVF
gender reassignment
suspected alcohol, drugs or substance misuse
an infectious disease
a serious illness e.g. cancer

Medical Suspension
2.15 Where a manager has significant concerns with regard to the ability of an
employee to undertake work without risk to themselves or others, the employee
may be asked to remain off work on medical suspension until Occupational
Health advice has been obtained. Alternative duties or place of work may also
be considered at this point as an alternative to Medical Suspension and in order
to support the employee. Full pay will be maintained during the period of any
Medical Suspension. Where a manager has significant concerns with regard to
the ability of an employee to undertake work without risk to themselves or
others, the employee may be asked to remain off work on medical suspension
until Occupational Health advice has been obtained. Alternative duties or place
of work may also be considered at this point as an alternative to Medical
Suspension and in order to support the employee. Full pay will be maintained
during the period of any Medical Suspension. Medical suspension is a rare and
supportive measure taken to protect the health and safety of employees and
members of the public, and is not a disciplinary action.
3

During Sickness Absence

Keeping in touch
3.1

Staying in regular contact with their manager keeps the employee connected to
work, builds their confidence to return to work and helps the employee to feel
supported and valued. Regular contact also allows the manager to monitor the
employee’s recovery and maintains a focus on the goal of returning to work.

3.2

The employee should maintain regular telephone contact with their manager
during their sickness absence. The frequency will be agreed between the
employee and their manager, ensuring that appropriate consideration is given
to individual circumstances and that contact is supportive rather than
intrusive.

3.3

The purpose of the contact will be to check on the employee’s health, to
ascertain whether there is any support required and to talk about any relevant
updates or changes happening at work.

3.4

The employee should keep their manager updated on the expected duration of
sickness absence and any significant developments in their health or
treatment.

3.5

Failure to maintain regular contact may be considered as unauthorised
absence and could result in the employee’s loss of sick pay.

Page 264

Self certification
3.6

For the first 7 calendar days of absence, regardless of whether they are working
days, the employee should self-certify their absence and complete the SelfCertification form on their return to work as part of their return to work meeting
with their manager.

Statement of Fitness for Work (Fit Note)
3.7

For absences of 8 calendar days or more, the employee should obtain a
Statement of Fitness for Work, also called a Fit Note, from their General
Practitioner (GP) which they should send to their manager.

3.8

Reports from other health providers such as physiotherapists and podiatrists
are not acceptable.

3.9

Where the employee is hospitalised and has been absent from work for more
than 7 calendar days, they should provide documentary evidence from a
medical professional at the hospital, which should be forwarded to
their manager in the usual way.

3.10 The Fit Note allows the GP to document how the employee’s physical or
mental health affects the work they can do.
3.11 The GP will either confirm that the employee is unfit for work, or that they may
be fit for work subject to support from their employer, such as a phased return
to work, altered hours, amended duties or workplace adaptations.
3.12 Where the GP has advised that the employee may be fit for work subject to
support from their employer and the manager believes that this advice cannot
be accommodated, the manager should seek advice from Human Resources.
3.13 The employee should send the initial and any subsequent Fit Note promptly
to their manager in a confidential manner. Scans and photographs sent
electronically are acceptable.
3.14 Employees are responsible for ensuring that there are not any gaps between
Fit Notes and that they arrange follow up appointments with their GP at
appropriate intervals, advising their manager of any delays in booking a GP
appointment.
3.15 Upon receipt of a Fit Note it is the responsibility of the manager to forward the
document to Human Resources in a confidential manner.
3.16 Employees do not need to go back to see their GP at the end of their Fit
Note unless the GP has recommended this on the Fit Note or that the nature of
the illness is such that Human Resources advise that medical opinion is
required.

Page 265

3.17 If an employee advises that they are fit to return to work prior to the expiry
of a Fit Note their manager should obtain advice from Human Resources.
4

Sickness Absence & Annual Leave

4.1

Accrual of annual leave during sickness absence

4.2

Employees continue to accrue annual leave during sickness absence and may
choose between taking paid holiday whilst off sick and saving it to take upon
return to work.

Sickness whilst on annual leave
4.3

Where an employee becomes unwell whilst on annual leave the Council will
consider requests for the appropriate period of annual leave to be converted to
sickness absence and the annual leave re-credited.

4.4

The employee will be required to obtain documentary evidence of their illness
from their GP or an appropriate medical professional. Such situations cannot
be self-certified.

4.5

Where there is a cost associated in obtaining documentary evidence it will be
paid for by the employee who may reclaim via the Council’s expenses system.
A receipt will be required.

Sickness prior to starting a pre-booked holiday
4.6

Where an employee becomes unwell prior to starting a pre-booked holiday they
may reschedule that leave and take it at a later date, which should be no more
than 3 months following return to work.

Requesting annual leave whilst absent long-term
4.7

Employees whose absence is long-term may wish to consider requesting taking
some annual leave during their sickness absence, for example because they
are receiving half pay or nil pay and where utilising annual leave would be of
financial benefit. Any such requests must be requested of their manager in the
usual way.

5

Return to Work

Return to Work Meeting
5.1

Upon return to work the manager should conduct a Return to Work Meeting as
soon as possible, ideally at the beginning of the working day on which
the employee returns to work.

5.2

Return to Work Meetings should be conducted regardless of the nature and
duration of absence, including for part day absences.

Page 266

5.3

The manager should prepare for the Return to Work Meeting by reviewing the
employee’s absence record which they can obtain by running a report
from iTrent.

5.4

The purpose of the Return to Work Meeting is to:














welcome the employee back to work, emphasising the value of the
employee
to the Council
ensure that the employee is fit for work
consider any medical advice e.g. Fit Note or OH report
ascertain whether there are any underlying problems which might have
caused or contributed to the absence
discuss the employee’s sickness absence record during the last 12
months if appropriate
discuss the impact the employee’s absence had on service delivery and
colleagues
agree a Return to Work Plan including any temporary adjustments in
hours or duties
remind the employee of the support available from the Council’s
Employee Assistance Programme provider
consider whether a Display Screen Equipment (DSE) or any other Risk
Assessment is required
consider whether a Personal Emergency Evacuation Plan is required
consider whether a referral to Occupational Health is required
complete the Self Certification Form, if appropriate
collect any outstanding Fit Notes if appropriate
update the employee on workplace developments during their sickness
absence

Temporary adjustment in hours or duties (a Return to Work Plan)
5.5

A return to work on temporarily adjusted hours or duties should be considered
by the manager in order to facilitate the employee’s return to work, even where
this has not been advised by their GP on a Fit Note.

5.6

Any such arrangements should be reviewed at least fortnightly and should be
expected to last a maximum of 3 months.

5.7

Normal salary will be paid for hours worked and the employee should record
any deficit on their time recording portal as sickness absence on a daily basis.

5.8

The manager should send the Self-Certification Form and Return to Work
Meeting form to Human Resources in a confidential manner.

Concerns in relation to the level of sickness absence
5.9

Where there are concerns in relation to the level of sickness absence, guidance
can be found in the Council’s Managing & Supporting Attendance Policy &
Procedure.

Page 267

Tailored Adjustment Agreement
5.10 In cases of a return to work from long-term absence and / or where the
employee is likely to have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010, it
might be beneficial for the employee and their manager to agree a Tailored
Adjustment Agreement. This is a live record of the agreed reasonable
adjustments. Further advice can be obtained from Human Resources.
Absence due to mental ill health
5.11 Where the employee has been absent due to mental ill health, the manager
may wish to consider asking the employee to complete the return to work /
stress questionnaire designed by the Health & Safety Executive (HSE).
5.12 The questionnaire covers the following six key areas of work design that, if not
properly managed, are associated with poor health, lower productivity and
increased incident and sickness absence.







Demands: workload, work patterns and the work environment
Control: how much say the employee has in the way they do their work
Support: including encouragement and resources
Relationships: including positive working to avoid conflict and dealing with
unacceptable behaviour
Role: understanding of their role and whether the employee has conflicting
roles
Change: how organisational change is managed and communicated

5.13 Following completion of the questionnaire, the manager and employee should
agree an action plan which should be reviewed on a regular basis. Further
advice can be obtained from Human Resources.
6

Absence recording

6.1

The manager is responsible for closing the absence on iTrent on the day when
the employee returns to work, ensuring that the reason for absence is
accurate.

6.2

The employee should update their time recording portal for each day of their
sickness.

Medical Appointments
6.3

For details of the policy related to medical and dental appointments please see
the Flexible Working Hours Policy.

Access to Medical Reports
6.4

In certain circumstances the Council may wish to obtain a medical report from
an employee’s GP or other medical professional such as hospital consultant.

Page 268

6.5

Full details can be found in the Managing & Supporting Attendance Policy &
Procedure.

7

Sick Pay

7.1

Sick pay is made up of two elements - Statutory Sick Pay and Additional Sick
Pay.

Statutory Sick Pay (SSP)
7.2

SSP is a minimum weekly payment which employers must pay to qualifying
employees from the fourth day of absence for a maximum period of 28 weeks.
Employees who are not entitled to SSP or who have exhausted
their entitlement may be eligible to Employment & Support Allowance subject
to qualifying criteria which includes earnings.

Additional Sick Pay
7.3

Additional Sick Pay is pay over and above SSP. There is a qualifying period
for Additional Sick Pay which is determined by length of continuous service.

7.4

Eligibility to Additional Sick Pay is based on the employee’s continuous service
on the first day of absence and the total absences due to illness in the twelve
months immediately preceding the first day of absence.

7.5

Eligibility does not increase where an employee’s continuous service increases
during their sickness absence.
Continuous Service
During the first 4 months of service
During the next 8 months of service
During the 2nd year of service
During the 3rd year of service
During the 4th year of service
During the 5th year of service
After 5 years of service

Full Pay
One month
One month
Two months
Four months
Five months
Five months
Six months

Half pay
Two months
Two months
Four months
Five months
Five months
Six months

“One month” shall be deemed to be equivalent to 22 working days for full time
and pro-rated for part time staff.
Full pay: includes the SSP payment
Half pay: in additional to SSP payment (provided the total does not exceed full
pay)
Nil pay: SSP only unless eligibility to SSP has ceased
Further information can be obtained from Payroll on an individual basis.

Page 269

7.6

Eligibility to Additional Sick Pay can be extended on an exceptional and
discretionary basis by the Head of HR & Customer Services.

7.7

Additional Sick Pay may not be paid in cases where sickness absence results
from active participation in sport as a professional nor in a case in which the
absence arises from or is attributable to the employee’s own misconduct or
failure to follow Council policies and procedures.

7.8

Where an employee sustains an injury in the workplace which is not their fault,
any resultant sickness days will not be counted as part of this scheme.

Bank Holidays
7.9

Employees will receive payment for any bank holidays which fall during their
sickness absence. This will be at either Full Pay or Half Pay, in line with their
eligibility to sick pay.

7.10 Where an employee has exhausted their entitlement to Additional Sick Pay,
they will receive SSP only for bank holidays unless they have exhausted their
entitlement to SSP.
7.11 Where a bank holiday falls during a period of sickness absence the employee
will not receive corresponding time off in lieu.
8

Victims of crimes of violence

8.1

Where an employee is absent from work as a result of a physical or mental
injury for which they were the blameless victim of a violent crime, the employee
is, in some circumstances, eligible to submit a claim to the Criminal Injuries
Compensation Authority (CICA).

8.2

Where this is the case, the employee will receive sick pay in the usual way and
they will not be required to refund any proportion of sick pay in relation to the
incident from the monies received in the CICA award.

8.3

Where an award has been made by the CICA, the Council will consider
discounting wholly or in part any periods of sickness absence resulting from the
injury in calculating the employee’s sick pay.

9

Absence following an accident

9.1

In some circumstances where an employee is absent from work following an
accident they may be expecting to receive damages from a third party. The
Council may make a payment to the employee equivalent to their
entitlement to sick pay and the employee will agree to refund this amount to the
Council in full or in part,following receipt of payment for damages.

9.2

Where the employee refunds the amount in full, the corresponding period of
sickness absence will not be recorded as such and will not therefore form part
of any calculation of sick pay.

Page 270

9.3

Where the employee refunds the amount in part only, the Council may at its
discretion decide the way in which the corresponding period of sickness
absence is recorded.

10

Elective Surgery

10.1 Elective surgery is any procedure which is not strictly necessary for medical or
psychological reasons. As such, any absences for surgery / treatment and
the recovery period should be taken as annual leave.
11

Confidentiality

11.1 All information about an employee’s sickness is confidential and must be
treated with sensitivity and in accordance with the General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR)
11.2 Everyone involved in the management or monitoring of sickness absence has
a responsibility to maintain confidentiality of the information they are
processing.
11.3 Any documentation related to sickness absence which is sent in the post should
be done so in a confidential manner.
12

Unauthorised Absence

12.1 The Council may consider taking formal action under the Disciplinary
Procedure and / or withhold sick pay for any period of unauthorised absence.
This includes:




failure to follow sickness absence reporting procedures
failure to provide a Fit Note
falsification of sickness
lateness

Page 271

Managing and Supporting Attendance Policy and
Procedure
1

INTRODUCTION

1.1

The Council is committed to protecting the health and welfare of its employees
and to the management of attendance in a sensitive, fair, supportive and
consistent way.

1.2

A high level of attendance is important for organisational productivity, to support
the residents of the borough and ensure reasonable workloads for all
employees.

1.3

An integral part of the policy is the duty of care we have for our employees and
the need to provide appropriate levels of support in cases of physical and
mental ill health.

1.4

The policy enables managers to support employees in improving their
attendance and sets out the steps that should be taken if an employee’s level
of attendance falls below the standard expected by the Council.

1.5

This will contribute to the creation and maintenance of a healthy workforce and
the reduction of sickness absence in the Council.

1.6

This policy should be read in conjunction with the Sickness Policy and
Procedure.

2

MANAGING RECURRING SICKNESS ABSENCE

2.1

Recurring periods of sickness absence may be self-certified or be covered by
a Fit Note from the employee’s GP or a Hospital Inpatient Certificate.

3

Monitoring of absence

3.1

It is the responsibility of the manager to monitor sickness absence and this
forms part of the Return to Work meeting. Managers are able to access the
absence history for their team members on iTrent.

3.2

Human Resources will also monitor recurring sickness absence and will proactively offer support to managers where an employee has 5 or
more spells of absence and / or 10 working days’ absence. I.e. a Bradford
Factor of 250.

Page 272

The Bradford Factor
3.3

The Council uses the Bradford Factor system in order to analyse the level of
sickness absence. The Bradford Factor is a simple formula that
allows managers to
apply
a
relative
weighting
to
employee sickness absence and supports
the
principle that
repeated absence has a significant operational impact.

3.4

The Bradford factor is calculated using the formula S x S x D where:


S is the total number of spells of absences in the rolling year
D is the total number of days’ absence in the rolling year

3.5

When an employee has a Bradford Factor of 250 or more, it is not an indication
that the manager is required to take automatic action. Rather, it is a trigger for
the manager to conduct a review of the employee’s attendance, with due regard
to the employee’s individual circumstances.

3.6

For example if an employee had 5 spells of sickness absence and a total of 10
days off they would have a Bradford Factor of 250 (5 x 5 x 10 = 250); whereas
if an employee had 1 spell of sickness absence lasting 10 days their Bradford
Factor would be 10 (1 x 1 x 10 = 10).

3.7

Where Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely to have
a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 consideration will be given to
adjusting any Bradford Factor triggers as a reasonable adjustment.

4

Reviewing Frequent Recurring Sickness Absence

4.1

The primary concern of the Council is to support employees who are
experiencing mental or physical ill health. However, the Council is additionally
required to provide good attendance levels to ensure effective delivery of
its’ services and reasonable workloads for all employees.

4.2

Where an employee’s level of attendance reaches a Bradford Factor of 250 or
more, the manager will discuss the matter with the employee at an Informal
Review Meeting. This discussion could take place as part of a Return to Work
meeting.

Informal Review Meeting
4.3

The discussion will focus on: 





the reasons for absence
whether there is any trend or pattern of absence
exploration of any work, welfare or domestic issues
the likelihood of a recurrence
the impact the employee’s attendance level has on service delivery &
colleagues
 whether workplace adjustments are required

Page 273




support that the manager can provide
whether it would be beneficial to obtain expert medical advice via a referral
to Occupational Health
 signposting the support available from the Council’s Employee Assistance
Programme provider

Equality Act 2020: considerations and support from Human Resources
4.4

When analysing an employee’s sickness absence record, particular care should
be exercised when an absence is related to a protected characteristic as
defined by the Equality Act 2010, such as disability, pregnancy, IVF,
menopause or gender reassignment. Advice can be obtained from HR as to
whether these absences should be discounted for the purposes of the review
or whether the Bradford Factor trigger should be adjusted.

Workplace adjustments
4.5

Workplace adjustments may allow any employee to return to work sooner than
they would otherwise have returned or to allow an employee to sustain a return
to work / improvement in their attendance. An adjustment can be anything which
removes an identified barrier to returning to work or staying in work. Examples
include a phased return to normal duties / hours, returning to alternative duties
or provision of specialist equipment, furniture, training or assistance.

Referral to Occupational Health
4.6

The role of Occupational Health is to provide advice to managers on how a
medical condition may affect an employee at work or affect their ability to attend
work or return to work.

4.7

Occupational Health referrals can take place at any point during sickness
absence, for example after an informal review meeting, where the employee
provides new medical information from their GP or Health Specialist and it is
unclear how this might affect their work or absence or as part of ongoing
attendance management and support.

4.8

A referral to Occupational Health can be made even when an employee is not
absent from work but where there are concerns in relation to their health and /
or the ability of the employee to perform their duties safely.

4.9

Specific advice which could be requested of Occupational Health includes:





establishing whether there are any underlying issues which are
contributing to the employee’s absence
assessing the employee’s fitness for work
assessing the likely length of sickness absence
provision of advice on workplace adjustments, such as hours or duties
any other support which the Council could provide to facilitate a return to
work and / or reduce further sickness absence

Page 274



whether the employee is likely to have a disability as defined by the
Equality Act 2010.

4.10 The employee will be made aware of the referral and a copy of the referral form
sent to them.
4.11 Following an Occupational Health appointment, a report will be sent back to the
referring manager. The manager will discuss the report with the employee,
supported by HR where required.
4.12 Where there is a difference in opinion on fitness for work between an
employee’s GP and an Occupational Health Physician (OHP) the opinion of the
OHP will take precedence.
4.13 Reasonable expenses occurred by the employee in attending an OH
appointment will be reimbursed by the Council through the expenses system.
4.14 Employees are strongly encouraged to attend Occupational Health
appointments. Where an employee declines to do so their absence will continue
to be managed based on the information available, which may then not include
important medical advice.
Equality Act 2010
4.15 Where Occupational Health have advised that it is likely that the employee has
a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 the Council has a legal duty to
make reasonable adjustments.
4.16 Reasonable adjustments can include physical adaptations to workplaces,
adjusted duties, adjusted attendance targets within an Attendance
Improvement Plan, ability to attend additional medical appointments, time off to
attend counselling sessions and other adjustments as advised by occupational
health.
4.17 The employee may also be eligible to assistance from Access to Work if they
need an aid, adaptation or support to do their job. It is the responsibility of the
employee to submit an online application to Access to Work, appropriately
supported by HR.
4.18 It is not the role of Access to Work to give an opinion on whether or not an
individual is covered by the Equality Act 2010 for reasons of disability and the
approval of a grant will not mean that the employee is considered to be covered
by the Equality Act 2010.
4.19 Further information on the support provided by Access to Work and the process
for applications can be found on the Intranet and advice can be obtained from
Human Resources.

Page 275

Outcome of the Informal Review Meeting
4.20 The discussion at the Informal Review Meeting will enable the manager to
determine, based on the individual circumstances, how to proceed:


No further action at present
Set an Attendance Review Period

Attendance Review Period
4.21 The purpose of the Attendance Review Period is to support the employee in
improving their attendance.
4.22 The manager will ensure that the employee understands what improvement in
attendance is required, over what time period and how attendance will be
reviewed.
4.23 In most circumstances the level of improvement required in the review
period will be no more than 2 absences, totalling no more than 3
days. Managers may seek to agree other objectives during the
Attendance Review Period, such as encouraging the employee to access
support from a medical professional or counselling services.
4.24 The period set for reviewing attendance needs to be sufficiently long to allow
for improvement, to a maximum of 3 months and taking into consideration the
employee’s individual circumstances.
4.25 The manager will ensure that the employee understands that if their attendance
does not sufficiently improve, of if improvement is not maintained, a Formal
Attendance Review Meeting will be held.
4.26 A record of the points raised and actions arising from the meeting will be
confirmed in writing to the employee in the form of a file note or letter; a copy
will be placed on the employee’s personal file.
4.27 Throughout the Attendance Review Period regular meetings should take place
between the manager and employee, usually on a monthly basis. During these
meetings the manager and employee will continue to discuss attendance levels
and the support provided to the employee. At the end of the Attendance Review
Period, or earlier if required, the manager will meet with the employee in
order to assess the level of improvement in their attendance.
Outcome of the Attendance Review Period
4.28 Possible outcomes include:Improvement level
Sufficient improvement achieved
Some improvement
Insufficient or no improvement

Action
End of Attendance Review Period
Extension of Attendance Review Period
Formal Attendance Management Hearing

Page 276

Formal Attendance Management Hearing
4.29 Managers considering progression to a Formal Attendance Management
Hearing should have followed the Sickness policy in full, including being able to
demonstrate at the Hearing that they have considered all available options and
taken all reasonable steps to support the employee in the improvement of their
attendance.
Notifying the Employee
4.30 The employee will be notified at the earliest opportunity that a Formal
Attendance Management Hearing will take place and a copy of this procedure
provided and explained to them.
Collation of Information
4.31 The manager will collate relevant information, appropriately supported by a
member of the Human Resources team. The information collated should
include all information available in relation to the employee’s attendance and
health, including the actions that have been taken and support provided during
the Attendance Review Period.
Up to Date Medical Information
4.32 An up to date report from Occupational Health is likely to be required in order
to understand the current position in relation to the employee’s health, including
any underlying health conditions, treatment programmes, prognosis for an
improvement in attendance and any additional workplace adjustments which
could improve attendance. Where necessary, the employee will be referred to
Occupational Health in order to ensure that the Council is in possession of the
most up to date medical advice at the Hearing.
4.33 The Council may also ask the employee’s GP or medical specialist to provide
a medical report. (See “9. Access to Medical Reports Act 1988”) page 20
Other Information







employee’s sickness absence record
return to Work Meeting notes
dates, notes and outcomes from previous meetings with the employee about their
attendance including during the Attendance Review Period
notes of any actions agreed between the manager and employee
associated documentation such as reports from Occupational Health and Fit
Notes from the employee’s GP or other medical professional
details of support provided, such as adjusted duties, hours or working pattern

Page 277

Management Report
4.34 The manager will compile a report, based on the information collated (above).
Also included in the report should be details of the impact that
the employee’s absences have had on the workplace, specifically: 
the impact on workloads
 cover arrangements
 effect on service delivery
4.35 Where the Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely to
have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010, particular reference will
be included in the report to any recommendations and implementation in
relation to reasonable adjustments.
Appointment of a Chair for the Hearing
4.36 Wherever possible the appointed Chair should not have detailed knowledge of
the matter so that the Hearing is chaired impartially.
Notification of Formal Attendance Management Hearing
4.37 The manager, supported by HR, will write to the employee requiring them to
attend a formal Attendance Management Hearing. The employee will be given
at least 7 calendar days’ notice of the Hearing.
4.38 The employee will be provided with a copy of the Management Report and this
Policy & Procedure.
Right of Accompaniment / Representation
4.39 The employee will be reminded of their right to be accompanied by a workplace
colleague or trade union official (if they are a member).
4.40 Further information can be found below (see “Representation”)
Presentation of Evidence
4.41 The employee will also be advised that they have the right to present evidence;
any documentation should be submitted to the manager and Chair prior to, and
where possible, 3 working days in advance of the hearing.
Purpose of the Hearing
4.42 The purpose of the Hearing will be to understand:





the nature of the unsatisfactory attendance
the support provided to the employee including workplace adjustments
up to date advice from Occupational Health
the impact on service delivery and colleagues
any other circumstances to be taken into account e.g. personal issues

Page 278

Format of the Hearing
4.43 At the hearing the Chair will invite the manager to summarise the information in
the Management Report and will then invite the employee to respond and to
ask any questions. The employee will also have the opportunity to present any
mitigating circumstances where appropriate.
4.44 The Chair will give special attention to the up to date advice from Occupational
Health.
4.45 In the event that Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely
to have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010, the Chair will
specifically address whether reasonable adjustments have been
implemented in accordance with medical advice.
4.46 The Chair will adjourn the meeting to consider the evidence that has been
presented and, with appropriate support from HR, will determine what action
needs to be taken. The Hearing will be re-convened to inform the employee of
their decision including details of the duration of any sanction and
the employee’s right to appeal.
Representation
4.47 Employees have the right to be accompanied by a workplace colleague or trade
union official (if they are a member) at all stages of the formal procedure.
4.48 The right to be accompanied does not extend to the informal stages of this
policy unless associated meetings are held with more than one manager.
4.49 Attendance Management Hearings will not be unduly delayed due to the nonavailability of a representative. Any proposal to postpone a hearing to an
alternative time due to non-availability of a representative must be both
reasonable and the proposed time must not be more than ten working days
after the date originally proposed.
4.50 The role of the representative is to support the employee for the Hearing. This
may be in gathering information, providing moral support and asking questions
on the employee’s behalf. At the Attendance Management Hearing
the representative may either present the employee’s case, respond on behalf
of the employee to any views expressed at the meeting and confer with the
employee during the hearing, or support the employee whilst they present
their case. The representative does not, however, have the right to answer
questions on the employee’s behalf, address the hearing if the employee does
not wish it, or prevent the employer from explaining their case.
4.51 The statutory right to be accompanied applies specifically to hearings which
could result in the administration of a formal warning, dismissal or other action
short of a dismissal or confirmation of a warning issued.

Page 279

Outcome of the Formal Attendance Management Hearing
4.52 Sanctions may be awarded as follows:Stage
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Description
Duration* Chaired by
First warning & Attendance
6 months Senior manager
Improvement Plan
Final warning & Attendance
12 months Head of Service
Improvement Plan
Dismissal on the grounds of
Independent Head
Capability or other sanction short of
of Service
dismissal e.g. redeployment
*this indicates the duration that the warning will remain current

4.53

The manager listed in the fourth column indicates the minimum level of
authority to issue the warning shown in the second column. Managers more
senior to those identified, including the Chief Executive and Directors, may
issue the sanctions specified.

4.54 Depending upon the facts of the case any level of sanction may be issued i.e.
a first warning does not always have to be issued prior to a final warning if the
facts of the case warrant a higher level of sanction. If an employee’s level
of attendance is sufficiently unsatisfactory, it may be appropriate to move
directly to a final warning or dismissal or other sanctions short of dismissal.
Warnings
4.55 All warnings should be confirmed in writing within 5 working days of the
hearing.
4.56 Where a first written warning or final written warning has been issued, the
manager will compile an Attendance Improvement Plan, based on the
decisions made by the Chair at the Hearing as to the appropriate levels of
improvement required. The Attendance Improvement Plan will outline the
support the manager will provide and the level of attendance that the employee
is expected to achieve, which will usually be no more than 2 spells of
absence, totalling no more than 3 days in any three-month period.
4.57 The employee should be informed how long the warning will remain current, the
consequences of failure to meet the objectives of the Attendance Improvement
Plan within the set period, together with information on the right of appeal.
4.58 During the review (warning) period, the manager will be responsible for the
provision of ongoing support to the employee and the monitoring of the
objectives in the Attendance Improvement Plan.
Outcome of the Formal Review (Warning) Period
4.59 A review meeting will be held at the end of the review (warning) period.

Page 280

4.60 If the employee has met the objectives of the Attendance Improvement
Plan, written records of the warning will be deemed to have lapsed and
disregarded for the purposes of this Policy and Procedure.
Failure to Improve Attendance during the Review (Warning) Period
4.61 Where there are concerns that the employee is not meeting the objectives of
the Attendance Improvement Plan at any point during the warning
period, the employee will be required to attend a further hearing in accordance
with this procedure, depending on the circumstances of the case.
Dismissal
4.62 Dismissal will be a last resort and will only occur where the Chair is satisfied
that the employee has been provided with appropriate support and that despite
this their attendance remains detrimental to the delivery of service to the
Council’s customers and / or to other members of staff.
4.63 Dismissals on the grounds of ill health are for reasons of Capability, as defined
by the Employment Rights Act 1996 s98. Capability in this context can be
defined as the ability of the employee to attend work and perform their duties.
4.64 Where the Chair determines that the sanction should be dismissal, this should
be confirmed in writing within 5 working days and set out the reasons for
dismissal, the date on which the employee’s contract terminates, the
appropriate period of notice (or pay in lieu of notice) and information on the right
of appeal.
Sanctions Short of Dismissal
4.65 The Chair may determine that, as an alternative to dismissal, the sanction
should be that the Council seeks to identify suitable redeployment
opportunities. Further information on Redeployment can be found at “5.
Redeployment on Medical Grounds” page 17)
5

Employee Rights

Reasonable Adjustments during the Process
5.1

Where Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely to have a
disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 the Council will ensure that
reasonable adjustments are made throughout the Procedure where appropriate
and seek the advice of Occupational Health where required.

Inability to Attend a Hearing
5.2

Where an employee is unable to attend a hearing due to ill health the Council
may defer the hearing or decide that it is appropriate for the hearing to go ahead
in the absence of the employee. Where this is the case the employee will have

Page 281

the opportunity to submit written representation for consideration at the
hearing.
Non-attendance at Hearing without good reason
5.3

Where an employee does not attend a hearing without good reason, a decision
may be taken in their absence, based on the information available,
which may result in a formal warning or dismissal as appropriate.

Right of Appeal
5.4

The employee has the right of appeal at every stage of the formal process.

5.5

The employee must submit their appeal in writing, within 21 days of the date of
the letter confirming the outcome. Letters of appeal should be sent to the Head
of HR and Customer Services, stating clearly the grounds for appeal.
Appellants must be advised to consult with their trade union (if a member) or
workplace colleague.

5.6

Employees may choose to raise appeals on a number of grounds which could
include the perceived unfairness of the judgement, the severity of the penalty,
new evidence coming to light or procedural irregularities.

5.7

Appeals against warnings will be chaired by an independent Head of Service
and wherever possible the manager hearing the appeal will not have been
previously involved in the case.

5.8

Appeals will be heard without unreasonable delay and normally within eight
weeks of the original hearing. The employee should receive written confirmation
of the arrangements at least 7 days in advance of the hearing.

5.9

Employees should submit any documentation to the Chair prior to, and where
possible 3 working days in advance of, the hearing.

5.10 Witnesses should be used where relevant and should only be present at the
appeal hearing to give evidence and be questioned. Details of proposed
witnesses should be communicated to both parties and where possible 3
working days in advance of, the hearing.
5.11 At the hearing the Chair will invite both parties to present their case, call any
witnesses and ask and answer any questions related to the disciplinary matter
including information presented by witnesses. Further guidance regarding the
format of formal hearings can be found on the Human Resources section of the
intranet.
5.12 The Chair will adjourn the meeting to consider the appeal evidence that has
been presented and, with appropriate support from HR, will determine what
action needs to be taken. The hearing will be re-convened to inform the
employee of their decision.

Page 282

5.13 In cases of dismissal or other sanctions short of dismissal where the appeal is
to be heard by the Appeals Committee, a meeting of the Appeals Committee
will be arranged in accordance with the Council's normal procedure as soon as
is practicable. Further information regarding the Appeals Committee can be
found on the Human Resources section of the intranet.
6

MANAGING LONG TERM ABSENCE OR CHRONIC ILLNESS

6.1

There may be times when an employee has either a chronic medical condition
or physical or mental ill health causing them to be consistently absent from work
for long periods of time.

6.2

Long term absence is defined as a consistent period of absence of
28 calendar days or greater.

Management contact & support
6.3

Employees absent from work will be fully supported by their manager, who will
maintain regular contact throughout their absence as required by the Sickness
Policy & Procedure. Frequent dialogue should take place to allow options to be
explored throughout a long term absence, particularly when a medical condition
improves and a return to work becomes more likely.

HR advice & support
6.4

Where an employee is absent due to illness for 28 days, or where it is
anticipated that their absence will be of this duration, the manager will seek
advice and support from Human Resources.

Occupational Health
6.5

In most cases the employee will be referred to Occupational Health for specific
advice as to fitness for work and workplace adjustments. (See “Referral to
Occupational Health” page 3)

Medical Reports
6.6

The Council might also make contact with the employee’s GP or medical
specialist to request the provision of a medical report. For further information
see “9. Access to Medical Reports” page 20

Equality Act 2010
6.7

Where Occupational Health have advised that it is likely that the employee has
a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 the Council has a legal duty to
make reasonable adjustments. (See “Equality Act 2010” page 4).

Absence Review Meetings

Page 283

6.8

Absence Review Meetings will usually take place after 3, 6 and 9 months,
depending on the individual circumstances.

Absence Review Meeting 1: usually after 3 months’ absence
After 3 months’ absence there is likely to be a clearer picture of the longer-term
prognosis and the capability of the employee to return to their normal duties or
to alternative work.
6.10 At this stage, the manager will hold an Absence Review Meeting with the
employee. HR will also be present in order to provide advice and support.
6.9

6.11 The discussion will include:










an explanation of this policy & procedure
an update on current health & the level of recovery since the start of absence
discussion on the likely duration of absence
discussion on the most recent Occupational Health advice and any medical
reports
consideration of whether there are any workplace adjustments which could
facilitate a return to work, such as a temporary adjustment in hours or duties
discussion as to whether it is appropriate to consider Ill Health Retirement, taking
into account the stringent criteria of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS)
an opportunity for the employee to raise any difficulties or concerns
agreeing any actions, including the provision of support from the Council’s
Employee Assistance Programme provider
agreeing when the next Informal Review Meeting will take place, which will
usually be in a further 3 months if the employee has not returned to work by that
time.

6.12 The employee will be provided with the notes and confirmation of what was
discussed at the meeting and the manager will continue to maintain regular
contact with the employee and provide ongoing support.
Absence Review Meeting 2: usually after 6 months’ absence
6.13 Where an employee has been absent for 6 months, a further referral will be
made to Occupational Health in order to obtain up to date medical advice as
required.
6.14 A further Informal Review Meeting will then be held, in the same format as for
the 3 month Review Meeting above.
6.15 The employee will be provided with the notes and confirmation of what was
discussed at the meeting and the manager will continue to maintain regular
contact with the employee and provide ongoing support.

Page 284

Absence Review Meeting 3: usually after 9 months’ absence
6.16 Where an employee has been absent for 9 months, a further referral will be
made to Occupational Health in order to obtain up to date medical advice as
required.
6.17 A further Informal Review Meeting will then be held, in the same format as
above.
6.18 The discussion will focus particularly on:





6.19

up to date advice from Occupational Health on prognosis and workplace
adjustments
whether Ill Health Retirement has been fully explored
whether Redeployment to an alternative post has been fully explored
the impact on workloads, cover arrangements and the effect on service
delivery
the possible progression to a Formal Hearing and its potential outcomes.
The employee will be provided with the notes and confirmation of what was
discussed at the meeting and the manager will continue to maintain regular
contact with the employee and provide ongoing support.

Potential Outcome of Absence Review Meeting 3
6.20 Unfortunately, in some cases there is insufficient improvement to an employee’s
health which can lead to the position where the Council is unable to sustain the
employee’s level of absence. In other cases, medical advice may be received
to suggest that an employee will never return to their role, or that timescales for
a return are not known.
6.21 Normally this position will have been reached following a reasonable period of
time to allow for recovery and improvement and having explored various options
to support or facilitate a return to work in some capacity.
6.22 Where all reasonable workplace adjustments and other options have been
exhausted (such as Ill Health Retirement and Redeployment) and there is no
reasonable prospect of an imminent return to work a Formal Attendance
Management Hearing will be arranged.
6.23 Managers considering progression to a Formal Attendance Management
Hearing should have followed the Sickness policy in full, including being able to
demonstrate at the Hearing that the manager has considered all available
options and taken all reasonable steps to support the employee back to work
6.24 The hearing would be the final stage in the management of long-term absence.
Dismissal on the grounds of ill health (Capability) is a possible outcome. Unlike
in some cases of short-term absence, there will not have been a series of formal
meetings and possible formal warnings

Page 285

Notifying the Employee
6.25 The employee will be notified at the earliest opportunity that a Formal
Attendance Management Hearing will take place and a copy of this procedure
provided and explained to them. It will also be explained that dismissal on the
grounds of ill health (Capability) is a possible outcome.
Collation of Information
6.26 The manager will collate relevant information, appropriately supported by a HR.
The information collated should include all information available in relation to
the employee’s attendance and health, including the actions that have been
taken, support provided and other options which have been explored, such as
Redeployment and Ill Health Retirement.
Up to Date Medical Information
6.27 An up to date report from Occupational Health is likely to be required in order
to understand the current position in relation to the employee’s health, including
an update on their underlying health condition, treatment programmes,
prognosis for an improvement in attendance and any additional workplace
adjustments which could improve attendance. Where necessary, the employee
will therefore be referred to Occupational Health in order to ensure that the
Council is in possession of the most up to date medical advice at the Hearing.
6.28 The Council may also ask the employee’s GP or medical specialist to provide
a medical report.
6.29 Other Information








employee’s sickness absence record
Return to Work Meeting notes if applicable
dates, notes and outcomes from Review Meetings with the employee about their
absence
notes of any actions agreed between the manager and employee
associated documentation such as reports from Occupational Health and Fit
Notes from the employee’s GP or other medical professional
details of support provided, such as adjusted duties, hours or working pattern
details of any consideration which has been given to options such as
Redeployment and eligibility for Ill Health Retirement.

Management Report
6.30 The manager will compile a report, based on the information collated (above).
Also included in the report should be details of the impact that
the employee’s absence has on the workplace, specifically:  the impact on workloads
 cover arrangements
 effect on service delivery

Page 286

6.31

Where Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely to have
a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010, particular reference will be
included in the report to any recommendations and implementation in relation
to reasonable adjustments.

Appointment of a Chair for the Hearing
6.32 The Chair of the Hearing will be an independent Head of Service who does not
have detailed knowledge of the matter in order that the Hearing is chaired
impartially.
Notification of Formal Attendance Management Hearing
6.33 The manager, supported by HR, will write to the employee with details of the
formal Attendance Management Hearing. The employee will be given at least
7 calendar days’ notice of the Hearing.
6.34 The employee will be provided with a copy of the Management Report and this
Policy & Procedure.
Right of Accompaniment / Representation
6.35 The employee will be reminded of their right to be accompanied by a workplace
colleague or trade union official (if they are a member). (See “Representation”
on page 7)
Presentation of Evidence
6.36 The employee will also be advised that they have the right to present evidence;
any documentation should be submitted to the manager and Chair prior to, and
where possible, 3 working days in advance of the hearing.
Purpose of the Hearing
6.37 The purpose of the Hearing will be to understand:









the nature of the employee’s absence
the support provided to the employee
whether Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely to have a
disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010
advice on workplace adjustments and implementation
considerations in relation to Redeployment
considerations in relation to eligibility for Ill Health retirement
up to date advice from Occupational Health
the impact on service delivery and colleagues
any other circumstances to be taken into account e.g. personal issues

Page 287

Format of the Hearing
6.38 At the hearing the Chair will invite the manager to summarise the information in
the Management Report and will then invite the employee to respond and to
ask any questions. The employee will also have the opportunity to present any
mitigating circumstances where appropriate.
6.39 The Chair will give special attention to the up to date advice from Occupational
Health.
6.40 In the event that Occupational Health have advised that the employee is likely
to have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010, the Chair will
specifically address whether reasonable adjustments have been
implemented in accordance with medical advice.
6.41 The Chair will also give particular scrutiny to consideration of options such as
Redeployment or Ill Health Retirement, in order to ensure that they have been
fully explored.
6.42 The Chair will also consider the impact that the employee’s ongoing absence is
having on service delivery and colleagues.
6.43 The Chair will adjourn the meeting to consider the evidence that has been
presented and, with appropriate support from HR, will determine what action
needs to be taken. The Hearing will be re-convened to inform the employee of
their decision and the employee’s right to appeal.
Representation
6.44 See “Employee Rights” page 10.
Outcome of the Attendance Management Hearing
Dismissal
6.45 Where the Chair is satisfied that:
the employee has been provided with adequate support
 up to date medical evidence suggests that an imminent return to work is not
likely
 all workplace adjustments and advice from Occupational Health have been
implemented wherever possible
 options such as Redeployment and Ill Health Retirement have been
exhausted
 the employee’s absence remains detrimental to the delivery of service to the
Council’s customers and / or to other members of staff
6.46 The Chair may determine that the employee will be dismissed from the
Council’s employment.

Page 288

6.47 Dismissals on the grounds of ill health are for reasons of Capability, as defined
by the Employment Rights Act 1996 s98. Capability in this context can be
defined as the ability of the employee to attend work and perform their duties.
6.48 Where the Chair determines that the sanction should be dismissal, this should
be confirmed in writing within 5 working days and set out the reasons for
dismissal, the date on which the employee’s contract terminates, the
appropriate period of notice (or pay in lieu of notice) and information on the right
of appeal.
Other options to be considered
6.49 Where the Chair is not satisfied that all appropriate action has been taken and
other options explored, the Hearing can be adjourned in order for these actions
to be taken and options reconsidered.
6.50 The Chair would advise of an appropriate period of time for this to take place,
following which the Hearing would be reconvened for the further consideration
of the Chair.
Employee Rights
6.51 See “Employee Rights” page 10.
7

EMPLOYEES WITH BOTH CONSISTENT LONG TERM & RECURRING
ABSENCE

7.1

Occasionally an employee might reach triggers with a mixture of consistent long
term and recurring / short-term absence.

7.2

An employee’s Bradford Factor will be monitored throughout their absence and
return to work. Appropriate management and support of attendance will be
provided in accordance with this policy.

8

REDEPLOYMENT ON MEDICAL GROUNDS

Temporary Redeployment
8.1

Where the employee is on a phased return to work and temporarily re-deployed
to a post with a lower salary, their salary will remain unaltered for a maximum
period of three months whereupon an Attendance Review Meeting will be held.

Permanent Redeployment
8.2

Where the advice of Occupational Health is that the employee is likely to remain
unfit to perform their contractual role for the foreseeable future, the employee
will be considered to be “medically at risk”, usually for a 3 month period,
and consideration will be given to a permanent redeployment to an alternative
post.

Page 289

8.3

The manager, supported by HR, will have full discussions with the employee
and their union representative, where a member, or workplace colleague.

8.4

Occupational Health will be asked to provide details of the employee’s
Functional Capacity i.e. what the employee can do, which will form the basis of
the support provided to the employee in identifying suitable internal vacancies.

8.5

Consideration will also be given to any reasonable adjustments which can be
implemented for a vacant post, such as amended hours.

8.6

The employee will submit their application for a vacant post and will receive
priority consideration for the vacancy.

8.7

Consideration will be given to a trial period where applicable.

8.8

Where the employee is appointed to a post at a lower grade or decreases their
working hours, salary protection would not apply.

8.9

All reasonable steps will be taken to facilitate the successful redeployment of
the employee into the new post. Regular supportive review meetings will be
held with the employee and their manager to discuss progress and training
needs.

9

ILL HEALTH RETIREMENT

9.1

At any point during long term sickness absence, the Council may consider ill
health retirement for qualifying members of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS) where appropriate.

9.2

The Council will not proceed with Ill Health Retirement without first exploring a
range of options to support the employee in returning to work,
including supportive
and
recuperative workplace adjustments
and redeployment, taking into account up to date medical advice from
Occupational Health.

Eligibility
9.3

The employee must meet the required qualifying service in the LGPS; further
details can be found on the Local Government Pension Scheme website,
https://lgpsmember.org.

Criteria
9.4

To qualify for Ill Health Retirement, an independent doctor must certify
that the member of the LGPS is permanently unable to perform their job until
normal retirement age and not immediately capable of undertaking gainful
employment.

Outline of the process

Page 290

9.5

Where the employee meets the qualifying service in the LGPS and it appears
from up to date medical advice that they might meet the criteria for Ill Health
Retirement, the Council will refer the employee to an independent doctor,
known as an Independent Registered Medical Practitioner (IRMP).

9.6

The IRMP will determine: -

9.7
9.8



whether the employee is permanently incapable of performing their duties due
to ill-health, and if so;



the tier of benefits which would apply.
The tiers are based on how likely it is that the employee will be capable of
gaining employment after they have left.
Where the IRMP confirms that the employee meets the eligibility criteria for Ill
Health Retirement (above), it is a decision for their employer as to whether to
proceed with Ill Health Retirement.

Further information and support
9.9

Ill Health Retirement is a complex area; further information on eligibility, the ill
health retirement process and the tier of benefits can be found on the Local
Government Pension Scheme website https://lgpsmember.org. Information
and support can also be obtained from HR.

10

TERMINAL ILLNESS

10.1 Where an employee has a terminal or life-limiting illness, the Council will
provide the employee with support, ensuring that they are treated with dignity,
respect and sensitivity.
10.2 The manager will maintain regular supportive contact as detailed in the
Sickness Absence Policy.
10.3 Additional support is also available from the Council’s Employee Assistance
Programme Provider, who can be contacted on the Help Line for advice on
medical, financial and legal matters as well as providing counselling support
and provision.
10.4 Where a medical professional has confirmed that the employee will not be fit to
return to work for the foreseeable future, the Council will seek to accommodate
the wishes of the employee in the provision of the most financially
advantageous arrangements for them.
11

CONFIDENTIALITY

11.1 All information about an employee’s sickness is confidential and must be
treated with sensitivity and in accordance with the General Data Protection
Regulations (GDPR).

Page 291

11.2 Everyone involved in the management or monitoring of sickness absence has
a responsibility to maintain confidentiality of the information they
are processing. Any documentation related to sickness absence which is sent
in the post should be done in a confidential manner.
12

ACCESS TO MEDICAL REPORTS ACT 198

12.1 There are times when it may be helpful for an employer to have medical
information about an employee in supporting and managing their attendance.
The Access to Medical Reports Act 1988 covers the legal requirements.
12.2 The Act states that an employer requires the consent of an employee prior to
requesting a medical report from a doctor who has been responsible for their
physical or mental care.
12.3 The Act also states that the employee is able to request to see the report before
it is sent to an employer or they may decline to consent to this.
12.4 If an employee would like to see the report before it is sent to their employer,
they must arrange this with the doctor within 21 days of the report being
requested by the employer. The employee has the right to see the report up to
six months after it is sent.
12.5 When an employee has viewed the report, their consent is required prior to the
report being sent to the employer. The employee is able to request that the
doctor amends any part of the report which they consider to be inaccurate or
misleading. If the doctor does not agree to amend the report as requested, the
employee is able to request that a written statement is added to the report,
stating their views.
12.6 If an employee has consented to a medical report being supplied without seeing
it and later changes their mind and wants to view the report, they can do this by
making contact with the doctor. The employee then has 21 days from the date
they notified the doctor in which to view the report.

Page 292

Employee returns to
work with reasonable
adjustments or a
phased return if
applicable (see
Sickness Policy)

Managing and Supporting Attendance

HR regularly monitor
sickness absence

Manager monitors
sickness absence

Employee is absent
from work for 28
plus calendar days
Absence Review Meeting
1: usually after 3 months’

Employee has a
Bradford Factor of
250 and above

Absence
continues

No
Manager arranges
an Informal Review
Meeting (could be
as part of a RTW)

Page 293

No further
action at
present

Consideration and support
given to Occupational Health
Referral, Equality Act and
Workplace Adjustments

Attendance Review Period
up to 3 months

End of
Attendance
Review
Period

Sufficient
Improvement
Achieved

Regular
Meetings take
place to support

Insufficient
or no
improvement

Some
Improvement

Attendance
Improvement
Plan issued*
Employees can appeal
against the outcome of
the Attendance
Management Hearing

No sanction

No

Redeployment

Dismissal on the
grounds of Ill Health
(Capability)

Absence
continues

Yes

Absence Review Meeting 3:
usually after 9 months’
Yes
No

Absence
continues

Employee meets the objectives of
the Attendance Improvement Plan

First Warning*
Final Warning*

Yes

Occupational
Health
Referral

Absence Review Meeting
2: usually after 6 months’

No

Attendance
Management Hearing

Occupational
Health
Referral

Attendance is monitored over the
Formal Review (Warning) Period
(6 months or 12 months)

Occupational
Health Referral

Formal Attendance
Management Hearing

Yes

Occupational
Health
Referral

Each Absence Review meeting
will be attended by HR and will
discuss the following matters
• up to date advice from
Occupational Health on
prognosis and workplace
adjustments
• whether Ill Health Retirement
has been fully explored
• whether Redeployment to an
alternative post has been fully
explored
• the impact on workloads,
cover arrangements and
the effect on service delivery
• possible progression to a
Formal Hearing and its
potential outcomes

Probation Policy
October 2020
Introduction
1. The Council is focused on delivering high quality services and therefore must
maintain the highest standards of performance and conduct for its employees. The
Council recognises that to achieve such standards employees must be properly
supported when they commence employment.
2. It is the Council’s policy to operate probationary periods for all employees who are
new to the employment of Ashford Borough Council.
3. This policy will ensure that employees receive sufficient assistance, reasonable
guidance and relevant training during their initial six months of employment;
recognising that levels of support during this period will be higher than later, when
they are more established in their role.
4. This policy and procedure should be used as a tool to ensure that employees are
given every opportunity to prove their suitability for the post to which they have
been appointed and also to provide adequate opportunity to ensure the post is
suitable for them.
5. The procedure aims to provide clear and concise guidance for managers, and new
employees regarding probationary period and equally enable line managers fully
understand their responsibility during this period.
6. The probationary period offers the opportunity for the employee to understand what
responsibilities and standards are expected, provides an opportunity to discuss
performance, review strengths and areas for improvement and identify learning
and development needs.
Scope
7. A six month probationary period will be applicable to all new appointments to the
Council regardless of previous local government service.
8. Employees engaged on fixed term/temporary contract opportunities of more than
six months are required to undertake a probationary period.
9. The policy will not apply to existing employees that are seconded, moved,
promoted, assimilated or redeployed to a new post within the council.

Page 294

Recruitment
10. All contracts of employment should clearly state that the first six months of the
appointment will be treated as a probationary period, during which time the
manager must ensure that the new employee has the appropriate induction and
training in their new role.
11. Induction is an integral and essential part of the probation period. If we expect an
employee to perform well they must be equipped to do so, be given clear
instructions and given time to familiarise themselves with the organisation, their
team, the systems and the ways of working. The manager should provide the
necessary support to the employee to achieve this aim throughout the probationary
period and beyond.
12. As part of the induction process managers should explain the purpose of probation
periods and set specific objectives and learning points, based on the job
description and person specification. The objectives set should be recorded in the
Offer Letter.
Probationary Review Meetings
13. During the probation period, the line manager must regularly carry out a review of
each new employee’s performance.
14. Probation reviews should take place in the second, fourth and sixth months’ of
service. Additional review meetings may be arranged if required on a case by case
basis. Normal one to one meetings can take place in months one, three and five.
15. The six month probationary period is a continuous period of support and review
and the manager is responsible for ensuring that review meetings are carried out.
Introduction Meeting
16. On their first day of employment, or as soon as possible, the manager will meet
with their new employee and ensure that:
a) The programme of induction that has been planned for the new employee is
fully explained and responsibilities allocated.
b) The duties and responsibilities of the job are clarified and the required
performance levels expected are clearly explained and understood.
c) Clear, specific and achievable objectives are set and documented.
d) The employee has reviewed and completed their new starter paperwork
including their contract of employment, their job description, the conditions of
service and all health and safety material.

Page 295

e) All training requirements are identified, provided or scheduled and a work
buddy is assigned.
Probation Review Meetings
17. The line manager must conduct probation review in the second, fourth and sixth
month of the new starter’s employment as follows:
Two Months – First Review Meeting
18. At the end of the second month, a probation review meeting should be held
between the manager and the employee to discuss the support that they have
received so far. Examples of matters that will be discussed are;
 the employees understanding of the on-boarding material they have
reviewed
 the working relationships they have established
 their understanding of their role and how it fits into the wider organisation
 the systems that they use
 the tools at their disposal
 any training requirement that they have
 any general questions or concerns that they need assistance with.
There may also be opportunity to discuss work performance, highlighting
achievements and areas for development or improvement. The probation review
form can be used as a guide for this meeting.
19. The probation review form will be shared with the employee to allow them an
opportunity to add their own comments in to the sections provided.
20. In cases where performance (including conduct and attendance) is falling short of
required expectations then this must be clearly explained to the employee together
with what action is required to improve. This may include additional support or
reasonable training requirements. The employee must also be made aware that by
the end of the 6 month period a decision will be taken about their suitability for the
post. In all cases of inadequate work performance, conduct or attendance, it is
recommended that the employee is closely supervised and supported.
Four Months – Review Meeting
21. A further meeting should be held to discuss the employee’s performance at the
end of the fourth month. Where the probation period is proceeding satisfactorily,
the employee should be informed of this and the probation review form completed
accordingly.
22. If the employee’s performance has not reached an acceptable standard, despite
agreed training and support being completed, the employee will be advised of this
situation. The employee will be given a clear explanation of how their performance,

Page 296

conduct or attendance is not meeting the required standard. Managers will be
required to set clear and specific targets for the employee, to be achieved within
the month and arrange additional one to one meetings with the employee to review
their progress.
Six Months – Final Review Meeting
23. At the end of the 6th month period, a probation review meeting should be arranged
to review the employee’s performance from the start of the probationary period
using the review forms from months two and four, in addition to any other review
meeting notes.
24. Prior to the final review the employee’s line manager must consider whether the:
 employee’s probation has been successful
 employee’s probation period should be extended or
 employee’s contract should be terminated.
27. The final review must take place within at least one week of the employee having
completed six months’ service.
28. The employee’s line manager must conduct the final review meeting.
29. The purpose of the final review is to assess the employee’s progress over the
whole of the probation period and to reach a decision as to whether the employee’s
probation period has been successful, whether the probation period should be
extended or whether the employee should be dismissed.
25. If the manager considers that the employee’s performance or conduct is
unsatisfactory, they must write to the employee at least one week prior to the final
review meeting to inform them in advance of the reasons why this is the case.
26. Where dismissal or an extension of the probationary period is contemplated, the
manager must inform the employee that they have a right to be accompanied at
the final review meeting by a trade union representative or work colleague, should
they so wish.
27. If it is determined that the employees performance, attendance and or conduct has
been unsatisfactory in the circumstances the employee will be served with their
notice of termination of employment
Completion of the probationary period
28. Com
29. If the manager considers that the employee’s performance, conduct or attendance
is satisfactory they should proceed with the final probationary review meeting.
30. If the employee’s performance has reached the required standard, the manager
will notify Human Resources and send all probation review sheets to
human.resources@ashford.gov.uk to be saved in the employee’s personal file.

Page 297

31. The employee will be also be provided with copies of their probation review sheets.
The 6 month review sheet will confirm successful completion of their probation
period.
32. If applicable, the employee will receive a pay increment in the month that their
probation is successfully completed or the following April, depending on the month
their employment commenced, (see table below).
EMPLOYEE START DATE
October – March

PAY INCREMENT DUE (MONTH)
The first day of the month that their
probation period is completed (not
less than six months after the start
date).

April – September

1st of April of the following year

Extending Probationary Periods
4E
35. A potential outcome of a Final Review Meeting may be the extension of a
probationary period. The council reserves the right to extend an employee’s
probationary period at its discretion. This will be limited to one extension of up to 3
months.
36. The extension of a probationary period may be applicable where reasonable
adjustments or training are needed to enable the employee to adequately perform
their role, or where there has been a long period of sickness or absence for either
the employee or their line manager as a result of a temporary redeployment during
a local or national crisis.
37. If an extension is applicable, this will be confirmed in writing to the employee
detailing the length of the extension, reason for extension and the performance
standards or objectives the employee is required to have achieved by the end of
the extended probationary period.
38. An additional final review meeting will be arranged at the end of the extended
probationary period. If the employee has not fully met the required standards by
the end of the extended probationary period, their employment may be terminated.
Notice Periods
39. Employment may be terminated by the council or the employee, during the
probation period by giving statutory notice, typically this is one week’s notice.
Continuous service with another authority will be taken into account when
calculating notice periods.

Page 298

Appeals
40. Employees have the right to appeal against a dismissal decision.
41. Employees must state their intention to appeal in writing within 5 working days’ of
receiving their notice letter. Letters of Appeal should be sent to the Head of HR
and Customer Services, stating clearly the grounds for appeal. Appellants are
advised to consult with their trade union representative (if a member).
42. The appeal hearing must take place within 14 days upon receipt of the notification
of the intention to appeal, and will be chaired by the Head of Service. A HR
Representative must be present at this meeting to advice.
43. In the event that the Head of Service has had prior involvements in the probationary
assessment process, an independent Head of Service must be appointed to hear
the appeal.
44. The employee should be given at least 5 working days’ notice of the appeal
hearing, with details of the date and time, the purpose of the appeal hearing, the
process to be followed and the right to be accompanied by a trade union
representative or work colleague.
45. A management report along with other relevant documentations must be provided
to all parties ahead of the hearing.
46. At the appeal hearing, the line manager and the employee will have the opportunity
to present their case and call any witnesses.
47. It should be noted that the decision of the Hearing Officer is final and there is no
further right of appeal.
Reasonable Adjustments
48. The manager should be particularly aware of the needs of employees with a
disability and ensure that any required reasonable adjustments are put in place in
good time.
49. If a disabled employee does not perform to the satisfactory standard during the six
month probationary period, HR must be consulted for appropriate advice and
guidance.
50. The Council has a legal obligation to ensure disabled employees are supported in
overcoming the barriers they face in the workplace and therefore any
recommendations for dismissal must be considered very carefully.

Page 299

51. If a protected characteristic affects an employee’s attendance levels during their
probationary period this will be taken into account during the final review meeting
Representation
52. It is the council's view that the presence of a trade union representative or
workplace colleague is not required at probationary review meetings.
53. The expectation is that such meetings should not be contentious in nature, but be
open, constructive and supportive. Nevertheless, there may be circumstances
where the presence of a trade union representative or workplace colleague will
be helpful.
54. If the mangers assessment of the employee’s overall assessment indicates poor
performance, particularly if an adverse recommendation is envisaged, then the
employee may be accompanied by a work colleague or trade union
representative, if they wish.
55. It would also be advisable, where appropriate, for a HR representative to attend
meetings where either a trade union representative or work colleague is also
present.
Exceptions to the policy
56. If an employee's employment is terminated after the expiry of the probationary
period the organisation's normal capability/dismissal procedure must be followed
in full.
57. It is the organisation's policy to allow the employee to complete the designated
period of probation rather than terminating employment before the probation has
come to an end. This is to give the employee a full opportunity to come up to the
required standards. If, however, there is clear evidence prior to the end of the
period of probation that suggests the employee is wholly unsuitable for the role,
the line manager should consult Human Resources with a view to consider
terminating the employee's contract early.
58. If, during an employee's probation, it is suspected or established that the employee
does not have the qualifications, experience or knowledge that they claimed to
have at the time of recruitment, the matter will be discussed with the employee to
establish the facts. If the evidence suggests that the employee misrepresented
their abilities in any way a final Probationary Review meeting will be arranged and
the employee’s employment may be terminated.
59. It is not recommended that employee’s probationary periods are confirmed as
successful prior to six months.

Page 300

60. The following policies within the Conditions of Service are not applicable to an
employee in their probationary period;




Disciplinary Policy & Procedure
Capability Policy Performance Management Policy & Procedure
Attendance Management & Support Policy

Page 301

Probation Policy
Acceptance of Offer

Start Date

Introduction Meeting

Onboarding and
Induction
(from offer to 3 months
after start date)

First Review Meeting
Two Months

Page 302

Employee is advised of appeal
process

HR are advised. Managers
provide clear objectives and
required support

Second Review Meeting
– Four Months

probation has not reached
an acceptable standard

Employment is terminated and
statutory notice served

Probation period is
unsatisfactory

probation is proceeding
satisfactorily
employee’s probation period
should be extended

Manager
consideration

Manager should write to
employee to advise them that
dismissal or extension is
contemplated

employee’s probation period
should be terminated
employee’s probation period
successful

The employee is given the
option to have a colleague or
unison representative at the
Review Meeting

Final Review Meeting
(Must take place at least one
week before the final review)

Probation period is extended
(for up to 3 months)

from 3 months
to 6 months
after start date

Probation period is
satisfactorily completed
Increment is
processed if
applicable

S6

Sickness
If you are sick you must notify your supervisor or other line manager as soon as
possible and try to give some indication of your length of absence.
When you return to work you must immediately complete the Sickness self
certificate/Return to Work form even your absence is longer than 7 days and supported
by a Statement of Fitness for Work. Your manager will meet with you and also sign
this.
The provisions of the Council's Sickness Payments Scheme and calculations of the
allowances due are set out here.

Policy for Handling Sickness Absence












Notification by the employee
What to do if you are off sick
Contact upon return to work
Returning to work
Categories of sickness related absences
Repeated absences
Long term or chronic illness
Redeployment
Retirement
Access to medical reports
Sickness payments

The Council is committed to the health and welfare of its employees and the
management of sickness absence in a positive and sensitive manner. Absenteeism
affects service levels, productivity, efficiency and morale and therefore the success of
the Council. For this reason it must be managed effectively and this policy is intended
to deal with absenteeism in a fair and consistent manner.
1 Notification by the employee
1.1

Employees are expected to notify their immediate manager by telephone as
soon as practicable and ideally by 10.00am on the first day of absence, unless
there are exceptional circumstances in which case they must ask someone else
to telephone for them.

1.2

Employees should indicate how long they expect to be off work. For absences
of one week or less the employee should keep the immediate manager

Page 303

informed on regularly. It is important that employees keep their manager
advised of their progress, any changes and expected length of absence so that
appropriate cover can be arranged if necessary.
1.3

For absences longer than 7 calendar days, a doctor’s Statement of Fitness for
Work will be required from day 8. A self certification form must be completed
for all absences, irrespective of their duration. The employee must complete
this with their manager as part of the “return to work interview”.

1.4

Where an initial doctor’s Statement of Fitness for Work is obtained, the
manager must be informed and the certificate either delivered or posted that
day or as soon as possible.

1.5

Subsequent doctor’s Statements of Fitness for Work must be submitted as
appropriate and the manager informed of the date of return.

1.6

If an employee becomes ill whilst on holiday the employee absence will not be
recorded as annual leave for the time they were certified as sick provided a
Statement of Fitness for Work is provided. This may be paid for by the Council.

1.7

Employees who fail to provide a Statement of Fitness for Work or to keep their
manager informed are liable to be marked absent without leave and their pay
adjusted accordingly.

Back to top

Back to contents

2 What to do if you are off sick
2.1

You must notify your immediate line manager by telephone as soon as possible
and ideally by 10.00am on the first day of sickness.

2.2

If you are going to be off work for a week or less you should keep your line
manager informed regularly.

2.3

When you return to work you must complete a self-certification form (available
on the intranet or My Portal) and return the completed form to payroll.

2.4

If you are poorly for longer than 7 calendar days you must have a Statement of
Fitness for Work from day 8. You should inform your line manager and the
certificate should be either delivered or posted that day or as soon as practical.

2.5

Subsequent Statements of Fitness for Work should be submitted as appropriate
and your line manager kept informed of your progress.

2.6

If you are unfortunate enough to be ill whilst on holiday your absence will not
be recorded as annual leave for the time they were certified as sick unless a
doctor’s certificate is provided.

2.7

Regardless of how long you have been off sick when you return to work you
should meet with your line manager to discuss your absence. If your reasons
for sickness are of a personal nature then you may elect to speak to someone
in Personnel and Development instead.

Page 304

Back to top

Back to contents

3 Contact upon return to work
3.1

When an employee returns to work, their manager will discuss their absence
with them. The tone of this discussion would depend upon the frequency and
seriousness of their absence and therefore sensitivity to the individual
circumstances is critical.

3.2

This “return to work interview” is to:







Welcome the employee back to work;
Ensure that the employee is well;
To update them of any developments since being off sick;
Complete the self certification form together, or collect the Statement of
Fitness for Work;
If appropriate discuss their sickness record during the last 12 months and
Express any concerns the manager may have.

3.3

Should these reasons be of a personal nature, the employee may elect instead
to speak to someone in Personnel and Development in confidence or see
Occupational Health.

3.4

If for any reason the manager is not satisfied that the absence is genuine,
she/he will, in consultation with Personnel and Development, talk to the
employee about their absence.

Back to top

4
4.1

Back to contents

Returning to work
In order to help the employee to return to work as soon as they are able, a return to
work on a phased return to work may be considered and accommodated for a
temporary period only. The immediate manager and employee should review this
arrangement at least fortnightly. During a phased return, normal salary will be paid for
hours actually worked and the remainder will be treated as sick leave unless there
is no paid sick leave remaining, when it may be taken as annual leave . Any
hours treated as sickness absence must be reported and recorded as such to payroll
and ‘My Portal’ (where applicable).

Back to top

Back to contents

5 Categories of sickness related absence
5.1

Since no two cases will be exactly the same, and the circumstances will vary
considerably, management discretion will be applied in the following procedure
and each individual should be handled on a case by case basis. The following
sections of this policy refer to three different categories of sickness-related
absenteeism:


Repeated self certified absences

Page 305




Long term sickness with an expected return date
Chronic illness - a high level of doctor certified absence or one condition or
related conditions which are persistent and not improving.

Each case of absenteeism will be investigated individually with sensitivity.
5.2

The Council may refer employees to Occupational Health when it is felt
necessary.

5.3

Personnel and Development must be consulted before any action is taken in
the following circumstances:





Back to top

absenteeism due to pregnancy;
absenteeism that is or maybe due to a disability;
absenteeism due to suspected drug or alcohol related problem;
absenteeism due to a medical problem which may be related to an
individual’s work.
Back to contents

6 Repeated absences
6.1

On return to work the immediate manager will have a “return to work interview”
with the employee to discuss their absence with them.

6.2

Personnel and Development will notify Service Managers each month of the
staff within their Service unit whose self-certified absence reaches up to 5
occasions or 10 working days within the previous 12 months. The immediate
manager will talk to the employee about the diagnosis of their absences and
enquire whether the employee has consulted their General Practitioner. They
will try to establish if any of the occurrences are work related and discuss what
the employee can do to improve their attendance record.

6.3

The Council uses the Bradford Scores system which identifies those employees
with high incidence of short term sick leave. Personnel and Development will
regularly report Bradford scores to line managers. Details of the Bradford
Scores system are here.
Where an employee’s level of attendance reaches a stage where the manager
is concerned or it is affecting the delivery of service, the manager will discuss
the matter with the employee. The level of attendance may be affected by
repeated short term sick leave, emergency leave due to family sickness or other
unplanned leave. The discussion will be to determine the reason for the level
of attendance and the likelihood of it improving.

6.4

6.5

Where the manager notes that there is a pattern to the sickness absence (e.g.
most instances on a certain day) the manager will bring this to the attention of
the employee.

6.6

If appropriate, medical advice will be sought and if necessary the employee will
be required to see Occupational Health. Employees and managers will be

Page 306

expected to take and follow any medical advice offered to effect an
improvement.
6.7

The employee will be informed of any improvement that is required and made
aware of the likely consequences if such an improvement is not forthcoming.
The manager may set a standard of attendance and will continue to monitor the
employee’s attendance.

6.8

If the desired improvement is not forthcoming the matter should be dealt with in
the formal stages of the Council’s Capability Procedure.

Back to top

Back to contents

7 Long term or chronic illness
7.1

Where an employee is absent due to illness for an unbroken period of four or
more weeks, and there is no anticipation of an imminent return, the manager
will contact the employee having first spoken to Personnel and Development.
This contact would be to express concern for the individual and, where
necessary, to arrange a visit at their home.

7.2

An appointment will be made for the employee with Occupational Health to
obtain a report to ascertain:





the nature of the employee’s illness and the prognosis and the likely length
of continued absence.
whether the absence can be attributed to a disability under the Equality Act
2010, whether there are adjustments that could be made to accommodate
the disability to enable the employee to continue in post or, if not, whether
the employee would be capable of doing alternative work.
The employee’s GP / and or a medical specialist may also be consulted to
obtain a medical report.

7.3

Under the Equality Act 2010 employers have a duty to make reasonable
adjustments for disabled employees. Where this is required managers should
refer to the Policy on the Employment of People with Disabilities and consult
with Personnel and Development.

7.4

The absent employee’s immediate manager, will sensitively maintain regular
contact with the employee throughout their absence in order to:




7.5

enquire about their health and whether reasonable adjustments can be
made to help accommodate them at work.
enquire as to when they will be able to return to work if appropriate.
keep the employee informed if their level of pay is to change.

In the light of this information together with any medical evidence, the capability
of the employee to return to their normal duties or to alternative work will be
fully explored.

Page 307

Back to top

Back to contents

8

Redeployment

8.1

Where the employee is unfit for their current duties but fit for other duties, the
manager and personnel adviser must have full discussions with the employee
and their union representative, where a member, or workplace colleague, to
seek suitable alternative employment within the Council. This may involve
making reasonable adjustments to the new job to enable the employee to
undertake the role.

8.2

Where the employee takes a permanent post at a lower salary, pay protection
will not normally apply, except if on a phased return to work and temporarily redeployed for a maximum period of three months.

8.3

The Head of Personnel and Development should enquire of the LGPS whether
the employee would be entitled to an ill health pension. It should be noted that
where the LGPS believes that the employee may continue to work in a similar
capacity as they have been employed, then the employee would not normally
be entitled to an ill health pension.

8.4

Where after a period of 3 months, no suitable post has been identified within
the Council; the employee’s employment may be terminated on the grounds of
ill health in accordance with the Dismissal Procedure specified in the
Disciplinary Procedure. At this meeting the employee will be entitled to be
represented by a union representative, where a member, or workplace
colleague. The employee will be entitled to contractual/statutory notice and may
appeal against the termination of his/her contract to a Members’ Appeal
Committee. The appeal must be lodged in writing to the Head of Personnel and
Development within 21 days of the date of the letter informing them of the
termination of the contract.

Back to top

Back to contents

9 Retirement
9.1

If an employee is declared permanently unfit and recommended for retirement
on the grounds of permanent ill health, the manager and personnel adviser will
see the employee to confirm the Occupational Health Consultant’s opinion and
to describe the procedure to apply to the Local Government Pension Scheme
and financial implications. Once the LGPS has agreed that the employee may
receive a pension his/her employment will be terminated with the
contractual/statutory notice and confirmed in writing.

Back to top

Back to contents

10 Access to medical reports
10.1

Under the Access to Medical Reports Act 1988, Employees have the right to
request to see any medical report on them before it is passed to the Council.
They also have the right to refuse for the report to be shown to the Council. The
employee will be informed of these rights when requesting their permission to
obtain a medical report.

Page 308

10.2

Where an employee refuses to co-operate in providing medical evidence or
undergoing a medical examination, they will be advised in writing that the
actions/decisions subsequently taken will be based on the information available
and of the likely implications, i.e. ultimately, perhaps termination of their
contract.

Back to top

Back to contents

11 Sickness Payments
11.1 Subject to the provisions of this Scheme, an Officer absent from duty owing to
illness (which term is deemed to include injury or other disability shall be entitled
to receive an allowance in accordance with the following scale:
Service
During the first 4 months of
service
During the next 8 months of
service
During the 2nd year of service
During the 3rd year of service
During the 4th year of service
During the 5th year of service
After 5 years of service

Full Pay
One month

Half pay

One month

two months

Two months
Four months
Five months
Five months
Six months

two months
Four months
Five months
Five months
Six months

11.2 Heads of Service with advice from the Head of Personnel and Development
have the discretion to extend sickness payments in exceptional cases.
11.3 For the purposes of this paragraph service in a temporary capacity shall be
recognised.
11.4 For Occupational Sick Pay entitlement record purposes, (and without
prejudice to the Council's arrangements for self-certification days
(sub-paragraph (4)(a) below), and to any Local Agreements on "qualifying
days" for Statutory Sick Pay purposes) "one month" shall be deemed to be
equivalent to 26 working days, Saturday being reckoned in all cases as a
working day.
Back to top

Back to contents

11.5 Calculation of Allowances
11.5.1 The rate of allowance and the period for which it shall be paid in respect of
any absence shall be ascertained by deducting from the period of benefit
appropriate to the Officer's service on the first day of absence the aggregate
of the periods of absence due to illness during the twelve months
immediately preceding the first day of absence. In aggregating the periods
of absence no account shall be taken of any unpaid absence on sick leave.

Page 309

11.5.2 For the purpose of ascertaining the appropriate period of benefit all previous
continuous service shall be calculated in accordance with the Paragraph
entitled "Notice to Terminate Employment" of these Conditions.
11.5.3 The allowance payable under this Scheme shall not exceed the sum ( if any)
by which the total amount of benefits, allowances and payments referred to
below falls short of full pay.
NOTE: Under the Social Security and Housing Benefit Act 1982 the Council will be
required, subject to the provisions set out in that Act, to pay Statutory Sick
Pay to employees. State Benefits will be payable from the D.S.S. in
accordance with the Social Security Acts and Regulations. Accordingly,
there shall be offset against any allowance equal to full pay the following,
as appropriate:
i) the gross amount of Statutory Sick Pay receivable under the Social
Security and Housing Benefits Act;
ii) the amount of sickness benefit and invalidity benefits receivable under
the National Insurance Acts and Regulations made under the Acts;
iii) compensation payments under the Workmen's Compensation Acts
where the right to compensation arises in respect of an accident
sustained before 5th July 1948;
iv) the amount (if any) received as a treatment allowance from the
Department of Health or Department of Social Security. The
dependency element only of the treatment allowance shall be
deducted from sickness allowance. The Officer will, therefore, be
allowed to retain the personal element of his treatment allowance;
v) In the case of half pay periods the allowance is a sum equal to half
pay plus an amount equivalent to the Statutory Sick Pay entitlement
and other benefits receivable under (I) to (v) so long as the total sum
does not exceed full pay;
vi) Widows and married women exercising their right to be excepted from
the full payment of full rate National Insurance Contributions shall be
deemed to be insured in their own right for all National Insurance
benefits.
NOTE:

From 6th April 1983, in accordance with the terms of the Social Security
and Housing Benefits Act 1982, widows and married women exercising
such a right shall be entitled to receive SSP.

11.5.4 Where a widow or married woman has opted out of paying full National
Insurance Contributions the amount taken into account when calculating an
allowance under the sick pay scheme will be the amount equal to the total
state benefit and SSP receivable had full contributions been paid.
11.5.5 All Officers shall be under an obligation to declare to the Council their
entitlement to benefit under (c) above and any subsequent alteration in the
circumstances in which such entitlement is based, in default of which the
Council shall be entitled to determine the benefit by reference to the

Page 310

maximum benefit obtainable.
11.5.6 For the purpose of assessing sickness pay, account should be taken of the
insurance benefit actually received as distinct from the normal benefit
receivable subject to the Officer complying with the Regulations as to the
payment of contributions and the claiming of insurance benefit to the extent
to which the Officer is so required by this Council.
11.5.7 So far as widows and widowed mothers are concerned, regard will be paid
in calculating the amount of sickness payment only to such part of the
Statutory Sick Pay or National Insurance benefit received as is in excess of
the amount received by the Officer from the department of Social Security in
weeks of full normal employment.
11.5.8 Where Officers are receiving sickness pay, they should continue to receive
such pay if a Public Holiday occurs during sick leave. Where such Officers
have exhausted their period of entitlement to sickness pay, no payment
should be made (other than SSP if applicable) in respect of a Public Holiday
occurring during the period of the Officers' sick leave.

11.5.9 In determining the normal pay of an Officer during sick leave the Council will
include regular overtime payments made to Officers whose terms of
employment provide that they must, each month, work hours in excess of the
usual hours (and for which overtime is paid in accordance with the Hour of
Work and Related Allowances Paragraph of the Conditions) and other
regular payments made under the same Paragraph.
Back to top

Back to contents

11.6 Grant of Sick Pay to Victims of Crimes of Violence
11.6.1 Where an Officer is absent from work because of an injury in respect of which
a claim will lie to the Criminal Injuries Compensation Board and the Officer
is otherwise qualified to receive sick pay in accordance with this Paragraph,
such sick will be disbursed to that Officer without that Officer being required
to refund any proportion of it from the sum which the Compensation Board
may award, and
11.6.2 Where an award has been made by the Compensation Board, this Council
will discount wholly or partly the period of sick leave occasioned by the injury
in calculating the Officer's future entitlement to sick pay, as they may see fit
on consideration of all the material circumstances.
Back to top

12

Back to contents

Conditions

12.1 An Officer who is prevented by illness for reporting for duty shall notify
immediately the Officer prescribed for this purpose by the council. If the

Page 311

Officer’s absence continues after the third day the Officer shall provide
further notification as to the nature and probable duration of the Officers
illness to the Council.
12.2 The Officer shall provide a doctor’s Statement of Fitness for Work not later
than the eighth calendar day of absence. Subsequent doctor’s Statements of
Fitness for work shall be submitted to cover the Officer’s absence if it extends
beyond the period covered by the initial statement, at the same intervals as
required for National Insurance purposes and at similar intervals in respect
of the period for which SSP is payable.
12.3 Exceptionally, this Council will, in a particular case, require statements to be
submitted at more frequent intervals. In cases where the first doctor's
statement covers a period exceeding fourteen days or where more than one
statement is necessary the Officer must, before returning to work, obtain a
Final Statement of Fitness for Work as to the Officer's fitness to resume
duties. The Statements required should normally be those issued for National
Insurance purposes and if appropriate should be forwarded by the Council
without delay to the Department of Social Security. On return to work an
Officer will certify the reasons for all such absences up to and including seven
days.
12.4 Whilst no variation can be made in the requirement that sickness absence
must be certified by a qualified medical practitioner, the Council may, at its
discretion, accept certificates of Christian Science practitioners in particular
cases according to their merits.
12.5 An Officer entering a hospital or similar institution shall submit a doctor's
Statement of Fitness for Work on entry and on discharge in substitution for
periodical Statements.
12.6 A case of serious character, in which a period of sick leave on full pay in
excess of the period of benefit under Paragraph 1 would by relieving anxiety
materially assist a recovery of health, shall receive special consideration at
the Council.
12.7 An allowance shall not be paid in a case of accident due to active
participation in sport as a profession, nor in a case in which the absence
arises from or is attributable to the Officer's own misconduct.
12.8 A period of absence due to injury sustained by an Officer in the actual
discharge of his duty and without the Officer's own default shall not be
recorded for the purposes of this Scheme.
12.9 An Officer who is absent as the result of an accident shall not be entitled to
an allowance if damages may be receivable from a third party in respect of
such accident. In this event, the Council may, having regard to the
circumstances of the case, advance the Officer a sum not exceeding the
sickness allowance provided under this Scheme, subject to the Officer
undertaking to refund to the Council the total amount of such allowance or

Page 312

the proportion thereof represented in the amount of damages received. Any
period of absence in such a case where refund of the monies advanced is
made in full, shall not be recorded for the purposes of this Scheme. Where,
however, the refund is made in part only, the Council may at its discretion
decide to what extent, if any, the period of absence may be so recorded.
12.10 The Council may at any time require an Officer who is unable to perform
his/her duties as a consequence of illness to submit to an examination by a
medical practitioner nominated by the Council. Any expenses incurred in
connection with such examination will be met by the Council.
12.11 The provisions of this Scheme shall cease to apply to an Officer on the
termination of the Officer's employment in pursuance of the provision of the
Pension Act applicable to that Officer's case, whether by reason of
permanent ill-health, or infirmity of mind or body or by reason of age, but
without prejudice to the right of an Officer whose employment is terminated
by reason of age, but without prejudice to the right of an Officer whose
employment is terminated by reason of permanent ill-health or infirmity to
receive the period of notice provided by the Officer's Contract of
Employment.
12.12 If it is reported to the Council that an Officer has failed to observe the
conditions of the Scheme or has been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the
Officer's recovery and the Council is satisfied that there is substance in the
report, the payment of the allowance shall be suspended until the Council
has made a decision thereon, provided that before making a decision the
Council shall advise the Officer of the terms of the report and shall afford the
Officer an opportunity of submitting his/her observations thereon and of
appearing or being represented, before the Council or its' appropriate
Committee. If the Council decides that the Officer has failed without
reasonable excuse to observe the Conditions of the Scheme, or has been
guilty of conduct prejudicial to his/her recovery, then the Officer shall forfeit
his/her right to any further payment of allowance in respect of that period of
absence.
Back to top

13

Back to contents

Contact with Infectious Diseases etc. Persons Deemed to be Incapable
of Work

13.1 An Officer who in accordance with the National Insurance Act is prevented
from attending his/her place of employment because of contact with
infectious disease shall notify his/her Senior Officer immediately and shall be
entitled to receive full pay less benefits payable under the Act. A period of
absence on this account shall not be reckoned against the Officer's
entitlement to normal sick leave.
13.2 In the case of contact with other infectious or contagious diseases the Officer
should not stay away from duty if he/she feels well but should report the fact
of contact to his/her Senior Officer.

Page 313

Back to top

14

Back to contents

Reimbursement of Cost of Doctor's Statements

14.1 Where for the purposes of qualifying for an allowance under this Scheme the
Council requires a Doctor's Statement of Fitness for Work from an Officer, the
Council will reimburse any cost incurred in obtaining such Statements.
Back to top

Back to contents

Policy Agreed: JCC 17 December 2007
Updated in line with legislation: April 2011
Reviewed January 2014

Page 314

Equality Impact Assessment

3. These are known as the three aims of the
general equality duty.

1. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a
document that summarises how the council
has had due regard to the public sector
equality duty (Equality Act 2010) in its
decision-making. Although there is no
legal duty to produce an EIA, the Council
must have due regard to the equality duty
and an EIA is recognised as the best
method of fulfilling that duty. It can assist
the Council in making a judgment as to
whether a policy or other decision will have
unintended negative consequences for
certain people and help maximise the
positive impacts of policy change. An EIA
can lead to one of four consequences:

Protected characteristics

(a) No major change – the policy or other
decision is robust with no potential for
discrimination or adverse impact.
Opportunities to promote equality have
been taken;
(b) Adjust the policy or decision to remove
barriers or better promote equality as
identified in the EIA;

4. The Equality Act 2010 sets out nine
protected characteristics for the purpose of
the equality duty:


Age



Disability



Gender reassignment



Marriage and civil partnership*



Pregnancy and maternity



Race



Religion or belief



Sex



Sexual orientation

*For marriage and civil partnership, only the
first aim of the duty applies in relation to
employment.
Due regard

(c) Continue the policy – if the EIA
identifies potential for adverse impact,
set out compelling justification for
continuing;

5. Having ‘due regard’ is about using good
equality information and analysis at the
right time as part of decision-making
procedures.

(d) Stop and remove the policy where
actual
or
potential
unlawful
discrimination is identified.

6. To ‘have due regard’ means that in making
decisions and in its other day-to-day
activities the council must consciously
consider the need to do the things set out
in the general equality duty: eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of
opportunity and foster good relations. This
can involve:

Public sector equality duty
2. The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on the
council, when exercising public functions,
to have due regard to the need to:
(a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment
and victimisation;



(b) Advance equality of opportunity
between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it;

removing or minimising disadvantages
suffered by people due to their
protected characteristics.



taking steps to meet the needs of
people
with
certain
protected
characteristics when these are different
from the needs of other people.



encouraging people with certain
protected characteristics to participate
in public life or in other activities where
it is disproportionately low.

(c) Foster good relations between persons
who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not
share it (ie tackling prejudice and
promoting understanding between
people from different groups).

7. How much regard is ‘due’ will depend on
circumstances The greater the

the
Page 315

potential impact, the higher the regard
required by the duty. Examples of functions
and decisions likely to engage the duty
include: policy decisions, budget decisions,
public appointments, service provision,
statutory
discretion,
decisions
on
individuals,
employing
staff
and
procurement of goods and services.

policy, for example, is being developed and
agreed but also when it is implemented.


It is good practice for those exercising
public functions to keep an accurate record
showing that they have actually considered
the general duty and pondered relevant
questions.
Proper
record
keeping
encourages
transparency
and
will
discipline those carrying out the relevant
function
to
undertake
the
duty
conscientiously.



A public authority will need to consider
whether it has sufficient information to
assess the effects of the policy, or the way
a function is being carried out, on the aims
set out in the general equality duty.



A public authority cannot avoid complying
with the duty by claiming that it does not
have enough resources to do so.

8. In terms of timing:






Having ‘due regard’ should be
considered at the inception of any
decision or proposed policy or service
development or change.
Due regard should be considered
throughout development of a decision.
Notes shall be taken and kept on file as
to how due regard has been had to the
equality duty in research, meetings,
project teams, consultations etc.
The completion of the EIA is a way of
effectively summarising this and it
should inform final decision-making.

Case law principles
9. A number of principles have been
established by the courts in relation to the
equality duty and due regard:


Decision-makers in public authorities
must be aware of their duty to have ‘due
regard’ to the equality duty and so EIA’s
must be attached to any relevant
committee reports.



Due regard is fulfilled before and at the
time a particular policy is under
consideration as well as at the time a
decision is taken. Due regard involves
a conscious approach and state of
mind.



A public authority cannot satisfy the duty by
justifying a decision after it has been taken.



The duty must be exercised in substance,
with rigour and with an open mind in such
a way that it influences the final decision.



The duty is a non-delegable one. The duty
will always remain the responsibility of the
public authority.



The duty is a continuing one so that it
needs to be considered not only when a

Page 316

The Equality and Human Rights
Commission has produced helpful
guidance on “Meeting the Equality
Duty in Policy and Decision-Making”
(October 2014). It is available on the
following link and report authors should
read and follow this when developing
or reporting on proposals for policy or
service development or change and
other decisions likely to engage the
equality duty. Equality Duty in decisionmaking

Lead officer:

Joy Cross – HR Manager

Decision maker:

Cabinet

Decision:
 Policy, project, service,
contract
 Review, change, new, stop

Revised personnel policy document which forms part of the
conditions of service.

Date of decision:
The date when the final decision
is made. The EIA must be
complete before this point and
inform the final decision.
Summary of the proposed
decision:
 Aims and objectives
 Key actions
 Expected outcomes
 Who will be affected and
how?
 How many people will be
affected?
Information and research:
 Outline the information and
research that has informed
the decision.
 Include sources and key
findings.
Consultation:
 What specific consultation
has occurred on this
decision?
 What were the results of the
consultation?
 Did the consultation analysis
reveal any difference in views
across the protected
characteristics?
 What conclusions can be
drawn from the analysis on
how the decision will affect
people with different
protected characteristics?

October 2020

Proposed revised policy documents for Sickness Policy and
proposed new policy documents for Managing and
Supporting Attendance Policy and Probation Policy which
will be applicable to all Ashford Borough Council employees

caselaw research, best practice guidance, consultation with
key stakeholders, managers and Unison

Consultation was undertaken as detailed above which
resulted in numerous drafts of the proposed policies being
produced and discussed.
The policy document complies with UK employment law.

Page 317

Assess the relevance of the decision to people with different protected characteristics
and assess the impact of the decision on people with different protected characteristics.
When assessing relevance and impact, make it clear who the assessment applies to within the
protected characteristic category. For example, a decision may have high relevance for young
people but low relevance for older people; it may have a positive impact on women but a neutral
impact on men.

Protected characteristic

AGE

Impact of Decision
Positive (Major/Minor)
Negative (Major/Minor)
Neutral

Relevance to Decision
High/Medium/Low/None
Medium

Neutral

Middle age

Medium

Neutral

Young adult

None

Neutral

Children

None

Neutral

DISABILITY

Medium

Neutral

Mental

Medium

Neutral

Sensory

Medium

Neutral

GENDER REASSIGNMENT

Medium

Neutral

MARRIAGE/CIVIL
PARTNERSHIP

None

Neutral

Elderly

Physical

PREGNANCY/MATERNITY Medium

Neutral

RACE

None

Neutral

RELIGION OR BELIEF

None

Neutral

SEX

Medium

Neutral

Women

Medium

Neutral

SEXUAL ORIENTATION

None

Neutral

Men

Mitigating negative impact:
Where any negative impact
has been identified, outline
the measures taken to
mitigate against it.

Professional advice from HR team

Page 318

Is the decision relevant to the aims of the equality duty?
Guidance on the aims can be found in the EHRC’s Essential Guide, alongside fuller PSED
Technical Guidance.
Aim

Yes / No / N/A

1) Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation

n/a

2) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

n/a

3) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

n/a

Conclusion:


Consider how due regard
has been had to the
equality duty, from start to
finish.



There should be no
unlawful discrimination
arising from the decision
(see guidance above ).



Advise on whether the
proposal meets the aims of
the equality duty or
whether adjustments have
been made or need to be
made or whether any
residual impacts are
justified.



How will monitoring of the
policy, procedure or
decision and its
implementation be
undertaken and reported?

EIA completion date:

Due regard has been paid to equality through the drafting of
documentation by qualified HR professionals trained in equality
issues and a review of relevant employment case law.

The council’s revised policy register will assist services to meet
this
06.11.20

Page 319

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Agenda Item No:

16

Report To:

CABINET

Date of Meeting:

26 November 2020

Report Title:

Ashford Borough Council Enforcement at Sevington
Border Control Post (BCP)

Report Author &
Job Title:

Sheila Davison
Health of Community Safety and Wellbeing

Portfolio Holder:
Cllr. Peter Feacey
Portfolio Holder for: Community Safety and Wellbeing

Summary:

As a consequence of EU Transition, Ashford Borough
Council (ABC) will become responsible for delivering port
health controls at the new Sevington Border Control Post
(BCP). These controls relate to checks on imports of animal
products (products of animal origin and animal by-products)
and high-risk food not of animal origin (POAO) imported from
the EU. This report advises on the new service the council
will be providing, the support being given by the Department
for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (Defra) towards
establishing the service, and the collaborative work with
Dover District Council who are to implement a similar service
within their area. The BCP will operate 24 hours a day, 7
days a week, 365 days a year and involve over 120 staff
directly employed/engaged by ABC. The service is to be
introduced on a phased approach with documentary checks
starting on the 1 April 2021 and physical checks three
months later. This report addresses specifically the BCP
health control service to be operated by the borough council,
it does not address wider issues relevant to the operation of
the Sevington Inland Border Facility.

Key Decision:

YES.

Significantly
Affected Wards:

Recommendations:

Mersham, Sevington South with Finberry i.e., the location of
the BCP
The Cabinet is recommended to:I.

Note the progress to date in preparation for the
council undertaking port health controls at the BCP.

II.

Authorise the Chief Executive and Director of Law &
Governance, in consultation with the Leader of the
Council and Portfolio Holder for Community Safety

Page 321

and Wellbeing, to take all necessary steps and enter
any necessary agreement:
a) to secure funding for the council to
undertake all required port health functions in
relation to Sevington BCP;
b) use such funding for the agreed purposes
and
c) establish and manage a service providing all
required port health and related or subsidiary
function for the Sevington BCP in accordance
with statutory requirements.
III.

Express commitment to implementing the necessary
changes that will arise from the UK’s departure from
the EU as relevant to the discharging its port health
responsibilities.

IV.

Address subsequent reports on the progress of the
BCP as necessary.

Policy Overview:

The council has no previous involvement with port health
controls and therefore this represents a totally new policy
area. However, the purpose of the checks are to ensure that
only products that are safe to eat can enter the food chain, to
safeguard animal and public health and check compliance
with relevant rules and international standards, and therefore
these objectives are highly relevant to the council’s existing
food safety work and wider responsibilities to protect
consumers.

Financial
Implications:

The financial implications are significant. There is no
existing budget provision for this service either in regard to
initial project management, service design and
implementation, or when operational. All aspects will
require Government funding and underwriting as necessary
until such time as the service is operating on a full cost
recovery basis. This project is not currently reflected in the
Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP).
Officers are working closely with DEFRA on initial budget
allocations to setup and run the service for in the initial
stages i.e. to 31 March 2021. This is currently work in
progress and more information will be released once an
agreement has been reached.

Legal Implications:

The legal context for the council responsibilities for port
health controls at Sevington are set out in Article 49 of the
Official Controls Regulation (OCR), which requires
competent authorities to conduct checks at designated
BCPs.

Page 322

There are significant legal implications related to every
aspect of the BCP ranging from the grant and service
agreements with Defra, procurement arrangements and
subsequent contracts, and employment contracts. Once the
BCP is operational there are legal implications relating to the
day-to-day service i.e. the documentary checks, identification
checks for consignments, the physical inspection of goods
and related enforcement activity.
Equalities Impact
Assessment:

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be required for this
new service and will be prepared in due course. The service
will be designed taking into full account the council’s equality
duty.

Data Protection
Impact
Assessment:

The BCP will handle personal information and as such there
will be a need for a Data Protection Impact Assessment
(DPIA). This will be necessary for the initial service design
and ongoing receipt, holding and exchange of data once the
BCP is operational and the health are being conducted.

Risk Assessment
(Risk Appetite
Statement):

The risks associated with designing and implementing a port
health service of such scale in just a few months are
immense.
The council’s lack of previous experience in this area
exacerbates the risks, as does uncertainty over the likely
volume of checks that will be required.
There are considerable financial, reputational and legal risks.
The BCP has been added as a corporate risk and will be
reviewed and reported on as the project develops. The
council has a statutory responsibility to deliver this service
and is seeking the necessary reassurances from Defra to
mitigate the risks currently being identified.

Sustainability
Implications:

Outside the scope of this report.

Other Material
Implications:

There are significant staffing implications. The project is
already consuming council resources which, it is anticipated,
will be compensated for by the Government. Staff will be
employed on either a permanent or temporary basis by the
council. Agency staff will be utilised when necessary,
especially over the implementation period and initial
operational period. This will give flexibility to adjust
resources in line with demand. Existing council staff will be
involved in supporting the BCP development and continue to
be involved as the service goes live in a support role. There
are therefore material implications for many of our current
workforce.

Exempt from
Publication:

NO

Page 323

Background
Papers:

None

Contact:

sheila.davison@ashford.gov.uk – Tel: (01233) 330224

Page 324

Agenda Item No. 16

Report Title: Ashford Borough Council Enforcement at
Sevington Border Control Post (BCP)
Introduction and Background
1.

In late September 2020 information was received from Defra that the
Sevington Inland Port Facility (IPF) is to be designated a BCP and that as a
consequence the council will become responsible for carrying out various port
health controls on behalf of central government.

2.

The health controls (i.e. checks on food at the point of import) that the council
will be required to undertake are to ensure that only food that is safe to eat
enters the food chain, that animal and public health is safeguarded and that
there is compliance with relevant rules and standards.

3.

The council is not currently responsible for any port health controls and has
no experience of managing services relevant to port health activity. It is
stressed that the nature, full extent and volume of the services to be provided
remains unclear at this time.

The current position
Service required
4.

For imports of goods, the UK Government announced on 13 July 2020 that
Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) controls will be introduced in stages from
January 2021 to July 2021. Local Authority responsibility for these controls is
limited to checks on imports of animal products (products of animal origin and
animal by-products) and high-risk food not of animal origin.

5.

Under the phased approach, these checks will not be required until 1 April
2021, when remote documentary checks will be required to be undertaken by
the council on products of animal origin (POAO) imported from the EU.

6.

From 1 July 2021 the council will be responsible for undertaking documentary,
identity and physical checks on POAO and certain animal by-products (ABP)
at the Sevington facilities.

7.

Checks on live animals, POAO under safeguard measures, plants and plant
products will be carried out by the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA).
These will be carried out at destination from 1 January 2021, and at the BCP
from 1 July 2021. These checks are not undertaken by the council.

8.

A documentary check is an examination of official certifications, attestations
and other commercial documents that are required to accompany a
consignment. An identity check entails the visual inspection of a consignment
in order to verify its content and labelling corresponds to the information
provided in accompanying documentation. A physical check entails a check
on the goods to verify that they are compliant with the sanitary and

Page 325

phytosanitary import requirements for GB. This includes, as appropriate,
checks on the consignment’s packaging, means of transport and labelling.
Temperature sampling, laboratory testing or diagnosis may also be required.
Volumes and staffing requirement
9.

Defra have estimated, on the basis of their forecast of EU POAO import data
for Eurotunnel, that the following checks will be required annually. This is the
number of checks that the council will be making.

Risk
Based
Checks
10.

Documentary

Identity

Physical

Sampling

TOTAL

120,482

1,782

1,782

178

124,224

On the basis of this information and estimates of the time it takes to complete
the different check, Defra have recommended that the following staff numbers
are required.

Official Veterinarians (OVs)
Port Health Officers (PHOs) i.e., EHOs appointed
to undertake port health checks
Port Health Support Officers (PHSOs)
Admin
Team Leaders
IT
Legal
HR
Finance
Senior Management
Total

Staff estimates
14
14
46
26
7
8
4
3
3
4
129

11.

It should be noted that Defra only provided staffing estimates relevant to OVs,
PHOs, PHSOs, Admin, Team Leaders IT & Legal. Additional posts have now
been agreed as relevant to the overall management of this new service area.

12.

Additional resources have been identified to support the development and
implementation stages, namely project management support plus additional
HR and Finance resource i.e., over and above the staff estimates identified
above. We will also draw from the funds available for the posts identified in
the above table to support the project development and implementation i.e.
those employed /engaged before 1 April 2021.

13.

It should be noted that the council will be doing 100% document checks but
only around 1% physical checks. We are advised that the number of physical
checks will be less than 20 per day.

Page 326

Legal context
14.

The legal context for the council’s responsibilities for Port Health controls at
Sevington are set out in Article 49 of the Official Controls Regulation (OCR),
which requires competent authorities to conduct checks at designated BCPs.
The Trade in Animals and Related Products Regulations (TARP) 2011 and
the Official Feed and Food Controls Regulations (OFFC) 2009 then set out
those authorities as being the relevant local authorities, i.e., the borough
council for Sevington.

15.

The council has been advised by Defra that the Public Health Act 1984
precludes a Port Health Authority, such as Dover, acting outside of the area of
its jurisdiction set out in the relevant Port Health Order, hence, the approach
to Ashford and the need to plan local authority enforcement at Sevington and
designation of the council and staffing of the facility.

Defra support and financial implications
16.

Defra recognise that there are significant challenges as the council prepares
for the introduction of SPS controls on EU goods and are committed to
supporting the authority with its preparations. Defra officials are now chairing
a fortnightly Steering Group where the council receives policy updates and
are able to raise concerns and questions. Defra have also agreed to hold
regular meetings with council officers to provide a package of additional,
bespoke support given the scale of work we need to work together on. The
first of these sessions was held on 15 October to agree the principles of the
Defra and FSA tailored support.

17.

Defra have created a new “embedded” team who will partner us during
implementation, transition and through go-live until at least October 2021.
Defra will follow-up shortly with more information on this, including by
agreeing with us an initial list of areas where additional specialist support
would be most beneficial but have indicated that this will encompass project,
change and transition management support. They have indicated that where
the council may need to access commercial arrangements to support our
preparations, the team will be able to use existing Government frameworks on
our behalf.

18.

Defra have provided formal reassurance regarding any financial risk arising
from the recruitment of additional staff to our authority. A bid has been
submitted to the Port Health Authority (PHA) Transition Fund covering
recruitment, training and salary costs for this financial year. From next
financial year the council will introduce a system of fees and charges in order,
in theory, that we can generate enough revenues to cover our costs, including
for the first phase of implementation (documentary checks) between April and
July 2021.

19.

Defra are conscious that even though they have shared with the council the
best evidence available on the likely trade flows, these predictions might not
materialise, at least in the short term. As a result, Defra acknowledge that a
risk remains that we are not able to generate enough revenues to cover the
costs arising from the implementation of the new regime of checks post-April
2021. This financial risk, in the absence of certainty regarding funding made
available to the council, means that we may find it challenging to start

Page 327

recruiting new staff, and to attract the right candidates. Defra have indicated
that they do not want the council to under-recruit, which creates additional and
further pressures later in the implementation.
20.

Defra have therefore assured the council that in the event we experience a
shortfall in revenue in the period April 2021 to March 2022, they will absorb
the financial risk. This is on the condition that:






21.

our recruitment plans match those agreed as part of our application to
the PHA Transition Fund
we update Defra on progress to recruit additional staff for the purpose
of the future regime of import checks
where relevant, we can demonstrate that, from April 2021, we actively
use new evidence on actual volumes of EU-SPS imports, and on the
costs arising from the new regime of import SPS checks, to adapt the
size of our workforce:
we work with Defra on the establishment of a regime of EU SPS import
fees and charges, appropriate to cover the costs arising from the
implementation of the new regime of checks.

The bid, which was submitted to Defra on the 12 November 2020 covers the
staff costs (including shift payments) to 31 March 2021, non-staff costs
including ICT provision, PPE, payroll licence fees, training costs, agency fees,
EU sponsorship fees and on-going Home Office support, potential
reimbursement and visa costs, insurance and a management fee.

Risks
22.

In addition to the financial risk highlighted above, the council has no previous
experience of managing port health functions. It was first requested to provide
PHA services by Government just two months ago. The nature, full extent and
volume of those services remains unclear at this time, which is a risk not only
in terms of the bid submitted to Defra but in regard to the actual operation.
Many untested assumptions have had to be made in order to prepare the bid.

23.

Accordingly, Defra have been advised that the bid submitted by the council
cannot be taken as an indication or acceptance that the services can be
provided to the required standards. A number of government commitments
and assurances are required if the BCP services are to be set up and
operated in line with current expectations. Defra have been asked for
suitable assurances and commitments and we are engagingly positively
to resolve these matters.

24.

The council has, for example, requested a longer period of financial
underwriting while volumes stabilise and arrangements for jointly keeping
under review the impact of any changes to the regulatory or trading regimens.

25.

As well as the financial risks, there are considerable logistical risks involved.
The scale of the task is clear when one appreciates that the number of new
posts required represents at least 25% to 30% of the council’s current
workforce. There are also considerable concerns that the number of
professional staff required are just not there to be recruited. Defra are
assisting in regard to access to OVs but Port Health Officers and Port Health
Support Officers i.e., Environmental Health Officers and Technical Officers,

Page 328

are in very short supply. In addition a number of professional support staff are
required (such as legal support) and it is uncertain how buoyant the
recruitment market is for these posts. Recruiting this number of staff will be an
enormous task and will require recruitment agency support as well as the
additional permanent HR staff resources for both the implementation stages
and on-going service.
26.

It is worth emphasising that the BCP at Sevington has been planned on the
basis of taking imports from Eurotunnel. There is a risk that additional traffic
from the Port of Dover could seek to use the services at Sevington which
would increase the volume of EU POAO imports.

27.

These risks are being captured within the corporate risk register and BCP
project risk assessment. Early engagement with our audit service will further
strengthen our ability to identify and analyse risks as well as determine
appropriate risk responses.

Equalities Impact Assessment
28.

An Equalities Impact Assessments will be required for this new service and
will be prepared in due course. The service will be designed taking into full
account the council’s equality duty.

Consultation Planned or Undertaken
29.

Not applicable at this point in time. No doubt as the design of the service
becomes clearer it will be appropriate to liaise with service users and other
relevant stakeholders.

Other Options Considered
30.

There are no other options.

Reasons for Supporting Option Recommended
31.

The council would be failing in its statutory duties were it not to undertake the
required port health checks for a BCP located in its area. Defra have indicated
that in regard to Eurotunnel, the Public Health Act 1984 precludes a Port
Health Authority, such as Dover, acting outside of the area of its jurisdiction
set out in the relevant Port Health Order.

Next Steps in Process
32.

An officer steering group has been established to drive this project forward.
This group is chaired by the Chief Executive who is supported by the Director
of Law and Governance plus key Heads of Service including the Head of
Community Safety and Wellbeing, Head of HR and Customers Services,
Head of Finance and IT and Head of Corporate Property and Projects. They

Page 329

are joined by additional officers some of whom are being assigned to work
purely on this project. Arrangements are being made to back-fill within
services and where necessary this will involve the recruitment of temporary
staff.
33.

As soon as we have received confirmation of the funding bid, the hard work
really begins in terms of designing the service in detail, developing a timeline
for staff recruitment, identify the roles performed by the various staff groups,
purchasing the required IT systems and integrating them with council back
office systems, designing the checking processes, undertaking the necessary
recruitment and beginning the various training programmes.

34.

We are pleased to have not only the assistance of Defra but also the support
of the Association of Port Health Authorities and the Port of London. This
assistance will be invaluable.

Conclusion
35.

The creation of new inland border posts after EU transition is of national
importance. The site at Sevington is a key part of the national plan and when
fully operational will be one of the largest BCPs in England, possibly even the
largest. Our council will therefore play a vital role in making a success of the
country’s new trading arrangements with the EU. Designing and
implementing a service of this scale in such a short period of time is a
significant challenge, but one that will be met positively by the council. It
could not have come at a more difficult time i.e. in the middle of the covid-19
pandemic. We also face the wider challenges posed within Kent by leaving
the EU and the normal problems caused by winter weather. It will not be an
easy few months, but we will embrace the challenges and seek to maximise
benefits for our community.

Portfolio Holder’s Views
36.

The new service being developed for the Sevington Border Control Post is
definitely a challenge but equally is an exciting prospect for the borough
council. The scale of the task is vast, logistically complex and extremely time
sensitive. We are, however, fully committed to implementing the changes
that are necessary and discharging our responsibilities. I am heartened by
the support being provided by Defra, not only from a financial perspective but
also practically in terms of designing and implementing this service in just a
few months. I am also aware of the close collaboration between our council
and Dover District Council who face a similar challenge in their area. I am
sure that both councils will rise to the challenge before them and provide
these nationally strategic services.
Peter Feacey, Portfolio Holder for Community Safety and Wellbeing

Contact and Email
37.

Sheila Davison - Head of Community Safety and Wellbeing
(01233) 330224 - sheila.davison@ashford.gov.uk

Page 330

Agenda Item 17
JTB

Joint Transportation Board
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Microsoft
Teams on the 15th September 2020
Present:
Mr M J Angell (Chairman);
Cllr B Heyes (Vice-Chairman);
Cllrs. Burgess, Cornish, Feacey, T Heyes, Spain
Mr P W Bartlett, Mrs C L Bell, Mr D Farrell, Mr C Simkins.
In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (c) Councillor Spain attended as Substitute
Member for the Labour Vacancy.
Apologies: Mr Koowaree.
Also present: Councillors Blanford, Michael and Wright.
In Attendance:
Stakeholder Engagement Manager – Southeastern Railway, Senior Highway
Manager (EU Exit Highway Lead) – (KCC), Highway Manager East Kent – (KCC),
Principal Transport Planner – Transport Innovations – (KCC), Senior Schemes
Programme Manager – (KCC), Parking, Highways and Transportation Team Leader
– (ABC), Parking, Highways and Transportation Technical Officer - (ABC),
Community Projects Manager – (ABC), Member Services Liaison Manager – (ABC),
Member Services Manager (Operational) - (ABC)

49 Declarations of Interest
Mr Bartlett

Made a ‘Voluntary Announcement’ as he lived
close to Junctions 10 and 10A of the M20.

53 and 55

50 Minutes
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Board held on the 3rd March 2020 be
approved and confirmed as a correct record.

51 Parking and Waiting Restrictions – update summary
The report provided an update and summarised parking and waiting restriction
schemes that had been through the Joint Transportation Board. The Parking,
Highways and Transportation Technical Officer explained that the proposals which
69

Page 331

JTB
150920
had been held in abeyance during the initial lockdown period, had now all been
made and arrangements were in hand for the lining works to take place.
Resolved:
That the update on schemes be noted.

52 Ashford Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan
The report introduced the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 2020 – 2029
(LCWIP) which had been adopted by the ABC Cabinet on 28 May 2020. The
purpose of this report was to enable the LCWIP to be formally approved by KCC.
The Community Projects Manager (ABC) explained that by approving the plan it
would enable Ashford Borough Council and Kent County Council to access funding
from the Department for Transport and he was pleased to report that Ashford had
been the only authority in the country to be awarded funding to enable Sustrans to
undertake feasibility work.
The Vice Chairman read a letter from the Ward Member for Ashford Park Farm
South which advised that he objected to the proposed Mace Lane Scheme as he
considered that if it was implemented it would not only increase congestion on the
Hythe Road but would cause congestion on the Newtown Road, the A2070, Church
Road and Highfield Road. He also considered that it would affect the entire town and
cause more congestion and pollution leading to premature deaths from respiratory
disease. It would also have a direct impact on the residents of his ward and therefore
he urged the Board to reject this scheme.
The Community Projects Manager explained that the report contained a number of
recommendations for schemes but said that the Hythe Road/Mace Lane project was
not feasible and that Sustrans were looking at improving the links to the town from
South Ashford as a priority.
The Vice Chairman expressed concern over the proposals for Highworth/Barrow Hill
and the 20mph restriction and considered that the removal of a lane would have a
detrimental effect on traffic. In terms of the Godinton Road proposal he also said that
the scheme was not clear to him and that he would need further information. The
Community Projects Manager said that projects for South Ashford were the top
priority and therefore it was unlikely that all the schemes set out in the report would
go ahead. No funding was currently available and no schemes would be taken
forward until Sustrans had completed their feasibility work. If schemes were likely to
progress he undertook to report back to the JTB in more detail.
In response to a question about the Active Travel Plan proposal for Somerset Road,
the Community Projects Manager said that this was a different initiative and he said
that he would ask Kent Highways to provide more information and forward it to the
Member concerned.
In terms of a question about the level of costs of the LCWIP projects, the Community
Projects Manager said that he had sought external advice on these and explained
70

Page 332

JTB
150920
that they included the costs of new bridges, crossings and other civil engineering
works, together with professional fees.
A Board Member commented about the scheme for Jemmett Road and said that he
had concerns over the potential for parking restrictions being introduced which would
potentially cause parking problems in that area of South Ashford. The Community
Projects Manager confirmed that Ward Members would be consulted on proposals
as schemes were developed.
The Chairman said that he had a concern about the wording of the recommendation
requesting KCC to adopt the Plan and suggested a revised form of wording which
was agreed by the Board.
Post Meeting Note: KALC Representatives were unable to join the meeting,
however, Mr T Bartlett had supplied the following comments on this report:‘This LCWIP sets a good model for encouraging healthy cycling and walking in the
urban part of the Borough but I believe there must also be a complementary initiative
that recognises that the Ashford Borough is geographically a largely rural area. The
needs of cyclists and walkers in the rural areas are currently overlooked.
TRA5 and TRA6 in the Adopted Local Plan identifies their needs in new
developments and stresses their connectivity to the "existing networks". These
networks do not always exist in isolated developments in the rural area. Most
recreational cycling and walking, whether done by urban or rural residents, takes
place in the countryside, yet COM2 in the Local Plan fails to recognise this fact.
The rural parishes have been asked by KCC to prepare Highway
Improvement Plans, many identified projects to make the "shared space" of rural
roads in their villages and on semi urban roads like Sandyhurst Lane, safer for all
their users. We are now told that these HIPs are on the back-burner
whilst resources are devoted to delivering the Emergency Activity Transport Fund
projects. All of which are targeted in the metropolitan and urban areas. The needs of
the rural community cannot be ignored as we take the new "healthier living" agenda
forward’
Resolved:
That the planning arrangements for the Ashford Local Cycling and Walking
Infrastructure Plan 2020 - 2029 be approved and further details be reported
back to the Board in due course.

53 M20 J10A Construction Programme Update
The report advised on progress on the above scheme since the last meeting in
March 2020.
The report advised that work on the project was due to be completed in October
2020 and that this included the finishing off the drainage balancing ponds and the
71

Page 333

JTB
150920
Church Road footbridge and correcting snags such as damaged kerbs and chipped
paint from the steel bridges. Following completion in October the remaining tree
planting would commence in conjunction with the planting season for winter 2020/21.
The report advised that this would be the last update from the Junction 10a Team
and it thanked the Joint Transportation Board for the support it had given throughout
the construction of the project.
The Chairman advised that it was Road Safety Week and in relation to the A2070,
he had received an email from the Police inviting him to attend a meeting with ABC,
KCC and Highways England to explore issues in respect of the use of this road by
speeding motorcycles and vehicles and in particular on the stretch between Ashford
and Brenzett.
Resolved:
That the report be received and noted.

54 Highway Forward Works Programme 2020/21
Onwards
The report updated Members on the identified schemes which had been
programmed for delivery in 2020/21.
In response to a question about the footway improvement scheme at Godinton
Road/Sackville Crescent, the Highway Manager- East Kent explained that the
normal material had been used but said that the scheme was subject to inspection
and if it did not meet the required standard the contractor would need to remedy the
work at their own expense. She undertook to provide an update on this in due
course.
A Member referred to the scheme at the junction of Magpie Hall Road with Ashford
Road and asked what further measures were being considered. The Highway
Manager said that she would ask the contact officer to provide that information.
Another Member referred to the Combined Member Grant Programme, and in
particular to the Bybrook Road and The Pasture scheme and said that he was
concerned that if delivery was delayed the deadline for the spending of such grants
might be passed. The Senior Schemes Programme Manager – KCC agreed to
speak to the engineer concerned and said he would reply to the Member later in the
week.
In terms of the surface dressing scheme at Maidstone Road (Ashford Road), a
Member said that he had concerns about the quality of the repair. The Highway
Manager agreed to investigate and report back to the Member concerned. The
Highway Manager also said that in terms of a comment about traffic problems in
Willesborough with ‘rat running’ by drivers trying to avoid the new roundabouts on
the A2070, that these concerns would need to be logged and examined in due
course.
72

Page 334

JTB
150920
A further Member also advised that the scheme for Sparrow Hatch Lane was in
Pluckley and not in Smarden as stated in the report.
Resolved:
That the report be received and noted.

55 Mojo Site – M20 Junction10a – Update Report
The Senior Highway Manager (EU Exit Highway Lead) – Kent County Council gave
a presentation about the Sevington Inland Border Facility (as the site was now being
called), progress on the development and the future plans for the site. The
presentation also updated on the overall traffic management planning which was
ongoing for the end of transition on 31 December 2020. A copy of the slides used
during the presentation had been circulated to JTB Members after the meeting and
had been added to the published agenda on the Modern Gov pages on the ABC web
site.
The Senior Highway Manager explained that all freight traffic would be required to
use Junction 10A of the M20 to gain access to the site to avoid local impacts on
Junction 10 and the A2070 and from July 2021 it was intended that the site would
only be used for customs checks by Defra and the HMRC. He displayed a plan taken
from an ABC Planning Committee report in 2016 for the Stour Park Project and said
that the green areas and water features included as part of that project would still be
provided as part of the current scheme.
In conclusion the Senior Highway Manager confirmed that; the site area was 27
hectares (not acres); did not include a Saxon wall; it was to be used as a Customs
Clearance Site and the maximum capacity was for between 1300 and 1500 (not
10,000) lorries.
A Member said that an incredible amount of work had been achieved on site in just 8
weeks and he enquired about the existing footpath which crossed the site and the
timeline for works to the Church. The Senior Highway Manager said that in terms of
the public footpath on the site there would be only specific points where lorries would
be able to cross but he agreed to take this issue up with the designer of the scheme.
Works to the Church included the creation of a car park and work would commence
when the reptiles were relocated from the site.
In response to a question, the Senior Highway Manager said that a new traffic signal
controlled junction would be constructed to enable lorries to turn right from the site to
ensure that all movements were via Junction 10A. For the first 3 months of operation
measures would be put in place to ensure that lorries only used designated routes
and fines of £300 could be issued if these routes were not followed. Beyond the
initial 3 month period the situation would need to be monitored. The Smart Freight
App was also intended to be in operation by the time the site was due to commence
operation. HMRC and Defra were currently planning on using the site for a 5 year
period.
73

Page 335

JTB
150920
The Chairman thanked the Senior Highway Manager for the very informative
presentation and said that it would be helpful if the Board could be kept updated on
progress.
Resolved:
That the report be received and noted.

56 Update from Transport Service Providers
The agenda enclosed service updates from the Stakeholder Engagement Manager –
Southeastern Railway and the Business Development Director – Stagecoach South
East.
The Stakeholder Engagement Manager said that he was pleased to report that the
previous week Southeastern had operated at 98% of its services provided prior to
lockdown with more direct services to London. The Safety Travel Plan was a high
priority and he explained that the service was being operated under emergency
measures and close oversight by the government. The Company was being paid a
management fee for operating its services as the current franchising arrangements
were suspended.
In response to a question about flexible fares and capacity, the Stakeholder
Engagement Manager explained that services were being used at about 20% of
capacity although the trend was increasing week by week. Some promotional fares
had been marketed during the summer for trips to seaside destinations and
advanced fare offers had been promoted. The issue of flexible fares was being
looked at but he suggested that it might take some time for firm proposals to come
forward. The discussion on this was subject to commercial confidentiality at the
moment but he said that it might be based on two or three days of travel a week. In
response to a question he agreed to raise the issue of whether car parking changes
would also be based on similar travel arrangements.
The Parking, Highways and Transportation Team Leader – ABC, explained that her
team were looking at flexible car parking in conjunction with the private sector
operators and RingGo which were based on a three day week.
A Member said that encouraging modal shift was welcomed but asked whether any
measures were being considered to encourage the use of trains when they were less
busy. The Stakeholder Engagement Manager said that the point was well made and
it was one that the industry was aware of and reflected the fact that the current fare
system was in need of an overhaul. In terms of the short term the principal strategy
of the rail industry was recovery but in the long term he said that it was likely that the
franchise arrangements would change and operators would be paid a small fee
based on overall revenue to run the services.
The Chairman thanked the Stakeholder Engagement Manager for his report and his
attendance at the meeting.
74

Page 336

JTB
150920

57 Date of Next Meeting
8th December 2020

___________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these Minutes? Please contact Member Services:
Telephone: 01233 330564 Email: memberservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

75

Page 337

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 18
CA/TEB
Published
September 2020
Decisions effective from the 7th October 2020 unless they are called in or
recommended to the Cabinet/Council for approval
29th

Trading and Enterprise Board
Minutes of a Virtual Meeting of the Trading and Enterprise Board held on Microsoft
Teams on the 22nd September 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Bell (Chairman)
Cllrs. Clokie, Shorter.
Cllr. Ovenden (Observer).
In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2(c) Councillor Clokie attended as Substitute
Member for Councillor Pickering.
Apologies:
Cllrs. Feacey, Pickering.
Commercial Development Manager (A Better Choice for Property Ltd) (received after
meeting)
Also Present:
Cllrs. Burgess, B Heyes, Michael, Wedgbury.
Director of Finance and Economy, Head of Corporate Property and Projects,
Accountancy Manager, Senior Accountant, Member Services Manager
(Operational).

63

Minutes

Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Board held on the 26th November 2019
be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

64

Exclusion of the Public

Resolved:
That pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as
amended, the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the
following items, as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be
transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the public were
present there would be disclosure of exempt information hereinafter specified

Page
109 339

CA/TEB
220920
by reference to Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, where in the
circumstances the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.

65

Loan Facility – A Better Choice for Property

The Director of Finance and Economy introduced the exempt report which sought
endorsement of an extension and amendments to the finance facility to A Better
Choice for Property Ltd.
During the course of the discussion, responses were given to a number of questions
regarding: - the status of the current loan facility and the arrangements for
repayments; interest rates payable; the net interest receipts to the Council; options
for reviewing any agreed arrangements; insurance of assets; the legal status and
separation of Company Directors who were also employed by the Council; details
around the proposed operational loan; and whether the original Articles of the
Property Company were still being respected.
It was agreed that TEB Members should be given sight of relevant insurance
documents to assuage any concerns they may have over insurance of assets. It was
also agreed that recommendation (iii) should be amended to formalise an annual
review by TEB of the interest returns as part of the equity investment.
It was clarified that the recommendations would need to be approved by Full
Council.
Recommended:
That (i)

the available finance facility to A Better Choice for Property Ltd be
increased by a further £50m, bringing the total facility to £150m.

(ii)

an operational loan to the company of up to £1.5m be approved,
with the terms of the loan delegated to the Director of Finance and
Economy and the Director of Law and Governance, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and IT.

(iii)

an equity investment based on 20% of net interest returns to the
Council be approved. Authority be delegated to the Chief Finance
Officer to identify the appropriate funding mix, and this be
reviewed by the Trading and Enterprise Board on an annual basis.

66

Financial Statements – A Better Choice for Property
Limited

The Director of Finance and Economy introduced the exempt report which provided
the draft financial statements for A Better Choice for Property Ltd and its subsidiary
A Better Choice for Development Ltd. He advised that the statements were
independently audited and all were comfortable that the Company was doing what it
had been set up to do.

Page110
340

CA/TEB
220920
During the course of the discussion, responses were given to a number of questions
regarding the breach of the Debt to Cash Flow Covenant including an explanation of
its status and relevance.
It was agreed that the Commercial Development Manager for the Company would
provide TEB Members with confirmation of both the gross and net yield of current
assets.
The Board said it would also encourage the Company to fill the vacant post of a
second External Director as soon as possible.
Resolved:
That (i)

(ii)

the draft financial statements for A Better Choice for Property Ltd
and A Better Choice for Property Development Ltd be noted.
the Company’s position against financial covenants be noted.

Recommended:
That no action will be taken by the Council in response to the breach of the
Debt to Cash Flow Covenant.

Half-Yearly Management Update – A Better Choice for
Property Limited

67

The report updated the Board on the Company’s business activities over the six
month period from 1st July 2019 to 31st December 2019. The Board was
disappointed that the Commercial Development Manager of the Company was not
present at the Virtual Meeting to present the report. It was agreed that any questions
would be compiled and sent to him to respond to outside of the meeting.
The following questions were asked:



Where does the Company currently pitch its rents in terms of the market level
in Ashford Town? (low, mid or top-end)
Does the Company intend to reduce its exposure by investing in more houses
and other property than purely flatted accommodation?

Post Meeting Note: the Commercial Development Manager of the Company
contacted the Chairman after the meeting to apologise and advise that he had
been having IT connectivity issues which had prevented him from joining the
meeting. He asked for any questions to be passed on to him and he would
respond to TEB Members separately.
Resolved:
That subject to the responses given, the report be received and noted.

Page
111 341

CA/TEB
220920

___________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: (01233) 330349 E-mail membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page112
342

Agenda Item
19
LPPP/TG
Ashford Borough Council: Local Plan & Planning
Policy Task Group
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group held on
Microsoft Teams on 24th September 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Bartlett (Chairman)
Cllr. Shorter (Vice-Chairman)
Cllrs. Mrs Bell, Blanford, Clokie, Harman, B Heyes, Ledger, Spain.
Also Present
Cllrs. Burgess, Walder.
In attendance:
Head of Planning & Development, Team Leader – Spatial Planning, Deputy Team
Leader (Plan Making and Infrastructure), Principal Urban Designer, Senior Urban
Designer, Planning Officer (Plan Making and Infrastructure), Planning Policy Officer,
Graduate Trainee Planning Officer, Development Partnership Manager, Principal
Solicitor (Strategic Development), Senior Planning & Development Solicitor, Member
Services and Ombudsman Liaison Officer.

1

Declarations of Interest

1.1

Cllr Blanford made a Voluntary Announcement as she was a member of the
Weald of Kent Protection Society and the Campaign to Protect Rural England.

1.2

Cllr Clokie made a Voluntary Announcement as he was a member of the Weald of
Kent Protection Society.

1.3

Cllr Harman made a Voluntary Announcement as she was a member of the Kent
Association of Local Councils and the Campaign to Protect Rural England.

1.4

Cllr Ledger made a Voluntary Announcement as he was a Member of the Ashford
Branch of the Kent Association of Local Councils.

1.5

Cllr Shorter declared that his mother lived in a Grade II listed building.

2

Notes of the last meeting

2.1

The Notes of the meeting of the Task Group held on 29th July 2020 were agreed
as a correct record.

Page1 343

LPPP/TG
240920

3

Introduction to Task Group Reports

3.1

The Head of Planning and Development introduced this item and gave a
presentation. She said that the Government were proposing significant changes
to the planning process but that the changes were based on the existing planning
system, which would provide the bedrock for the new approach.

3.2

The Team Leader – Spatial Planning explained that there were two separate
Government consultations with different deadlines. The White Paper was mainly
concerned with medium/long term changes, and tended to cover more general
topics. It appeared that the Government was seeking feedback from local
authorities to provide a steer and that more detail would follow later. The
proposed planning changes were shorter term, and more detailed, specific and
technical. Officers were seeking input from the Task Group on the most
appropriate responses from the Council.

4

Top down ‘binding’ housing targets and the five
year housing land supply

4.3

The Team Leader – Spatial Planning introduced this item and gave a presentation
He covered the five main points arising from the proposals and the issues and
challenges which the Council would face. He said that there were some positive
elements to the proposals, but further clarification was required from Government
on exactly what local planning authorities were to work towards and any new
penalties which would be in place for failure to reach targets.

4.4

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following
comments/questions were raised:




A Member questioned whether the Government could be encouraged to
impose penalties on developers for failing to build out within a reasonable time
frame. He pointed out that the onus for development should not just be on the
local planning authority, but on developers too. There had been a recent
suggestion that developers could be charged council tax after a period of time
on permissions which were not built out. He considered that the Council’s
response should urge the Government to consider what motivations/penalties
could be introduced to incentivize developers to build.
Members agreed that the tone of the Council’s response must be assertive as
it appeared that the proposals were geared purely to deliver national targets.
A Member noted that Ashford Borough Council had a good track record in
terms of delivery but it appeared that the Council would now be expected to
deliver more which seemed to be punishing the efforts of local planning
authorities who were already meeting targets. Another Member added that
housing delivery should be spread throughout the whole country and not
concentrated in the south-east. He also commented that the Council’s efforts
must be geared towards protecting the Council’s position. The Team Leader –
Spatial Planning agreed that the tone of the Council’s response would be very

Page 344
2

LPPP/TG
240920
important, and that it should be focused on the Council’s interests, as well as
making suggestions about incentivizing developers.


A Member noted that the issue of local constraints was vague and asked for
clarification. He also pointed out that the White Paper was presumably written
before the emergence of the COVID situation, which had changed the housing
market. He considered that the White Paper should allude to this and take
this into consideration. He asked that the Council’s response should include
this point. He also expressed concern about the speed at which the
Government wanted to make the proposed changes. The Team Leader –
Spatial Planning agreed that the issue of local constraints needed clarification
from Government, who may interpret the concept differently from the Council.
He agreed that the issue of COVID was relevant and that the Council’s
response needed to make this point. He said the speed of the introduction of
the changes would affect the Council and would provide a significant
challenge.



A Member drew Members’ attention to a recent document which had been
drawn up by KALC showing that the recommended annual target could be
reduced by using different projections and calculations. He recommended
that this document should be considered when drawing up the Council’s
response.



Another Member thanked Officers for their hard work and efforts. He referred
to the Building Beautiful concept and said that national design codes needed
to be flexible enough to reflect local character. He also considered that listed
buildings should not be preserved in aspic, but should evolve in a tasteful and
appropriate way.

5

First Homes and Affordable Housing Threshold

5.1

The Development Partnership Manager introduced this item and gave a
presentation covering proposals for First Homes and Affordable Housing
Threshold changes.

5.2

A Member endorsed the questions raised about impact, and considered that the
proposal did not address the real difficulties at the lower end of the scale. She
considered it inappropriate to raise the threshold.

5.3

Another Member considered these proposals were not supported and required a
strong response from the Council.

6

Permissions in Principle (PiPs)

6.1

The Head of Planning & Development introduced this item. She said there
appeared to be confusion in the White Paper regarding PiPs. The proposals
would result in a number of negative outcomes for local planning authorities, such
as lower developer fees, provision of basic information only and a significant
increase in the Officer resources required. The lack of information would also be

Page3 345

LPPP/TG
240920
likely to result in a greater number of refusals. The two week window for
consultation with all statutory consultees and residents would constrict the ability
of interested parties to contribute. She pointed out that it would not be possible to
revisit PiPs at a future date in terms of technical consent.
6.2

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following
comments/questions were raised:


A Member commented that the proposals disenfranchised local
communities from contributing. Another Member considered that the
proposals were a developers’ charter, and were anti-democratic as the two
week consultation period would rule out many Parish Councils, who were
statutory consultees. Members were agreed that the Council should
respond on this issue in the strongest terms of objection.



A Member expressed concerns about height parameters of buildings. The
Head of Planning and Development said that any stipulation about height
would further complicate matters and make PiP applications more difficult
to determine.



In response to a question, the Head of Planning and Development advised
that due to the five week determination period, PiP applications could not
be considered by Planning Committee.

7

Proposals for area designation in Local Plans, changes
to Local Plan making and Neighbourhood Plans

7.1

The Deputy Team Leader (Plan Making and Infrastructure) introduced this item
and explained the proposals for three new designated areas. She said that
alternative proposals had also been put forward in the White Paper but the
Government made it clear that these were not their preferred options. The
Council’s response would comment that it was unclear how the designated areas
would be defined in practice and raise concerns whether the three categories
would work for Ashford. She explained that more detail would be also be
requested.

7.2

The Deputy Team Leader also highlighted additional proposed changes to Local
Plan making in the White Paper, including:







7.3

Shorter Local Plans with removal of Development Management Policies
Shorter timeframes for plan production and Examination process
Digitised and interactive web based Local Plans and public engagement
Move from Tests of Soundness to a test of ‘Sustainable Development’
The removal of the Duty to Cooperate – with views sought on replacement
Neighbourhood Plans to focus more on local design codes.

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following
comments/questions were raised:

Page 346
4

LPPP/TG
240920



A Member said that greater clarification on the designated areas was
required and that centralization of planning policy was to be avoided. She
considered that digitalization was not inclusive and it was generally older
members of the community who wished to engage in planning matters.
The Duty to Cooperate process was complicated, and she questioned how
the process could be improved. The Deputy Team Leader (Plan Making
and Infrastructure) agreed that it was unclear at present how the different
areas would be designated as the consultation was lacking in detail.



Another Member expressed concerns about protection of the green corridor
and felt it was worth addressing this issue in more detail in the Council’s
response. He considered that much of the Borough’s character derived
from the green spaces in villages, urban and sub-urban areas, and he
questioned how the three designated areas would protect the character of
the Borough. The Deputy Team Leader (Plan Making and Infrastructure)
agreed that there should be reference to the current Green Corridor
designation and local plan policy in the Council’s response and confirmed
that Design Codes could be a tool to be used for protecting local character
and features.



A Member commented that the proposals appeared to be trying to remove
the influence of local opinion and give power to Officers to make decisions.
He considered that this was non-democratic. He said there was a lack of
clarity throughout and it was important to make sure that residents were not
edged out of the process.



A Member questioned whether it would be possible for areas to be moved
within categories. The Deputy Team Leader (Plan Making and
Infrastructure) replied that the proposal was to review Local Plans every 5
years and at this point it would be possible to reconsider zones and areas.

8

Planning Applications

8.1

The Head of Planning and Development introduced this item. She explained that
once an area was included within the Local Plan as a Growth Area, outline
planning permission was immediately granted and in Renewal Areas there would
be a ‘presumption in favour’

8.2

The Head of Planning and Development summarised other changes to the
planning application process including:




8.3

Removal of Extensions of Time
National Development Management policies
The frontloading of consultation to Local Plan stage.

The Chairman opened up the item for discussion and the following
comments/questions were raised:

Page5 347

LPPP/TG
240920



A Member expressed concern that where immediate planning permission
was granted, applications could not be referred to Planning Committee and
decisions would be delegated to Officers. The Head of Planning and
Development confirmed that this was the case. The Member said that the
Council should respond very strongly on this point. Another Member said
that front-loading was an erosion of democracy and she was also very
concerned at the potential to avoid Planning Committee and circumvent the
democratic process. The Head of Planning and Development noted the
concerns expressed by Members. She said that one of the positive factors
was that a robust planning system was still in place and new outline
planning permissions would still come in to be determined.

9

Further business

9.1

The Chairman summarised the positives and negatives of the proposals
discussed so far. He advised Members that the deadline for the planning changes
consultation was 1st October 2020. For that consultation, Members agreed to the
recommendations contained at the end of the introductory report, and that a
covering letter should accompany the Council’s response to this consultation. The
Chairman said a draft of the covering letter would be circulated to Task Group
members but this would be very close to the consultation deadline, so any
important feedback should be provided urgently.

9.2

It was agreed that a further meeting was required in October to conclude the
discussions on the White Paper consultation.

Resolved:
That the Local Plan and Policy Task Group:
1. Notes the contents of Reports 1 and 2 as a means of framing the Council’s
response to the two Government consultations relating to ‘Planning for the
Future’ and ‘Changes to the Planning System’, and
2. Agrees that the detailed and final responses to the consultation questions
for the planning changes consultation shall be drafted and agreed between
the Head of Planning, the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Chair of Task
Group, subject to the points made in the Task Group’s discussion above.

10

Date of Next Meeting

10.1

21st October 2020 at 10am, Microsoft Teams
4th November 2020 at 2pm, Microsoft Teams
16th December 2020 at 10am, Microsoft Teams

Councillor Bartlett
Chairman – Local Plan & Planning Policy Task Group

Page 348
6

LPPP/TG
240920

_____________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page7 349

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 20
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the
Ashford Strategic Delivery Board held on Microsoft Teams on
Friday 16 October 2020 at 10.00am

Present:
Board Members
Cllr Gerry Clarkson (Chairman) – Leader, ABC
Rt Hon Damian Green MP
Cllr Paul Clokie – Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Corporate Property,
ABC
Cllr Neil Shorter – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Development, ABC
Mr Mike Whiting – Cabinet Member for Economic Development, KCC
Mr Michael Payne – Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation, KCC
Barbara Cooper – Corporate Director - Growth, Environment and Transport,
KCC
Paul Harwood - Highways England
Tracey Kerly – Chief Executive, ABC
Michael Claughton, Chairman, Ashford Access Group
Graham Razey, CEO, East Kent College
Non Board Members
Cllr Peter Feacey, ABC
Cllr Brendan Chilton, ABC
Cllr Dara Farrell, ABC
David Smith, KCC
Rebecca Anderson, KCC
Ben Lockwood, ABC
Paul McKenner, ABC
Jo Fox, ABC
Lorna Ford. ABC
Andrew Osborne, ABC
Christina Fuller, ABC
Jeremy Baker, ABC
Dean Spurrell, ABC
Charlotte Hammersley, ABC
Len Mayatt, ABC
Gilian Macinnes, ABC
Simon Cole, ABC
SallyAnne Logan, ABC
Keith Fearon, ABC
Also Present
James Seymour and Nathan Burns – Natural England (for item 3)
Haroona Chughtai and Kyle Cliff – Department for Transport (for item 2)

Page
1 351

Apologies
Tim Reid, Stephen Gasche, Matt Hogben, Rebecca Spore, Chris Moore

Item

1.

Notes

Welcome
The Chairman welcomed all those present to the Virtual
meeting being held on Microsoft Teams. He reminded all
present that the meeting was expressly confidential.

2.

MOJO Site
Haroona Chughtai (HG) and Kyle Cliff (KC) of the
Department for Transport gave a presentation on the work
being undertaken on the site.
HG explained that she was responsible for the delivery of
the site at Sevington and several other sites in Kent and was
working in consultation with KCC and Kent Police. The
objective was to have a site which would enable freight to be
kept flowing when the transition period with the EU ended on
1 January 2021 and to this end the DfT was also working
with HMRC and Defra.
In terms of the remaining parcel of land, the Chairman
advised that the ABC Council had considered a Petition
which was seeking to protect that land from development
and explained that this had been supported by the Council
at its meeting on 15 October.
KC displayed site plans and summarised how the site was
intended to operate. In response to a question he explained
that he was on site at least once a week and was in regular
communication with local residents and was dealing with
any issues of concern that they raised.
Tracey Kerly (TK) asked about the role of the Waterbrook
site. HC said that the Waterbrook site was operated by
HMRC and that it was not intended that it would operate in
tandem with the Sevington site.
The Chairman thanked both Haroona and Kyle for attending
the meeting.

Page 2352

Action

3.

Stodmarsh Nitrate Neutrality
James Seymour (JS) from Natural England outlined the
background to the current position in terms of the steps they
were taking to achieve nitrate neutrality at the site in
Stodmarsh. He explained that following a legal case in 2018,
Natural England had now changed their advice and if a
Local Plan or project might create a potential pollution issue,
then they would have an objection. Evidence had been
collected which supported their position but they had
developed a toolkit which developers and local authorities
could use to mitigate such potential problems.
Damian Green (DG) said that he believed that the position
being taken by Natural England could bring it into conflict
with the Government’s housing objectives and furthermore it
was difficult for local authorities to remedy the problem as
the disposal of waste water was not one of their
responsibilities. JS said that local authorities and developers
could plan for remedial measures but these had to be in
place prior to the first occupation of new dwellings.
Barbara Cooper (BC) said that the current situation was
frustrating and explained that it was an issue which was
common to a number of local authorities in Kent and was
especially problematic in terms of ‘live’ planning
applications. Mike Whiting (MW) explained that he believed
that a more strategic approach needed to be developed to
help resolve this situation.
TK said that ABC were happy to help in terms of finding a
solution but considered that this was needed as a matter of
urgency. JS thanked the Board for their views and agreed to
raise this with his Directors and the DCLG.
Simon Cole (SC) explained that a meeting of the Ashford
Water Group had taken place which was comprised of all
key stakeholders, although Southern Water had not been
present. ABC intended to secure external specialists who
could advise and bring forward potential solutions and he
suggested that the Board may wish to hear from them at the
next meeting.

Page
3 353

4.

Ashford College
Graham Razey (GR), CEO of East Kent College Group gave
a presentation on the college following its transfer to the
East Kent College Group. He explained that the Group was
comprised of 6 colleges, 4 Business Units and a Trust. The
Group had in the region of 1400 staff and a turnover of
£63m.
In terms of the Ashford offer, he said that he believed that
there was a huge potential for growth and said that a Local
Board was in place to take forward the development of the
college. In addition to the Phase 1A site (which they now
referred to as Phase 2) the college were also looking at
establishing a site on the former Newtown Works
development, particularly in respect of creative arts. In
response to a question he indicated that the College wished
to take forward both Phase 2 and the Newtown Site at the
same time and funding would be sought via the LEP. He
said that there was a need for the College to be in a position
to provide technical and vocational training to support local
industry.
The Chairman said that ABC were available to help the
College if needed. Michael Claughton advised that Ashford
Access had members who would also be able to help and
agreed to contact GR outside of the meeting.
The Chairman thanked Graham Razey for the presentation.

5.

Town Centre Reset
Andrew Osborne (AO) gave a presentation on the Town
Centre Reset and explained that the document had been
discussed with both Officer and Members at ABC and the
purpose of it was to provide a clear strategic direction for the
town centre.
The initial area of focus would be down Bank Street and
County Square and Elwick Road and the document would
be presented to the ABC Cabinet in November.

6.

Eurostar
AO gave an update on Eurostar services and explained that
as passenger figures were 90% down they had taken the
decision to not stop at Ashford or Ebbsfleet until 2022.
Eurostar had however indicated that it was their intention to
reinstate the services when demand returned and they had
agreed to meet regularly with ABC and to share passenger

Page 4354

numbers.

7.

Big 8 Project Updates
The report enclosed with the agenda set out the latest
position on progress in respect of the new Big 8 projects.

8.

Watching Brief Projects
The report enclosed with the agenda set out the latest
position in respect of the Watching Brief projects.

9.

Dates of Future Meetings
Friday 19 February 2021 at 10.00am
Friday 16 April 2021 at 10.00am

Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Tel: 01233 330564 Email: memberservices@ashford.gov.uk
Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page
5 355

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 21
C&CPB

Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board
Notes of a Virtual Meeting of the Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board held on
the 14th October 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Clarkson (Chairman)
Cllrs. Burgess, Link (ex-officio), L Suddards,
Apologies:
Cllrs. Forest, Ovenden, Grounds Maintenance Operations Manager, Assistant
Grounds Maintenance Operations Manager.
Also in attendance:
Cllr. Webb.
Head of Culture, Head of Corporate Policy, Economic Development and
Communications, Head of Environment and Land Management, Tourism and
Heritage Manager, Heritage Development Officer, Civic Engagement Officer, Arts
and Cultural Industries Manager, Volunteer and Community Engagement Officer,
Member Services Liaison Manager.

Notes of the Previous Meeting of the Board – 19th
February 2020
1.1

The notes of the Meeting held on the 19th February 2020 were approved and
confirmed as a correct record.

Remembrance Sunday 2020 - Update
2.1

The Member Services Liaison Manager drew attention to his report and
advised that due to the Covid pandemic he had discussed the format of this
years event with the Leader and the Member Champion for Military Covenant
and Ceremonial Liaison. Arising from this discussion it was agreed that the
event should be ‘closed’ and much reduced and would be confined to the area
of the Gardens around the War Memorial. He further explained that a
meeting with the Royal British Legion, REME and Sea Cadets had taken
place and said that they were supportive of the much reduced event.

2.2

He referred to paragraphs 10 to 12 of the report and sought the Boards views
on the suggested reduction in the number of the Council representatives to
participate in the event to ensure that social distancing could be respected.
He also explained that arrangements were in hand for the event to be live-

Page
1 357

C&CPB
141020
streamed on the Council’s facebook page to ensure that the public would still
be able to watch the event and that appropriate advanced publicity would be
undertaken.
2.3

He also sought the Boards support to closing the entrances to the Gardens
from Vicarage Lane and Station Road for period of time before and after the
event to avoid the situation of members of the public gathering in the gardens
adjacent to the access track. The Head of Environment and Land
Management confirmed that Aspire would be on hand to assist and would
also place appropriate signage on the gates advising of the temporary closure
of the gardens.

2.3

The Board supported the proposals for the event and also the revised
Borough representation as set out in paragraph 12 of the report with the
addition of Mrs Clarkson who would accompany the Leader.

Resolved:
That the Board supported the proposals for the event as set out in the report.

Feedback on Victory in Europe (VE) and Victory in
Japan (VJ) 75th Anniversary Celebrations; Battle of
Britain 80th Anniversary Commemoration and Mr
Harper’s Birthday
3.1

The Heritage Development Officer summarised the content of his report which
gave an update on the above events which had taken place since the last
meeting of the Board. He displayed the various web pages comprising
Ashford Remembers World War II which had been developed and produced
to provide information on each of the events.

3.2

The Chairman commended the detailed content of the web pages and
congratulated all those who had been involved with the various events.

Resolved:
That the progress report be received and noted.

Feedback on Armed Forces Day; Merchant Navy Day
and Civic Office Update
4.1

The Civic Engagement Officer’s report gave an update on the above events
which had taken place since the last meeting of the Board together
information on the work of the Civic Office.

4.2

The Civic Engagement Officer explained that the Armed Forces Day had been
the first physical event to be held under Covid with appropriate social

Page 2358

C&CPB
141020
distancing measures in place and said that this event had been used as the
template for subsequent events.
4.3

Councillor Webb said that in her role of Mayor at that time it had been her
privilege to undertake the video message at Easter and she thanked the Civic
Engagement Officer for her work in enabling that to happen.

Resolved:
That the update be received and noted.

Ashford Borough Heritage Plaque Scheme
5.1

The Tourism and Heritage Manager explained that last year the Cabinet had
approved the provision of £25k for this scheme and that the Board had agreed
to progress 4 plaques. However due to the Covid pandemic work on this had
ceased and indeed the funding was now no longer available and was not in
the Council’s Recovery Plan.

5.2

As a way of still taking this initiative forward, the Tourism and Heritage
Manager explained that a digital version of the scheme could be developed.
Draft web pages created in house were displayed which would allow the user
to hover over each site and information about the person and the name of the
building would be shown. There would also be a link to google maps to enable
directions to be provided. The Tourism and Heritage Manager also said that it
might be possible to work up a scaled down version of the scheme for
approximately £5k for up to two plaques and that officers could seek
sponsorship to cover the costs.

5.3

The Chairman said that he was supportive of the digital scheme and
considered that there was a need to show a picture of the actual plaque on
the relevant web page. He also said that subject to the views of the Board he
would discuss potential funding options for the continuation of the physical
scheme with both the Chief Executive and the Head of Culture. The Board
supported the intentions of the Chairman.

Resolved:
That (i) the digital version of the scheme be progressed.
(ii) the Chairman discuss potential funding options for the continuation of
the physical scheme with the Chief Executive and Head of Culture.

Audit of Monuments, Statues and Plaques in the
Ashford Borough
6.1

The Board considered the report of the Tourism and Heritage Manager which
advised that in the view of damage to statues in various parts of the Country
the Kent Police had had asked the Borough Council to identify any iconic
3

Page 359

C&CPB
141020
statues or sites at potential risk, due to links with colonisation or slavery in the
Borough.
6.2

Officers had undertaken the review and the report set out those statues and
monuments which had been examined. Arising from this exercise the Portfolio
Holder and Management Team were consulted and who had agreed that no
further action needed to be taken.

Resolved:
That the report be received and noted.

Ashford Railway Theatre Project update including
Ashford Borough Museum Oral History Project
7.1

The Board considered the update report on the above project which had been
postponed in mid-March due to the Covid - 19 pandemic. The Arts and
Cultural Industries Manager explained that despite The Company identifying
additional funding for the project they had not been able to run the event and
accordingly the Council had decided not to pay the final contract payment of
£12k.

7.2

The Arts and Cultural Industries Manager explained that The Company had
kept in contact with many of the groups involved in the production throughout
the pandemic and that they were still looking at alternative ways by which the
project could be delivered. He asked for the support of the Board to formally
thank The Company for all their efforts in attempting to bring the project to
fruition. He also explained that the script and oral history was still available
and asked how the Board would like to see it progressed. In response to a
question he indicated that in the region of £10k would be needed to produce a
scaled back version of the production by perhaps producing a radio show.

7.3

The Chairman indicated that he was in discussion with the developer of the
former Newtown Works site with a view to a memorial being placed on the site
to commemorate the people who had been killed when a WWII bomb had
been dropped on the railway works and he considered that there was perhaps
an opportunity to tie this in with a scaled back delivery of the Railway Trilogy.
The Civic Engagement Officer also drew attention to the fact that the autumn
of 2022 would see the 180th anniversary of the railways arriving in Ashford
and suggested that a whole series of events could be based around this
particular theme. The Head of Environment and Land Management said that
Aspire still had the coffee pot train which could also be used as part of the
overall event.

Resolved:
That the progress be noted and the ideas set out in paragraph 7.3 above
be supported.

Page 4360

C&CPB
141020

Victoria Park HLF Project update
8.1

The Volunteer and Community Engagement Officer reported that three
members of the team had joined during the pandemic and the first event that
they had been involved with was the birthday celebrations for Mr Harper.
Work was also being undertaken with the community for them to share their
memories of the park and there was also an initiative being run to find out
more information about the missing stags from around the fountain.

8.2

Steps were also being taken to find out more information about the history of
the park, particularly the period between the two world wars, and this would
include research of Council Minutes via Kent Archives. Other events included
Arbour Day, which was intended to be a village green type event and also
annual tree planting. It was also hoped that in future the organisation of Mr
Harpers birthday could be organised by the local community. £15k was
available for the refurbishment of the actual fountain itself. This meant that the
external appearance of the fountain and internal workings would not have a
full refurbishment as a result of this project. The bowl and surrounding patio
were covered by the capital works budget so they would be refurbished.

Resolved:
That the report be received and noted.

Anniversary and Events Calendar – update on
forthcoming events
9.1

The Heritage Development Officer summarised the contents of the
Anniversary and Events Calendar and explained that 2021 was currently quite
a quiet year with the Holocaust Memorial Day in January and the postponed
event from 2020 in Charing marking the visit by King Henry VIII on his journey
to the Field of the Cloth of Gold. He said that 2022 would be very busy and
would include Warship Week, the Queen’s Platinum Jubilee, the 180th
anniversary of the railway in Ashford and Ashford would also host the Civic
Twinning Visit.

9.2

The Head of Culture said that as 2021 was a relatively quiet year it would
allow Officers to plan for 2022 which would see a large number of events,
including the possibility of the giraffes (Snow Dogs 2). Councillor Webb drew
attention to the event in 2022 to mark the 80th Anniversary of Ashford Sea
Cadets and HMS Albacore and said that the Board might wish to invite Sub
Lieutenant D’ Agostina, of the Sea Cadets to give a presentation on their
history.

Resolved:
That the report be received and noted and Sub Lieutenant D’Agostina of
the Sea Cadets be invited to the next meeting.
5

Page 361

C&CPB
141020

10

Date of Next Meeting

10.1

Date to be advised.

Councillor Clarkson
Chairman – Civic and Ceremonial Programme Board

_________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services
Telephone: (01233) 330564 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page 6362

Agenda Item
CEB 22
Compliance and Enforcement Board
Notes of a Meeting of the Compliance and Enforcement Board held on Microsoft
Teams on the 27th October 2020.
Present:
Cllr. Bell (Chairman);
Cllr. Feacey (Vice-Chairman)
Cllrs. Bartlett (ex-officio), Spain
Apologies:
Cllrs. Buchanan, Shorter (not able to access the meeting)
Also in attendance:
Director of Law and Governance, Head of Planning and Development, Deputy Team
Leader – Planning Enforcement, Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager,
Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager, Member Services Liaison
Manager.

1.

Declarations of Interest

1.1

Cllr. Feacey made a Voluntary Announcement as his daughter was having a
house built near one of the sites referred to in the Planning Enforcement
Update report.

2.

Notes of the Meeting of 28th January 2020

2.1

The Board agreed the notes as an accurate record.

3.

Environmental Crime Enforcement in Ashford

3.1

The Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager introduced his report
which identified environmental crime enforcement activities for the period from
January to August, and highlighted the key points in the report. He explained
that due to the Covid Pandemic the recruitment of staff to form the
enforcement team had been suspended. In the interim the Council’s Fraud
and Investigation Team were assisting with investigation work in terms of fly
tipping which he explained had increased. Fixed penalty notices had been
issued in respect of sites at Acton Lane Wittersham, Great Herons Wood,
Kenardington and the Ellingham Industrial Estate.

3.2

The Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager drew particular
attention to the successful prosecution for the dumping of building materials in
Biddenden, which had resulted in the payment of costs and a custodial

Page 363
1

CEB
271020
sentence. In response to a question, he explained that the increase in fly
tipping was above the seasonal norm which he suggested could have been
related to the temporary closure of the Kent County Council Transfer station
for repair work.
3.3

A Member asked about the cost of clearing up the waste and the
Environmental Contracts and Enforcement Manager said he could include
such information in future reports to the Board but said that it was based on a
fixed price contract.

3.4

In terms of the recruitment process for enforcement staff, the Environmental
Contracts and Enforcement Manager hoped that this could progress but said
that at the present time the recruitment freeze was still in place. The
Chairman said that it was important for the Board to know if this delay was
having a detrimental impact on incidents of fly tipping.

Recommendations/Actions:
That the update report be received and noted.

4

Anti-Social Behaviour in Ashford - Update

4.1

The report provided the Anti-social Behaviour (ASB) performance update for
the period from January to September. The Community Safety and Wellbeing
Manager ran through the performance data in relation to the Community
Safety Partnership and explained that Kent Police had issued 12 Dispersal
Orders for various issues and 4 Dispersal Notices for people not leaving the
town centre. The Ashford CSU had secured a Partial Closure Order in respect
of a property of a vulnerable adult and ABC Housing had secured 2 Orders in
respect of noisy parties and drug related issues.

4.2

The Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager also confirmed that there had
been an increase in ASB and drew attention to the information set out in the
table in the report. Possible reasons for this increase included the improved
reporting methods, i.e. the report it app and improved public confidence to
report. In terms of Public Space Protection Orders, Officers had been working
with residents of the Ashford Churchyard and arising from this the gate would
be closed for an additional night each week. The Singleton Lake PSPO had
been renewed and the one at Henley Fields was being reviewed and authority
would be sought to renew this for a further three year period. In conclusion,
the Community Safety and Wellbeing Manager explained that the Cabinet had
approved an ASB policy in February and in September had agreed the
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement.

4.3

The Vice Chairman explained that he was a member of the Kent and Medway
Crime Board and was aware that instances of ASB were increasing across
Kent. In response to a question, the Community Safety and Wellbeing
Manager confirmed that Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) did not have
delegated powers to request closure orders and that they had to obtain them
via the Council or police. ABC Officers had met with RSL’s and were

Page 364
2

CEB
271020
developing a package to help support them in obtaining closure orders. ABC
was able to delegate Community Protection Notices to RSL’s and this would
be explored in 2021.
Recommendations/Actions:
That the update report be received and noted.

5

Planning Enforcement Update

5.1

The Head of Planning and Development introduced the report which provided
an update on the work of the Planning Enforcement team for the reporting
period 16 December 2019 to 30 September 2020. She drew particular
attention to the number of changes in the planning team following the ongoing restructure and advised of specific changes in respect of the Planning
Enforcement Team. The Head of Planning and Development introduced the
Deputy Team Leader - Planning Enforcement who had recently joined the
team but explained that due to budgetary constraints it would not be possible
to retain the services of the Consultant who had extensive knowledge and
experience.

5.2

In terms of the period from December 2019 to September 2020, there had
been 316 live cases, with 237 opened and 199 closed. Because of Covid, site
visits had ceased for a period, however covid secure site visits were now
being undertaken but only when absolutely necessary. The Head of Planning
and Development considered that more members of the public were spotting
breaches and reporting them to the Council. Four High Court injunctions had
been granted in the period but many cases had been subject to negotiation
which had resulted in subsequent planning applications.

5.3

The Chairman said that in terms of enforcement it was important for the
Cabinet to be kept informed on resourcing issues, including the point about
the potential loss of the ability to be able to utilise the services of the
experienced consultant. He also asked that the Cabinet be kept informed
about weekend cover arrangements put in place to deal with potential Gypsy
and Traveller issues.

5.4

A Member said that he would find it useful to have information about the type
and cost of various enforcement actions and suggested that they be
presented as a form of flow chart known as a Sankey flow diagram. The Head
of Planning and Development said that the current IT system used by
Planning was not that flexible or good for reporting, however the new system
which was to be installed would offer much better reporting tools. The
production of an Enforcement Plan could also be used to provide such
information.

5.5

Another Member drew attention to the fact that almost 50% of cases had
been closed as a result of negotiation which he believed represented a high
level of compliance. He said that it was important that Officers were in place
to deal with enforcement issues as often residents did not wish to tackle their

Page
3 365

CEB
271020
own neighbours and therefore said that he would support any requests for
additional resources. The Chairman said that he wished to reiterate his earlier
comment that it was important for the Cabinet to consider and make decisions
on this issue.
5.6

The Head of Planning and Development said that this year the service was
fully resourced in respect of the approved structure, it was just the issue
relating to funding for specialist enforcement support.

Recommendations/Actions:
That the update report be received and noted.

6
6.1

Dates of Future Meetings
Tuesday 25 January 2021 at 10.00am
Tuesday 27 April 2021 at 10.00am
Tuesday 27 July 2021 at 10.00am
Tuesday 26 October 2021 at 10.00am

Councillor Bell (Chairman)
Compliance and Enforcement Board

_________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these minutes? Please contact Member Services:
Telephone: 01233 330349 Email: membersservices@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: http://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page 366
4

Agenda Item 23
Agenda Item No:

23

Report To:

CABINET

Date:

26TH NOVEMBER 2020

Report Title:

SCHEDULE OF KEY DECISIONS TO BE
TAKEN

Report Author and
Job Title:

Danny Sheppard, Member Services Manager (Operational)

Portfolio Holder:

Portfolio Holders are individually specified in the attached
Schedule.

Summary:

To set out the latest Schedule of Key Decisions to be taken by
the Cabinet of Ashford Borough Council.

Key Decision:

NO

Significantly
Affected Wards:

Where appropriate, individual Wards are indicated.

Recommendations That the Cabinet receive and note the latest Schedule of
Key Decisions.
Policy Overview:

Under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations
2012, there is no longer a legal requirement to publish a
Forward Plan of Key Decisions, however there is still a
requirement to publish details of Key Decisions 28 clear days
before the meeting they are to be considered at. The Council
maintains a live, up to date rolling list of decision items on the
Council’s website, and that list will be presented to the Cabinet
each month, in its current state, for Members’ information.

Financial
Implications:

Nil

Legal
Implications:

n/a

Equalities Impact n/a
Assessment
Other Material
Implications:

Nil

Exempt from
publication:

No

Background
Papers:

None

Contacts

danny.sheppard@ashford.gov.uk
– Tel: 01233 330349
Page 367

CABINET
SCHEDULE OF KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN
The following Key Decisions will be taken by Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet on the dates stated.
Ashford Borough Council’s Cabinet is made up of: - Councillors Gerry Clarkson; Paul Bartlett; Bill Barrett; Neil Bell; Andrew
Buchanan; Paul Clokie; Peter Feacey; Matthew Forest; Alan Pickering; and Neil Shorter.
Copies of the reports and any other relevant documents that are submitted to the Cabinet in connection with a proposed decision will be
available for inspection, or on screen, five clear days before the decision date at the Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford and at The
Town Hall, 24 High Street, Tenterden, during opening hours, or at https://ashford.moderngov.co.uk

Page 368

Decision Item

Report Summary

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
th
26 November 2020

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Corporate Performance
Report

To give Members and residents an overview of
how the council is performing with a key
performance ‘snapshot’.

Cllr Bell

Tom Swain

Open

2/12/19

Medium Term Financial
Plan

To ask Cabinet to note the Medium Term
Financial Plan ahead of this year’s Budget
process.

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

2/12/19

Council Tax Base
2021/22

To present for approval the estimated 2021/22
Council tax base calculation for the Borough
and each parished area, on which the major
preceptors and local Parish Councils will base
their requirements.

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

2/12/19

Report Summary

Financial Monitoring –
Quarterly Report

Quarterly budget monitoring report.

Taxi Licensing Policy
Review

To propose amendments to the existing Taxi
Licensing Policy, to ensure that the policy and
approach is in line with the Department for
Transport document ‘Statutory Taxi & Private
Hire Vehicle Standards’

Town Centre Reset

Personnel Policies –
(Flexible Working,
Remote Working,
Flexible Retirement and
Virtual Meetings)

Page 369

Decision Item

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Bell

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Maria Stevens

Open

2/12/19

Cllr Feacey

Trevor Ford

Open

18/8/20

To consolidate areas of focus and investment
Cllrs Clarkson/
in Ashford town centre. Focussing on the
Clokie
market investment demonstrated from the
International Station in the past 5 years, this
report focusses on defining an investment
corridor stretching from the International
station, through Elwick Road and up to Bank
Street. Corporate, cross-departmental projects
will be identified to realise these ambitions.
This will identify delivery, investment and areas
of opportunity to show a clear direction of
travel for the future.

Hannah ClaytonPeck

Open

3/8/20

A policy review has been undertaken as part of
the Council’s recovery plan to promote
consistency, transparency and ensure our
relevant policies are fit for purpose during the
current climate and beyond.

Joy Cross

Open

2/9/20

Cllr Pickering

Page 370

Decision Item

Report Summary

Personnel Policies
(Sickness Policy
Review, New
Attendance Support
and Management
Policy, and Probation
Policy)

A policy review has been undertaken as part of
the Council’s recovery plan to promote
consistency, transparency and ensure our
relevant policies are fit for purpose during the
current climate and beyond.

Ashford Borough
Council Enforcement at
Sevington Border
Control Post (BCP)

To draw attention to the immense implications
of Sevington being designated a BCP and the
Council therefore becoming a port health
authority and responsible for conducing all
imported food controls for the EU and rest of
world arriving via Eurotunnel.

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Pickering

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Joy Cross

Open

22/9/20

Cllr Feacey

Sheila Davison

Open

1/10/20

17th December 2020
Draft Budget 2021/22

To present the preliminary draft service budget
and outline MTFP for the purposes of
subsequent formal scrutiny by the O&S Task
Group and public consultation.

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

2/12/19

Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
Business Plan 20202050 (including
Financing and
Affordable Homes
Programme)

To presenting the HRA Business Plan and the
HRA Delivery Programme together to provide
an accurate picture showing the full effect of
the bold decisions being taken in the HRA to
meet demand for social housing.

Cllr Barrett

Sharon
Williams/Mark
James

Open

31/12/19

Decision Item

Report Summary

Five Year Vision &
Strategy for the South
of Ashford Garden
Community

To propose a vision, with a set of themed
objectives and a detailed action plan and to
outline who is responsible for delivery with key
partners identified, along with potential
challenges and resource demands.

Developer Contributions Focus on developer contributions received in
the last year, contributions secured in new
– Annual Report
agreements and projects that have been
supported by developer funding.

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Shorter

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Dan Daley

Open

2/9/20

Cllr Shorter

Gilian Macinnes

Open

13/9/19

Page 371

Kent and Medway
Energy and Low
Emissions Strategy

To outline that tackling climate change requires Cllr Clarkson
a coordinated and joined up approach, and as
such working collectively with other Local
Authorities is a key component to achieving the
Council’s own carbon neutral ambition. The
report will summarise the priorities of the ELES
and show how the Council is and could
contribute to achieving these priorities.

Jennifer Shaw

Open

21/9/20

Edinburgh Road Car
Park Review

To propose that the car park operates 24/7,
removal of free parking after 3 pm, introduce
new options for customers such as day
sessions and residential permits and the
introduction of reduced fees for customers
using RingGo.

Alison Oates

Open

28/10/20

Cllr Feacey

Decision Item

Report Summary

Kent Music School Supporting Relocation
to Ashford

To approve in principle loan funding for Kent
Music School KMS to purchase a new facility in
Ashford

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Clarkson

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Tracey Kerly

Open

21/10/20

Nic Stevens

Open

3/2/20

28th January 2021
Revenues & Benefits
Recommended WriteOffs Schedule

Proposed formal write-off of debts

Cllr Bell

(Exempt
Appendix)

Page 372

Bockhanger
Consultation –
Outcomes

Cllr Barrett

Rebecca Wilcox

Open

30/10/19

25th February 2021
Revenue Budget
2021/22

To present the draft revenue budget for
2021/22 to the Cabinet for recommendation to
Council.

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

28/2/20

Financial Monitoring –
Quarterly Report

Quarterly budget monitoring report

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

28/2/20

Corporate Performance
Report

The report seeks to give Members and the
Borough’s residents an overview of how the
Council is performing. It seeks to do this in a
transparent and easily-accessible manner,
giving a key performance ‘snapshot’.

Cllr Bell

Tom Swain

Open

28/2/20

Decision Item

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Clokie

Report Summary

Vicarage Lane Update

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Paul McKenner

Open

1/10/20

Cllr Pickering

Michelle Pecci/
Joy Cross

Open

15/3/19

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

26/6/20

25th March 2021
Annual Pay Policy
Statement (Including
Review for 2021/22)

A review of the annual Pay Policy Statement
and Ashford Living Wage Allowance
29th April 2021

Page 373

27th May 2021

24th June 2021
Final Outturn 2020/21

Final budget outturn for previous financial year.

Page 374

Decision Item

Report Summary

Corporate Performance
Report (Quarter 4) and
Annual Performance
Report 2020/21

To give Members and residents an overview of
how the council is performing with a key
performance ‘snapshot’ and the Annual Report
will build upon the contents of quarterly
performance monitoring, but will also include
the following information – An Introduction from
the Leader and Chief Executive; Facts and
figures about Ashford; Timeline of key
achievements in the Borough over the
calendar year; Borough achievements; and a
Financial Summary.

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Bell

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Tom Swain

Open

26/6/20

Cllr Bell

Nic Stevens

Open

4/8/20

29th July 2021
Revenues & Benefits
Recommended WriteOffs Schedule

Proposed formal write-off of debts

(Exempt
Appendix)

26th August 2021

KEEP CLEAR FOR HOLIDAYS
30th September 2021
Financial Monitoring –
Quarterly Report

Quarterly budget monitoring report

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

28/9/20

Decision Item

Report Summary

Corporate Commercial
Property Strategy –
Annual Report

To advise of the revenue performance of the
Council’s corporate property portfolio during
the last financial period and to advise of
proposals to increase profitability in the coming
financial period.

Corporate Performance
Report

The report seeks to give Members and the
Borough’s residents an overview of how the
Council is performing. It seeks to do this in a
transparent and easily-accessible manner,
giving a key performance ‘snapshot’.

Page 375

Relevant
Portfolio
Holder
Cllr Clokie

Report Author

Open or
Exempt

Added to
Schedule

Paul McKenner

Open

28/9/20

Cllr Bell

Tom Swain

Open

28/9/20

Cllr Bell

Maria Stevens

Open

21/10/20

Cllr Barrett

Sharon
Williams/Mark
James

Open

21/10/20

28th October 2021
Medium Term Financial
Plan

Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
Business Plan 20212051 (including
Financing and
Affordable Homes
Programme)

To ask Cabinet to note the Medium Term
Financial Plan ahead of this year’s Budget
process.

If you wish to contact a Report Author by email, unless stated otherwise, the addresses are;
first name.surname@ashford.gov.uk
18/11/20

Page 376

